
Strategic Planning & 
Environment 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Agenda 

 
1 

 

WEDNESDAY 6 JULY 2022 AT 7.30 PM 
 

Council Chamber, The Forum 
 
The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Beauchamp 
Councillor England 
Councillor Foster 
Councillor Harden (Chairman) 
Councillor P Hearn 
Councillor Riddick 
Councillor Rogers (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Stevens 
Councillor R Sutton 
Councillor Taylor 
Councillor Timmis 
Councillor Wilkie 
Councillor C Wyatt-Lowe 
 

 
 
For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support or 01442 228209 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 3 - 14) 
 
 To agree the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive any declarations of interest. 

 
4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 
5. CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE IN 

RELATION TO CALL-IN   
 

6. SOUTH WEST HERTS JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN  (Pages 15 - 250) 
 

Public Document Pack



 
2 

 

7. PROVISIONAL OUTTURN REPORT  (Pages 251 - 258) 
 

8. ANNUAL PLANNING ENFORCEMENT REPORT  (Pages 259 - 277) 
 

9. PARADISE EMPLOYMENT AREA DESIGN CODE  (Pages 278 - 397) 
 

10. ANNUAL WASTE REVIEW   
 
 Presentation to be given on the evening 

 
11. WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 398 - 402) 

 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Dacorum Borough Council 

 
 
Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

 
14.06.22  

 
 
Present:   
 
Councillors 

 Neil Harden (Chair) 
Mark Rogers (Vice-Chair)   
Jane Timmis   
Nigel Taylor   
Colette Wyatt-Lowe    
Anne Foster 
Garrick Stevens 
Adrian England 
Penny Hearn 
Stewart Riddick 
 
Officers 
Emma Walker - Group Manager ECP 
Craig Thorpe - Group Manager Environmental Services 
Alex Robinson – Assistant Director  Planning 
Richard LeBrun – Assistant Director Neighbourhood Delivery  
Dawn Rhoden – Regulatory Services operations Team Leader 
Ben Stevens – Lead Enforcement Officer  

 
 
APOLOGIES: 
 
Cllr Sutton 
Cllr Beauchamp 
Cllr Wilkie 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 

2 

 

 
Meeting start: 19:30 

 
1. Minutes of the last meeting 
 
The minutes from the last meeting were approved.   

 
Though the minutes were an accurate recording, Cllr Banks highlighted that during the 
previous meeting she had informed Cllr Wyatt-Lowe that revenue from fixed penalty 
notices for public space protection orders was split equally between Dacorum Borough 
Council and district enforcement.  After further investigation, Cllr Banks wished to correct 
this, as after expenses the split was 22% to Dacorum Borough Council and 78% was 
retained by district enforcement.  Cllr Banks apologised for misleading members of the 
council.  The previous minutes would be updated accordingly. 
 
2. Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies were noted from Cllrs Sutton, Beauchamp and Wilkie. 

 
3. Declarations of interest 

 
There were no declarations of interest.   

4. Public participation 

 
There was no public participation.   

5. Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee in relation to Call-In 

 
No matters had been referred. 

 
6. Environmental Services Annual Review 

 
It was explained that this matter had been withdrawn from the agenda and deferred due 
to a change in process. 

 
7. Environmental Services Performance Q4 

 
CThorpe presented the salient points from the report.   
 
Waste services operations continued to suffer from COVID-related absence plus a 
national shortage of drivers, but had nonetheless managed to provide a successful full 
service.  Fewer mechanical sweeper drivers had been available due to drivers having 
been redeployed to waste collection, and difficulties were still being encountered with 
recruiting new drivers with 7 current driver vacancies. 
 
Over the last few months annual refresher training had been delivered to 110 frontline 
staff and a further 90 Council staff, plus agency staff.  Driver CPC training had also been 
provided to the 30 drivers on waste services.  An ISO14001 report had revealed several 

Page 4



 

3 

 

issues to be resolved in relation to the depot.  CSG assisted the tree contractors in the 3 
storms that occurred in March.   
 
DBC had worked alongside other organisations on town cleaning, particularly targeting 
graffiti on all structures.   
 
The A41 was deep cleaned and all traffic islands were swept before grass cutting 
operations were recommenced in April.   
 
The Splash Park was recommissioned and opened earlier than in previous years.  Some 
maintenance was required, though the park was operating well. 
 
95 standard trees and 900 whips had been planted across the borough and 60 new 
planted troughs had been supplied, along with further plants and a green canopy.  
Several organisations had contributed further plants, work and best practices. 
 
Bunkers Park and Chipperfield Common had retained their green flag status and other 
parks would be judged later in the year. 
 
The River Gaye project had been pushed back to the following year. 
 
On education awareness, Christmas Tree recycling had been a large success with 6,000 
trees having been collected and chipped.   
 
Several ‘Nappy Natter’ events had been held with success, with a view to changing 
mothers’ behaviour in terms of reuse of nappies.   
 
3 successful clothes swaps had been very popular with the public. 
 
130 new street champion registrations had been received, with a total of 628 registered 
champions as of 31st March.  It was clarified that the total number of active champions 
each week was slightly lower, though champions were regularly contacted to monitor 
engagement levels. 
 
324 individuals took part in the Great British Spring Clean. 
 
Primary and secondary school talks continued with a brand-new pack. 
 
Over 11,000 requests for services had been received by the customer services 
department at Cupid Green depot.  An outline of the individual services requested and 
delivered was then provided including clinical waste and sharps collection. 
 
In terms of performance, the figure for WR001A was slightly higher than target due to a 
number of agency drivers being deployed and several vehicles without the required in-
cab technology to monitor assisted collections.  As such, with new staff recruitment this 
was expected to be alleviated. 
 
Garden waste collections had been lower than target in Winter, though this was to be 
expected and reflected a requirement for more seasonal variance in the targets. 
 
The report was noted, and the floor was then opened for questions. 

Page 5



 

4 

 

 
Cllr Timmis expressed gratitude for the update and Cllr Timmis then asked, in relation to 
sharps collection, Cllr Timmis was surprised to hear that sharps were being delivered 
and collected by DBC and asked why this was the case, and whether this related in any 
way to fly tipping and a report highlighting high areas of drug use in the Dacorum area.  
In response, it was highlighted that in years past DBC had collected a large amount of 
clinical waste, though now this had been referred to other services.  It was clarified that 
these clinical waste requests were not due to illicit drug use but rather were health care 
related.  Sealed sharps boxes were collected in a purpose-built vehicle and disposed of 
via incineration at a local facility. 
 
Cllr England congratulated those involved on maintaining bin collection levels and 
expressed gratitude for the planting of a tree that had been centre of the recent Jubilee 
celebrations.  Cllr England then asked whether there were plans to achieve green flag 
status for more local parks.  It was responded that this would be possible but the 
required management plans and organisation would be time-consuming. 
 
Cllr Wyatt-Lowe echoed the praise for the work carried out.  The Cllr then commented on 
the ISO14001.215 audit carried out at Cupid Green depot, which had identified some 
compliance problems.  Cllr Wyatt-Lowe wished to know the nature of these problems 
and what impact they had had on service delivery.  It was explained that ISO14001 
related to the proper storage and disposal of waste.  This accreditation had been a 
considerable achievement, though it had been rescinded due to Council-wide decision 
making and as a result some of the paperwork was no longer up to the standard of an 
external auditor.  It was stressed that Cupid Green depot remained compliant with the 
Environment Agency’s requirements, though work was to be done to update and 
improve the paperwork. 
 
 
Cllr Wyatt-Lowe then enquired in relation to the employment of sweeper drivers, 
highlighting several local issues that required more extensive work than sweepers were 
able to carry out, and may present an issue in any future storms.  In response, it was 
highlighted that 8 LGV drivers had been trained and pay and employment terms and 
conditions had been enhanced which should aid retainment of drivers in waste 
collection.  It was also hoped that in future even more drivers could be recruited. 
 
Cllr Wyatt-Lowe then asked a third question in relation to which schools were involved in 
the previously mentioned educational awareness schemes, and also whether any trees 
had been planted outside of Hemel.  In response to the question on plants, it was 
highlighted that details of recent planting locations would soon be made available online.  
It was also pointed out that local wards were able to submit bids for wildflower patches to 
be planted in their areas.  It was also highlighted that this was to be balanced with the 
use of public spaces for other uses such as dog walking. 
 
Cllr Rogers commented on the traffic light reporting system used in the report, asking 
whether it was possible to incorporate a graph to indicate trends over time.  It was 
agreed that this would be done in future. 
 
Cllr Rogers also asked in relation to a visit for Councillors to visit Cupid Green depot.  In 
response, it was highlighted that this was certainly a possibility. 
 

Page 6



 

5 

 

Cllr England then asked how best to inform the grass-cutting services that grass-cutting 
was needed in a local ward or area.  In response, it was highlighted that this was 
currently rather vague but work was being done to make grass-cutting vehicle tracking 
information more readily available online.  The window for grass-cutting was eight weeks 
from the previous cut, though most crews were managing to cut grass every 4-5 weeks. 
 
Cllr Foster asked, given the current emphasis on litter, the significance of zero litter 
inspections having been conducted.  It was clarified that this had not been possible due 
to resourcing issues during COVID, however it was hoped that inspections would 
resume in time. 
 
Cllr Timmis asked, in relation to educational awareness and the recent Nappy Natter 
events and clothes swaps, if these were localised to Hemel Hempstead and, if so, 
whether these could be carried out in conjunction with other local organisations across 
the Borough to widen the coverage of these operations.   
 
Cllr Timmis also asked what the cost of A41 cleaning operations were.  It was 
highlighted that the bulk of the cost was due to traffic management.  It cost £1,100 per 
day to employ Hertfordshire County Council’s traffic management services for such an 
operation, so this was generally done on a single day to minimise costs given a budget 
of £25,000, and also when the Hertfordshire County Council contractor used traffic 
management services in order to cut the grass.   
 
Cllr Timmis opined that, where possible, services should be rolled out across the 
Borough and not just in Hemel.   
 
Cllr Stevens, in relation to the clothes swaps, pointed out that a local environment group 
in Berkhamsted also ran similar local schemes. 
 
It was also asked that in future reports, commentary be provided on any issues allocated 
a ‘Red’ indicator status.   

 
8.       Environment and Community Protection Performance Report Q4 

 
The salient points from the report were presented by EWalker. 
 
Sarah Stefano had been appointed Team Leader for Environmental Health, beginning 
her role on 31st January 2021 and replacing her predecessor Paul O’Day. 
 
The team had continued to support COVID-19 related tasks, with 320 self-isolation 
checks carried out in January, along with other local work to aid transition to the Living 
with COVID plan.  Test and Trace officers had however transferred to the Partnerships 
team to assist with vaccination planning and support. 
 
Work was undertaken to meet targets for the food safety recovery plan presented in 
October 2021.  New contractors had been brought in to deal with the pandemic-related 
backlog.  A steady flow of new food business requests was being received and work was 
being done in relation to pest-related closures. 
 

Page 7



 

6 

 

Rebecca Connelly had won the Performance Award for her outstanding contribution to 
setting up and running a COVID-19 test and trace service, and her instrumental role in 
designing a food safety recovery plan amid the pandemic. 
 
The title of Health and Safety Champion was awarded to Chris Connelly of Clean, Safe 
and Green after his considerable efforts in this area. 
 
Russel Hamm was a finalist for a Performance Award for his work on safety systems 
throughout the pandemic. 
 
The Operations team had been busy throughout Q1, securing an animal welfare warrant 
and successfully rehoming several animals. 
 
Following the presentation to the Animal Welfare service of another Golden Pawprint 
award to the Animal Welfare service, MP Gagan Mohindra had visited and had been 
provided a presentation by lead officer Rachel Smith.   
 
9 fixed penalty notices had been served for fly-tipping in Q4, and 4 abandoned vehicles 
removed.  There were 3 outstanding warrants in place for defendants who had failed to 
appear in court, being regularly pursued in conjunction with four different police forces. 
 
On Monday 24th March, 9 people were ordered to pay fines for littering offences and 
breaching public space protection orders, after failure to pay fixed penalty notices.  
These had been the first prosecutions of this kind issued by the Council. 
 
Ben Stephens was the finalist for the Innovation Award for an innovative approach 
leading to engagement third-party enforcement organisation. 
 
The Neighbourhood Delivery service were finalists for Team of the Year for 2021. 
 
The report was noted, and the floor was then opened for questions. 
 
EWalker was congratulated for her Excellence in Leadership Award in 2021. 
 
A question was raised regarding the Corporate Health & Safety Team and reporting of 
accidents.  Clarity was requested on the statistics provided, particularly in relation to 
apparent duplication of some figures.  In response, EWalker clarified that the apparent 
duplications between slips, trips and falls and strike by object were different incidents.  
The numbers appeared higher than in previous years due to an increased number of 
types of incidents now recorded.  EWalker also agreed to clarify some differences in 
figures between slips, trips and falls and strikes by object. 
 
Cllr England, in relation to the figure of 41% of noise cases closed within 60 days, asked 
whether the 41% represented the easiest cases to close and what happened with the 
other 59%.  EWalker responded that several senior individuals were out of the office, so 
the majority of the remaining 59% had not yet been closed for administrative reasons, 
but that operationally in many cases nothing more remained to be done. 
 
Cllr Hearn asked how any vacancies the department had currently.  EWalker responded 
that there was one vacancy in the permanent establishment and 4 in the temporary 
establishment. 

Page 8



 

7 

 

 
The Chair thanked all those officers having received awards for their contributions. 
 
9.   PSPO & Enforcement Review 

The report was taken as read, though several points were highlighted.  Over 1,500 
abandoned vehicles had been reported, resulting in 45 vehicles being removed and 
destroyed.  The Abandoned Vehicle Policy released in 2021 had improved 
understanding among officers and vehicle owners alike.   

On crime, a marked increase in fly-tipping had been seen in comparison to the previous 
year.  There had also been several operational difficulties owing to an increase in drug 
related fly-tipping, use of hired vehicles, and court no-shows.  59 waste crime FPNs had 
been issued, with a total of 4 prosecutions.  Dacorum Borough Council continued to be a 
leading authority within Hertfordshire in this domain and maintained a good working 
relationship with court authorities.   

Deployment targets were in place for each ward. 

To clarify a point in relation to the earlier question from Cllr Timmis, it was made clear 
that drug-related fly tipping involved cannabis, rather than drugs requiring the use of 
sharps. 

The report was noted, and the floor was opened to questions. 

Cllr Timmis was disheartened to see the increase in fly-tipping, and particularly drug-
related fly-tipping, and especially in the north part of the district which was Cllr Timmis’ 
ward of Wapping.  Cllr Timmis was surprised not to have been informed of this 
previously.  She also remarked on the number of court no-shows and wished to see 
greater action taken by the police given the destructive and criminal impact of fly-tipping.  
In response, it was stressed that Dacorum Borough Council, police authorities and other 
authorities north of the Hertfordshire border were working to curb the local increase in 
fly-tipping.   

EWalker asked Cllr Timmis whether she had any suggestions as to specific actions she 
would like to see.  In response, Cllr Timmis highlighted that 2 individuals prosecuted for 
fly-tipping had been caught thanks to covert surveillance.  Increased police presence 
and advertisement of surveillance as a stronger deterrent were also recommended.  It 
was also added that Dacorum was working closely with Luton authorities to ensure that 
further action was taken.  EWalker pointed out that the number of covert cameras had 
been increased in recent times, along with authorisation to place these in areas 
identified as hotspots.  EWalker however pointed out the difficulty of catching individuals 
given the unpredictable nature of the crime.  Efforts were also being made to influence 
local police authorities to encourage police presence, though DBC could not direct police 
agencies, who themselves had resource issues.  EWalker also commented on the costs 
associated with court cases and also theft of camera equipment and the need for 
sufficient resources for the camera footage to be perused.  It was also highlighted that 
12 fixed penalty notices had been issued last year which was a proportionate response 
and allowed the avoidance of court proceedings. 

Page 9



 

8 

 

Cllr England commented that cigarette waste was still above 95% of all litter, and hoped 
to see this figure drop below 80% by September.  Cllr England also reiterated Cllr 
Birnie’s previous remarks that there should be sufficient reporting on the number of 
public complaints reviewed by DBC.  Cllr England also requested further clarification on 
the criteria used to determine district enforcement patrol allocations.  In response to the 
latter point, it was clarified that the criteria related to, among others, whether the area 
was urban or rural, footfall through the area, and whether any specific requests had 
been received. 

Cllr Foster requested further information on the education package discussed in the 
report, and particularly which schools were involved.  In response, it was explained that 
one package targeted primary schools.  However, there was a more correlated littering 
issue with secondary schools, and so presentations were planned to be delivered to a 
range of schools.  Further documentation could be provided on this.  A pack was 
distributed to the education awareness team, who would visit schools to deliver a 
presentation and involve pupils in activities.   

Cllr Foster then asked whether information was available outlining when and where 
district enforcement had patrolled. 

On the topic of abandoned vehicles, the Chair commented that 1,508 were closed 
without a removal necessary.  The Chair then suggested that more work could be done 
to educate the public about reporting such cases.  In response, it was highlighted that 
automated letters were being devised. 

The Chair appreciated that there was collaboration with landowners to improve the 
service yards.  It was added that a concerted effort had been made to identify and 
engage with private landowners, particularly around waste accumulations and 
uncontained commercial waste.  Work was also being done to place the onus on the 
landowners to carry out any required clear-ups, along with regular inspections and visits 
from DBC.  It was added that a number of partnership meetings had been held on this 
subject, with other local organisations involved in visiting and inspecting sites. 

The Chair then asked why some PSPOs appeared in brackets in the report.  This was 
erroneous and would be remedied.  It was also commented that one PSPO had been 
issued to an individual for dropping a sweet wrapper.  Investigation would be carried out 
to ascertain why a littering notice was not instead served to this individual. 

On a further query from the Chair, it was clarified that the figure provided was a 
cumulative sum of the fines across all individuals, but that this was not distributed evenly 
between all 9 recipients of the fines. 

Cllr England asked what happened to the 19% of FPNs that were not paid.  In response, 
it was explained that these remained in the system and, should they not be paid, further 
warnings and eventually prosecutions would be served. 

Cllr England then asked whether there was any information on complaints reviewed by 
district enforcement.  In response, it was pointed out that only one such complaint had 
been received. 

Page 10



 

9 

 

EWalker then summarised a report in relation to the upcoming expiry of the PSPO on 
dog control, explaining the significance of this and outlining the various options available.   

A consultation had been conducted in March 2022 on various public restrictions in 
relation to dog control.  An overwhelming majority of survey participants supported the 
proposed PSPOs.   

A significant number of requests had been received in the previous year in relation to 
dog behaviour, and a number of FPNs had been served.   

The report also outlined that the legal requirements for continuing the PSPO were 
required, and there was evidence that dog control related issues remained a public 
problem and there was justification for the PSPO to be continued, with some exceptions 
regarding particular local facilities. 

Cllr England expressed disappointment with the questioning style used in the survey in 
relation to the above PSPO, opining that the survey had been designed to lead 
respondents to support the continuation of the PSPO.  It was then suggested that there 
was insufficient evidence that the current PSPO was proportionate to the scale of the 
problem, though Cllr England was in support of the continuation of a PSPO in relation to 
dog control.  In response, EWalker pointed out that there was likely underreporting of 
incidences related to dog control, and that in any case the PSPO was intended as a 
deterrent rather than a stick with which to strike responsible dog owners.  Cllr England 
then rephrased his comment to clarify that his challenge was in relation to the tone of the 
survey, which in his view overstated the problem related to dog control.  He also opined 
that some of the rules underpinning the PSPO were unreasonable and might be made 
less stringent.  In response, Cllr Banks pointed out that she did not recognise Cllr 
England’s comments.  She expressed her support of the PSPO and felt that the 
residents of Dacorum deserved to be protected by it.  She also outlined several 
testimonies from local residents.  In addition, Cllr Foster suggested that the National 
Trust may be approached to reconsider their previous decision to exclude certain land 
from the PSPO.   

EWalker replied that the National Trust were consulted as part of the latest report, and 
correspondence from the organisation was still being awaited.  Cllr Foster also drew 
attention to the issue of some dog owners walking more dogs than they were able to 
control, sometimes up to ten dogs at a time.  EWalker highlighted that more consultation 
was required on the exact figure that would be chosen as the maximum number of dogs 
to be walked at a time, along with other considerations.  Cllr Timmis acknowledged that 
many dog owners were responsible, though some weren’t, and the deterrent of the 
PSPO was hoped to convince the latter group to be more responsible.  Cllr Wyatt-Lowe 
opined that Cllr England’s insinuation that the survey was leading was an unjustified 
one, and urged all councillors to support this policy which was backed by considerable 
public support.  Cllr Hearn added that the report was very well-written and congratulated 
its authors.   

In response to a comment from Cllr England that the rule that people with dogs must 
maintain a 3-metre distance from an unfenced play area was unreasonable, Cllr Stevens 
pointed out that most children’s play areas in Dacorum were fenced.  Cllr Stevens added 
that the 3-metre rule appeared not to be well-advertised, and asked that notices be 
placed in unfenced areas, particularly in Mill Street.   

Page 11



 

10 

 

The Chair asked whether individual by-laws could be devised in relation to the maximum 
number of dogs that any one person could walk at a time.  EWalker pointed out that this 
was possible, though further research and consultation was required to establish the 
exact maximum number.  It was added that several concerns had been raised by the 
public in relation to the number of dogs being walked by some individuals.  Another 
option was to look at licensing schemes.  To summarise, the Chair pointed out the 
difficulty of striking a balance between ensuring responsibility among dog owners, while 
minimising inconvenience to businesses that provided dog-walking services.  Lastly, Cllr 
Hearn had asked officers to examine the option of a dedicated dog park where owners 
could take dogs off their lead, as a positive balance to restrictions elsewhere. 

The PSPO report was noted. 

10 Town Centre PSPO Report 

RLeBrun took the report as read, though several points were highlighted.   

The PSPO whose continuation was under consultation related to prohibitions around 
cycling and skateboarding in a defined area, as well as spitting, urinating and defecating 
in a defined area.  In addition, the consultation had examined the issue of electric 
scooters in the town centre.  Cycling and skateboarding were still perceived to be a 
problem, with a large majority of support for the inclusion of this.  IT would not preclude 
people from dismounting and carrying their bikes or skateboards through the town 
centre.  There was also overwhelming support for the provisions on spitting, urinating 
and defecating.  The proposed addition related to prohibition of unauthorised electric 
scooters on a public highway within a defined area, excluding rental scooters and 
scooters for certain uses.  It was recognised that a trial scheme for electric scooters may 
be introduced in the future, and the proposed addition to the PSPO did not preclude this.  
The approach would focus on e-scooters, but the PSPO could be amended to include 
manual scooters should this be deemed necessary at a later date. 

As part of the consultation, many members of the public had suggested other additions 
to the PSPO, which would be reviewed and assessed in time, and the current provisions 
of the PPO would also be reviewed regularly during its three-year period of validity, 
should it be renewed.   

The report was noted, and the floor was opened for comments and questions. 
 
Cllr Wyatt-Lowe pointed out that many members of the public felt threatened by the 
silent nature of e-scooters.  She questioned why a by-law was not in place to ensure that 
all scooters and similar vehicles had an approach warning mechanism fitted.  In 
response, this would be explored, though it was highlighted that the fitting of warning 
devices did not necessarily entail their use by the rider. 
 
Cllr Stevens was pleased to see the proposed extension of the scope of the PSPO.  He 
then pointed out the inconsiderate nature of a number of cyclists on canal walkways, and 
asked whether speed provisions for cyclists on canal towpaths might be included in the 
PSPO.  Though this was possible, Cllr Stevens was advised that the capacity to enforce 
such a rule may prove challenging.  Another avenue may be to approach the Canal & 
River Trust about what might be done in partnership, including changes to towpath 
layout or educational initiatives. 

Page 12



 

11 

 

 
The Chair challenged how enforcement officers might enforce the PSPO in general 
given the speed considerations implied.  In response, it was pointed out that within the 
town centre it was generally not possible to gain sufficient speed for this to pose a risk to 
the enforcement officers, though it was stressed that no officer would be expected to 
place themselves at risk of a collision.  Other avenues may also be explored, such as 
speed bumps. 
 
Cllr Rogers was concerned that the PSPO might undermine efforts to increase electric 
scooter and cycle use from an environmental perspective.  It was pointed out that these 
considerations had been included within current deliberations. 
 
Cllr England highlighted that the consultation reached 0.5% of the population, and 
suggested that evidence in support of the proposals was scant.  Cllr England also took 
issue with the wording and design of the survey.  He then suggested that an area might 
be defined within the town centre for people to traverse by bike or scooter, which might 
be a more universally acceptable solution.  Cllr Banks was in support of the sentiments 
expressed by Cllr England, though she highlighted that they related to responsible cycle 
use, and that the PSPO was greatly needed in order to prevent antisocial behaviour.  
Cllr Taylor asked whether it would be possible for a PSPO to impose speed limits for 
cyclists and scooter users.  The Chair reiterated the challenge of enforcing such 
restrictions, especially given the need to measure speeds exactly, as well as the need 
for clear rules from the point of view of those trying to abide by them.   
 
Cllr Banks advocated for the need to respect pedestrianised areas and not to build 
cycling lanes in areas that were currently fully pedestrianised. 
 
In response to a further question from Cllr England, it was pointed out that the issue of 
irresponsible use of e-scooters and cycles at speed was a national issue and was in 
need of a solution. 
 
Following the above considerations, the proposed PSPO for Hemel Hempstead town 
centre was approved. 
 
11 Planning, Development & Regeneration Q4 Performance Report 
 
The report was taken as read, with the following salient points highlighted.  During the 
Q4 period, a planning moratorium had been initiated, which affected the figures in the 
report.  There was an extended text in section 2 highlighting key priorities that the 
department had undertaken in the previous quarter.  Section 3 set out the majority of the 
key performance indicators.  Namely, planning fee income was ahead of budget.  
However, there had been some decline in performance, primarily due to the planning 
moratorium. 
 
The report was noted and the floor was opened to questions and comments. 
 
Cllr Timmis asked for further details on the proposed fully automated committed 
development software to process town planning applications.  It was explained that a 
pilot programme had been secured with £350,000 from Central Government for a service 
that would improve the efficiency of the advice given to residents in respect of town 
planning applications, allowing members of the public to check in advance, prior to 

Page 13



 

12 

 

submission, whether their application was likely to be approved, with the aim of freeing 
up resources.  Cllr Timmis expressed concern that residents may be able to bypass local 
authorities.  In response, it was stressed that the proposed model was not a mechanism 
to circumvent the existing town planning approval mechanisms, but rather was a pre-
application process to screen out those applications likely to be declined.  Nonetheless, 
Cllr Timmis was concerned that this may give residents the impression that they could 
continue with proposed works despite their application having been declined.  In 
response to this, it was clarified that the intention of the model being piloted was to deal 
with binary yes-or-no decisions that did not require town planning judgment.   
 
Cllr Timmis also referred to the issue of an insufficient number of enforcement officers to 
meet the demand for enforcement issues in need of processing.  As a result, many 
cases were in danger of expiring before they could be duly addressed.  In response, the 
ongoing difficulties in this area were acknowledged.  A senior enforcement officer had 
been appointed, though resourcing issues remained to affect the service.  Recruitment 
efforts were ongoing, along with efforts to engage with partners to secure additional 
resources, and to make enforcement officer roles more attractive to prospective recruits.  
It was highlighted that there was widespread difficulty within the industry in terms of 
recruiting planning and enforcement officers. 
 
Further on the issue of enforcement, Cllr Hearn seconded concerns at the lack of 
resources to sufficiently meet demand for cases before they expired.  In response, it was 
explained that there was a 4-year rule and a 10-year rule, depending on whether the 
case involved a change of use.  More broadly, enforcement plans were in place and the 
majority of site visits were conducted within the prescribed period, and all cases 
continued to be investigated.  In summary, the lack of resources did not mean to say that 
enforcement officers were not investigating existing cases.  Other solutions were also 
being explored, such as the removal permitted development rights in light of the practice 
of some landowners selling off plots of land.  Cllr Hearn wondered whether high local 
house prices was having an impact on the ability to recruit individuals.  It was 
acknowledged that this may be one factor among several, but no data was available to 
support this.  It was added that work was ongoing across the county to address the 
industry-wide issue of recruitment into town planning roles. 
 
Cllr Foster requested further information on the ESRI project.  In response, it was 
explained that this was an exciting pilot to digitise and graphically present data relating 
to development contributions in respect of section 106 agreements.   
 
The report was noted. 
 
12 Work Programme 
 
The next meeting was scheduled for 6th July 2022.  The agenda items for that meeting 
were outlined.  Colleagues were encouraged to submit any further issues they wished to 
the Chair. Cllr England wishes to discuss the matter of air quality.  The Chair pointed out 
that a report on this was scheduled for discussion in November 2022.  In response to Cllr 
England’s question of why this had been delayed, it was explained that the steering 
group on this matter had been suspended due to COVID-19 and its next meeting was 
scheduled for later in June 2022. 
 
Meeting closed: 21:00 

Page 14



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan: Adoption of Statement of Community 

Involvement and approval of Regulation 18 document and associated Sustainability 

Scoping Report for consultation 

Date: 6th July 2022 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A – Statement of Community Involvement (Final) 

Appendix B – Schedule of organisations consulted 

Appendix C – Summary of Consultation Responses 

Appendix D – Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ - Regulation 18 Consultation 

document 

Appendix E – Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

Appendix F - Community Impact Assessment 

Background papers: 

 

1. SW Herts JSP: Statement of Common Ground (November 2021)  
2. Realising our Potential – A vision for SW Herts, Prior and Partners (March 

2022). 
3. SW Herts ‘Your Future’   –  Initial Engagement results, Iceni Projects (July 2020)  
4. Consultation and Engagement Strategy (May 2022) 

All documents are available on https://www.swhertsplan.com/ 

 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

CIA: Community Impact Assessment 

DLUHC: Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

EqIA: Equalities Impact Assessment 

HIA: Health Impact Assessment   

JSP: Joint Strategic Plan 

LPA: Local Planning Authority 

SA: Sustainability Appraisal 

SAC: Special Area of Conservation 

SCI: Statement of Community Involvement 

SoCG: Statement of Common Ground 

 

   

STRATEGIC PLANNING & 

ENVIRONMENT 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

https://www.swhertsplan.com/
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


SPOG: Strategic Planning Officers Group 

 SG: Steering Group 

SPMG: Strategic Planning Members Group 

SPD: Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Alex Robinson - Assistant Director for Planning   

 

alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228002 (ext. 2002) 

 

Chris Outtersides – Joint Strategic Plan Programme Director 

 

Chris.Outtersides@dacorum.gov.uk  /  07970 551 782 

 

Laura Wood - South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan Lead 



Laura.Wood@dacorum.gov.uk / 07815 028 998 
 

 

  

Corporate Priorities Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected ALL 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To consider the Statement of Community 

Involvement for the Joint Strategic Plan. 

2. To consider the Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our 

Potential’ - Regulation 18 Consultation document 

and associated Sustainability Scoping Report. 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. That Committee informs Cabinet of its views on 

the adoption of the Statement of Community 

Involvement.  

2. That Committee informs Cabinet of its views on 

the Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ - 

Regulation 18 Consultation document and 

associated Sustainability Scoping Report. 

Period for post policy/project review: 5 years 

Page 16

mailto:Laura.Wood@dacorum.gov.uk


1. Introduction/Background:  

 

1.1 This report seeks the views of the Committee on two key documents relating to the preparation of the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan. The first relates to the adoption of the Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI). This was approved for consultation on 21 September 2021 and is discussed in 

section 4 onwards of this report. The second relates to the approval for consultation of the Regulation 

18 consultation document for the SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan, ‘Realising our Potential’ and the 

associated Sustainability Scoping Report which are discussed in section 10 onwards. 

1.2 The Council, together with Three Rivers, Watford, St Albans, Hertsmere and the County Council signed 

a ‘Statement of Common Ground’ (SoCG) in October last year, which committed us to the preparation 

of a Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) for SW Herts (see background documents). 

1.3 For your information, Members will be aware that the report went to Cabinet on 21st September, 

2021, and was agreed at Full Council on 6th October, 2021. 

1.4 The SoCG is on the JSP website on the governance and background papers page: 

https://www.swhertsplan.com/governance-and-papers.   

 

2. Role and Scope of the JSP  

 

2.1 The South West Herts authorities (Dacorum Borough Council, St. Albans City and District, Watford 

Borough Council, Hertsmere Borough Council and Three Rivers District Council, with the support of 

Hertfordshire County Council) have agreed to work together to produce the South West Hertfordshire 

Joint Strategic Plan (JSP). This will provide a South West Hertfordshire integrated strategic planning 

framework and supporting evidence base to support sustainable growth to 2050.  

 

2.2 The JSP will be a statutory planning document, prepared under Section 28 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). The Plan will identify the overall quantum of housing and 

economic growth within South West Hertfordshire to be planned for to 2050 and its broad distribution 

across the area. The plan will identify strategic allocations and priorities, as well as the strategic 

infrastructure necessary to deliver the spatial strategy. 

 

2.3 The JSP will focus on climate resilience, infrastructure delivery, and strategic housing and employment.  

However it will be about more than planning and will help create a framework for investor confidence in 

SW Herts.  

 

2.4 The benefits of a JSP include: 

 

 Increased potential for unlocking infrastructure investment from Government; 

 Creating a bigger canvas to make decisions about future growth; 

 Allowing a vision and infrastructure-led approach; 

 Not ‘planning by numbers’; and 

 Enabling a coordinated approach to investment and delivery of infrastructure giving priority to 

strategic solutions. 

 

2.5 All five LPAs will retain ‘sovereignty’ over the JSP process, with the plan following essentially the same 

process as individual Local Plans and therefore needing approval from each of the partner authorities at 

each key stage of its preparation and final adoption.  This report seeks approval of an initial Issues and 

Options (Regulation 18) document, for public consultation.   

 

3. Relationship of the JSP to Local Plan 

Page 17

https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=157&MId=2796
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=157&MId=2796
https://www.swhertsplan.com/governance-and-papers


3.1 Each of the South West Hertfordshire authorities is in the process of updating their individual Local 

Plans, which currently run to between 2031 and 2038. The JSP will not affect the content of this current 

round of Local Plans.  Rather, these Local Plans will help inform the JSP by establishing the medium term 

planning strategy for the area.  The Joint Strategic Plan will then look further ahead in a more 

coordinated way, to 2050, to help provide a longer-term framework for the area. 

3.2 When each authority comes to review their Local Plan again, they will be able to frame those new 

policies in the context of the jointly developed policies in the Joint Strategic Plan. The next round of 

Local Plans will also add more detail to the policies of the Joint Strategic Plan and facilitate their 

delivery. Working in the context of the jointly developed Joint Strategic Plan policies, these more 

detailed Local Plan policies will be more effective in delivering the overall policy aims for the South West 

Hertfordshire area. 

Item 1 - Statement of Community Involvement (Appendix A) 

4.  Background  

 

4.1 This section of the report outlines the provisions of the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) for 

the South West (SW) Herts Joint Strategic Plan, which Cabinet and Full Council are now being asked to 

adopt. The SCI sets out the broad parameters that will guide all consultation on the emerging joint 

strategic plan, the requirements for which are set out in Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004. 

 

4.2 Members will recall that Cabinet approved the draft SCI for consultation on 21 September 2021. The SW 

Herts JSP team co-ordinated consultation with statutory consultees.  These are listed in Appendix 1 of 

the SCI document. This included organisations such as Natural England, the Environment Agency, key 

utilities companies, adjoining local authorities and town and parish councils within the SW Herts area.  

 

4.3 These organisations were all consulted by email where possible, or letter where an email address was 

not available.  They were directed to the JSP website (www.swhertsplan.co.uk) where they could view 

the document, or were advised that an electronic copy could be provided on request.  These 

notifications were sent on 22 November 2021 with replies requested by 17 January 2022 – giving an 8 

week period to respond, to reflect the fact that the consultation period included the Christmas and New 

Year holidays.   

 

4.4 A covering letter and copy of the SCI was also sent to all libraries within the SW Herts area for their 

reference sections, and to each district Council office to keep on their reception desks, should residents 

wish to see a hard copy. 

 

4.5 To supplement the notification of statutory bodies, individual districts also consulted any relevant local 
consultees they considered appropriate.  For Dacorum this comprised local residents associations and 
relevant action groups (see Appendix B for the full list of organisations consulted).   

 
5. Consultation responses 

 

5.1 Thirteen responses were received to the consultation. These were from: 

 

 Affinity Water 

 Planning Property Team, Herts County Council 

 Sport England 

 Environment Agency 

 Natural England 

 Defence Infrastructure Organisation, Ministry of Defence, 

Page 18



 Hertfordshire Gardens Trust  

 Nash Mills Parish Council 

 Harlow Borough Council 

 National Highways 

 Canal and River Trust 

 Berkhamsted Residents Action Group (BRAG) 

 Central Bedfordshire Council 

 

6. Changes required as a result of consultation responses 

 

6.1 The table in Appendix C of this report summarises the responses received and the proposed Officer 

response.  All of the comments were either supportive of the document, or supportive subject to certain 

minor amendments being made.  As summarised in Appendix C to this report, it is recommended that 

most of these suggested amendments are accepted, as they improve clarity. 

 

6.2 Two respondees, Sport England and the Defence Infrastructure Organisation, requested that they are 

added to the list of consultation bodies set out in Appendix 1 of the SCI. Two other respondents, the 

Hertfordshire Gardens Trust and Nash Mills Parish Council asked more general questions about the Joint 

Strategic Plan.  Responses have been provided to these two organisations by email, as summarised in 

Appendix C of this report. 

 

6.3 In addition to the changes proposed to the draft SCI as a result of responses received, Officers have also 

carried out a check of the organisations listed in Appendix 1 of the SCI to ensure it is fully compliant with 

the regulations.  Some updates have been made as a result of this check, including a reference added to 

Neighbourhood Forums.  As a result of this change, it is recommended that a paragraph is added to the 

SCI to refer to Neighbourhood Planning documents and the fact that any of these documents prepared 

within the SW Herts area will need to be in conformity with the Joint Strategic Plan, once adopted.   

 

6.4 The names of some organisations listed within the document have also been amended to ensure they 

are up to date. Some other minor amendments to ensure diagrams are correctly referenced and for 

textual clarity have also been made, together with some minor changes to reflect the fact that this is no 

longer a draft document for consultation. 

 

7. Scope and Content of the SCI  

 

7.1 In accordance with the Regulations, the proposed SCI for the JSP is limited in scope – covering only the 

consultation that will be carried out as part of the joint strategic plan-making process.  Development 

Management matters will remain the responsibility of the local authority area in which they are located 

and consultation on planning applications will therefore continue to be governed by the SCI for the 

relevant council area. Dacorum’s own SCI will also continue to cover consultation arrangements relating 

to the borough’s Local Plan. 

 

7.2 The content and structure of the SCI is consistent with that of Dacorum’s own SCI.  This in turn reflects 

the requirements of relevant national planning regulations governing statutory plan consultation, whilst 

also highlighting the increasing importance of online messaging, through social media and other 

platforms, in raising awareness of and engagement with plan consultations.   

 

7.3 In accordance with the JSP governance structure, the SW Herts JSP Planning Members Group (SPMG) – 

which comprises the Planning Portfolio Holder for each of the SW Herts authorities – and the JSP 

Steering Group – which comprises Chief Executives, Managing Directors or Corporate Directors of each 

authority has supported the principle of having a high level SCI, with more detailed consultation 

strategies drawn up for each specific consultation stage.  
Page 19



 

7.4 Hertfordshire County Council do not need to formally endorse the SCI but have confirmed their support 

for the approach set out within it. 

 

8. Next Steps 

 
8.1 Once adopted by all five districts that make up the SW Herts area, the SCI will be kept under review to 

ensure it continues to reflect legal requirements and best practice. 

 
9. Options and Reasons for Recommendations 

 
9.1 Not agreeing the draft SCI for the SW Herts JSP would mean that this document would not be in place in 

time for the first consultation on this new joint plan, which is scheduled for July / August 2022.  It is a 
legal requirement to have an adopted SCI in place before consultation commences on any statutory 
plan. Relying on existing broad references to JSP engagement processes within current district-level SCIs 
could result in confusion and a lack of consistency across the SW Herts area regarding how engagement 
on the joint plan is carried out. To fail to have an agreed SCI in place, or to have an inconsistent 
approach to consultation arrangements could potentially result in a successful future legal challenge to 
the JSP. 

 

Item 2 - Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ - Regulation 18 Consultation document and associated 

Sustainability Scoping Report (Appendices D and E) 

 

10.  Background  

 
10.1 This section of the report outlines the provisions of the Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ – 

Regulation 18 Consultation and associated Sustainability Scoping Report.  
 

10.2 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and associated regulations leave 
matters such as the number of consultations undertaken at the Regulation 18 stage, and the content 
of these consultations, very much to the discretion of authorities involved.  Through the Statement of 
Common Ground signed by the 5 district authorities and county council in 2021, it has been agreed 
that engagement on the JSP will involve two regulation 18 stages.  The first will be an ‘Issues and 
Options’ document, focussing on establishing a clear vision and set of objectives for the plan (the 
document before this committee).  The second Regulation 18 stage will comprise a draft ‘Spatial 
Options’ document.  This report seeks approval to consult on the first of these Regulation 18 
documents – entitled ‘Realising Our Potential.’ 

 
10.3 This consultation document sets out the long term planning issues that are expected to face the SW 

Herts area to 2050, and suggests some broad principles that could be used to develop a plan to 
address these issues.    It also begins a high level discussion on the types of future growth options that 
could be considered for the area. The document is intentionally high level at this first formal 
consultation stage.  Importantly, it does not include any indicative housing or employment targets or 
suggest any locations where growth may occur.  This is because: 

 
 It is unclear at the present time what any future housing and employment targets for the area will 

be on a long term basis; and 
 

 Technical work to inform any decisions on the appropriate scale and location of growth has not 
been completed. 

 
10.4 In accordance with the JSP governance structure, the SW Herts JSP Planning Members Group (SPMG) – 

which comprises the Planning Portfolio Holder for each of the SW Herts authorities and the county 
council - has considered both the Issues and Options document itself and a Communications and 
Engagement Plan and have advised that they are happy with the content of both. 

Page 20



 
11. Sustainability Appraisal 

 
11.1 As required by the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive and Government Guidance on 

Sustainability Appraisal as set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and associated 
Regulations, the Issues and Options document is accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisals Scoping 
Report, prepared by Land Use Consultants Ltd on behalf of the SW Herts authorities.  The principal role 
of this Scoping Report is to set out a suggested framework against which future iterations of the plan 
can be assessed to establish its likely social, economic and environmental impacts. It also includes: 

 
a) A review and summary of international and national policies, plans and programmes (PPPs) that 

are of relevance to the JSP, drawing on the information within the SA reports for the constituent 
Local Plans as a starting point and updating these as necessary; and   
 

b) A high level initial assessment of the proposed vision and objectives, and growth types, to help 
ensure these are comprehensive and that any potential social, environmental and economic 
impacts are highlighted at an early stage in the plan-making process, to enable any negative 
effects to be addressed and/or mitigated; and  
 

c) Information on how an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) and Health Impact Assessment will be 
integrated into the assessment, as details of the JSP’s proposed policy approaches becomes 
clearer over time. 

 
11.2 As the JSP progresses, the Sustainability Appraisal work will be extended to reference the conclusions 

of a separate process relating to the Habitats Regulations Assessment which must also accompany the 
later stages of a statutory plan.  This will be particularly important considering the recent Footprint 
Ecology Report which assesses the impact of recreational pressure on the Chiltern Beechwoods Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC). 

 

11.3 As required by the regulations, feedback will be sought on this Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
as part of the Issues and Options engagement. 

 
12. The Issues and Options consultation  

 
12.1 As for all Local Plans, there is a legal requirement to undertake public consultation on statutory Joint 

Plans in accordance with a SCI (see section 4 of this report). This SCI is being supplemented by an 
updated Communications and Engagement Plan, prepared by specialist engagement consultants Iceni 
and the JSP Communications Officer, in liaison with Communications Officers at each participating 
authority (see background papers).  This Communications and Engagement Plan provides more detail 
regarding the proposed consultation approaches that will be deployed.  This approach reflects the 
recent award of a ‘Proptech’ grant from central Government to progress an innovative approach to 
engagement using a variety of social media platforms, as well as via the SW Herts bespoke 
engagement website - www.swherstplan.com.  The latter is based on the successful informal 
engagement ‘SW Herts – Your Future’ referenced below.  

 
12.2 The content of the Issue and Options document has been informed by two informal consultations.  The 

largest of these was the ‘SW Herts Your Future’ poll carried out in early 2020.  This successful social 
media-based engagement generated over 14.5k comments and provided a high level overview of what 
those who live and/or work in SW Herts like about the area now, and what should be priorities for the 
future.  Further information on this engagement is available on the SW Herts JSP’s website. 

 
12.3 More recently, as part of work to inform a vision for SW Herts, an interactive questionnaire was 

published on www.swhertsplan.com, asking what type of future respondents envisaged for the area.  
This was accompanied by a series of videos from leaders across the academic, industry and voluntary 
sectors to help stimulate responses.   This online questionnaire went live between 1 November and 14 

Page 21



December 2021, and was advertised through a press release and a direct email to all Members.  The 
responses received were fed in to the vision workshops held with the JSP Strategic Planning Members 
Group, Officers from each authority and key stakeholders, and have helped inform the draft vision 
statement and objectives contained within the Issues and Options document which is now proposed 
for formal consultation. 

 
12.4 Consultation on the Regulation 18 document will employ a range of mechanisms to raise awareness 

and increase response rates to the consultation material, including: 
 
 Interactive consultation document hosted on the SW Herts website, with supporting material. 
 A linked social media based campaign, supported by short videos and graphics, utilising a 

shortened version of the full Regulation 18 document, with simplified questions. 
 Paper copies of consultation material and response forms issued to all libraries and deposit points 

within the SW Herts area. 
 Introductory video hosted on SW Herts website. 
 Direct notification letters / emails to all key consultation bodies listed in the Statement of 

Community Involvement, plus other groups and individuals on JSP consultation database. 
 Articles in district / county e-newsletters / newsletters / magazines as timing permits. 
 Signposting of consultation website via partner authority websites 
 Press release(s) – co-ordinated by JSP team and issued by each authority 
 Business cards with QR code information on the consultation distributed to colleges, libraries and 

deposit points in the SW Herts area. 
 Posters provided for display at libraries and deposit points. 
 Updated ‘Frequently asked Questions’ on website. 
 Briefings for Town and Parish Councils. 

 
12.5 Consultants Iceni are also supporting the JSP team, the JSP Communications Officer and district / 

county Communication Officers to prepare a ‘toolkit’ of material to enable districts to roll out wider 
engagement within their areas, should they wish to do so. 

 
12.6 The Proptech grant has also enabled the formal establishment of a Youth Forum, who have provided 

early feedback on the engagement approach.  This is to try to ensure that responses are received from 
18-25 year olds – the adult age group who will be most impacted by a long term strategy such as the 
JSP. 

 
13. Consultation timing 

 
13.1 Due to the need to gain the necessary Member approvals for the five district authorities involved in 

the preparation of the JSP, the earliest that consultation can begin on the ‘Realising Our Potential’ 
document and associated Sustainability Appraisal Scoping report will be late July / early August 2022.   

 
13.2 As this engagement will take place over the summer period it is proposed that it is extended from the 

usual 6 weeks to 8 weeks (as per paragraph 2.12 of the Statement of Community Involvement).  
 
13.3 It is important to note that the social media focussed element of the engagement, which is the core of 

the Government funded ‘Proptech’ grant will need to be completed by around the end of August / 
very early September and reported on to the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) by the end of September to meet the grant conditions.  The wider consultation will however 
continue beyond this cut-off.   

 
13.4 Having a shorter consultation period for the social media based element of the consultation will 

actually prove beneficial, as it will enable a clear comparison to be made between the effectiveness of 
this method of engaging with different residents versus more traditional web-based means.   

 
14. Next Steps 

 
Page 22



14.1 Following consultation on this first Regulation 18 document, the JSP team will summarise the 
comments received and set this out in a Consultation Report.  The content of this will be discussed 
with the cross-authority Strategic Planning Officers Group (SPOG), Steering Group (SG) and Strategic 
Planning Members Group (SPMG), before being formally reported back to the district authorities.  
Formal reporting is likely to take place when approval is sought to progress the second Regulation 18 
(‘Spatial Options’) document. The timing of this next stage will depend upon Local Plan progress.   

 
15. Options and Reasons for Recommendations 

 
15.1 The principal alternative option is for the council to not agree the draft Issues and Options document 

for consultation.  This option is not recommended as it would result in a significant delay to the JSP 
programme.  This programme, together with the broad coverage of the JSP, has been agreed by the 
participating councils through the signing of a Statement of Common Ground in November 2021 (see 
https://www.swhertsplan.com/11380/widgets/33598/documents/24472 ).  It would also mean that 
the JSP programme would not be able to meet the conditions of the substantial grant it has received 
from the Government’s ‘Proptech’ fund, which is covering the costs of the majority of the consultation 
activity.  Government requires a report of the effectiveness of the consultation to be submitted in 
September 2022.   This deadline can only be met if the proposed consultation timetable is met. 

 
16. Consultation 

 
16.1 The following officers/sections have been consulted on the work undertaken to date: 

  
 James Doe, Strategic Director (Place) 
 Ronan Leydon, Team Leader - Strategic Planning 
 Sara Whelan, Hemel Place Strategy Programme Manager 
 Phillipa Zieba, Hemel Garden Communities Programme Director 

 
17. Financial and value for money implications 

 
17.1 There are no direct financial implications related to this report. The Joint Strategic Plan Programme is 

supported by an annual contribution of £40k from each of the participating authorities.  The costs of 
preparing and consulting on this Issues and Options document are however covered by a Government 
‘Proptech’ fund grant, so is at nil capital cost to the Council. 

 

18. Legal Implications 

 

18.1 There are no direct legal implications.  The process of preparing the Issues and Options document for 
the Joint Strategic Plan has been carried out in accordance with Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 (as amended), Localism Act 2011, The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended), and The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020. The preparation of the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report has been carried out in accordance with the relevant regulations referenced above. 

 

19. Risk implications 

 

19.1 One of the main risks is that this Council or another of the participating Councils does not approve the 
Statement of Community Involvement or the Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ - Regulation 
18 Consultation document for public consultation. The consequence would that the consultation 
would be delayed.  

 
19.2 It is a legal requirement to have an adopted SCI in place before consultation commences on any 

statutory plan. To fail to have an agreed SCI in place, or to have an inconsistent approach to 
consultation arrangements could potentially result in a successful future legal challenge to the JSP. 

 

Page 23

https://www.swhertsplan.com/11380/widgets/33598/documents/24472


20. Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights 

 

20.1 The Council has also undertaken a Community Impact Assessment (CIA) of the Statement of 
Community Involvement. This is attached in Appendix F. 

 
20.2 The consultation document is supported by an independent Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

prepared by Land Use Consulting Ltd, upon which feedback is also sought as part of the consultation 
process.  This considers the impact of the document against a sustainability framework, covering a 
range of environmental, social and economic objectives.  The final Sustainability Appraisal report will 
also incorporate a high level Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) and Health Impact Assessment (HIA).   

 
21. Human Rights 

 
21.1 There are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report.     

 
22. Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 

 
22.1 The consultation document is supported by an independent Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

prepared by Land Use Consulting Ltd.  This considers the impact of the document against a 
sustainability framework, covering a range of environmental, social and economic objectives.  The final 
Sustainability Appraisal report will also incorporate a high level Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
and Health Impact Assessment (HIA).   

 

23. Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

 

23.1 There are no implications for Council infrastructure arising from this proposal.  
 

24. Conclusions 

   

24.1 The production of the Joint Strategic Plan will provide a long term strategic framework for the South 
West Hertfordshire Authorities, including Dacorum. The JSP will focus on climate resilience, 
infrastructure delivery, strategic housing and employment.  However it will be about more than 
planning and will help create a framework for investor confidence in SW Herts. The JSP will increase 
potential for unlocking infrastructure investment from Government, creating a bigger canvas to make 
decisions about future growth, allowing an infrastructure-led approach; not ‘planning by numbers’ and 
enable a coordinated approach to investment and delivery of infrastructure giving priority to strategic 
solutions. 

 
24.2 This report seeks approval for three key early documents underpinning the JSP, without which 

progress on the JSP will not be possible.  
 

Page 24



0 
 

 

 

Statement of Community Involvement 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 2022 

 

 

 

   

Page 25



1 
 

CONTENTS 

 

1.0  INTRODUCTION         

 

− What is a Statement of Community Involvement?    2 

 

− What is the SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan?     2 

 

− Why is a Statement of Community Involvement being prepared?  3 

 

− What does this Statement of Community Involvement cover?   3 

 

− Joint Strategic Plan governance       4 

 

− Duty to Co-operate        5 

 

2.0  WHEN AND HOW THE COUNCILS CONSULT ON THE JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN 

 

− Background         6 

 

− How and when will we involve stakeholders?     6 

 

− How long we will consult for       9 

 

− How to comment on the JSP       9 

 

 

3.0 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND NEIGHBOURHOOD   11

 PLANNING   

 

 Supplementary Planning Documents                 11 

 

 Neighbourhood Plans                                                                                          11                            

 

4.0 REVIEW OF THE SCI        12 

 

APPENDICES 

− Appendix 1 – Statutory Consultation groups      14 

 

− Appendix 2 - Document inspection points      16 

 

− Appendix 3 – Glossary of acronyms       18 

 

  

Page 26



2 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
What is a Statement of Community Involvement? 
 

1.1 This Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how Dacorum Borough 
Council, St Albans City & District Council, Hertsmere Borough Council, Watford 
Borough Council, Three Rivers District Council and Hertfordshire County Council 
(referred to as ‘the Councils’), will engage stakeholders and the public in preparation 
of the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP).  

 
1.2 The SCI describes how the Councils will ensure that the public, businesses, 

landowners, developers, adjoining local authorities, government agencies and any 
other individuals, groups and organisations within, and with an interest in, the local 
authority areas, can get involved in the creation of the JSP. 
 

1.3 The production of an SCI is required by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
What is the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan? 

 

1.4 The South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) will provide South West 
Hertfordshire with an integrated strategic planning framework and supporting evidence 
base to support sustainable growth to 2050. The area covered by the JSP is shown in 
Figure 1.  
 

Figure 1: Area covered by the JSP 

 

  
 
 
 

Page 27



3 
 

1.5 The JSP will be a formal Development Plan Document (DPD), prepared under Section 
28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) which enables 
two or more local planning authorities to agree to prepare a joint Plan. Hertfordshire 
County Council will support the plan preparation process.  
 

1.6 The JSP will identify the overall quantum of housing and economic growth within South 
West Hertfordshire to be planned for to 2050 and its broad distribution across the area. 
The plan will identify strategic allocations and priorities, as well as the strategic 
infrastructure necessary to deliver the spatial strategy.  
 

1.7 The JSP will build on the current suite of adopted and emerging Local Plans (that cover 
the periods up to between 2031 and 2038), the Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan, 
and will also link to a new Local Industrial Strategy prepared by the Hertfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP). 

 
1.8 The JSP will be formally adopted by the individual LPAs and will provide a high-level 

framework for the review and roll-forward of the Local Plans and related 
Neighbourhood Plans. Figure 2 shows the relationship between the JSP and other 
relevant plans. 
 
Why is a Statement of Community Involvement being prepared? 

 
1.9 There is a legal requirement on Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to undertake public 

consultation on local plans. In addition, one of the aims of the planning system is to 
encourage effective and meaningful community and stakeholder involvement 
throughout all of the stages of the plan making process. Effective community 
involvement will give people the opportunity to say what sort of place they want South 
West Herts to be and explain how their views can make a difference.  

 
1.10 This SCI sets the steps that will be taken to ensure that the JSP will be shaped by 

early, proportionate and meaningful engagement between plan makers and 
communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and statutory 
consultees.  
 

1.11 The outcomes of the consultation processes set out in this SCI will be an important 
element of the considerations of the LPA’s in developing the JSP. However, they are 
one element of a wider range of material considerations such as the evidence base 
and the Sustainability Appraisal. Consultees and those engaged should therefore 
recognise the multi-faceted considerations that will go towards informing the content 
of the JSP that is submitted for Examination.  
 

1.12 The South West Hertfordshire authorities are committed to a continuous review of the 
SCI to ensure that it continues to reflect current advice and best practice guidance. 

 
What does this Statement of Community Involvement cover? 

 
1.13 This SCI is specific to the production of the JSP. The Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) 

will also have their own individual SCIs concerned with the production of their Local 
Plans and any Neighbourhood Plans in their areas.  These district-level SCIs also set 
out how each authority will deal with planning applications arising as a result of site 
allocations.  
 

1.14 This SCI will therefore sit alongside the existing SCIs; it will not replace them.  
 

Page 28



4 
 

 
Figure 2: Relationship between JSP and Other Plans 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
JSP Governance 
 

1.15 A JSP Strategic Planning Member Group (SPMG) was established in November 2019 
to guide the preparation of the JSP. The SPMG will monitor progress on the JSP, 
approve its budget and review the milestones as part of an annual review. Minutes 
from the SPMG meetings can be found on each of the partner authority’s websites. 
 

1.16 This SCI has been endorsed by the Strategic Planning Members Group (SPMG) and 
formally considered through the governance arrangements of the respective South 
West Hertfordshire Local Planning Authorities. 
 

  

National and Sub-Regional Planning and 

Infrastructure Strategies 

Hertfordshire Local 
Transport Plan  

(Hertfordshire County 

Council) 

Neighbourhood Plans 

South West Hertfordshire 

Local Plans 

Hertfordshire 

Strategic Economic 

Plan 

South West 

Hertfordshire Joint 

Strategic Plan 

Page 29



5 
 

Duty to Cooperate 
 

1.17 The Localism Act 2011 places a ‘duty to cooperate’ on local planning authorities, 
 county councils, neighbouring authorities and other public bodies for any strategic 
 cross boundary issues. 

 
1.18 The duty to cooperate prescribed bodies are defined in the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012) and listed in Appendix 1. 
 

1.19 The way the South West Hertfordshire local authorities are working together under the 
Duty to Cooperate to complete the JSP is set out in a South West Hertfordshire-wide 
Statement of Common Ground, available at 
https://www.swhertsplan.com/governance-and-papers.  The preparation of additional 
Statements of Common Ground covering the relationship of the JSP with other 
adjoining authorities will be considered as the plan-making process progresses. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 30

https://www.swhertsplan.com/governance-and-papers


6 
 

2.0 WHEN AND HOW WILL THE COUNCILS CONSULT ON THE JSP? 
 
Background 
 

2.1 A public-sector Equality Duty came into force on 5 April 2011. This means that public 

bodies must consider all individuals when carrying out their day-to-day work in shaping 

policy, in delivering services and in relation to their own employees. It also requires 

that public bodies have due regard to the need to:  

 eliminate discrimination 

 advance equality of opportunity  

 foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities.  

 

2.2 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended) identifies certain prescribed bodies that must be consulted when preparing 

Local Plans and Supplementary Planning Documents. These bodies must be 

consulted where the proposed subject matter will be of interest to them. These groups 

are listed in Appendix 1.  

 

How and when will we involve Stakeholders? 
 

2.3 Government regulations set out the formal stages in the preparation process of the 

JSP i.e. when we must formally publish the documents for comment and for how long. 

This SCI reflects how these requirements will be met.  

 

2.4 The South West Hertfordshire Councils intend that all people should have the 
opportunity to have their say in how South West Herts is planned, irrespective of their 
differences; including by way of age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation. Research may be 
commissioned to understand public attitudes on relevant topics. Documents will be 
written in plain English. To achieve value for money and to ensure that consultation is 
proportionate to the issues being considered, the translation of documents into other 
languages will be balanced against the cost, time constraints and the available 
resources.  

 
2.5 The early stage of plan preparation (under Regulation 18) will involve engagement with 

stakeholders, prescribed bodies, partners and consultees to inform the identification of 
issues and options. Notwithstanding this, engagement with key stakeholders will be 
undertaken on a continuous basis to ensure options are thoroughly tested and policy 
preparation is robust. Panels or reference groups may be used as part of this 
engagement as well as additional research such as opinion polls. 
 

2.6 A JSP consultation database will be maintained in accordance with the General Data 

Protection Regulations. This will include contact information for the prescribed bodies 

listed in Appendix 1, together with any other groups or organisations who have asked 

to be kept notified.  When an individual or organisation makes a representation on the 

JSP, or its supporting documentation, we will add their details to this consultation 

database.  

 

2.7 There will also be opportunities to comment on the draft JSP when it is formally 

published (Regulation 19 stage) and to be involved during its examination by an 

independent Inspector (Regulations 23-24). 

Page 31



7 
 

 

2.8 A Sustainability Appraisal is an integral part of the plan preparation process and is 

required for Development Plan Documents (DPDs) such as the JSP. It looks at the 

environmental, social and economic effects of a plan to make sure that the plan 

promotes sustainable development and takes the most appropriate approach given 

reasonable alternatives. At each stage of the JSP preparation there will be a 

corresponding stage of the Sustainability Appraisal which will be made available for 

comment during public consultation. 

 

2.9 Groups we will engage with during the JSP preparation process will include:  

 

 the community and members of the public; 

 statutory consultees as set out in the relevant regulations, including 

neighbouring councils; 

 local service providers and other consultation bodies who may have an interest 

in the JSP; and  

 other interested groups, businesses, developers, landowners, agents, Town 

Councils and Parishes, and residents who register on our consultation 

database.  

2.10 Different levels and methods of community involvement will be appropriate as the JSP 

progresses through the plan-making process, but in summary, we will follow the 

following approach: 

 We will contact appropriate organisations and individuals directly (i.e. those 

listed in Appendix 1 and on the wider JSP consultation database).   

 We will publicise consultations by a combination of methods, as appropriate, 

such as: website, press release, displays, social media, and community events.  

 We will make consultation documents available at council offices and public 

libraries where appropriate (see list in Appendix 2).  

 Consultation documents will be made available for download via the JSP 

website, which will be signposted from each Council’s own website.  

 Where appropriate we will organise consultation events such as public 

exhibitions and stakeholder workshops.  

 We will publish comments received or a summary as soon as feasible. We will 

explain how these comments have been taken into account when decisions are 

made. 

2.11 Table 1 sets out the key consultation stages and milestone dates in the preparation of 

the JSP, together with the different groups we will involve in the plan-making process 

and how we propose to involve them and keep them updated on progress of the plan. 

 

 

 

  

Page 32



8 
 

Table 1 

Stages and methods of consultation and communications 

 

Plan stage What will we be 

consulting or 

communicating on? 

How will we consult / 

communicate? 

Issues and 

Options 

 

(Regulation 18) 

 

This stage can comprise 

one or more public 

consultations.  These can 

relate to broad issues and 

options, draft policies and/or 

potential sites.  To include 

consultation on associated 

sustainability appraisal. 

 

 Inviting representations 

through the JSP and 

signposted from individual 

council’s websites. 

 Advertising through social 

media, press releases and 

electronic alerts. 

 Written / email consultation 

with key consultees / 

organisations as required by 

the regulations. 

 Consultation documents 

available to view at specified 

deposit points (listed in 

Appendix 2) 

 Public consultation events 

such as targeted workshops 

and/or exhibitions, if 

appropriate to the nature of 

the consultation.   

Pre-submission 

publication 

 

(Regulation 19) 

This stage comprises 

consultation on the plan that 

the authorities wish to take 

forward to adoption. To 

include consultation on 

associated sustainability 

appraisal. 

 

 

Note:  All representations 

must be received within the 

specific consultation period.   

 

Submission 

 

(Regulation 22) 

This is the stage when the 

plan is formally passed to 

the Planning Inspectorate. 

 Notice on JSP website and 

signposted from individual 

council’s websites.  

 Written / email notification of 

consultees / organisations as 

required by the regulations. 

 Advertising through social 

media, press releases and 

electronic alerts. 

 Publication of documents 

listed in the Regulations. 

Examination 

 

(Regulations 23-

24) 

This stage comprises the 

formal Examination of the 

Plan by an independent 

Inspector 

 Notice on JSP website and 

signposted from individual 

council’s websites. 

 Written / email notification of 

consultees / organisations as 

required by the regulations 

(via Programme Officer) 

Page 33



9 
 

 Advertising through social 

media, press releases and 

electronic alerts. 

 

Consultation on 

Inspectors main 

modifications to 

the draft plan (if 

any) 

 

This stage comprises 

consultation on any 

changes to the plan 

required by the Inspector to 

ensure the plan is ‘sound.’  

To include consultation on 

any associated 

sustainability appraisal 

update required. 

 

 Inviting representations through 

the JSP and signposted from 

individual council’s websites. 

 Advertising through social 

media, press releases and 

electronic alerts. 

 Written / email notification of 

consultees/ organisations as 

required by the regulations. 

 Consultation documents 

available to view at specified 

deposit points (listed in 

Appendix 2). 

Publication of 

Inspector’s 

Report 

(Regulation 25) 

Notification of people/ 

organisations of the 

outcome of the 

examination. 

 

 Notice on JSP website and 

signposted from individual 

council’s websites. 

 Written / email notification to 

groups / organisations as 

required by the regulations. Adoption 

(Regulation 26) 

Notification of final adoption 

of the JSP. 

 

How long we will consult for 

2.12 Where a formal consultation is carried out (as set out in Table 1), this will be for a 

minimum of six weeks. Where part of the consultation falls over a holiday period, where 

possible, the consultation period will be extended to accommodate members of the 

public who may be away at these times, usually up to a maximum of 8 weeks. 

Timescales for informal consultation that is targeted at specific groups will be depend 

on the nature of that engagement. 

How to comment on the JSP  

2.13 Table 1 sets out the methods we will use to engage with stakeholders and residents 

on the development of the JSP. We will encourage electronic engagement as the 

primary portal for consultation and will encourage people to make use of the JSP 

consultation portal, accessed through the JSP website as this will set out the 

information we are seeking at each consultation stage, together with clear instructions 

on how to register comments. This will offer an easy method for response and in turn 

will help speed up the analysis of the comments received.  

2.14 A comments form will also be produced for each consultation stage that can be 

submitted by email or post. Verbal comments will not be recorded because it is 

important that all comments are accurately logged and reported. 

Page 34



10 
 

2.15 Comments will be made publicly available. The Councils will comply with the 

obligations under the General Data Protection Regulations, and the principles of the 

Data Protection Act, in how they manage any personal data collected through 

consultation processes.  

2.17 All comments made during the consultation periods will be carefully considered and 

will be reported to the relevant committee. A report summarising the consultation 

activities and the comments made and how these have informed the next stage of plan 

making will be prepared for each stage. This report will be made available. 

  

  

Page 35



11 
 

3.0 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND NEIGHBOUHOOD PLANNING 

Supplementary Planning Documents 

3.1 SPDs cannot be progressed by the JSP programme until there are adopted, or well 

progressed policies, for them to relate to. Due to the limited size and resources of the 

JSP team, the work programme does not envisage production of any JSP-sponsored 

SPDs until the JSP itself is adopted.  Any joint SPDs in the meantime will be prepared 

by the districts and relate to policies within their adopted Local Plans. They will 

therefore need to comply with the requirements set out in their individual SCIs.  More 

detailed reference to engagement on SPDs will be set out when this SCI is next 

reviewed. 

Neighbourhood Planning 

3.2 Neighbourhood planning is led by Town and Parish Councils or designated 

Neighbourhood Forums.  The main aspects of neighbourhood planning are: 

 

 Neighbourhood Development Plan – a local framework for guiding future 

development, regeneration and conservation of an area; 

 Neighbourhood Development Order – a way for town and parish councils or 

designated Neighbourhood Forums to grant planning permission for certain kinds 

of development within a specified area; and 

 Community Right to Build Orders – a special kind of Neighbourhood Development 

Order, which grant planning permission for certain development schemes. 

3.3 It is the role of the district councils to support neighbourhood planning, and associated 

consultation, as per the Neighbourhood Planning regulations, However, before they 

can come into effect, all neighbourhood planning documents need demonstrate 

general conformity with the JSP (once adopted), as well as with the relevant Local 

Plans covering their area. 

3.4 Whilst advice on conformity will usually be provided by the relevant district council, the 

JSP team can also be contacted directly for advice via SWHJSP@dacorum.gov.uk. 

 

 

 

  

Page 36

mailto:SWHJSP@dacorum.gov.uk


12 
 

4.0 REVIEW OF THE SCI 
 

4.1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 

2017, state that LPAs in England must review their SCI every five years to ensure it is 

kept up to date and reflects current legislation and best practice.  

4.2 Notwithstanding this, the SCI will be updated if a review is required due to changes to: 

 Legislation / national policy  

 Local decisions  

 Consultation methods  

 Technology 

 The development of any Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) related 

to the Joint Strategic Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



13 
 

 

Page 38



14 
 

Appendix 1 

Consultation Groups 

 

The following consultation bodies are prescribed by the Town and County Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 

Specific consultation bodies 

 

Defined as: 

 Coal Authority 

 Environment Agency 

 Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (known as English 

Heritage) 

 Marine Management Organisation 

 Natural England 

 Network Rail Infrastructure Limited 

 National Highways 

 Hertfordshire County Council 

 Adjoining local authorities 

 Town and Parish Councils and Neighborhood Forums within and adjoin SW Herts 

 Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Relevant Telecommunications Companies 

 Clinical Commissioning Group 

 National health Service Commissioning Board 

 Relevant Electricity Undertakers 

 Relevant Gas Companies 

 Relevant Sewerage Undertakers 

 Relevant Water Undertakers 

 Homes England 

 

General consultation bodies 

 

Defined as: 

 voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the local planning 

authorities’ areas; 

 bodies which represent the interest of different racial, ethnic or national groups in the 

local planning authorities’ areas; 

 bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the local planning 

authorities’ areas; 

 bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the local planning 

authority’s area; and 

 bodies which represent the interests of person’s carrying on business in the local 

planning authorities’ areas. 

 

  

Page 39



15 
 

Duty to Co-operate bodies 

 

(Note: there is some duplication with the lists above) 

 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 and Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012 

 

Defined as: 

 Neighboring authorities 

 Environment Agency 

 Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (known as English 

Heritage), 

 Natural England 

 Mayor of London 

 Civil Aviation Authority 

 Homes England 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 National Health Service Commissioning Board 

 Office and Rail and Road 

 Transport for London 

 Relevant Integrated Transport Authorities 

 Highway Authority 

 Marine Management Organisation  

 Local Enterprise Partnership 

 Local Nature Partnership 

 

 

  

Page 40



16 
 

Appendix 2 

Document inspection points 

 

Main Council Offices 

 
Hertsmere Borough Council, 
Civic Offices, Elstree Way, Borehamwood, Hertfordshire, WD6 1WA 
 
Watford Borough Council 
Town Hall, Watford, Hertfordshire, WD17 3EX 

 
Dacorum Borough Council 
The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire, HP11DN 

 
Three Rivers District Council 
Three Rivers House, Northway, Rickmansworth, Hertfordshire, WD3 1RL 
 
St Albans City and District Council 
Civic Centre, St Peter's Street, St Albans, Hertfordshire, AL1 3JE 
 

Local libraries 

 

Borehamwood Library  

96 Shenley Road 

Borehamwood 

WD6 1EB 

 

Potters Bar Library  

The Elms 

High Street 

Potters Bar 

EN6 5BZ 

 

Bushey Library  

Sparrows Herne  

Bushey 

WD23 1FA 

 

Radlett Library  

Radlett Centre 

1 Aldenham Avenue  

Radlett 

WD7 8HL 

 
North Watford Library 
St Albans Road 
Watford 

WD24 7RW 
 
Watford Library 
Hempstead Road 
Watford  
WD17 3EU 
 

Abbots Langley Library 
High Street 
Abbots Langley 
WD5 0AP 
  
Chorleywood Library 
Lower Road 
Chorleywood 
WD3 5LB  
 
Croxley Green Library 
Barton Way 
Croxley Green, 
WD3 3HB  
 
Rickmansworth Library 
High Street 
Rickmansworth 
WD3 1EH  
 
 

Page 41



17 
 

South Oxhey Library 
Bridlington Road 
South Oxhey  
WD19 7AG 
 
Adeyfield Library  
1A Queens Square 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4EW 
  
Berkhamsted Library 
185 High Street 
Berkhamsted 
HP4 3HB 
  
Bovingdon Library 
High Street 
Bovingdon 
HP3 0HJ 
 
Hemel Hempstead Library 
The Forum 
Marlowes 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP1 1DN 
  
Kings Langley Library  
The Nap 
Kings Langley  
WD4 8ET 
 
Leverstock Green Library  
Village Centre 
Leverstock Green Way 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP3 8QG 

  
Tring Library 
High Street 
Tring 
HP23 4AF 
  
Harpenden Library 
27 High Street 
Harpenden 
AL5 2RU 
  
London Colney Library 
Community Centre 
Caledon Road 
London Colney 
AL2 1PU 
  
Redbourn Community Library 
Redbourn Fire Station and Community 
Library 
Dunstable Road 
Redbourn 
AL3 7BE 
  
St Albans Library 
Level 2, The Maltings 
St Albans 
AL1 3JQ 
  
Wheathampstead Library 
Fire Station and Library 
Marford Road 
Wheathampstead 
AL4 8AY 
   

Page 42



18 
 

Appendix 3  

Glossary of acronyms 
 

CCG Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

The arm of the National Health 
Service responsible for 
commissioning primary healthcare 
services. 

DPD Development Plan Document A formal planning strategy 
document, such as a Local Plan or 
Joint Strategic Plan 

GLA Greater London Authority The office of the Mayor of London 

LPA Local Planning Authority The local council responsible for 
planning services in a particular 
area 

LDS Local Development Scheme The project plan setting out when 
Local Plans and Joint Strategic 
Plans will be prepared and when 
they will be issued for consultation 

JSP Joint Strategic Plan A high level planning policy 
document being prepared by a 
number of councils on a joint 
basis. 

NPPF National Planning Policy 
Framework 

The document which sets out the 
Government’s planning policies 
and approach to key issues, which 
must be taken into account by 
councils when preparing their own 
planning documents 

PINS Planning Inspectorate The organisation to are appointed 
by the Secretary of State to carry 
out independent public 
examinations of plans 

SCI Statement of Community 
Involvement 

The document which sets out how 
consultation on planning matters 
will be carried out by local 
councils. 

SPMG Strategic Plan Members 
Group 

The group of elected 
representatives (one for each 
council) who will oversee 
production of the Joint Strategic. 

 

Page 43



Appendix 1 
Stakeholder list for SW Herts SCI 
 

 
Organisations contacted by the JSP team 
 
Key Stakeholders 

Natural England 

The Environment Agency 

Highways England 

Historic England – Essex, Hertfordshire and London Team 

Local clinical commissioning groups (Herts Valleys CCG) 

National Health Service Commissioning Board (now NHS England) 

Network Rail  

Homes England 

Electricity Undertakers -  UK Power Networks 

Gas Companies – Cadent Gas 

Sewerage Undertakers – Thames Water 

Telecommunications Companies 

Water Undertakers – Affinity Water 

Canals and Rivers Trust 

Coal Authority 

Marine Management Organisation 

Transport for London 

 
Government departments 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

Department of Health (through relevant Regional Public Health Group) 

Department of Trade and Industry (now department for international trade) 

Ministry of Defense 

Department of Work and Pensions 

Department for Culture, Media and Sport 

Department for Transport 

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

P
age 44



 
Adjoining Councils 

Hertfordshire County Council 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council  

Broxbourne Borough Council  

East Hertfordshire District Council  

North Hertfordshire District Council  

Stevenage 

Mayor of London (GLA) 

London Borough of Barnet  

London Borough of Enfield  

London Borough of Harrow  

London Borough of Hillingdon 

Essex County Council 

Uttlesford Council 

Harlow Council 

Buckinghamshire Council 

Central Bedfordshire Council 

Luton Borough Council 

 
Town and Parish Councils 

Aldenham Parish Council 

Elstree and Borehamwood Town Council 

Shenley Parish Council 

South Mimms Parish Council 

Ridge Parish Council 

London Colney 

Colney Heath 

St Stephen Parish Council  

Harpenden Town Council 

Redbourn Parish Council 

Wheathampstead Parish Council 

Sandridge Parish Council 

St Michael Parish Council 

P
age 45



Harpenden Rural Parish Council 

Bovingdon 

Berkhamsted 

Tring 

Tring Rural  

Markyate 

Kings Langley 

Aldbury Parish Council 

Great Gaddesden 

Chipperfield 

Flamstead 

Flaunden 

Little Gaddesden 

Nash Mills 

Nettleden with Potten End 

Wiggington 

Northchurch 

Abbots Langley Parish Council 

Batchworth Community Council 

Chorleywood Parish Council 

Croxley Green Parish Council 

Sarratt Parish Council 

Watford Rural Parish Council 

 
MPs 

Mike Penning 

Gagan Mohindra 

Daisy Cooper 

Bim Afolami 

Oliver Dowden 

 
General Consultation organisations  

Local Strategic Partnerships 

Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner 

P
age 46



 
Other key national or SW Herts wide groups  

Herts Bird Club 

SE Herts RSPB 

Herts Gardens Trust 

CPRE Hertfordshire 

Hertfordshire Natural History Society 

Salvation Army 

Age UK Hertfordshire 

Communities 1st 

Watford & Three Rivers Trust 

East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust 

Herts Constabulary 

Herts Fire and Rescue (HQ) 

Watford Chamber of Commerce 

Herts LEP 

Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust 

Sports England 

Herts Chamber of Commerce 

 
 
Organisations contacted by the District 
 

Adeyfield Neighbourhood Association 

Apsley Community Association 

Bellgate Area Residents Association 

Bennetts End Neighbourhood Assn 

Berkhamsted Citizens Association 

Berkhamsted & District Chamber of Commerce 

Berkhamsted & District Gypsy Support Group 

Berkhamsted and Northchurch Liberal Democrats 

Berkhamsted Residents Action Group (BRAG) 

P
age 47



Bourne End Village Association 

Boxmoor Trust 

Bucks and West Herts Gypsy Advocacy (formerly Berkhamsted and District Gypsy 
Support Group) 

Chaulden Neighbourhood Association 

Chilterns Conservation Board 

Chiltern Society 

Chilterns Countryside Group 

Community Action Dacorum 

Dacorum Community Trust 

Dacorum CVS 

Dacorum DENS 

Dacorum Environmental Forum Waste Group 

Dacorum Borough Council Leaseholder Group 

Dacorum Heritage Trust 

Dacorum Volunteer Centre 

Douglas Gardens Street/Block Voice 

Gaddesden Row Village Voice 

Gadebridge Community Association 

Grove Fields Resident Association 

Grovehill Future Group 

Grovehill Future Neighbourhood Forum 

Grovehill West Residents Association 

Gypsy Council 

Hales Park Residents Association 

Heather Hill Residents Association 

Hemel Hempstead Access Group 

Hemel Hempstead Churches Together/ Urban Access 

Henry Wells Residents Association 

P
age 48



Herons Elm Street/Block Voice 

Hightown Housing Association 

Hunters Oak Residents Association 

Hyde Meadows Residents Association 

Inland Waterways Association 

Kings Langley Community Association 

Kings Langley and District Residents association 

Leverstock Green Village Association 

Long Marston Tenants Association 

Manor Estate Residents' Association 

Nash Residents Association 

National Trust 

Northend Residents Association 

Pelham Court Residents Association 

Piccotts End Residents' Association 

The Planets Residents Association 

The Ramblers 

Ramblers Association 

Residential Boatowners Association 

SGN, South Strategy 

The Mount Residents Association 

Transition Town Berkhamsted 

Tring Community Association 

TRING IN TRANSITION 

Tring Together 

The Tudors Residents Association 

Thumpers Residents Association 

Westfield Road Street/Block Voice 

West Hemel Action Group 

P
age 49



 

P
age 50



Page A1 
 

Appendix C 
Responses to draft Statement of Community Involvement for the SW Herts JSP 
 

Organisation Summary of comment  Officer response 

Change 
required to 
document 
and/or any 

other related 
actions? 

Affinity Water 
(James Kenyon) 

No specific comments to make on the 
document. 
  
Welcome the opportunity to engage at the 
appropriate stages of any plan and policy 
document development. In addition, welcome 
the opportunity to engage as early as is 
practicable with the planning application 
process. 
 

Noted. 
 
The JSP will not be consulting on or 
determine planning applications – this will be 
done by the relevant district council.   

No 

Planning Property 
Team, Hertfordshire 
County Council  
(Andrea Gilmour)  
 

No comments to make on the document. Noted. No 

Sport England 
(Roy Warren) 

Request that Sport England is added to the list 
of specific statutory consultation bodies in 
Appendix 1.  As set out in the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (Statutory 
Instrument 2015 No. 595), Sport England (the 
English Sports Council) is a statutory consultee 
on planning applications affecting playing 
fields.  Furthermore, we are also a formal non-
statutory consultee on a range of planning 
application types as listed in the Government’s 

The JSP will not be consulting on or 
determining planning applications – this will 
be done by the relevant district council in 
which the application site falls.  The SCI 
therefore does not cover this aspect of 
planning consultations.  There is therefore no 
legal or procedural requirement to include 
Sport England in Appendix 1 of the SCI. 
 
This does not mean that Sport England will 
not be consulted on relevant JSP matters.  

Yes. 
 
Amend the text 
in section 2 of 
the SCI to 
ensure it is 
clear that 
consultation on 
the JSP will 
include those 
on the 

P
age 51



Page A2 
 

Planning Practice Guidance 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-
sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-
way-and-local-green-space.  Consultation on 
strategic development plan documents such as 
the JSP would allow Sport England to offer 
advice on strategic sport and physical activity 
infrastructure matters.  Direct consultation by 
email would be Sport England’s preferred 
method of engagement.   
  
For future reference, consultations should be 
sent to our generic planning administration 
email address 
planning.south@sportengland.org  
  

The email address provided will be added to 
the JSP consultation database to ensure that 
they are made aware of all relevant plan-
related consultations and can offer advice on 
strategic sport and physical activity 
infrastructure matters as appropriate. 
 
 

consultation 
database as 
well as the 
bodies listed in 
Appendix 1. 
 
Add generic 
planning email 
address to JSP 
consultation 
database. 
 
 

Environment Agency 
(Becki Ingram - 
Hertfordshire and North 
London Team) 

No comments to make on the document. 
 
Look forward to seeing further consultations on 
the Plan as time progresses. 
 

Noted. No. 

Natural England 
(Dominic Rogers) 

Supportive of the principle of meaningful  and 
early engagement of the general community, 
community organisations and statutory bodies 
in local planning matters, both in terms of 
shaping policy and participating in the process 
of determining planning applications.   
 
Are unable to comment in detail on individual 
SCIs, but information on the planning service 
offered is available online. 
 
Request that all planning consultations are 
sent electronically to the central hub at 
consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 

Noted. No changes 
required to SCI. 
 
Add generic 
planning email 
address to JSP 
consultation 
database. 

P
age 52

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space
mailto:planning.south@sportengland.org
mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk


Page A3 
 

 

Defence  
Infrastructure  
Organisation, Ministry 
of Defence, on behalf of 
the Secretary of State for 
Defence. 
(Louise Dale)  
 

Grateful for the opportunity to comment on the 
above emerging Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI).  
 
Note that the MOD military establishment 
Northwood Headquarters is located within the 
Three Rivers District Council area. Request 
that the MOD are specifically listed as being a 
consultee, via the Defence Infrastructure 
Organisation Town Planning team, as it is 
important that planning authorities and 
development plans recognise that MOD 
establishments are of strategic military 
importance to the UK. Therefore, they should 
be consulted as part of the local planning 
policy process to ensure MOD assets are not 
degraded due to development. 
 

There is no legal or procedural requirement 
to include the Defence Infrastructure 
Organisation in Appendix 1 of the SCI, as 
they are not one of the bodies or 
organisations specified in the relevant 
regulations. 
 
This does not mean that the Defence 
Infrastructure Organisation will not be 
consulted on relevant JSP matters.  The 
specific named contact for the Defence  
Infrastructure Organisation’s planning team 
will be added to the JSP consultation 
database to ensure that they are made aware 
of all relevant plan-related consultations. 
They can therefore respond with regard to 
their landholdings as appropriate. 
 

No changes 
required to SCI. 
 
Add email 
address for the 
Defence  
Infrastructure  
Organisation 
planning team 
to JSP 
consultation 
database. 

Hertfordshire Gardens 
Trust  
(Kate Harwood) 
 

Responding on behalf of The Gardens Trust, 
statutory consultee for historic parks and 
gardens, on planning issues in Hertfordshire. 
 
Welcome the joint plan and are satisfied with 
the consultation strategy set out in the SCI 
document.  
 
Would welcome: 
(a) Clarity on the linking of Local Plans be 

each authority and the Joint Plan and 
whether comments made by stakeholders 
at various stages during the preparation of 
Local Plans by each authority will also be 
taken into consideration during 
preparation of the Joint Local Plan; and  

Support for the principle of the JSP and 
content of the SCI is welcomed. 
 
With regard to the other two matters on which 
clarity is sought, the response is as follows: 
 
(a) Whilst in principle a summary of 

responses provided with regard to 
individual Local Plans consultations being 
used to inform work on the JSP is 
supported, due to the number of 
responses made to each Local Plan, it will 
be hard to guarantee that this cross-over 
occurs fully.  The JSP will also be 
planning on a much larger geography that 
the individual Local Plans, on a much 

No changes 
required to SCI. 
 
A reply has 
been sent by 
email to 
Hertfordshire 
Garden Trust in 
response to 
matters (a) and 
(b). 

P
age 53



Page A4 
 

(b) More information on the additional 
documents and evidence base which will 
support this plan and how these 
documents from each Local Plan are to be 
reconciled. 

more strategic scale (with a focus on a 
limited number of high level policies) and 
cover a different timeframe.    Direct 
responses to the JSP itself and the 
specific matters its raises will therefore be 
encouraged from consultees, rather than a 
reliance on comments made to the current 
round of Local Plans.  That said, district 
representatives on the Strategic Plan 
Officers Group (who are planning policy 
managers or equivalent) will be asked to 
highlight key Local Plan matters that are 
of relevance to the JSP as the JSP 
process progresses (and vice versa if 
appropriate). 
 

(b) The range of evidence required by the 
JSP versus the next iteration of Local Plan 
is currently being discussed by Officers.  
Whilst for some strategic matters there will 
be some reliance (at least initially) on the 
evidence that has been prepared to 
support the current round of Local Plans, 
much of this evidence base will require 
updating to support the JSP and the next 
iteration of Local Plans.  The precise 
scope, sequence and timing of this work 
has yet to be agreed, but there will be 
opportunities to comment on the evidence 
base as the JSP is developed and 
consulted upon. 

 

Nash Mills Parish 
Council 
(Nikki Bugden) 

Confirmed that the Parish Council’s working 
group did not have any specific comments on 
the document itself and were pleased to note 

Support for content of the SCI welcomed. 
 

No changes 
required to SCI. 
 

P
age 54



Page A5 
 

that “town councils and parishes” are listed on 
page 8 as an example of groups that will be 
engaged with during the JSP preparation 
process. 
 
Queried how the JSP would align with others 
such as Dacorum’s Local Plan and the Hemel 
Garden Communities (HGC) project. 
 
Noted two updates to dates and links required 
on the JSP website. 

With regard to the relationship to other plans 
and projects, each of the South West 
Hertfordshire authorities is in the process of 
updating their individual Local Plans, which 
will cover the period up to around 2038. The 
JSP will not impact upon the content of these 
plans, or the HGC project that is linked to the 
current Local Plans being prepared by 
Dacorum and St Albans Councils.  Rather the 
Joint Strategic Plan will look further ahead, to 
2050, to help provide a longer-term 
framework for the area. Together the 
councils, through the Joint Strategic Plan, will 
set the high-level strategic policies on issues 
such as climate change mitigation, delivering 
net zero carbon, housing, employment and 
infrastructure to 2050. When each authority 
comes to review their Local Plan again, they 
will be able to frame those new policies in the 
context of the jointly developed policies in the 
Joint Strategic Plan. The next round of Local 
Plans will also add more detail to the policies 
of the Joint Strategic Plan and facilitate their 
delivery. Working in the context of the jointly 
developed Joint Strategic Plan policies, these 
more detailed Local Plan policies will be more 
effective in delivering the overall policy aims 
for the South West Hertfordshire area. 

 

Reply sent by 
email to Nash 
Mills Parish 
Council in 
response to the 
relationship 
with Local Plan 
and related 
projects 
following liaison 
with Dacorum 
Officers. 
 
The necessary 
updates to JSP 
website have 
been made. 

Harlow Borough 
Council 
(Andrew Bramidge) 

Suggests that: 
 

(a) As public consultation on the 
Regulation 18 plan is set to begin in 
spring 2022, it would be prudent to 
expand on the engagement methods if 

(a) The first R18 consultation is 
programmed for summer 2022, and will 
be primarily web and social media 
based.  It is also not known what, if any, 
Covid restrictions will be in place at that 
time.  No amendments are therefore 

Yes. 
 
Add reference 
to submission 
stage to Table 
1.  

P
age 55



Page A6 
 

Covid-19 restrictions are in place to 
allow for plan-making to progress. 
 

(b) Paragraph 2.4 should be expanded to 
include how hard to reach groups will 
be consulted with, as well as adding 
that the documents will be clearly 
written. This is especially important if 
electronic engagement is to be the 
primary portal for consultation on the 
draft JSP. 
 

(c) Table 1 should be extended to mention 
how consultation will occur during the 
submission and adoption stages, as it 
is important to keep key stakeholders 
informed and engaged during the whole 
process. 
 

(d) Information should be included on the 
consultation procedures to be 
undertaken for Supplementary Planning 
Documents. 
 

(e) Requests that Harlow Council are 
consulted on other specific cross 
county matters, such as the Herts and 
Essex Rapid Transit (HERT).   

 
 

considered necessary to the document. 
A more detailed communications plan 
will be published to accompany the R18 
stage.   
 

(b) The precise methods to be used to elicit 
responses from harder to reach groups 
will be set out in the detailed 
communications plans for each stage of 
the plan-making process and will reflect 
current and emerging good practice.  
Due to the timeframes of the JSP, the 
key hard to reach group is that of the 18-
25 demographic.  For the R18 
engagement it is hoped that a youth 
forum can be established to advise on 
the engagement material to ensure it is 
likely to elicit responses from this age 
group, as well as to other individuals, 
groups and organisations.  It is not 
considered necessary to reference the 
fact that engagement documents will be 
clearly written. This is always the 
intention with all consultation material 
and the JSP programme will seek 
support from council communications 
teams and/or external communications 
advisers to ensure this is the case. 
Section 2 of the SCI also already states 
that all documents will be written in plain 
English. 
 

(c) Agreed that a line should be added to 
Table 1 to reference the submission 
stage.  The adoption stage is already 

 
Add a new 
section to the 
SCI to 
reference 
SPDS and that 
the SCI will 
need to be 
reviewed 
before any of 
these 
documents are 
consulted 
upon.  
 
The request to 
ensure Harlow 
continue to be 
consulted on 
progress of the 
HERT project 
has been 
passed to 
relevant 
Officers at 
Herts County 
Council, who 
are leading the 
project. 
 

P
age 56



Page A7 
 

included, so no further information 
required re that stage of the process. 

 
(d) SPDs cannot be progressed by the JSP 

programme until there are adopted, or 
well progressed policies for them to 
relate to. Due to the limited size and 
resources of the JSP team, the work 
programme is not expected to include 
production of any JSP-sponsored SPDs 
until the JSP itself is adopted.  Any joint 
SPDs in the meantime will be prepared 
by the districts and therefore need to 
comply with the requirements set out in 
their individual SCIs and relate to 
policies within their adopted Local Plans.  
It is agreed that this position should be 
referenced in the JSP SCI.  More 
detailed reference to engagement on 
SPDs will be considered when the SCI is 
next reviewed. This review needs to be 
carried out at least every 5 years 

 
(e) The JSP programme will continue to 

consult adjoining authorities such as 
Harlow on documents directly related to 
the JSP. The HERT project is at present 
a stand-alone infrastructure scheme and 
consultation is the responsibility of 
Hertfordshire County Council as the local 
highway authority. If and when it 
progresses as a defined proposal, then 
this will need to be referenced in the JSP 
and feedback sought upon this proposal 
(along with other relevant strategic 

P
age 57



Page A8 
 

infrastructure projects) as the JSP 
process progresses.   

 

National Highways 
 (Janice Burgess) 

National Highways (formerly Highways 
England) has been appointed by the Secretary 
of State for Transport as strategic highway 
company under the provisions of the 
Infrastructure Act 2015 and is the highway 
authority, traffic authority and street authority 
for the Strategic Road Network (SRN).  
  
Highlights key areas of the SRN located in SW 
Herts area and the guidance document that 
sets out how they will engagement with local 
authorities, communities and developers in the 
preparation of planning documents. 
 
Note that they are a statutory consultee and 
have a duty to cooperate with local authorities 
to support the preparation and implementation 
of development plan documents. 
 
They welcome the fact that SCI identifies them 
as a statutory consultee and welcomes 
engagement on the preparation of a JSP, with 
consideration given to development impacts 
identified for the SRN.   
   
They look forward to continuing to participate 
in future consultations and discussions 
regarding the JSP, as well as reviewing the 
traffic modelling and mitigation strategy as it 
develops.   
 

Noted. 
 
It is understood that Highways England was 
rebranded as National Highways on 19 
August 2021.  References within the 
document should be amended accordingly. 

Yes. 
 
Amend 
reference in 
Appendix 1 
from ‘Highways 
England’ to 
‘National 
Highways’ to 
reflect formal 
name change, 
and add 
generic 
planning email 
address to JSP 
consultation 
database. 

P
age 58



Page A9 
 

Note that the SRN covered by the SW Herts 
JSP is administered through two National 
Highways Regional offices and it is important 
that a collaborative approach is taken to 
working together to ensure that the views of 
officers from both Regional officers are 
considered for the appropriate sections of our 
network.  
  
Provides a general contact address of 
planningse@highwaysengland.co.uk. 
  

Canal and River Trust 
(Anne Denby) 

Note that the Trust is a statutory consultee for 
Development Management matters and 
welcome their inclusion as a specific group in 
Appendix 1. The reference is however to their 
old title of ‘British Waterways’ and this needs to 
be updated.   
 
The Trust wishes to engage with the 
production of the JSP and would like their 
generic email planning@canalrivertrust.or.uk 
added to the consultation database.   

Noted. 
 
British Waterways (now the Canal and River 
Trust) were erroneously included in the list of 
statutory consultation bodies for plan-making 
in Appendix 1 of the draft SCI. It is therefore 
appropriate to remove them from this list and 
instead add them to the JSP consultation 
database.  This is consistent with the 
approach suggested for Sport England and 
Defence Infrastructure Organisation and 
reflects legal advice. 
 

No changes 
required to SCI. 
 
Add generic 
planning email 
address to JSP 
consultation 
database.  

Berkhamsted 
Residents Action 
Group (BRAG) 
(Antony Harbidge) 

Notes that as is standard for a Statement of 
Community Involvement, in addition to specific 
statutory consultation bodies there is a 
commitment to consult with relevant 
organisations representing the interests of 
local residents, the environment, businesses 
etc in the area. 
 
In BRAG’s experience it is left to these 
organisations to engage with the process 

Noted.   No changes 
required to SCI. 
 
Add BRAG to 
JSP 
consultation 
database. 

P
age 59

mailto:planningse@highwaysengland.co.uk
mailto:planning@canalrivertrust.or.uk


Page A10 
 

rather than the planning body being proactive 
and actually engaging with the local 
organisations. The planning body should 
engage with local organisation and not leave it 
up to the organisations to do all the work. 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council 
(Christine McGoldrick) 

Welcome the opportunity to respond this 
consultation and look forward to continuing the 
good working relations with the five substantive 
authorities involved as the Joint Strategic Plan 
progresses. 
 
Supports the delivery of the South-West 
Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) to 
support sustainable growth to 2050 in a 
comprehensive manner across the area. 
 
CBC recognises that the SCI is specific to the 
production of the JSP and that the individual 
Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) also have 
their own individual SCIs relating to their 
individual Local Plans and any Neighbourhood 
Plans in their areas, and that therefore CBC 
will continue to engage with them on an 
individual basis as well as part of the South-
West as a whole. 
 
Supports the approach taken in drawing up the 
SCI which will ensure that all interested parties 
will be able to influence and feed into the 
evolution of the Strategic Plan. Also supports 
the provision of more detailed engagement 
strategies to supplement the SCI.  
 
Note at paragraph 1.18 that how the SW Herts 
authorities are working together under the Duty 

Support for the JSP welcomed, as is 
recognition that Central Bedfordshire Council 
will need to continue to engage districts and 
Town / Parish councils on Local Plans and 
Neighbourhood Plans respectively.    
 
 
It is agree that clarification about the extent of 
the Duty to co-operate would be helpful in 
para 1.18, including a general reference to 
the preparation of Statements of Common 
Ground being considered with adjoining 
authorities as the JSP progresses.  It is also 
recommend that the Duty to co-operate 
bodies specified in the regulation are also 
added to Appendix 1 of the SCI, as they are 
statutorily prescribed consultees. 
 
It is not considered appropriate for the SCI to 
confirm whether Statements of Common 
Ground will be prepared with specific 
adjoining councils, as the need for such 
document swill depend upon the content of 
the JSP, any cross boundary issues arising 
as a result, and any comments received from 
those authorities on the plan. However, the 
general principle can be added to the 
document.  

Yes. 
 
Add additional 
text to para 
1.18 to refer to 
the preparation 
of Statements 
of Common 
Ground with 
adjoining 
authorities. 
 
Add list of duty 
to co-operate 
bodies to 
Appendix 1 of 
the SCI. 

P
age 60



Page A11 
 

to Cooperate to complete the JSP will be set 
out in a South West Hertfordshire-wide 
Statement of Common Ground that will be 
published shortly. However, the Duty to Co-
operate extends beyond just the five local 
authorities that make up the area of the South-
West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan.  
Although it is noted that neighbouring 
authorities are listed in Appendix 1, this section 
could make it clearer that the Duty to 
Cooperate extends beyond the boundaries of 
the plan and will involve the neighbouring 
authorities listed, including Central 
Bedfordshire Council. 
 
Confirmation on whether Statements of 
Common Ground will be sought between the 
South West Hertfordshire area and 
neighbouring authorities would be welcomed. 

 

P
age 61



Realising our Potential
South West Hertfordshire 2050

August 2022

P
age 62



Foreword
As Leaders of the six authorities that make up 
South West Hertfordshire, we are pleased to 
introduce a vision for the future of our area and  
to seek your feedback.

This consultation marks the first exciting step in 
a new approach to long term planning in South 
West Hertfordshire, covering the areas of Dacorum 
Borough, Hertsmere Borough, St Albans City and 
District, Three Rivers District and Watford Borough.

The South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) will 
establish a collective ambition and set a blueprint 
for the future of the area to 2050.  Eventually it will 
need to address big issues like the scale and location 
of new growth, the infrastructure needed to deliver 
it and our response to the challenges of climate 
change. However at this stage it is not about housing 
or employment numbers, or locations for growth. We 
don’t yet know where growth should go, but we know 
we want it to happen as sustainably as possible.

This is your chance to tell us how you think our area 
can realise its full potential and how we can ensure 
sustainable growth provides a better future for 
everyone. In section 5, you will find a draft vision and 

objectives for our area, which we want your thoughts 
on. This will then guide future stages of our plan.

We want the preparation of the Joint Strategic Plan to 
be an open process. This initial document is therefore 
designed to stimulate debate. We want the plan 
to be visionary, aspirational and use growth as an 
opportunity to improve the quality of life for those 
who currently live, work and play in the area, and 
those who wish to do so in the future.

When developing our draft vision, we have tried to 
recognise the many assets and strengths of SW Herts – 
in terms of our built, natural and human resources. We 
have also tried to ensure that we make the most of our 
economic strengths, enhance the quality of our life 
and reduce and adapt to the impact of  
climate change.

We want to talk to as many people as possible to 
ensure that the process of preparing the plan is 
fully collaborative and inclusive. Only by planning 
collectively for a sustainable future that benefits all 
our existing and new residents and businesses can we 
truly realise our area’s potential together. 

We look forward to hearing what you have to say.

 

Contents
Foreword 

Introduction

Our world is changing

SW Herts today

Planning for infrastructure  

The draft Vision – tell us what you think

Living green in a flourishing natural environment

Working locally in a global economy

Living in healthy, thriving local communities

Moving easily in connected places

Building the right homes in high quality places

Delivering smart and sustainable infrastructure 

Shaping the future

Making it happen

How to comment

Appendix: Background to the Joint 
Strategic Plan

5

6

4

3

8

2

7

1

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

32

SIGNATURE 1 SIGNATURE 2 SIGNATURE 3

SIGNATURE 4 SIGNATURE 5 SIGNATURE 6

P
age 63



Dacorum

Hemel 
Hempstead

Harpenden

Wheathampstead

London
Colney

Bricket
Wood

Borehamwood

Radlett

Rickmansworth

Chorleywood

Mill End
Croxley
Green

Watford

St Albans

Park Street/
Frogmore

How Wood

Redbourn

Chiswell
Green

Tring

Berkhamsted

Bushey
Elstree Village

Shenley

Markyate

South
Mimms Potters

Bar

South
Oxhey

Abbots
Langley

Kings
Langley

Bovingdon

Watford

Three
Rivers

Hertsmere

St Albans

The SW Herts area

We, the five local authorities which makes up South 
West Hertfordshire, supported by Hertfordshire 
County Council, are working together to produce a 
Joint Strategic Plan, which will provide a long-term 
blueprint for the future of the area to 2050.

Introduction1

Our collective ambition is that by working 
together and over a longer timescale, we will be 
in a stronger position to deliver and better fund 
the essential local transport links, health services, 
educational facilities, homes and employment 
that local people want to see, as well as ensuring 
that this part of Hertfordshire is sustainable, 
cleaner, greener and healthier. By considering 
the longer-term future of this area as a whole, 
and by working together, we believe that the 
opportunities to plan successfully for the future 
will be greater.

The Joint Strategic Plan will address cross boundary 
issues and set out high level policies covering:

•  Reducing the negative impacts of climate change 
and the amount of carbon we release into the 
atmosphere

•  Identifying needs for key infrastructure, such as 
schools and new public transport links, where this 
should go and how it is paid for

•  Reflecting important designations such as  the 
Green Belt and Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB)

•  Establishing long term opportunities for 
providing new homes and jobs

•  Identifying where any large scale growth should 
be located

It is important to recognise that in preparing this 
initial consultation document on the Joint Strategic 
Plan we don’t yet know the amount of growth 
needed, or where that growth might be best 
located.

These statutory stages and the timetable for when 
they will be completed are shown in Figure 2 
overleaf.

54

P
age 64



The Joint Strategic Plan will play a very important role in shaping the future of SW Herts, by drawing up a longer 
term strategy to 2050 which best meets the needs of our area as a whole. This will include defining where any 
large scale growth locations should be. 

The Joint Strategic Plan will not replace each district’s own Local Plan. Each district and borough will still be 
required to prepare their own Local Plan. Local Plans set out a local council’s policies and proposals for how 
land will be used and what types of development can happen in that area. Future Local Plans will sit within the 
framework set by the Joint Strategic Plan and will set out detailed site boundaries and the choice of smaller-
scale sites, as well as continuing to guide other day to day planning decisions.

You can read more at www.swhertsplan.com or in the background section at the end of this document.

Your views will help shape the 
future of SW Herts…
Please let us have your feedback by answering the question(s) at the 
end of each section. We will firstly ask for your views on the area as it 
currently is, and then ask for your views on whether you agree with 
our draft vision for the future and the types of growth that are the most 
appropriate for us to consider.

You don’t have to answer every question we ask, but we would like 
to receive as much feedback as possible, to help ensure that the Joint 
Strategic Plan reflects a wide range of views.  

If you would prefer to respond by email or letter, please see further 
information about how to do this at the end of this document.

The consultation closes at 5pm on **date** so please ensure that 
we receive your views by then.

Details of the full engagement programme that supports the Joint 
Strategic Plan is available on our website  

www.swhertspan.com/***

Sets out a series of high level 
(strategic) policies on key topics 
that apply across the whole of SW 
Herts and identify any large-scale 
development sites.

Local Plans (or equivalent documents)

Sets out for each district/borough:

•  the remaining planning policies required to enable 
the JSP polices to be implemented for that area;

• policies covering more local issues; and

•  the detailed boundaries for any large scale 
development sites identified in the JSP, together 
with any additional smaller sites

Planning policies covering the SW Herts area

76

How does the Joint Strategic Plan fit with Local Plans?

P
age 65



The future of South West Herts will be affected by trends and shifts occurring in the area, the country, and the world. Some of these 
are set out below. The Joint Strategic Plan will also need to take into account decisions that have already made through Local Plans.

Our world is changing

Climate
The UK Government and we, the SW Herts Authorities, have declared a climate 
emergency. In the face of this climate emergency we need to radically change 
the way our society and economy operates. To do so will both safeguard the 
planet and increase our own ability to adapt to a changing planet.

Economy
The UK’s decision to leave the EU has created considerable uncertainty for some 
UK businesses. It continues to be unclear what the UK’s eventual relationship 
with the EU will look like and how this will affect things such as market access, the 
availability of migrant labour and product regulation. In SW Herts 63% of jobs 
growth since 2010 has been among non-UK nationals. Migration controls may 
therefore limit an important labour supply.

Demographics
Across the country, populations are growing, changing, ageing and becoming 
more diverse. Families are getting smaller and more people are living alone. 
We’re living longer and healthier lives, although there remain inequalities in 
health and life expectancy. In SW Herts, as well as an ageing population there is 
also a predicted increase in young people and families moving in; young people 
who may have different priorities, skills and aspirations than their parents.

Mobility
Connectivity is more important now than ever, both to peoples’ daily quality of 
life and to the wider economy. The way people move around has been affected 
by the pandemic and it is too soon to see what the long term implications will 
be. However, traffic congestion and environmental impacts are still key things 
that will influence how we move around in the future. From better public 
transport, a move to electric vehicles and just getting more people walking and 
cycling, the future of mobility needs to be greener, easier and more joined-up.

Technology
Data and digital systems are becoming increasingly integrated into our day to day 
lives. A report by consultants McKinsey Digital suggests that digital adoption has 
accelerated by 7 years over the 2 years of the pandemic Link. As a result, how we 
manage, experience and participate in our towns and cities, and wider society, is 
changing. This shift poses many challenges, but it also has the potential to make 
our places more efficient, resilient, inclusive and better places to live.

COVID-19
In the past two years, the nature of the places and spaces where we live, work, 
shop, exercise and raise our children have been brought into sharp focus. Lines 
between home, office, schools, pub and gym have become blurred. High 
streets, local centres and parks have become focal points for daily life. We have 
learned that we still need to come together socially and professionally, but that 
this can take many shapes and forms. Many have suffered greatly and recovery 
may take many years. How we understand the challenges and opportunities the 
pandemic has created is an important backdrop for the future vision for  
our area.

Feedback
1)  Are there any other national or global issues or trends that we 

should take account of when preparing the Joint Strategic Plan?

If YES, please explain what these are and why:
YES NO

2

What you’ve already told us…
Before beginning work on the Joint Strategic Plan, we wanted to get a better understanding from those who live and work in 
SW Herts about what they like about the area now and what we should be prioritising as we look to shape the future.

To help with this we carried out a ‘SW Herts Your Future’ poll in early 2020.

One of the key messages from the poll was that 86% of local people felt happy about living or working in SW Herts. Their 
favourite things about the area were parks, open spaces and its closeness to London 

In terms of improvements, the provision of better health facilities was the priority for most respondents. Additionally, three 
key themes were also identified, these being the need for green spaces, infrastructure and healthcare facilities

In terms of the priorities for improving the area, 65% of respondents voted for ‘Better Health Facilities’. For the under 25s, 
they pointed to ‘Easier to get around’, ‘Better housing choice’ and ‘Better health facilities’.

South West Herts today is a great place to live, work and spend leisure time.

SW Herts today
It is a place defined as much by its urban character and proximity to London as its rural 
character, countryside and access to fantastic green and open spaces. From rural villages 
to historic market towns, a New Town, a small city and outer London feel, there is a great 
diversity of character across the area. 

But there are still issues that we need to address, especially when planning for the future.

We have also held a series of workshops involving elected Councillors, Council Officers, 
stakeholders and a SW Herts based youth group.

We have sought informal feedback from residents through our engagement website.

We asked for your views on SW Herts as it is today and what it should be like in the future.

The issues, challenges and opportunities raised through those conversations are included 
in the following summaries.

3

8 9

P
age 66



Climate emergency
•  All five South West Herts local authorities, as well 

as Hertfordshire County Council, have declared a 
climate emergency and the Hertfordshire Climate 
Change and Sustainability Partnership (HCCSP) 
was established in January 2020

•  Further action is required to meet, and ideally 
exceed, the Government’s target of net zero 
carbon by 2050

•  Area’s water resources are under particular 
pressure, with lower than average annual rainfall, 
a growing population, and water use higher than 
the national average

Home to important 
landscapes
•  Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB) characterised by its chalk streams, 
commons and beech woodlands, part of which is 
designated as a ‘Special Area of Conservation’ 

•  Colne Valley Regional Park, connecting 
Rickmansworth with the Thames

•  A wide range of public open spaces, such as the 
award winning Cassiobury Park and Verulamium 
Park, plus historic gardens, woodlands, and lakes

•  The Grand Union Canal is a key asset that could 
be further enhanced and utilised for wildlife and 
recreation

Strong historic heritage
•  Numerous listed buildings, many of which are 

located in designated Conservation Areas

•  Scheduled Ancient Monuments such as 
Berkhamsted Castle and St Albans Cathedral, 
which is thought to be the oldest site of 
continuous Christian worship in Britain

Our environment 
in South West Herts

Feedback
2)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

OUR ENVIRONMENT in SW Herts?

3)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1110

Water use is 16% higher 
than the national average

Access to green space
•  Making better use of the land between our 

buildings and informal open space can help 
improve our public areas, improve connectivity 
with green spaces, support biodiversity and help 
mitigate the effects of climate change

•  Access to high quality green space can have a 
positive impact on our well-being

Attractive as a home for 
businesses and people
•  High quality natural environment that makes the 

area attractive as a location for businesses and a 
desirable place to live

40 Green 
Flag Award 
winning parks

9 
Registered 
Parks and 
GardensHome to Conservation 

Areas88

•  The Covid pandemic has made us value both 
public and private open space more than ever, 
with green space especially important to those 
living in more built-up parts of the area

•  The greening of urban areas can also help 
support biodiversity, link up wildlife corridors and 
lessen the impacts of climate change

P
age 67



Living
in South West Herts

Feedback
2)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

LIVING in SW Herts?

3)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1312

Location
•  The area has many locational advantages, being 

attractive for those needing access to London, or 
to Heathrow, Gatwick, Stansted or Luton airports, 
whether for business or pleasure

Diversity of character
•  Home to a wide range of communities, from 

large towns to a number of smaller historic market 
towns, rural villages and hamlets

•  A variety of types of homes, ranging from large 
detached houses in more rural parts of the area, 
through to higher density apartments in  
central Watford

Population changes
•  The local population is growing. In particular, 

growth in the 65+ age group will increase 
demand for different types of housing, accessible 
healthcare and accessible local facilities.

•  Watford is also seeing an increase in younger 
people moving into the town, which places 
different demands on services and facilities

Housing pressures
•  Demand for housing is high, but a large 

proportion of the area is designated as Green 
Belt or rural area, so finding suitable locations for 
sustainable growth is a huge challenge

•  House prices are very high, making it very hard to 
get on the housing ladder and to afford the type 
of home that suits your family size and lifestyle

Prosperity hides some 
inequalities
•  There are some pockets of deprivation, mostly 

focussed in the larger centres of Watford, Hemel 
Hempstead and Borehamwood

•  There are health inequalities across the area, with 
differences in life expectancy of up to 10 years

•  Patients have variable access to local health and 
social care services

•  Hospitals within the area are in a poor physical 
condition and need upgrading to ensure they 
can continue to deliver the range and quality of 
services required

•  Those living outside of the larger towns are more 
likely to suffer from isolation and need access to a 
car to be able to reach local services and facilities

In 2019 those aged 65+ 
represented 16.8% of 

the area’s population, with 
this predicated to rise to 

22.7% by 2041

Population density House prices
Number of people per hectare (2011)

 

42.1

4.1

9.9 8.7

9.8

6.8

6.8

82% above 
the national 

average

2019 2041

22.7%

16.8%

P
age 68



Working
in South West Herts

Feedback
4)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

WORKING in SW Herts?

5)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1514

Strong and growing 
economy
•  Economy has recovered well from the last 

recession, growing by around 4% a year  
since 2011

•  Historically driven by the professional and 
business services sectors, with other strong 
sectors emerging such as film/TV, life sciences, 
sustainable construction and advanced 
engineering and manufacturing

•  Home to a number of international business HQs, 
in area such as Clarendon Road in Watford and 
the Maylands Business Park in Hemel Hempstead

Economic Pressures
•  Some sectors have declined in recent 

years, particularly public administration and 
manufacturing

•  Land availability for both new and existing 
businesses is very challenging due to planning 
constraints and competition with housing

•  Some companies have moved out of the area in 
the search for cheaper and larger premises

•  Growth in the construction, education and 
healthcare sectors is particularly dependent on 
the employment of non-UK nationals

•  High house prices are one of the reasons key 
sectors struggle to recruit

Research and innovation
•  A strong research and innovation sector with the 

likes of Rothamsted Research and the Building 
Research Establishment - global leaders in the 
fields of agri-tech and building research

•  The Herts Innovation Quarter Enterprise Zone will 
encourage growth in these and other  
related sectors

Creative industries
•  A strong and growing location for creative 

industries including publishing, film and TV, arts 
and entertainment 

•  Home to Elstree Studios, BBC Elstree, Warner 
Bros Studios at Leavesden and the newly 
developed Sky Studios, Borehamwood 82% of the area’s working age population 

have either a part time or full-time job or seeking 
a job for the first time, compared to the national 

average of 78%

82%78%

Low unemployment
•  The proportion of the area’s working age 

population who have either a part time or full-time 
job or seeking a job for the first time is significantly 
higher than the national average.

•  Unemployment is lower than the national and 
county average, with all districts have seen a 
significant fall in those without jobs since 2010

A highly skilled workforce
•  Home to a highly skilled workforce, but there are 

not always suitable jobs to allow residents to work 
locally

•  Local skills and education opportunities are 
supported by the nationally respected University 
of Hertfordshire

•  Further education opportunities are offered by 
both West Herts College and Oaklands College

Agile working
•  The Covid pandemic has increased the 

importance of ensuring technology and data 
networks are sufficient to support changing ways 
of working, especially in some rural areas where 
access to broadband needs upgrading

3.5% of the working age 
population are unemployed, 
compared to an average of
4.2% across the county as a whole

3.5%
unemployed

S W Herts 4.2%
unemployed

UK

will deliver over 

8,000 new jobs 

and 800 new
businesses

New Herts 
Innovation 

Quarter 
Enterprise Zone Economic 

productivity is now 
2% lower than the 
UK average, having 

been 8% higher  
in 2001

63% of the 
local growth in 

employment
between 2010 and
2018 was among 

non-UK 
nationals

P
age 69



Playing
in South West Herts

Feedback
6)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

PLAYING  in SW Herts?

7)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1716

Strong sporting community
•  SW Herts has one of the highest sports 

participation rates in the country, helping to keep 
obesity levels below the national average

•  Teams such as Watford, Arsenal, Boreham Wood, 
Kings Langley and other grassroots football clubs 
provide local outreach to people of all ages

High quality visitor 
attractions
•  The area is home to nine registered parks and 

gardens and six National Trust sites

•  Warner Bros. Studio and St Albans Cathedral 
attract local, national and international tourists

•  Most visitors only stay for the day, and more can 
be done to celebrate and promote SW Herts as a 
destination where visitors spend more time

Shopping and socialising
•  A number of well-established town centres, with 

Watford providing the largest range of leisure and 
shopping facilities

•  A better night-time and entertainment offer 
would attract a more diverse and younger range 
of people, but must be supported by improved 
public transport

•  Scope to provide new leisure, cultural and 
recreational facilities and to improve the 
accessibility of existing facilities for those who do 
not have access to a car

High quality cycle networks
•  There are a number of high quality cycle networks 

in the area that are predominantly used for leisure 
and recreation, including the Nickey Line that 
follows the route of the former Harpenden to

compared to the 
national average of

of adults recorded as 
physically active in 2019/2072%

66%

In 2019 ‘The Making of 
Harry Potter’ studio tour 
at Warner Bros. generated 
almost £133 million for the 

local economy
57% of adults 

classified as 
overweight

compared to the 
England average of 

63%Watford FC’s Community Sports and Education 
Trust run over 30 different projects engaging 

with over 158,000 participants annually

Streets and public spaces
•  There are opportunities for the well-planned 

regeneration of some town centres, which can 
boost local trade and improve the experience for 
those shopping there

Hemel Hempstead Railway and the Ebury Way 
connecting Watford and Rickmansworth and other 
routes along the Grand Union Canal

•  These networks form important green corridors, 
providing wildlife links as well as pleasant traffic 
free routes

P
age 70



Moving
around South West Herts

Feedback
6)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

MOVING  in SW Herts?

7)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1918

Good North-South links
•  Connected by fast and efficient links to London 

and the Midlands by the M1, A1, M25, Midland 
Main Line and West Coast Main Line, as well 
as stops on the London Underground and 
Overground network

•  The Abbey Line connecting St Albans and 
Watford has significant future potential and a 
more frequent service would help improve local 
north south links

•  Residents have highlighted the importance 
of continued easy accessibility to leisure and 
employment opportunities in London

Poor East-West links
•  East-west movements, particularly for public 

transport, are however poor and focussed on the 
M25 and A414.

•  East-west travel is not possible by train, whilst bus 
services are infrequent and slow

Rail and road congestion
•  Road congestion is a particular issue along east-

west routes where there isn’t a realistic public 
transport alternative

•  Rail congestion is a common issue at peak times, 
and likely to increase with growing demand

•  A number of rail lines are forecast to be operating 
at over capacity by 2031, especially the Midland 
Main Line to St Pancras, West Coast Main Line 
suburban services and Great Northern services to 
Moorgate, although it is unclear how the Covid 
pandemic will affect these forecasts

Cycling connections
•  More than half of trips made in Hertfordshire are 

less than 5 miles, a distance that many could do 
on a bicycle with the right infrastructure in place

•  Cycling improvements around Hemel Hempstead 
and an off-road cycleway connecting St Albans 
to Luton via Harpenden, and along the A405 
from St Albans to Leavesden are helping to 
improve the otherwise patchy and variable quality 
cycle network. However these routes remain 
underused

Car reliance
•  Public transport in rural parts of SW Herts is poor. 

Car dependency in the area is therefore very 
high, both for local and longer trips. Car use has 
increased as a result of the pandemic

•  Discussions are underway to deliver an east-west 
Mass Rapid Transit scheme, broadly following 
the route of the A414 from Hemel Hempstead to 
Harlow, to help support a move away from reliance 
on the private car

•  Whilst there is a slow move towards greener 
movement with electric cars and shared travel 
options such as car clubs, there is a lack of 
supporting infrastructure to encourage  
greater uptake

9 out of 10 households 
own at least one car

63% of trips 
in Hertfordshire 

are less than 
5 miles

By 2036 there is 
predicted to be an 

increase in travel 
time of 43% in 

the morning 
rush hour

97% of the 
population live 

within 30 minutes 
of a town centre by 
public transport

Predicted 25% increase 
in trips originating in 

Hertfordshire by 2036

+25%

P
age 71



It is vital when planning for our area’s future that full account is taken of the infrastructure needed to deliver sustainable growth and what opportunities 
there are to help reduce gaps in existing provision. It is also critical to ensure these essential facilities and services are delivered at the right time and in 
the right place.

Planning for infrastructure

Work done to support our Local Plans highlights significant gaps in 
infrastructure provision, and in particular the difficulties in planning for services 
and facilities that cross council boundaries. These challenges are reflected in 
the informal feedback we have received so far, and will only increase over time.  

By working together, we will be in a stronger position secure funding and 
deliver the infrastructure that local people and businesses want to see.

The Joint Strategic Plan will need to be supported by a longer term delivery 
plan setting out what types of infrastructure are needed where, by when, and 
how they are expected to be paid for. This document will be prepared once it is 
clearer how much growth the area will need to accommodate and where it will 
be located.

Some of the challenges we face have been highlighted in the ‘SW Herts today’ 
section above, but there may be others that you wish to draw our attention to.

Feedback
12)  Are there any long term infrastructure challenges or opportunities that 

you would like to make us aware of as we begin work on the plan?

If YES, please explain what these are and why:
YES NO

4

What do we mean by ‘infrastructure’?
The term covers a wide range of services and facilities, from those we use 
every day to others we use more occasionally. It includes things like:

• Public transport – buses, trains and bike hire schemes

• Footpaths and cycle routes

• Roads

• Water (both drinking and waste)

• Internet and telephone connections

• Energy supplies

• Sports facilities – both indoor and outdoor

• Health services – such as GPs and hospitals

•  Green spaces – parks, country parks and more informal areas of 
open space

• Community halls

• Schools 

Whilst we don’t directly provide much of this infrastructure, it is important 
that when planning for our area we work with the relevant providers to 
ensure these services and facilities are provided at the right time and in 
the right place. New infrastructure should be planned so that it brings 
benefits to existing as well as new residents and employers.

Current and proposed key infrastructure

The Hertfordshire Essex rapid transit (HERT) is intended to be a new, 
sustainable passenger transport network running from Hemel Hempstead 
and West Watford, joining just south of St Albans in Hertfordshire, to Harlow 
in Essex and onwards to Stansted Airport. It will carry more people than a 
car but will be more convenient and reliable than a traditional bus.

Initial public consultation has been carried out to help inform the business 
case that will be submitted to government. This will explore what benefits 
the HERT could provide, the different options available and potential costs.  
See YouTube clip for more information

Two important large scale infrastructure projects are already at the planning stage, or underway across SW Herts. They provide an indication of 
the type and scale of infrastructure investment that will be required to support long term sustainable growth.

The West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust has been identified by 
Government as one of eight ‘Pathfinder’ Trusts to deliver their plans to build 
40 new hospitals across the UK by 2030.  The proposals would see Watford 
General redeveloped, together with significant improvements to the trust’s 
other sites in St Albans and Hemel Hempstead, – improving the range and 
quality of services on offer and the way in which they are delivered.

2120

P
age 72



The draft vision 
– tell us what you think

The objectives we set today will shape the lives of generations to come. And this is where it starts…

Feedback
13)  Does the draft vision statement summarise your aspirations for 

the future of South West Hertfordshire to 2050?

14)  Are there any changes you would like to see to the vision statement?

If YES, please explain what these are and why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

5 Setting clear objectives

The 6 Pillars

In order to achieve our vision, we have established six pillars to guide us.

These set out our ambitions for the key areas that the plan will cover. Each pillar contains a number of more specific objectives that that are designed to help shape 
future policies and allocations within the Joint Strategic Plan, and wider investment decisions in the area.

Through these pillars we aim to understand current and future needs and desires of those who live and work in the area, and where we want to be by 2050.

What if SW Herts made living green easy and led our 
country’s response to climate change?

What if SW Herts became nationally recognised as 
providing a high quality of life?

What if SW Herts was cleaner and greener, with more 
robust and sustainable infrastructure?

What if SW Herts had more people moving around by 
public transport, bikes and on foot than by car?

What if SW Herts was an affordable, sustainable and 
fulfilling place to live?

What if SW Herts was a place where investors, innovators, 
entrepreneurs and creators chose to come together?

These pillars are expanded in more detail overleaf. We would like your feedback on each of 
these and the objectives that sit beneath them.

Delivering robust and 
sustainable infrastructure

Building homes and places 
that people are proud of

Living in healthy, thriving 
local communities

Moving easily in well 
connected places

Living green in a healthy 
natural environment

Growing opportunities to 
work locally

2322

Our vision 
statement

Realising our 
potential

“South West Herts will realise its full potential 
of being globally connected, nationally 

recognised and locally cherished. Known 
for its creative spirit, collaborative working 

and willingness to accelerate positive 
change, it will be a place where 
sustainable growth provides a 

better future for everyone.”

We have drafted a vision statement for the South West Herts Joint Strategic 
Plan, which we would like your feedback on.

This vision has been developed in line with issues raised about our 
environment, and living, working, playing and moving around in the area.

P
age 73



Living green in a healthy 
natural environment
We have nationally recognised and locally cherished green and open spaces, 
but our natural environment is fragile. We are facing a climate and ecological 
emergency and it is time for us to accelerate change. Our future will balance 
demand for resources and growth with the natural capacity of our environment. 
We must be greener, healthier and leaders in climate action.

Commit to net zero carbon
Ensure all new development is net zero carbon and striving to be 
carbon negative, while improving the carbon performance of our 
existing built environment.

Bring people closer to nature
Protect the natural, recreational and character value of the area’s 
green spaces, integrate nature into all new development, and 
improve existing links.

Create sustainable buildings and infrastructure
Introduce nature based solutions that are resilient to the effects of 
climate change.

Enrich native biodiversity and ecology
Protect, enhance and connect new and existing biodiversity and 
ecological networks.

Green construction
Build responsibly with modern methods that reduce resource 
consumption and reuse materials.

Feedback
15)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to LIVING GREEN IN 

A HEALTHY NATURAL ENVIRONMENT?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Growing opportunities 
to work locally
We have a high performing economy with globally leading scientific research, film, 
TV and creative media together with office and service sector jobs. But it will not 
be enough to rely on these businesses and sectors alone to drive our future. We 
must embrace new and growing sectors, new models of working, and new ways of 
shopping and accessing services. There must be opportunities for everyone.

Feedback
16)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to GROWING 

OPPORTUNITIES TO WORK LOCALLY?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Create space to grow
Support the delivery of a wide range of quality workspaces, where 
new and existing businesses from different sectors can grow  
and flourish.

Target investment
Encourage investment in new and high performing sectors to allow 
the local economy to prosper and keep the workforce local.

Diversify and increase activity in centres
Encourage the resilience of high streets and town centres by 
supporting mixed use and their diversified role as destinations for 
leisure, culture and work.

Retain and develop talent
Support and promote the provision of facilities, funding, and links 
to business for education and training, including access to higher 
education, lifetime learning, apprenticeships, and re-skilling for all.

Strengthen the visitor economy
Build on our globally recognised attractions, to develop a thriving  
visitor economy.

2524

Our objectivesOur objectives

P
age 74



Living in healthy, thriving 
local communities
Our area is a desirable and attractive place 
to live. Our population is generally healthy, 
prosperous and people feel positive about 
the experience of living and working here. 
But this must not mask our challenges. We 
have areas of deprivation and a number 
of services under pressure. We know that 
our people are our future, and we must 
help both new and existing communities 
achieve the highest quality of life and 
support their physical and mental health 
and wellbeing.

Feedback
17)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to LIVING IN 

HEALTHY, THRIVING LOCAL COMMUNITIES?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Provide healthy places to live
Focus on creating homes and neighbourhoods that provide 
opportunities for healthy living and strong physical and  
mental wellbeing.

Locate facilities to encourage community 
interaction
Support the timely delivery of well located, flexible spaces 
for work, leisure, health, learning, cultural, community and 
shopping facilities.

Ensure safe and inclusive places and spaces
Create and protect environments where individuals and 
communities feel safe and supported.

Moving easily in 
connected places
Our area is defined by its location and its easy access to London. However, our 
roads are congested and east-west public transport links are poor. It is time 
for us all to change the way we travel. We need a future where fast, efficient 
and affordable public transport and walkable neighbourhoods encourage 
greener travel, where our communities feel connected and where our people, 
businesses, visitors and goods can move around easily.

Feedback
18)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to MOVING EASILY 

IN CONNECTED PLACES?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Transform travel
Encourage a radical shift away from car travel by providing 
accessible, efficient, safe, and affordable alternatives.

Connect towns and villages
Make travel between new and existing communities easier by 
strengthening public transport, cycle and walking networks and 
promoting on-demand services.

Improve delivery solutions
Support a move towards carbon negative and more sustainable 
delivery networks.

Create walkable neighbourhoods
Create a neighbourhood full of activity, where people can access 
all their daily needs, workplaces and transport options by foot and 
bike, and where life is active.

2726

Our objectives

Our objectives

P
age 75



Building homes and places 
that people are proud of
Our area’s distinct qualities have long attracted people to move here. The 
natural environment, the mix of towns and villages and the proximity to London 
are all key factors in what makes the area an enviable place to be. There is no 
single unifying character, but this variety is our strength. We want to build on 
our diversity and desirability by making strategic decisions about where and 
how we build.

Feedback
19)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to BUILDING HOMES 

AND PLACES THAT PEOPLE ARE PROUD OF?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Design attractive places
Deliver places that are fit for current and future needs, where high 
quality buildings and public spaces create places that people feel 
proud to call home.

Celebrate a diverse place
Reinforce the varied urban and rural character of the area.

Deliver new homes in the right places
Ensure homes are built in sustainable, well connected locations, 
accompanied by the timely delivery of new infrastructure.

Recognise current and future housing needs
Ensure current and future residents can live in a high quality 
home they can afford, that is flexible and adaptable to different 
lifestyles and work patterns.

Delivering robust and 
sustainable infrastructure
Our area is growing and there is an ever increasing demand on resources. 
This will not change and indeed we want to actively encourage continued 
investment in our area. But we must change how we do this. We need a 
proactive and positive approach to planning and delivering infrastructure that 
focuses on a more resilient and sustainable future.

Feedback
20)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to DELIVERING 

ROBUST AND SUSTINABLE INFRASRUCTURE?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Deliver key infrastructure
Identify the infrastructure required to support new and existing 
growth, work with partners to deliver it in a timely manner and ensure 
it meets local needs, and adapts to the effects of climate change.

Green energy generation
Promote local energy production with an increased focus on 
renewable sources.

Promote circular economies
Minimise waste by promoting the reduction, reuse and recycling  
of materials.

Advance digital infrastructure
Ensure everyone can be connected through fast digital networks.

Our objectives
Our objectives

28

Feedback
21)  Which of the six topics covered by the ‘pillars’ is of most 

importance to you?

Please tick the relevant box below:

Living green in a healthy natural environment
Growing opportunities to work locally
Living in healthy, thriving local communities
Moving easily in well connected places
Building homes and places that people are proud of
Delivering robust and sustainable infrastructure

Please explain the reasons for your choice:

29

P
age 76



Shaping the future
Between now and 2050 SW Herts will grow and 
change. The Joint Strategic Plan will play a very 
important role in shaping the future of the area, 
identifying broad locations for sustainable growth, 
with the allocation of detailed site boundaries and 
the choice of smaller-scale sites being left to Local 
Plans to define.

No decision on either the scale or location of new 
development has been made yet.

We know it will be a challenge to decide on the best 
locations for the most sustainable growth, and specific 
local concerns will need to be considered alongside 
the need for new infrastructure, homes and jobs before 
any decisions are made.

The pattern of sustainable growth that is eventually 
chosen for the Joint Strategic Plan is unlikely to be 
based on just one of the growth types outlined here. 
Rather it will include a mix of types of growth that 
are best suited to the SW Herts area and reflect local 
constraints, opportunities and ambitions.

6 We would like your feedback on each of each of these growth types. When answering the questions that follow, please think about how the growth types might 
impact on the 6 pillars and objectives set out in section 4:

Building homes and places 
that people are proud of

Moving easily in well 
connected places

Living in healthy, thriving 
local communities

Growing opportunities to 
work locally

Living green in a healthy 
natural environment

Delivering robust and 
sustainable infrastructure

Different types of growth can support different types of homes – whether that be houses 
or apartments – which can be suited to different people at different stages of their lives.  
Affordable housing may also be easier to deliver as part of some growth types than 
others, due to economies of scale.

Our ambition to meet and ideally exceed net zero carbon targets suggests that we should 
locate growth in places which will reduce the need to travel by private car. Think about which 
options will provide the best opportunities for residents to use more sustainable forms of 
transport, such as public transport, walking or cycling to get from one place to another.

New growth should ideally be located where it can benefit new and existing communities 
by ensuring it enables improved access to services, facilities and green space and 
support community interaction.

The success of some job types is based in part on companies co-locating so that 
businesses can work together. Equally, spreading job opportunities around, 
including to smaller towns and villages, can help to sustain existing and new town and 
local centres.

Green spaces and biodiversity could be enhanced through larger-scale growth, for 
example by creating large-scale new green spaces. Alternatively, smaller green spaces 
could be linked together or existing spaces could be extended.

When deciding where to locate new growth we need to consider where access to 
existing and planned infrastructure (see section 4) could promote the efficient 
use of resources.

5

4

3

2

1

6

3130

We are required by Government to ensure that 
we have maximised the use of land that has 
been previously built on (‘brownfield’ sites), 
before considering using any undeveloped land 
(‘greenfield’ sites).

P
age 77



A high-level assessment of how each of these different growth types performs 
in terms of their social, economic and environmental impacts is set out in a 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report that accompanies this consultation.  
This has been prepared by independent specialist consultants and is available 
at www.swhertsplan.com/***.  You are welcome to give your views on this 
assessment as part of your feedback.
 
There may also be other ways that you think the SW Herts area could 
accommodate sustainable growth that we haven’t mentioned and that you 
would like to put forward for consideration.

The potential levels of new homes and jobs that could be accommodated by 
each growth type will be assessed at the next stage of the plan-making process.  
The views received through this consultation will be taken into account when 
refining options.

Feedback
22)  Which option or options do you think is the most appropriate 

way to shape future growth in SW Herts?

23)  Are there any other growth types we have not mentioned that 
you think should be considered?

Please tick ALL that apply:

a) Growth within existing large settlements
b) Outwards growth of existing large settlements
c) New settlements
d) Growth of groups of settlements
e) Growth along key transport corridors
f) Growing the best connected places
g) Scattered growth

Please explain the reasons for your answer, relating this to the draft vision 
and objectives for the plan where possible.

If YES, please explain what these are and why. (Note: we are not 
considering specific locations or sites at this stage):

YES NO

33

A) Growth within existing large settlements
A continued focus on our existing city, towns and large villages, through a combination of more dense 
development than traditionally seen in SW Herts and maximising redevelopment opportunities.

B) Outward growth of existing large settlements
The outward growth of existing city, towns and large villages, through urban extensions.

C) New settlements
The creation of completely new communities. These would need to be large enough to ensure they 
can provide key local facilities.    

D) Growth of groups of settlements
Expanding the size of a number of existing communities which are located near to one another. 
These would need to be large enough in total to ensure they can provide key local facilities.

E) Growth along sustainable transport corridors
Locating growth where there is potential to create new connected and improved public transport 
corridors, particularly those running east-west through the area.

F) Growing the best connected places 
A focus on areas that already have, or have the potential for, good access to railway stations, high 
frequency bus routes, high quality cycle routes and good pedestrian accessibility.

G) Scattered growth 
Growth spread across the whole area, in all sizes of settlements, from large to small.

Shaping the future

32

We have set out a number of different growth types below, and your feedback will help us develop these in more detail in the next stage of our plan.

P
age 78



Making it happen

Rivertech, Rickmansworth
Flexible working is here to stay. Rivertech is 
a shared workspace in Rickmansworth for 
entrepreneurs, freelancers, start-ups, small and 
medium businesses. Inclusive and affordable 
workspace is complemented by a range of clubs 
and programmes that support skills exchange, 
partnerships, and member wellbeing.  
More information

Heartwood Forest
The Woodland Trust have created a new forest 
near Sandridge, in St Albans district. Heartwood 
Forest’s 347-hectare site was created on what was 
once mainly agricultural land. It’s so big that it’s 
now the largest continuous new native forest in 
England; a place where everyone can find space, 
peace, wildlife and miles of beautiful woodland to 
explore. More information

Lifetime neighbourhoods
Lifetime neighbourhoods are designed to be 
welcoming, accessible, and inviting for everyone; 
regardless of age, health, or disability. They are 
built to be accessible, offer a mix of services and 
amenities, promote social networks and interaction 
with nature, and offer a range of house types and 
tenures that can be flexible to meet residents’ 
changing needs. More information

7

Co-located community services
Loneliness can be a major issue in cities and towns, 
and the loss of community space and increasingly 
independent lifestyles are often considered 
contributing factors. Café 1759 in Whitehill & 
Bordon, Hampshire is a not-for-profit community 
café and multi-purpose space run by the local 
housing association. It provides a range of activities 
and services including programmes with the local 
GP surgery, employment and health-check events. 
More information

Cycle Superhighways
Denmark is developing a cycle superhighway 
network to link urban areas and workplaces across 
municipal borders. The first cycle superhighway 
opened in 2012 and there are now nine across 
the country. On average, there is a 23% increase 
in cycle trips every time a route is upgraded to 
a cycle superhighway. Cooperation between 
municipalities was key in realising this model.  
More information  

One Planet Living
Bioregional created the One Planet Living framework 
in 2003 from their experience developing the multi-
award-winning BedZED eco-village in South London. 
The One Planet Living sustainability framework 
comprises principles and guidance designed to 
support the creation of a ‘One Planet Action Plan’ that 
acts as a route map towards a more sustainable future 
for organisations and authorities. More information

Aarhus Carbon Neutral City
Aarhus, Denmark aims to become a carbon neutral 
city by 2030, having already cut its emissions by 
50% in the last 10 years. The city has undergone 
a radical energy transformation, moving from 
fossil fuel to heat pumps and electric boilers and 
switching the majority of heating and electricity 
to biomass. To reach its goal of 100% renewable 
energy, it is planning to increase solar and 
wind power, boost efficiency in buildings, and 
decarbonise transportation. More information

High density mixed use, Watford
The primary office location in SW Herts, Clarendon 
Road has seen £100m of private sector investment 
and commitments for 62,000sqm of new 
high quality employment floorspace including 
KPMG, PwC and TJX’s new flagship European 
headquarters. A public realm improvement scheme 
has been completed to prioritise pedestrians and 
sustainable travel choices that supports higher 
density living in a quality environment.     

Carbon capture
As concentrations of atmospheric carbon dioxide 
(CO2) continue to rise and drive climate changes, 
scientists have been researching options not just to 
reduce CO2 emissions, but to actually remove existing 
carbon from the atmosphere. ‘Carbon cracking’ is 
one such approach that is at the pilot stage.
Good News: Rocks Crack Under Pressure from 
Mineral CO2 Storage – Eos

3534

At this early stage of preparing a plan, details 
of precisely how the vision and objectives 
will be delivered are not being considered.  
That will come in future stages. However, it is 
important to consider how the Joint Strategic 
Plan could support innovative solutions to the 
challenges faced in SW Herts, as this will help 
determine how aspirational the Joint Strategic 
Plan should be.

Some case studies, ranging from an 
international to more local scale that show 
what we might want to try to achieve are set 
out below.  

Feedback
24)  Are there any further comments you would like to make on the 

SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan?

25)  Are there any other ‘good practice’ examples you feel should be 
considered for SW Herts?

If YES, please explain what these are and why:

If YES, please explain what these are and why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

P
age 79



How to comment
We are really keen to hear your views on the questions we ask within this consultation.  
Comments can be made from ***date*** to ***date***. Your views are important as they will 
help shape the next stages of the Joint Strategic Plan.

You can make your comments in a number of different ways.
The easiest way is via our website:

   www.swhertsplan.com

Alternatively if you would prefer to send us your 
written comments you can download a comment 
form from the website and return to:

 Email
***********************.gov.uk

 Post
SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan Team
c/o Dacorum Borough Council

The Forum, Marlowes, 
Hemel Hempstead, 
Hertfordshire HP1 1DN

You can also comment on the Sustainability 
Scoping Report that accompanies this 
consultation ***add link*** by sending an email 
or letter to the above addresses.

If you respond to this consultation we will also 
give you the opportunity to say if you would like 
your contact details added to our database to 
ensure you are kept informed of progress on  
the project.

All comments/completed forms must be 
received by 5pm on **date** 2022.

8

36 37

Timeline

All the comments received before the consultation closes will be 
analysed and a summary report produced and published on  
our website.

The responses will be carefully considered and used to help inform 
the next stage of the SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan. This will a ‘spatial 
options’ consultation, where we seek feedback on the appropriate 
amount and best locations for growth.

Further details of these next steps are available on our website.

Next steps

Early 2020: Initial consultation 
on ‘SW Herts Your Future’

Joint Strategic 
Plan adopted 

Joint Strategic Plan 
submitted for examination

Consultation on a draft 
Joint Strategic Plan

Consultation on options 
for the scale and pattern 

of growth in the area

Summer 2022: Consultation 
on ‘SW Hertfordshire 2050 – 

Realising our Potential’

WE ARE HERE

Autumn 2021: A ‘Statement of 
Common Ground’ is signed committing 

all five local authorities in SW Herts to 
preparing a Joint Strategic Plan and 

setting out what this will cover

P
age 80



3938

How the Joint 
Strategic Plan links to 
other key documents

National and Sub-
Regional Planning 
and Infrastructure 

Strategies

Hertfordshire 
Local Transport 

Plan

South West 
Hertfordshire 

Local Plans

Neighbourhood 
Plans

Hertfordshire 
Strategic 

Economic Plan

It is important to note that the Joint Strategic Plan will not replace our individual 
Local Plans, which will continue to be prepared by each of the district and 
borough councils. The Joint Strategic Plan will provide the overall strategic 
spatial strategy and set the level of housing and employment land to be 
provided to 2050 to meet the needs of SW Herts. It will also identify the key 
pieces of infrastructure required to support sustainable growth. As shown in the 
diagram below, the Joint Strategic Plan will be supplemented by more detailed 
plans prepared by the individual councils. New versions of these Local Plans 
are currently being prepared and, whilst they must usually cover a period of 
at least 15 years, there is a requirement that they are reviewed every 5 years 
after adoption. We would again note that no decisions have been made on any 
locations for growth. This will come later.

Future Local Plans (or their equivalents) will need to reflect  the vision, 
objectives and strategic policies set by the Joint Strategic Plan, to help ensure 
the strategy set out in the Joint Strategic Plan is delivered. This includes both 
additional policies and the land allocations that these Local Plans will contain. 

Any Neighbourhood Plans prepared in the SW Herts area will also need to take 
account of the Joint Strategic Plan when it comes into effect.

Statutory plan-making can be a complex and detailed process and it can be 
challenging to ensure everyone engages in this process, particularly when it 
looks a long way ahead and covers a large geographical area. However, the 
Joint Strategic Plan needs to be owned by our communities. To support this, 
effective public engagement and awareness raising is crucial. In July 2022 we 
adopted a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) (***inset web link***). 
This set out how we intend to consult on the Joint Strategic Plan. This was 
subject to public consultation from November 2021 to January 2022 before 
being finalised earlier this year. A more detailed Consultation and Engagement 
Plan that supports this current stage of the Joint Strategic Plan is on our website 
***add link***.

In 2014 we agreed a formal Memorandum of Understanding, 
pledging to work together to understand and plan strategically 
for the future development needs of South West Herts. This was 
followed by a signed Statement of Common Ground in 2021. This 
sets out a clear commitment to engage in a statutory plan making 
process, now taking shape in the form of the Joint Strategic Plan. It 
can be viewed here: Statement of Common Ground.

The Joint Strategic Plan will take time to prepare as there are a 
number of formal stages that it needs to go through before it is 
put before an independent Planning Inspector and then comes 
into effect. At each key stage in the plan’s preparation, there will 
be opportunities for further public comment and feedback (see 
timeline below).

The Joint Strategic Plan will be a formal statutory plan. This means 
that once finalised, the plan will carry significant weight and will 
be used to inform key planning decisions. The diagram below 
shows how the Joint Strategic Plan will fit with some other 
important documents. It will also be informed by a number of 
strategies relating to transport, health, climate change etc, the 
most important of which are listed within the Sustainability 
Scoping Report that accompanies this consultation  
****add link****  and within a series of more 
technical ‘Topic Papers’ that have been provided 
as background to this consultation 
***add link***

Appendix: Background to 
the Joint Strategic Plan

P
age 81



www.swhertsplan.com

P
age 82



 

    
  

    

 

 
 

South West Herts Joint 
Strategic Plan 

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

South West Hertfordshire Authorities 

Final report  
Prepared by LUC 
April 2022 

Page 83



             

   

  

      

      
  

 
  

 
 

  

   
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

     

 

Version Status Prepared Checked Approved Date 

1 Draft Scoping Report B. Miller 
S. Newman 
H. Ennis 
O. Dunham 

O. Dunham 
K. Nicholls 

K. Nicholls 18.03.22 

2 Final Scoping Report B. Miller 
S. Newman 
H. Ennis 
O. Dunham 

O. Dunham 
K. Nicholls 

K. Nicholls 30.03.22 

3 Final Scoping Report with minor 
update 

O. Dunham O. Dunham K. Nicholls 26.04.22 

Land Use Consultants Limited   
Registered in England. Registered number 2549296. Registered office: 250 Waterloo Road, London SE1 8RD. 100% recycled paper 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 

P
age 84



 

   

 

  

 

  
  

   
  

  
  

  
   

   

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

Contents 

Contents 

Chapter 1 5 
Introduction 

The Plan Area 6 
South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 8 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment 8 
Health Impact Assessment 10 
Equalities Impact Assessment 10 
Habitat Regulations Assessment 10 
Approach to Scoping 11 
Meeting the requirements of the SEA Regulations 12 
Structure of the Scoping Report 16 

Chapter 2 18 
Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Chapter 3 25 
Baseline Information 

Chapter 4 79 
Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the 
Plan 

Chapter 5 85 
Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 3 Page 85



 

   

  

  

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

96 

Contents 

Chapter 6 
SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Chapter 7 109 
Next Steps 

Appendix A 110 
Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

References 140 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 4 Page 86



  

   

 
 

     
    

  
    

    
     

  
  

   
  

  

    

   

  
  

    
  

  
    

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Chapter 1 
Introduction 

1.1 The South West Hertfordshire authorities, supported by Hertfordshire 
County Council (HCC), commissioned LUC in December 2021 to carry out the 
Scoping stage of a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) for the emerging South West (SW) 
Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP). As explained later in this chapter, 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) and Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) will 
be carried out as part of the SA and are addressed within this Scoping Report; 
however for simplicity most references throughout the report are just to the SA, 
which should be taken as incorporating SEA, HIA and EqIA. 

1.2 The purpose of this Scoping Report is to provide the context for, and 
determine the scope of, the SA of the JSP and to set out the framework for 
undertaking the later stages of the SA. 

1.3 The Scoping stage of SA is summarised below: 

◼ Reviewing other plans, policies and programmes. 

◼ Considering the current state of the environment, as well as social 
economic factors in the plan area (South West Hertfordshire) 

◼ Identifying any key environmental, social and economic issues which 
may be affected by the JSP. 

◼ Setting out the ‘SA framework’, which comprises specific sustainability 
objectives against which the likely effects of the JSP can be assessed. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 5 Page 87



  

   

 

 
      

    
     

     
 

       
  

     
  

 
 

 

 
  

Chapter 1 Introduction 

The Plan Area 

1.4 SW Hertfordshire consists of the following five Local Planning Authorities: 
Dacorum, Hertsmere, St. Albans, Three Rivers and Watford (see Figure 1.1). 

1.5 The area has a rich and varied natural and historic environment, which 
makes it an attractive place to live, visit and work. SW Hertfordshire is defined 
by its varied urban character and proximity to London as well as its rural 
character and access to the countryside. There is a diversity in character across 
the area, from rural villages to historic market towns and areas with more in 
common with outer London. SW Hertfordshire also contains important 
landscapes such as the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
and Colne Valley Regional Park. 

1.6 The M1, West Coast Mainline and Midland Mainline all cut across the west 
of Hertfordshire, close to three of Hertfordshire’s largest towns, Watford, Hemel 
Hempstead and St Albans. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 6 Page 88



P
age 89



  

   

  

  

      
  

   
  

    
    

   

    
  

  
 

     
   

 

   
     

    
   

      

 

    
  

Chapter 1 Introduction 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 

1.7 The five SW Hertfordshire authorities – Dacorum Borough Council, 
Hertsmere Borough Council, St. Albans City and District Council, Three Rivers 
District Council and Watford Borough Council – have committed to producing a 
JSP for SW Herts, supported by Hertfordshire County Council. 

1.8 The JSP will provide an integrated strategic planning framework and 
evidence base to support sustainable growth across SW Hertfordshire to 2050, 
including the planned delivery of new homes and economic development, and 
the anticipated supporting infrastructure needed with an overall focus on 
combating the climate crisis and enhancing the natural environment. 

1.9 As part of the formation of the plan, the authorities are committed to 
ensuring there will be early, proportionate and meaningful engagement between 
plan makers and communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure 
providers and statutory bodies. A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
has been adopted and is supplemented by a more detailed Communications 
and Engagement Plan specifically covering the Issues and Options (Regulation 
18) engagement. 

1.10 The current programme anticipates that the JSP will be submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate for independent examination in mid-2024 and adopted in 
late 2024, subject to the examination process. The programme is, however, 
dependent on progress made on the current round of district-level Local Plans 
and any national changes that may be announced to the plan-making system. 

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment 

1.11 Under the amended Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 [See 
reference 1], SA is mandatory for Development Plan Documents. For these 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 8 Page 90



  

   

 
 

   
    

 
 

   
    

   
 

       
   

 

    
 

    

  

    

 

    

   

Chapter 1 Introduction 

documents it is also necessary to conduct an environmental assessment in 
accordance with the requirements of the Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) Directive (European Directive 2001/42/EC) as transposed into law in 
England by the SEA Regulations [See reference 2], which remain in force 
despite the UK exiting the European Union in January 2020. Therefore, it is a 
legal requirement for the JSP to be subject to SA and SEA throughout its 
preparation. 

1.12 The requirements to carry out SA and SEA are distinct, although it is 
possible to satisfy both using a single appraisal process (as advocated in the 
national Planning Practice Guidance [See reference 3]), whereby users can 
comply with the requirements of the SEA Regulations through a single 
integrated SA process – this is the process that is being undertaken for SW 
Hertfordshire. From here on, the term ‘SA’ should therefore be taken to mean 

‘SA incorporating the requirements of the SEA Regulations’. 

1.13 The SA process comprises a number of stages, with Scoping being Stage 
A as shown below. 

Stage A: Setting the context and objecives, establishing the baseline and 

deciding on the scope. 

Stage B: Developing and refining options and assessing effects. 

Stage C: Preparing the Sustainability Appraisal Report. 

Stage D: Consulting on the JSP and the SA Report. 

Stage E: Monitoring the significant effects of implementing the JSP. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 9 Page 91



  

   

 

  
  

  
 

  
  

 

  
  

    
 

 
 

   
  

  
  

  

 

  
 

   
      

  

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Health Impact Assessment 

1.14 Although not a statutory requirement, Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 
aims to ensure that health-related issues are integrated into the plan-making 
process. The SA objectives will address health issues and the HIA of the JSP 
will be carried out as part of the SA. Recommendations will be made in relation 
to how the health-related impacts of the JSP can be optimised as the options 
are developed into detailed policies and broad locations for development. 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

1.15 The requirement to undertake formal Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
of development plans was introduced in the Equality Act 2010 but was 
abolished in 2012. Despite this, authorities are still required to have regard to 
the provisions of the Equality Act, namely the Public Sector Duty which requires 
public authorities to have due regard for equalities considerations when 
exercising their functions. 

1.16 In fulfilling this duty, similar to the HIA, the SA objectives will address 
equality issues and the EqIA of the JSP will be carried out as part of the SA. 
Recommendations will be made in relation to how the equality-related impacts 
of the JSP can be optimised as the options are developed into detailed policies 
and broad locations for development. 

Habitat Regulations Assessment 

1.17 The requirement to undertake Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of 
development plans was confirmed by the amendments to the Habitats 
Regulations published for England and Wales in July 2007 and updated in 2010 
and again in 2012 and 2017 [See reference 4]. The Regulations translate 
Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 10 Page 92



  

   

 
 

  
  

 

     
 

  

   
   

  
     

  
     

 
     

  

    

 

   

 

      

 

 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

and Flora (Habitats Directive) and 79/409/EEC (Birds Directive) into UK law and 
remain a legal requirement despite the UK exiting the European Union. 

1.18 The purpose of HRA is to assess the impacts of a land-use plan against 
the conservation objectives of a European site and to ascertain whether it would 
adversely affect the integrity of that site. 

1.19 The HRA will be undertaken separately but the findings will be taken into 
account in the SA where relevant (for example to inform judgements about the 
likely effects of potential broad development locations on biodiversity). 

1.20 Recently the HRA for the emerging Dacorum Local Plan concluded that 
there may be likely significant effects on the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC due to 
recreational impacts and therefore an Appropriate Assessment was required. 
The visitor survey and recreation impact assessment [See reference 5] 
published in March 2022 to inform the HRA of the emerging Local Plan includes 
the need for mitigation in the form of a ‘development exclusion zone’ of 500m 

around the European site. The same issues are likely to arise within the HRA 
that will be carried out for the emerging JSP. 

Approach to Scoping 

1.21 There are five tasks involved at the Scoping Stage: 

Stage A1: Setting out the policy context for the SA of the JSP (i.e. key 

government policies and strategies that influence what the JSP and the SA 

need to consider). 

Stage A2: Setting out the baseline for the SA of the JSP (i.e. the current 

and likely future environmental, social and economic conditions in SW 

Herts). 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 11 Page 93



  

   

   

 

 

   

 

   

   

  
 

   
  

   
  

      
     

   

 

   
  

 
  

  
 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Stage A3: Drawing on A1 and A2, identify the particular sustainability 

problems and/or opportunities (‘issues’) that the JSP and SA should 

address. 

Stage A4: Drawing on A1, A2 and A3, develop a framework for SA 

objectives and assessment criteria to appraise the constituent parts of the 

JSP in isolation and in combination. 

Stage A5: Consultation on the scope of the SA. 

1.22 This Scoping Report fulfils the requirements set out above with a view to 
establishing the likely significant effects of constituent parts of the JSP in 
isolation and in combination. In accordance with national Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG), published on-line by the Government, the Scoping Report 
should be proportionate and relevant to the JSP, focussing on what is needed 
to identify and assess the likely significant effects. 

1.23 This report also includes an appraisal of the draft vision, objectives and 
high-level growth types as set out in the Regulation 18 consultation document 
(August 2022). 

Meeting the requirements of the SEA 
Regulations 

1.24 The relevant sections of the Scoping Report that are considered to meet 
the SEA Regulations requirements are signposted below (the remainder will be 
met during subsequent stages of the SA of the JSP). Signposting information 
should be included in the full SA Report at each stage of the SA to show how 
the requirements of the SEA Regulations have been met through the SA 
process. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 12 Page 94



  

   

    
  

  
  

     
   

    

  
    

   

  
 

   

   

 
  

   

  
 

  
 

     

    
 

 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

1.25 The SEA Regulations require the responsible authority to prepare, or 
secure the preparation of, an ‘environmental report’, which in this case will 
comprise the SA report. The report shall identify, describe and evaluate the 
likely significant effects on the environment of the following: 

a. An outline of the contents, main objectives of the plan or programme, 
and relationship with other relevant plans and programmes. 

◼ Covered in Chapters 1 and 3 and Appendix A. 

b. The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the 
likely evolution thereof without implementation of the plan or programme. 

◼ Covered in Chapters 3 and 4. 

c. The environmental characteristics of areas likely to be significantly 
affected. 

◼ Covered in Chapter 3. 

d. Any existing environmental problems which are relevant to the plan or 
programme including, in particular, those relating to any areas of a particular 
environmental importance, such as areas designated pursuant to Directives 
79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC. 

◼ Covered in Chapters 3 and 4. 

e. The environmental protection, objectives, established at international, 
Community or national level, which are relevant to the plan or programme and 
the way those objectives and any environmental, considerations have been 
taken into account during its preparation. 

◼ Covered in Chapter 3 and Appendix A. 

f. The likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues such 
as biodiversity, population, human health, fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic 
factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 13 Page 95



  

   

   
 

   
   

    

     
  

  

    

   
 

 
 

    

  
  

    

    
 

    

  
    

 
 

  
 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

archaeological heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the above 
factors. (Footnote: These effects should include secondary, cumulative, 
synergistic, short, medium and long-term permanent and temporary, positive 
and negative effects). 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

g. The measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible 
offset any significant adverse effects on the environment of implementing the 
plan or programme. 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

h. An outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, and a 
description of how the assessment was undertaken including any difficulties 
(such as technical deficiencies or lack of know-how) encountered in compiling 
the required information. 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

i. A description of measures envisaged concerning monitoring in 
accordance with Reg. 17. 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

j. A non-technical summary of the information provided under the above 
headings. 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

The report shall include the information that may reasonably be required taking 
into account current knowledge and methods of assessment, the contents and 
level of detail in the plan or programme, its stage in the decision-making 
process and the extent to which certain matters are more appropriately 
assessed at different levels in that process to avoid duplication of the 
assessment (Reg. 12(3)). 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 14 Page 96



  

   

 
 

    

 

   
 

   

    
  

 

       
 

 
 

    
 

 

    
     

 

    

  
   

  
    

Chapter 1 Introduction 

◼ This Scoping Report and the Environmental Reports will adhere to this 
requirement. 

Authorities with environmental responsibility, when deciding on the scope and 
level of detail of the information which must be included in the environmental 
report (Reg. 12(5)). 

◼ This SA Scoping Report will be published for consultation with the three 
statutory bodies (the Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural 
England) for a minimum of five weeks. 

Authorities with environmental responsibility and the public, shall be given an 
early and effective opportunity within appropriate time frames to express their 
opinion on the draft plan or programme and the accompanying environmental 
report before the adoption of the plan or programme (Reg. 13). 

◼ Public consultation on the Joint Strategic Plan and accompanying SA 
Reports will take place as the Plan develops. 

Other EU Member States, where the implementation of the plan or programme 
is likely to have significant effects on the environment of that country (Reg. 14). 

◼ The JSP is not expected to have significant effects on other EU Member 
States. 

Provision of information on the decision: 

When the plan or programme is adopted, the public and any countries 
consulted under Reg. 14 must be informed and the following made available to 
those so informed: 

◼ the plan or programme as adopted; 

◼ a statement summarising how environmental considerations have been 
integrated into the plan or programme and how the environmental 
report, the opinions expressed, and the results of consultations entered 
into have been taken into account, and the reasons for choosing the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 15 Page 97



  

   

    
 

     

    

 
  

   

 
  

   
 

  

 

      
   

  

  
   

    
 

   
    

 

   
   

Chapter 1 Introduction 

plan or programme as adopted, in the light of the other reasonable 
alternatives dealt with; and 

◼ the measures decided concerning monitoring. 

◼ To be addressed after the JSP is adopted. 

Monitoring of the significant environmental effects of the plan's or programme's 
implementation (Reg. 17). 

◼ To be addressed after the JSP is adopted. 

Quality assurance: environmental reports should be of a sufficient standard to 
meet the requirements of the SEA Regulations. 

◼ This report has been produced in line with current guidance and good 
practice for SEA/SA and this section demonstrates where the requirements 
of the SEA Regulations have been met. 

Structure of the Scoping Report 

1.26 This chapter describes the background to the production of the JSP and 
the requirement to undertake SA and other assessment processes. The 
remainder of this Scoping Report is structured into the following sections: 

◼ Chapter 2 describes the other plans, policies and programmes of 
relevance to the SA of the JSP. 

◼ Chapter 3 presents the baseline information which will inform the 
assessment of the JSP. 

◼ Chapter 4 identifies the key environmental, social and economic issues in 
SW Hertfordshire of relevance to the emerging JSP and considers the 
likely evolution of those issues without its implementation. 

◼ Chapter 5 presents the SA framework that will be used for the appraisal of 
the JSP and the proposed method for carrying out the SA. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 16 Page 98



  

   

      
 

 

        

     
 

 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

◼ Chapter 6 presents an appraisal of the emerging Regulation 18 vision and 
objectives and alternative spatial growth scenarios presented within the 
JSP. 

◼ Chapter 7 describes the next steps to be undertaken in the SA of the JSP. 

1.27 Appendix A sets out the international and national plans, policies and 
programmes which are of most relevance to the JSP. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 17 Page 99



   

   

 

 

  

     

 

  

  

 

 

 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Chapter 2 
Policy Context for the Joint Strategic 
Plan 

2.1 Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations requires: 

(a) “an outline of the contents and main objectives of the Plan and its 

relationship with other relevant plans or programmes” and 

(e) “the environmental protection objectives established at International, 

Community or Member State level, which are relevant to the plan and the 

way those objectives and any environmental considerations have been 

taken into account during its preparation” 

Outline of the SW Hertfordshire Joint Strategic 
Plan 

2.2 The SW Hertfordshire JSP will provide a strategic policy framework for SW 
Hertfordshire to 2050. It will consider cross boundary issues and will set out 
high level policies for SW Hertfordshire. The JSP will cover the south west 
portion of the county of Hertfordshire, and will be prepared jointly by: 

◼ Dacorum Borough Council. 

◼ Hertsmere Borough Council. 

◼ St. Albans City and District Council. 

◼ Three Rivers District Council. 

◼ Watford Borough Council. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 18 Page 100



   

   

    
 

     
 

      
 

   
    

  
 

 
  

 

   
  

 

    
   

  
 

   
 

  
  

 

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

2.3 The JSP is being prepared in partnership with Hertfordshire County Council, 
which has a key role given its responsibilities for the delivery of key 
infrastructure and services such as transport and education. It will also seek to 
address linkages to wider planning considerations. 

2.4 In order to establish a clear scope for the SA it is necessary to review and 
develop an understanding of the environmental, social and economic objectives 
contained within international, national and local policies, plans and strategies 
that are of relevance to the JSP. Given the SEA Regulations requirements 
above, it is also necessary to consider the relationship between the JSP and 
other relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

2.5 This chapter summarises the relationship of the JSP to the relevant 
international and national policies, plans and programmes which should be 
taken into consideration during preparation of the plan and its SA, as well as 
those plans and programmes which are of relevance at a County/sub-regional 
level. The objectives of these plans and programmes have been taken into 
account when drafting the SA framework in Chapter 5. 

The Implications of Brexit 

2.6 As of the end of January 2020 the UK has left the EU. As set out in the 
Explanatory Memorandum accompanying the Brexit amendments [See 
reference 6], the purpose of the Brexit amendments to the SEA Regulations is 
to ensure that the law functions correctly after the UK has left the EU. No 
substantive changes are being made by this instrument to the way the SEA 
regime operates. 

2.7 Relevant international plans and policy (including those at the EU level) are 
transposed into national plans, policy and legislation and these have been 
considered. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 19 Page 101



   

   

 
 

     
  

  
 

 
   

 
 

   

    

  

       
   

 
  

   
 

  

  

      
 

  

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Relationships with other relevant plans or 
programmes 

2.8 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) [See reference 7] 
provides the national policy context for the JSP and it must be consistent with 
the NPPF requirements for local plan making. The JSP will then provide the 
spatial planning framework that will set the context for a future round of Local 
Plans to be prepared by the five SW Hertfordshire councils. This approach will 
allow those authorities to subsequently establish detailed planning policies and 
site allocations at a borough and district level. In doing so, it will also help to set 
the SW Hertfordshire planning policy framework for the preparation of 
neighbourhood local plans at the local community level. Other relevant national 
policies and plans are outlined in Appendix A. 

2.9 Relevant plans and initiatives at the County and area level include: 

Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan 2018 - 2031 

2.10 The Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan 2018 - 2031 [See reference 8] 
sets out how transport can help deliver a positive future vision for Hertfordshire 
by having a major input into wider policies such as economic growth, meeting 
housing needs, improving public health and reducing environmental damage 
whilst also providing for safe and efficient travel. The plan also considers how 
future planning decisions and emerging technology might affect the way that 
transport needs to be provided in the longer term. 

Hertfordshire’s Rail Strategy 

2.11 The Hertfordshire Rail Strategy [See reference 9] aims to demonstrate 
how the railway in Hertfordshire can support economic growth and 
development. The strategy sets out overall aspirations for the rail network in 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 20 Page 102



   

   

  
  

 

     

  
   

  
   
 

 

     
    

  
 

  

    
    

  

 

     
   

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Hertfordshire from improvements to local to long-distance services to achieving 
net zero emissions from all forms of transport by 2050. 

South West Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan 
Prospectus 

2.12 The Growth and Transport Plan (GTP) [See reference 10] is a new 
approach to sub-county transport planning. This report is the first of a suite of 
new GTPs which will cover different sub-areas of Hertfordshire with the 
intention of promoting modal shift to non-motorised and public transport, 
providing greater modal choice, and facilitating growth sustainably. The Plan 
sets out seven objectives to address the transport challenges across SW 
Hertfordshire. 

South Central Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan 

2.13 The Growth and Transport Plan (GTP) [See reference 11] sets out a 
vision and objectives for the south-central area of Hertfordshire with an 
emphasis on a connected, reliable and accessible transport network for the 
area. 

Hertfordshire Public Health Service Strategy (2017-2021) 

2.14 The Hertfordshire Public Health Service Strategy (2017- 2021) [See 
reference 12] outlines the Council’s vision and principles for improving the 
health and wellbeing of people in Hertfordshire. 

Hertfordshire Adult Mental Health Strategy (2016-2021) 

2.15 The Hertfordshire Adult Mental Health Strategy (2016-2021) [See 
reference 13] outlines the steps that need to be taken to ensure that people in 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 21 Page 103



   

   

   
   

 

 

    
    

   
 

  

      
   

    

   

  

  

  
  

    
  

  
 

    

   
 

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Hertfordshire can manage their own mental health and well-being, access 
treatment and help when they need it and recover, with support if required, and 
maximise the independence of Hertfordshire's residents. 

Hertfordshire County Active Travel Strategy 

2.16 The Hertfordshire County Council (2013) Active Travel Strategy [See 
reference 14] sets out how the County Council and its partners will identify, 
deliver and promote interventions to increase the number of people walking and 
cycling in Hertfordshire. 

Hertfordshire’s Recovery Plan, 2020 

2.17 Hertfordshire’s Recovery Plan 2020 [See reference 15] outlines the short-
and medium-term economic effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and defines 
recovery actions. The plan is structured around three main Delivery Packages: 

◼ Enterprise and Innovation. 

◼ Skills and Creativity. 

◼ International Trade and Investment. 

Perfectly Placed for Business Strategic Economic Plan 
2017 - 2030 

2.18 The Perfectly Placed for Business Strategic Economic Plan: 2017-2030 
[See reference 16] outlines four key economic strategies for Hertfordshire, 
reflecting the changes to the wider political landscape and the uncertainties 
surrounding the UK’s departure from the European Union for the County: 

◼ Priority 1: Maintaining global excellence in science and technology. 

◼ Priority 2: Harnessing Hertfordshire’s relationships with London and 

elsewhere. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 22 Page 104



   

   

   

  

 

      
  

  

    
 

 
 

    
   

  

  
 

 

   
  

   
  

     

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

◼ Priority 3: Reinvigorating our places for the 21st Century. 

◼ Priority 4: Foundations for growth. 

Hertfordshire Air Quality Strategy 

2.19 The Hertfordshire Air Quality Strategy [See reference 17] includes the 
County Council’s strategic vision, aims and objectives for improving air quality 
for Hertfordshire. The aims are as follows: 

◼ To gain a stronger understanding of the air quality issues within 
Hertfordshire. 

◼ To ensure that air quality is an integral part of everything that the County 
Council do. 

◼ To develop a productive relationship with partners, in particular the District 
and Borough Councils, to achieve positive air quality outcomes. 

◼ To create clear leadership on air quality 

◼ To establish a coherent workstream on air quality, including clarification on 
roles and responsibilities. 

Sustainable Hertfordshire Strategy 

2.20 Following the County’s Climate Emergency Declaration in July 2019, 
Hertfordshire County Council committed to developing a Sustainable 
Hertfordshire Strategy [See reference 18] that sets out the initial policies and 
strategies needed to embed sustainability across all Council operations and 
services and throughout the county. The strategy covers areas such as energy 
and carbon, climate change and flooding, biodiversity and air quality. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 23 Page 105



   

   

 

 
  

     
  

 
     

 

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

National and International 

2.21 At the international level, there is a wide range of plans and programmes 
which act to inform and shape national level legislation. Planning policy in 
England at a national and local level (i.e. the NPPF, the JSP and the individual 
authorities’ Local Plans) should be aware of and in conformity with the relevant 
legislation. The main sustainability objectives of international plans and 
programmes which are of most relevance for the JSP and the SA are included 
in Appendix A. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 24 Page 106



  

   

 
 

    
 

  

    
   

  
 

     
    

  

   
   

   
   

 

     
    

    
   

 

   
   

  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Chapter 3 
Baseline Information 

3.1 Baseline information provides the basis for predicting and monitoring the 
likely sustainability effects of a plan and helps to identify key sustainability 
issues and means of dealing with them. 

3.2 The baseline information presented in the most recent SA Reports for each 
district and borough’s Local Plan (listed below) has been drawn on to prepare 
this chapter (supplemented by more up to date sources as appropriate, which 
are referenced individually): 

◼ Dacorum Borough Council – Interim SA Report for the Dacorum Local 
Plan (2020 – 2038) Emerging Strategy for Growth (November 2020) [See 
reference 19] 

◼ Hertsmere Borough Council – SA report for the Draft Local Plan (October 
2021) [See reference 20] 

◼ St Albans City and District Council – SA Scoping Report for the St Albans 
City and District Local Plan 2020 to 2038 (January 2021) [See reference 
21] 

◼ Three Rivers District Council – Interim SA Report for the Regulation 18 
Preferred Policy Options and Sites [See reference 22] 

◼ Watford Borough Council – SA report for the Watford Final Draft Local 
Plan (January 2021) [See reference 23] 

Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation 

3.3 Climate change presents a global risk, with a range of different impacts that 
are likely to be felt within SW Hertfordshire across numerous receptors. The 
2018 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) identified a reduced 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 25 Page 107



  

   

  
    

    
    

  
 

   
   

   
 

  
 

 
  

   

 
    

    
  

     
 

   
  

     
   
 

  
   

  
   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

timeframe to act to keep world temperature rises to 1.5 degrees Celsius before 
2050 in line with the Paris Agreement [See reference 24]. 

3.4 Planning has a significant role to play in mitigating the effects of and 
adapting to the inevitable impacts of climate change. In the past this has 
focussed on reducing the need to travel but in the future buildings will need to 
be more energy efficient, use decentralised, low carbon or renewable energy 
sources and be designed and located to be resilient to more extreme weather 
events and increased risk of flooding. It should also be recognised that climate 
change is a cross cutting issue that can contribute to increasing the significance 
of effects related to other sustainability issues. Defra’s 25 Year Environment 
Plan aims to improve the global environment by providing international 
leadership in tackling climate change. 

3.5 Changes to the climate will bring new challenges to SW Hertfordshire’s built 
and natural environments. Climate change estimates (at the 50% probability 
level) for the East of England between 2080 to 2099, based on medium 
emissions scenarios, predict an increase in winter mean temperature of 
approximately 2.5 degrees Celsius and an increase in summer mean 
temperature of approximately 3.8 degrees Celsius [See reference 25] 
Furthermore, winter mean precipitation is predicted to increase by 16% and 
summer mean precipitation is predicted to decrease by 27%. 

3.6 Urban growth can contribute to the urban heat island effect. This is due to 
the land surfaces in towns and cities, which are made of materials like tarmac 
and stone, which absorb and store heat, that coupled with concentrated energy 
use and less ventilation than in rural areas, creates a heating effect [See 
reference 26]. With an expected increase in population in SW Hertfordshire, 
urban heat island effect becomes an increasing stressor on the towns and 
cities. 

3.7 Successfully adapting to climate change involves understanding the risks 
and quantifying the likely impacts, so that informed decisions can be taken 
about the costs and benefits of reducing those risks. Taking the impacts of a 
changing climate into account in all short, medium and long term planning is an 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 26 Page 108



  

   

    
 

 
   

  
   

 
  

  
   

    
   

    
 

     
 

    

       

  
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

       

       

 
 

      

       

       

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

investment to save money. Actions to increase resilience help to maximise the 
capacity of all to adapt. Adaptation plans need to be kept under regular review 
as adaptation will become increasingly important if appropriate mitigation is not 
put in place in time [See reference 27] 

3.8 Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) declared a climate emergency in July 
2019. Each of the councils within SW Hertfordshire have also declared climate 
emergencies. Following on from this, HCC developed a Sustainable 
Hertfordshire Strategy which sets out initial policies and strategies needed to 
embed sustainability throughout the county. Furthermore, in January 2020, the 
Hertfordshire Climate Change and Sustainability Partnership was formed with 
the aim of co-ordinating positive climate action across the county. Additionally, 
the Hertfordshire Energy Strategy (2019) set a goal of reducing carbon dioxide 
emissions to 80% of those in 2012/13 by 2025, with a longer-term ambition of 
achieving ‘net zero’. 

3.9 Table 3.1 sets out the per capita carbon dioxide emissions from each of the 
SW Hertfordshire authorities for 2019 and shows that the highest total 
emissions were from Hertsmere Borough. However, St Albans City and District 
has the highest transport emissions compared to the rest of SW Hertfordshire. 

Table 3.1: Carbon dioxide emissions 2019 [See reference 28] 

Borough/ 
District 

Industry 
(kt CO2) 

Commercial 
(kt CO2) 

Public 
Sector 
(kt 
CO2) 

Domestic 
(kt CO2) 

Transport 
(kt CO2) 

Total (t 
CO2 per 
person) 

Dacorum 40.6 80.8 23.8 224.4 269.5 4.0 

Hertsmere 46.4 65.3 16.2 164.7 354.3 6.1 

Three 
Rivers 

24.8 39.0 11.7 151.2 308.9 5.7 

Watford 26.3 62.5 15.7 125.4 95.2 3.4 

St Albans 32.6 57.4 13.8 230.5 534.9 5.8 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 27 Page 109



  

   

    
   

    
   

       
  

  
 

 
 

 

     

     

     

     

     

   
   

   
    

  
   

     

  
   

    
 

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.10 The Green Alliance Trust has estimated the capacity for renewable energy 
generation across England and Wales for 348 local authorities. Out of the 
Boroughs and Districts within SW Hertfordshire, Dacorum has ranked highest in 
terms of renewable energy capacity and generation (Table 3.2). 

Table 3.2: Renewable Energy Generation and Capacity [See 
reference 29] 

Borough/District Capacity 
(MW) 

Rank Generation 
(MWh) 

Rank 

Dacorum 21.8 184 23,789 244 

St Albans 7.1 286 10,370 290 

Watford 3.1 327 6,424 309 

Three Rivers 3.2 325 5,044 316 

Hertsmere 3.1 329 4,585 321 

3.11 There are currently three commercial renewable energy facilities within SW 
Herts, in Three Rivers and Hertsmere. The RES wind facility at Kings Langley 
which has a capacity of 0.23MW and the co-firing biomass fossil facility at 
Maple Cross which has a capacity of 2.88MW are both located within the Three 
Rivers. Therefore, there is 3.11MW of installed commercial renewable energy 
capacity in Three Rivers [See reference 30]. There is also a solar farm within 
Potters Bar, Hertsmere which has a capacity of 5.0MW [See reference 31]. 

3.12 Communities and governments around the world must adapt and plan in 
the face of climate uncertainty, as it is not possible to know the exact extent to 
which our climate will change. Adaptation and mitigation plans must incorporate 
the full range of climate risks, take account of uncertainty over timing and 
severity and build climate resilience [See reference 32]. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 28 Page 110



  

   

  

  
 

   
  

   
     

 

   
 

  
  

 
  

   
      
   

   
  

         
   

    
 

  
 

   

   

   

   

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Flood Risk 

3.13 Development within high flood risk areas, or the loss of greenfield land to 
development, could contribute to increased flood risk. Properties outside the 
floodplain are also susceptible to flooding due to an increase in surface water 
runoff and large development sites outside the floodplain may exacerbate 
surface water flooding issues further without appropriate mitigation. However, 
mitigation may be achieved through the incorporation of Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) into the new development. 

3.14 In Hertfordshire the main surfaces of flood risk are surface water, rivers 
and other watercourses (fluvial) and, less frequently, groundwater. The areas 
most at risk of surface water flooding are predominately within SW 
Hertfordshire, especially surrounding Watford. Surface water flooding is caused 
when local drainage capacity and infiltration is unable to cope with the volume 
of water experience during periods of sustained or heavy rainfall. The estimated 
numbers of properties for each SW Hertfordshire district/borough likely to be 
affected during a 1 in 30 year rainfall event and a 1 in 100 year rainfall event are 
shown in Table 3.3 below. The risk of surface water flooding in the county is 
likely to increase as the extent of built-up areas and the area of impermeable 
surfaces increase. 

Table 3.3: Number of properties shown to be at risk of surface 
water flooding [See reference 33] 

Local Authority 1 in 30 
(3.33% AEP) 

1 in 100 
(1% AEP) 

Dacorum 4,188 8,213 

St. Albans 3,667 7,661 

Watford 2,167 4,886 

Three Rivers 2,452 4,868 

Hertsmere 3,347 6,665 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 29 Page 111



  

   

     
   

  
 

 

  
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.15 Across the entire area of SW Hertfordshire, 3.6% falls within Flood Zone 2 
and 2.7% falls within Flood Zone 3. These areas are shown in Figure 3.1 
below. Climate change is forecast to result in milder and wetter winters and 
more storms in summer months. Changes in farming practices can exacerbate 
overland flow due to the removal of hedgerows and trees and the issue is likely 
to become increasingly important due to climate change. Further development 
pressure will increase the pressure on existing sewer systems effectively 
reducing their capacity, leading to more frequent flooding. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 30 Page 112



P
age 113



  

   

 

     
    

     
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

   
 

    

         
   

    

    

    

    

    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Population, Health and Wellbeing 

3.16 SW Hertfordshire lies within the East of England, see Figure 1.1. The area 
is divided between five local planning authorities: Dacorum, Hertsmere, St. 
Albans, Three Rivers and Watford. The majority of the population of the area is 
spread across the following areas: 

◼ Hemel Hempstead 

◼ Watford 

◼ St. Albans 

◼ Rickmansworth 

◼ Harpenden 

◼ Radlett 

◼ Borehamwood 

3.17 Watford has the highest population density out of the five authorities. 

3.18 The latest population forecasts for SW Hertfordshire predicts an increase 
in the number of residents of 16,645 between 2018 and 2040 as shown in 
Table 3.4, with the largest percentage increase of 6.5% expected in Dacorum. 

Table 3.4: Projected growth in total resident population 2018 to 
2040 [See reference 34] 

District/Borough 2018 2040 % change 

Dacorum 154,280 164,343 6.5 

St. Albans 147,373 148,580 0.8 

Watford 96,767 97,523 0.8 

Three Rivers 93,045 93,739 0.7 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 32 Page 114



  

   

    

    

      
  

  
  

  
  

 

   
 

  
     

   
    

         
 

 
   

  
  

       

       

  
   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

District/Borough 2018 2040 % change 

Hertsmere 104,205 108,130 3.7 

3.19 Hertsmere has a higher than the area average proportion of those aged 
over 75 years, 6%, and this trend is predicted to continue. In 2019, those aged 
65 and over represented 16.8% of SW Hertfordshire’s population. This is 
predicted to rise to 22.7% by 2041. An ageing population will increase demands 
for different types of housing as well as accessible healthcare and local 
facilities. 

Health 

3.20 There are a wide range of leisure, cultural and recreation facilities 
throughout SW Hertfordshire. 

3.21 SW Hertfordshire tends to be relatively healthy compared with other parts 
of the country. The majority of the area has above average life expectancy 
compared to the rest of England; however Watford is below the England 
average as shown in Table 3.5 below. 

Table 3.5: Life expectancy in SW Hertfordshire [See reference 
35] 

Life 
expectancy 

England Dacorum Three 
Rivers 

St. 
Albans 

Watford Hertsmere 

Males 79.6 81.4 81.5 82.0 79.1 81.0 

Females 83.2 84.3 84.0 85.3 82.7 84.0 

3.22 Open space and sports and recreation facilities in SW Hertfordshire 
provide residents with space in which they can undertake physical activity to the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 33 Page 115



  

   

 
   

 

 
   

    
   

    
   

    
  

  
  

 

 
     

 
  

      
  

    

     
    

 
  

 
   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

benefit of public health. The UK Chief Medical Officers advise that for good 
physical and mental health, adults should aim to be physically active every day. 
Over the course of a week adults should accumulate at least 150 minutes of 
moderate intensity activity; or 75 minutes of vigorous intensity activity day; or 
even shorter durations of very vigorous intensity activity; or a combination of 
moderate, vigorous and very vigorous intensity activity [See reference 36]. 

3.23 Hertfordshire contains a lower than average proportion of physically active 
adults (65.4% compared to 66.3% national average) and a very slightly higher 
than average proportion of adults over 18 with excess weight (62.1% compared 
to the national average of 62.%) [See reference 37]. Out of the five planning 
authorities within SW Hertfordshire, Watford is the only authority that is below 
the national average for physically active adults (60.5% compared to that 
national average 66.3%) and is above the national average for adults who are 
overweight with 67% compared to 62% nationally. 

Access to green space 

3.24 Access to the countryside via rights of way can provide an important 
recreation resource. Hertfordshire has a rich green infrastructure network 
encompassing parts of the Chilterns AONB, river valleys, chalk grasslands, 
farmlands, ancient woodland, designated historic landscape and parklands and 
urban greening assets. Part of the Chilterns AONB falls within SW Hertfordshire 
with the majority falling within Dacorum. 

3.25 The Heartwood Forest, located within St. Albans, is the largest continuous 
new native forest in England. The Forest is 347-hectares which is made up of 
new and ancient woodland and has a network of paths, including a public 
footpath and two bridleways. The Colne Valley Regional Park also runs into 
Rickmansworth covering 43 square miles. Both of these green spaces are 
essential parts of SW Hertfordshire’s green infrastructure network and provide a 
wide variety of benefits. However, the Regional Park in particular suffers from 
being poorly served by transport links. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 34 Page 116



  

   

  
 

   
      

 
  

  
 

   
     

  
   

  
     

 

    
   

  
    

  
  

   

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.26 An assessment of available green spaces within Hertfordshire against 
Natural England’s Accessible Natural Greenspace Standards (ANGSt) 
concluded that the main areas of deficiency are within Hertsmere as it does not 
meet the ANGSt standards. However, Watford also has below average 
provision of accessible natural greenspace. There is a relatively high proportion 
of accessible natural greenspace within St Albans District. However, Ashridge, 
within Dacorum Borough, is the closest 500ha accessible natural greenspace. 
Dacorum and Three Rivers have the largest proportion of accessible natural 
greenspace provision throughout Hertfordshire. Green links to the west of the 
County could help alleviate deficiencies in greenspace elsewhere [See 
reference 38]. Linking many of the existing recreational routes (e.g. 
Hertfordshire Way and Chilterns Way) could serve to create an integrated 
network of green corridors providing easy access to many of the County’s green 

infrastructure assets. Figure 3.2 below shows all of the accessible green spaces 
within SW Hertfordshire. 

3.27 Three Rivers, Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Watford have all 
conducted their own Green Infrastructure Strategies, prepared in 2011 and 
2012 (a new Green Infrastructure Strategy for Hertfordshire is currently being 
prepared). New and existing development has the potential to create additional 
green infrastructure or destroy the existing network, therefore affecting the 
area’s resilience to climate change, biological and ecological networks and the 
health and wellbeing of residents. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 35 Page 117



P
age 118



  

   

 

    
   

 
  

    
   

  
 

  
  

      
  

   
       

  
       

 

  

  

  

  

  

  
   

  

     
   
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Housing 

3.28 The South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA) 
[See reference 39] considers housing need in the South West Hertfordshire 
Housing Market Area (HMA). The HMA comprises the five local planning 
authorities within the area. 

3.29 The National Planning Policy Framework in February 2019 introduced a 
new Standard Method for assessing local housing need. It draws on 2014 -
based household projections and increases the local housing need based on 
local affordability. However, the new method is subject to review as part of the 
expected changes to the planning system due to be announced later this year. 
The average workplace-based mean affordability ratio in the HMA is 13.9, when 
using the prescribed formula, the local affordability ratio results in an average 
uplift of 61%. This means the latest local housing need projection for the area, 
as set out in the Local Housing Needs Assessment, has increased from 2,888 
dwellings to 4,043 dwellings per annum from the period 2020 to 2030. If 4,043 
dwellings per annum are provided this would likely result in an additional 
122,682 people in the area, over the period 2020-2036, likely to be divided as 
follows: 

◼ Dacorum: 31,724 

◼ Hertsmere: 21,765 

◼ St. Albans: 26,128 

◼ Three Rivers: 18,294 

◼ Watford: 24,771 

3.30 In terms of housing mix, the LHNA recommends that the majority of market 
housing should be 3 or more bedrooms, whereas 1, 2 and 3 bedroom properties 
are more in demand for affordable homes (both to buy and to rent). 

3.31 House prices in the area are impacted by its proximity to London, being, 
82% above the national average, 13% above the county and just 7% below 
London’s 2020 housing values. Over the last 20 years, housing values within 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 37 Page 119



  

   

    
 

   

 

  
 

  
  

  
  

  
 

 

  

  

  

  

   

  

   

  

  

    
 

    

    
  

    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

SW Hertfordshire have grown above both the national and regional equivalents 
but just below London’s growth. As such, there are affordability pressures 
across the area. 

Equalities 

3.32 The Equality Act 2010 identifies nine ‘protected characteristics’ and seeks 
to protect people from discrimination on the basis of these characteristics. It 
presents three main duties: to eliminate discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation and other conduct that is prohibited under the Act; to advance 
equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it; and to foster good relations 
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it. The nine protected characteristics identified through the Act 
are: 

◼ Age; 

◼ Disability; 

◼ Gender reassignment; 

◼ Marriage and civil partnership; 

◼ Pregnancy and maternity; 

◼ Race; 

◼ Religion and belief; 

◼ Sex; and 

◼ Sexual orientation. 

3.33 The potential effects of the plan on these nine ‘protected characteristics’ 
will be assessed separately to the SA. This work will comprise the Equalities 
Impact Assessment (EqIA) which will be presented in an appendix to the SA. 

3.34 While socio-economic status is not a characteristic protected by the 
Equality Act 2010, the Council is committed to also considering the effects that 
the plan will have in this sense. The EqIA will therefore also consider the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 38 Page 120



  

   

  
 

  

   

  

   

    
    

    

 

      
  

      
   

     
     

  
      

    
    

 

        
     

    

    

    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

potential effects on socio-economic groups not limited to but including the 
following: 

◼ People on low incomes; 

◼ Young and adult carers; 

◼ People living in deprived areas/rural areas; and 

◼ Groups suffering multiple disadvantages. 

3.35 The population of SW Hertfordshire in mid-2020 was 600,834 compared to 
565,499 in the 2011 Census. The population in the mid-2020s was 307,169 
(51%) females and 293,665 (49%) males [See reference 40]. 

Age 

3.36 The median age for SW Hertfordshire’s population based on mid-2020s 
figures was 40.5 years. For the 10-year period starting in mid-2010 there was 
an increase in average age of 1.3 years from 39.2 years. The median age for 
SW Hertfordshire’s population in the mid-2020 was slightly higher than the 
median age for both the UK (39.7 years) and for the county of Hertfordshire as 
a whole (39.7 years). Based on the latest figures, the age profile for SW 
Hertfordshire was broadly similar to that for England as a whole although as a 
proportion there were slightly more people in Hertfordshire aged 65 and older 
than in the national population. A more detailed breakdown of the estimated age 
makeup of the population for SW Hertfordshire in 2020 is provided in Table 3.6 
below. 

Table 3.6: Estimated breakdown of SW Hertfordshire’s 2020 
population by age group [See reference 41] 

Age Group Male Female Total 

19 and younger 79,291 74,982 154,273 

20-34 48,484 50,412 98,896 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 39 Page 121



  

   

    

    

    

     

   
   

      
      

      
       

      

 

 
 

  
 

 
    

      

 

  
     

     
    

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Age Group Male Female Total 

35-49 63,277 67,786 131,063 

50-64 56,656 57,744 114,400 

65 and older 45,957 56,245 102,202 

3.37 It is expected that the ratio of those residents who are state pension age or 
older compared to those of working age will increase in the future throughout 
the UK. SW Hertfordshire has a similar old age dependency ratio (273.4) 
compared to Hertfordshire (274.8) - this indicates the number of people of state 
pension age per 1,000 people of working age. In SW Hertfordshire, this figure is 
expected to rise to 348 by 2043, while the Hertfordshire figure is expected to 
increase to a similar figure of 345.3 by this time [See reference 42]. 

Disability 

3.38 The 2011 census presented figures on people with disabilities in the UK. 
Within SW Hertfordshire, the proportion of population reporting a disability that 
limits them a lot in their activities is as follows for each of the five local 
authorities: Dacorum (13.1%), Hertsmere (13.3%), St Albans (11.2%), Three 
Rivers (12.2%) and Watford (15%). The proportion of SW Hertfordshire’s 
population who were reported as being 'limited a lot' is below the average for 
England and Wales of 17.9% in all five districts [See reference 43]. 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 

3.39 Based on the 2011 Census data, 37.3% of Hertfordshire’s population was 
married or in a same-sex civil partnership, with a further 9.8% cohabitating. 
36.6% of the population was single and 9.7% were lone parents with dependant 
or non-dependant children. The remaining 6.5% of the population falls within 
other household types [See reference 44]. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 40 Page 122



  

   

 

      
 

    
   

    
   

 
   

 

    
    

  
    

   
 

     
  

       

  

 

 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 

      

      

      

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Pregnancy and maternity 

3.40 In recent years, the number of births in the UK has decreased along with 
the fertility rate. For the fifth consecutive year, the number of live births in 2020 
for England and Wales decreased to 613,936, the lowest since 2002. In 2020 
there were 6,710 live births within SW Hertfordshire. Of these, 3,149 were to 
non-UK born mothers [See reference 45]. The average age of mothers at 
childbirth in 2020 remained the same as 2019, at 30.7 years following a gradual 
increase since 1973. The average fertility rate for SW Hertfordshire is 1.73 
children per woman [See reference 46]. 

Race 

3.41 The ONS publishes detailed population estimates by ethnic group for 
areas in England and Wales following each census. However, there are 
currently no reliable population estimates by ethnic group available at the local 
authority level for the years between censuses. Therefore, the most recent 
census data presents the most reliable overview of the likely ethnic makeup of 
SW Hertfordshire. 19.2% of Hertfordshire residents in 2011 were from an ethnic 
minority, equating to 214,056 residents. Table 3.7 below shows the broad 
ethnic makeup within the five local authorities that comprise SW Hertfordshire. 

Table 3.7: Broad Ethnic Makeup (%) of SW Hertfordshire 

Area Asian/ 
Asian 
British 

Black/ 
African/ 
Caribbean 
/Black 
British 

Mixed/ 
multiple 
ethnic 
groups 

Other 
ethnic 
group 

White 

Dacorum 4.7% 2.1% 2.1% 0.3% 90.8% 

Hertsmere 7.4% 3.9% 2.6% 1.0% 85.0% 

St Albans 6.4% 1.7% 2.8% 0.7% 88.4% 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 41 Page 123



  

   

  

 

 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 

 
 

     

      

    
 

    
   

     
  

     
     

 
    

   
   

  
    

 

     
  

      
      

  
    

   
      

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Area Asian/ 
Asian 
British 

Black/ 
African/ 
Caribbean 
/Black 
British 

Mixed/ 
multiple 
ethnic 
groups 

Other 
ethnic 
group 

White 

Three 
Rivers 

9.2% 1.8% 2.3% 0.5% 86.2% 

Watford 17.9% 5.8% 3.4% 0.9% 71.9% 

3.42 A significant majority of Hertfordshire’s resident population in 2011 (83.9% 
or 936,681 residents) were born in England. 3.7% (41,101) of the population 
were born in an EU country and 8.6% (96,025) of the population were born in a 
non-EU country [See reference 47]. 

3.43 Migration figures for SW Hertfordshire show that the area has experienced 
a small net inflow of both internal and international migration during most years 
from 2010 to 2020 (the exception being international migration for the period 
mid-2011 to mid-2012 when a small net outflow was experienced). Generally, 
internal migration outweighs international migration. During the most recent 
reporting period (mid-2019 to mid-2020) the inflow of long-term international 
migration was recorded as 3,220 individuals and the outflow was recorded as 
2,755 individuals across SW Hertfordshire. During the same period the inflow of 
internal migration was recorded as 35,317 individuals and the outflow was 
recorded as 34,432 individuals [See reference 48]. 

Religion 

3.44 In 2018 the majority of SW Hertfordshire’s total population (50%) 
considered themselves to be Christian. Those who reported to have no religion 
accounted for 36% of residents. A further 12% of residents were reported to 
follow other religions, with Hindu being the largest group (5% of residents). 
These figures demonstrate that for the five-year period beginning in 2013, the 
number of residents reporting to have no religion grew (from 184,800 to 
217,397 residents) and the number of residents recorded as Christian fell 
slightly (from 309,272 to 297,625 residents). The breakdown of religion by the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 42 Page 124



  

   

     
  

          

    
  

   

       

       

       

       

       

       

      

       

 

  

  
  

   

 

      
  

   
    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

five local authority areas within SW Hertfordshire is shown in Table 3.8 below 
[See reference 49]. 

Table 3.8: Number of people following a religion in 2018 

Dacorum Hertsmere Three 
Rivers 

Watford St. Albans 

No Religion 60,364 25,551 41,936 27,784 61,762 

Christian 79,609 49,869 39,007 49,704 79,436 

Buddhist - * * 2,341 * 

Hindu 4,127 6,352 5,266 10,352 2,558 

Jewish * 15,948 1,852 - * 

Muslim 5,483 3,145 2,628 6,316 1,535 

Sikh - - 1,436 - -

Other Religion 1,464 1,784 - * * 

* Sample size too small to provide reliable estimates. 

- No figures to report. 

3.1 There is little baseline information available that is directly relevant to other 
protected characteristics under the Equality Act, including gender reassignment 
and sexual orientation. 

Social Inclusion and Deprivation 

3.2 The English Indices of Deprivation of 2019 (IMD) is a measure of multiple 
deprivation in small areas or neighbourhoods, Lower Layer Super Output Areas 
(LSOA) to measure deprivation at local authority and county level. The seven 
distinct domains of deprivation: Income; Employment; Health Deprivation and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 43 Page 125



  

   

  
  

   
  

      
  

     
      

    
   
     

   
   

  

   
  

    
  

    
    

     

         
  

     
  

      
    

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Disability; Education and Skills Training; Crime; Barriers to Housing and 
Services; and Living Environment. Each domain contains a number of 
indicators. The seven domains are combined to give a multiple deprivation 
score. There are 32,844 LSOAs nationally. 

3.3 In 2019, the following rankings for overall deprivation were given to the five 
local authorities within Hertfordshire: Dacorum (240 out of 317); Three Rivers 
(291 out of 317); St Albans (306 out of 317); Watford (195 out of 317); and 
Hertsmere (224 out of 317) (1 being the most deprived). SW Hertfordshire 
overall performs particularly strongly in terms of measures relating to income, 
employment, education skills and training, health and disability, income 
deprivation affecting children and income deprivation affecting older people. 
The area performed less favourably in relation to barriers to housing and 
services and crime [See reference 50]. Although the area is generally 
prosperous, there are pockets of deprivation, mostly focused within the larger 
centres of Watford, Hemel Hempstead and Borehamwood. 

3.4 Three Rivers is one of the 20% least deprived districts/unitary authorities in 
England. 22 out of 53 LSOAs (42%) fall within the 10% least deprived areas. 
Only one LSOA (Three Rivers 012D) falls within the 20% most deprived areas. 
In relation to living environment, 42 out of 53 LSOAs (79%) fall within the least 
deprived areas [See reference 51]. However, about 9.7% (1,620) children live 
in low-income families [See reference 52]. Within Three Rivers, it was 
estimated that 4,053 out of 37,918 households were fuel poor in 2019, which 
equates to 10.7% of all households [See reference 53]. 

3.5 In 2019, Watford had four out of 53 LSOAs within the 20 - 30% most 
deprived areas while 33 out of 53 LSOAs fell within the least deprived areas. 
About 11.5% (2,305) children lived in low-income families. Since 2015, the 
number of LSOAs within the most deprived in relation to crime has increased 
from 18 to 35 in 2019. Within Watford, it was estimated that 5,417 out of 39,453 
households were fuel poor in 2019, which equates to 13.7% of all households. 
Watford has the highest rate of fuel poverty in SW Hertfordshire. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 44 Page 126



  

   

  
     

       
  

     
     

   

    
  

 
   

   
   

   
    

  

   
      

    
 

    
   

  
    

    
   

   
    

 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.6 St Albans is one of the 20% least deprived districts/unitary authorities in 
England. There is only one LSOA (St Albans 009A) in St Albans that falls within 
the 30% most deprived areas. 23 areas within St Albans are in the 10 - 30% 
most deprived in relation to barriers to housing and services. Approximately 
44% of LSQA (38 out of 87) fall within 10% least deprived areas. About 8.5% 
(2,355) children live in low-income families. Within St Albans, it was estimated 
that 5,623 out of 60,507 households were fuel poor in 2019, which equates to 
9.3% of all households. 

3.7 The majority of Hertsmere lies within the least deprived areas, with 19% of 
LSOAs falling within 10% least deprived. There is one LSOA (Hertsmere 006C 
within Borehamwood Cowley Hill ward) that lies within the 10% most deprived. 
Hertsmere performs relatively poorly in relation to barriers to housing and 
services with 51 out of 62 LSOAs (82%) falling within the most deprived areas. 
This may be due to Hertsmere’s more rural setting. About 11.9% (2,380) of 
children live in low-income families. Within Hertsmere, it was estimated that 
4,537 out of 42,914 households were fuel poor in 2019, which equates to 11.0% 
of all households. 

3.8 Within Dacorum, only three LSOAs lie within the 20% most deprived areas. 
The majority of LSOAs (72%) are less deprived, with 24 LSOAs falling within 
the 10% least deprived domain. Dacorum ranks highest in relation to living 
environment with 68% of LSOAs falling within the least deprived. Crime is 
ranked the highest, however, with the majority of LSOAs falling within the most 
deprived. About 12.3% (3,450) children live in low-income families. Within 
Dacorum, it was estimated that 7,095 out of 64,610 households were fuel poor 
in 2019, which equates to 10.7% of all households. 

3.9 New development near to deprived neighbourhoods can help to stimulate 
regeneration in those areas. Therefore, the location of the JSP growth types in 
relation to the most deprived neighbourhoods could influence the extent to 
which they can have positive effects on those areas. Figure 3.3 shows the 
Indices of Multiples Deprivation for SW Hertfordshire. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 45 Page 127



  

   

    
 

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.10 Further information regarding unemployment levels and income is provided 
in the Economy section. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 46 Page 128



P
age 129



  

   

 

  
   

    

  
 

    
  

 
 

   

      
   

     
      

    

    
    

      

 

      
  

    
   
  

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Educational Attainment 

3.11 The quality of schools within the area is generally very good. In SW 
Hertfordshire, as of January 2017, only 2,143 pupils (out of a total of 48,868) 
are reported to attend primary schools that have been rated as ‘requiring 

improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted. Only 1,900 pupils (out of a total of 
33,703) are reported to attend secondary schools that have been rated as 
‘requiring improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted. 

3.12 The percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard in relation to 
attainment of primary pupils at Key stage 2 in reading, writing and mathematics 
for SW Hertfordshire is higher than the England average of 54%. The averages 
for the five local authorities are: Dacorum (57%), Hertsmere (56%), Three 
Rivers (62%), Watford (59%) and St Albans (68%). 

3.13 Pupils in SW Hertfordshire perform more favourably than the national 
average for Attainment 8 scores for English and Mathematics. For English, the 
average score for SW Hertfordshire in 2015/16 was 11.4 compared to the 
national average of 10.6, while for Mathematics the average score for the area 
was 11 compared to the national average of 9.8. 

3.14 SW Hertfordshire also reported a higher percentage (72.8%) of pupils 
attaining grades A to C in both English and Mathematics than the English 
average (63.3%) for the same period [See reference 54]. 

Economy 

3.15 At a county level, the Local Industrial Strategy (2019) [See reference 55] 
sets out the economic priorities for the county and builds on Hertfordshire’s 
Strategic Economic Plan [See reference 56]. The Strategic Economic Plan for 
Hertfordshire sets out actions based around four priorities for the county: 
maintaining global excellence in science and technology, harness relationships 
with London and elsewhere, reinvigorate Hertfordshire’s places for the 21st 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 48 Page 130



  

   

  
      
    

     
   

    
      

  
   

 
 

    
   

      
  

     

 
   

  
   

  

       
    

   
  

    
      

   
    

     
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Century and create foundations for long-term growth. Further to this, 
Hertfordshire’s Clean Growth Strategy [See reference 57] sets out how it aims 
to support a transition to clean growth across the county. One action set out to 
achieve this will be by developing the green economy through the growth of the 
Low Carbon Environmental Goods and Services sector. 

3.16 The SW Hertfordshire economy has grown since 2011 with the growth of 
real gross value added (GVA) by around 4% per year [See reference 58]. The 
key sectors that are present in SW Hertfordshire are the life sciences, advanced 
engineering/manufacturing, agri-science and agri-tech, sustainable construction 
and creative industries (film, TV, digital sectors). A number of international 
businesses’ headquarters are located within the area. 

3.17 At the county level, residents have a far higher level of earning than the 
national average. The earnings are higher for residents than by workplace, 
reflecting the fact that many people commute into London to access higher paid 
jobs. In broad terms, out-commuters from Hertfordshire tend to be better 
qualified than in-commuters into the county [See reference 59]. 

3.18 As of 2017, at a county level, there are 58,000 enterprises, most of which 
are small, producing a wide array of different good and services. These range 
from pharmaceutical products to accountancy services and sustainable 
construction techniques, and from logistics to advanced materials and satellites 
[See reference 60]. 

3.19 The county is home to many well qualified people, but still, over 40,000 
working age residents have no qualifications at all. The average resident of St. 
Albans who is employed on a full-time basis earns weekly pay of around £684, 
while the average weekly pay on a full-time basis in Hertsmere is £525 showing 
that there are substantial differences across the SW Hertfordshire area [See 
reference 61]. According to the 2011 census, 12,688 people were registered as 
unemployed and an additional 93,148 were economically inactive, not claiming 
anything from the state, but wanting a job. Dacorum has the highest number of 
people in both categories and Watford has the least compared with the rest of 
SW Hertfordshire. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 49 Page 131



  

   

      
  

 

    
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 

  
   

    
   

   
 

       
 

  
 

  
   

      
   

   
 

    
    

  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.20 The South West Hertfordshire Economic Study (2019) [See reference 62] 
outlines key information about the economy in South West Hertfordshire, 
including: 

◼ The previous 2016 study identified a Functional Economic Market Area 
(FEMA) made up of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans, Three Rivers and 
Watford. This was based on evidence of strong commuting and migration 
relationships and shared leisure, retail and public sector catchment areas. 
The definition of FEMA is still relevant. The FEMA is thought to share 
strong relationships with other areas (London, Luton/Central Beds, and the 
Cambridge-Milton Keynes-Oxford Corridor) which could exert a growing 
influence on economic and labour market trends in SW Hertfordshire. It is 
uncertain how these relationships might change in the future; however it is 
suggested that: 

◼ The loss of employment floor space in London presents opportunities 
for SW Hertfordshire to attract jobs and businesses. 

◼ As the economies of SW Hertfordshire and Luton/Central Beds are 
sufficiently different, the expected employment and housing growth 
planned around Luton is anticipated to complement rather than 
compete with growth in the FEMA. 

◼ While any effects on SW Hertfordshire of the significant growth up to 
2050 within the Cambridge-Milton Keynes-Oxford Corridor are 
expected to be long term, there may be a risk that the scale of 
development and new infrastructure investment could make this a 
more attractive investment location for certain sectors where there may 
be competition with SW Hertfordshire. 

3.21 Given the high level of housing growth already planned through emerging 
Local Plans for SW Hertfordshire and continuing affordability challenges in 
London, it is likely that the strong in-migration and out-commuting flows 
between the FEMA and London will continue to grow. The loss of employment 
floorspace in London presents opportunities for SW Hertfordshire to attract jobs 
and businesses, although this is dependent on SW Hertfordshire authorities 
addressing the current undersupply of employment space. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 50 Page 132



  

   

   
 

  
  

    
     

   
 

 
   

    
 

 

  
   

   

  

   
 

 
   

   
   

  
 

 

   

  

  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.22 Trends identified that employment was growing at a strong rate up until 
2019, as levels of growth were much stronger (1.5 to 2.8% p.a. based on the 
average growth rate over the previous ten and five year periods) when 
compared to the long-term growth rate of 0.4% p.a. 

3.23 Trends identified that productivity had fallen prior to COVID-19 and was 
lower than the UK average: average GVA per job fell by £1,000 and was 2% 
lower than the national average, having been 8% higher in 2001. Supporting the 
growth of established sectors (e.g. professional services, ICT and film and TV 
production) is thought to be key to addressing these productivity challenges. 
SW Hertfordshire has a large supply of highly skilled workers to support the 
growth of these sectors. The main barrier to growth has been a shortage of high 
quality business premises to attract investment and to support the growth of 
indigenous businesses. 

3.24 Supply of employment space is at critically low levels – a combination of 
growth and the loss of existing premises has resulted in a significant reduction 
in the availability of employment space in SW Hertfordshire. This has the 
potential to act as a significant constraint on growth, particularly in those office-
based sectors which are key to increasing productivity. 

3.25 Public transport access and connections to London are key for high value 
office investors. 

3.26 The COVID-19 pandemic brought unprecedented economic upheaval 
across the world, including for SW Hertfordshire. Businesses have experienced 
significant financial pressure and those within town centres have experienced 
particularly acute challenges [See reference 63]. Hertfordshire’s Economic 
Recovery Plan has been developed in response and is structured around three 
main Delivery Packages, which are concerned with Hertfordshire’s businesses 

and workforce (existing and future), and focus on: 

◼ Enterprise and innovation. 

◼ Skills and creativity. 

◼ International trade and innovation. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 51 Page 133



  

   

 
    

    
  

   
 
   

  

   
  

 

  
  

     
  

 
  

   
   

    
   

  
   

   
  

    

    
 

   
  

  
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.27 Hertfordshire’s Economic Recovery Plan outlines the key challenges 
experienced by the Districts and Boroughs due to COVID-19 and what the 
future looks like. The future likely scenarios identified in this report for the five 
local planning authorities within SW Hertfordshire is outlined below: 

◼ Dacorum – Looking ahead, the future of logistics will be important, given 
high levels of local concentration. The future of professional services will 
also underpin the pattern of recovery. Among the risks that will need to be 
considered local is the relatively large concentration of retail activity. 

◼ Hertsmere – The London fringe economy of Hertsmere saw a sharp rise in 
the claimant count, those who claimed jobseeker’s allowance and 

universal credit, to a rate that went above the country average. 
Hertsmere’s economy is mixed in employment terms. The number of 
public sector and health jobs is small, so the future of the private sector is 
thought to be critical. 

◼ Three Rivers – Saw a sharp rise in the claimant count although the rate 
was lower than the average for Hertfordshire. The update of the various 
government schemes to cushion the effects of the pandemic were similar 
to the county average. Looking ahead, the data suggests that the future 
performance of the business services will be critical; and the construction 
sector will also have a big influence. 

◼ Watford – Appeared to see serious local economic effects linked to the 
pandemic. The uptake of furlough was high and the claimant count rose 
sharply; as a proportion of residents aged 16-64, it was among the highest 
in the county. Looking ahead, town centre functions could be vulnerable, 
and the high incidence of jobs linked to business administration and 
support services is a particular local feature. The resilience of those 
activities could be linked to head offices in Watford and elsewhere. 

◼ St Albans – The uptake of the various government schemes was lower in 
St Albans than the rest of Hertfordshire, and the claimant count rate was 
also lower than elsewhere. These observations are thought to be 
explained by the high rate of professional, scientific and technical 
activities. They may also reflect the high rate of highly qualified people 
locally. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 52 Page 134



  

   

    
   

      
 

     
 

 

 

  
  

 
 

  
  

   
 

     
 

   
  

  
     

   
 

 
    

 

   
 

 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.28 A number of districts within Hertfordshire have produced their own 
Economic Development Strategies to help address the adverse effects of 
COVID-19 on the local economy. Two of the SW Hertfordshire authorities have 
produced such strategies, Watford Economic Growth Strategy 2021-25 [See 
reference 64] and Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan [See reference 65]. 
Both set out priorities to create sustainable and lasting growth. 

Transport, Air Quality and Noise 

Transport 

3.29 Significant housing growth is planned in future years and as a result 
Hertfordshire’s population is forecast to grow by 21% by 2039, from 1.18million 
people in 2016 to 1.43million. This will fuel an increase in travel demand. 
Hertfordshire already has high levels of car ownership, good north-south links 
but relatively poor east-west connections, especially for public transport [See 
reference 66]. Existing problems, such as in Hertsmere for example, are 
caused by road links being better than access to public transport, particularly in 
terms of east to west transportation, which is reflected in the high levels of car 
ownership and traffic congestion [See reference 67]. Hertfordshire also 
experiences high levels of cross-boundary commuting and complicated 
movement patterns due to the high number of medium-sized towns. This all 
results in congestion between and within towns, rail overcrowding, and air 
quality problems. Those who live in rural areas, people who have a disability or 
other mobility impairment, or people who do not have access to a car often 
struggle to access key services because alternatives to the private car are 
currently not realistic, affordable or convenient. Tackling these issues requires a 
combination of support for walking, cycling and passenger transport provision, 
behaviour change initiatives and traffic demand management [See reference 
68]. 

3.30 The M1, West Coast Mainline and Midland Mainline all cut across the west 
of Hertfordshire, close to three of Hertfordshire’s largest towns, Watford, Hemel 
Hempstead and St Albans. These key transport routes are recognised for their 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 53 Page 135



  

   

     
 

  
  

      
  

     
 

    
  

 
    

 
      

     
     

  
 

   
 

     
    

      
   

   
  

  
 

 

   
     

     
    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

importance on the economic geography of the area [See reference 69]. The 
M1 corridor which cuts across the west of Hertfordshire includes the districts of 
Dacorum, Hertsmere, Three Rivers, Watford and St Albans. Although there are 
differences between these areas, their access to the M1 and connections 
northwards to Luton, Milton Keynes and the Midlands and southwards to 
London are shared locational strengths which will help to drive future economic 
growth [See reference 70]. Figure 3.4 below shows the transport network 
across SW Hertfordshire. 

3.31 Congestion is a major local concern in SW Hertfordshire [See reference 
71]. The road network across SW Hertfordshire is currently under stress at key 
locations, and there is also stress on the strategic road network, particular the 
M25, such as within Three Rivers and Watford [See reference 72] [See 
reference 73]. Many congestion hotspots are where the strategic road network 
joins the local road network (e.g. in Hertsmere at Junction 23 of the M25 and 
Junction 5 of the M1, into and out of Hemel Hempstead to the M1 and within St. 
Albans City at peak times) [See reference 74]. Congestion is likely to continue 
to be an issue as forecasts predict a 25% increase in trips originating in 
Hertfordshire by 2036. Currently, car dependency in SW Hertfordshire is very 
high for local and longer trips. Nearly 9 out of 10 households own at least one 
car. 

3.32 Rail links are relatively good across SW Hertfordshire, with many of the 
districts and boroughs having access to multiple stations and some to more 
than one lines [See reference 75]. As noted above, whilst rail links are good in 
a north-south direction across SW Hertfordshire they are much less so in the 
west-east direction. Additionally, rail overcrowding is common at peak times and 
is likely to increase with growing demand. A number of rail lines are forecast to 
be operating over capacity by 2031, specifically the Midland Main Line to St 
Pancras, West Coast Main Line suburban services and Great Northern services 
to Moorgate. 

3.33 SW Hertfordshire has good access to air transport. Dacorum and St. 
Albans lie close to London Luton Airport; Watford has good transport links and 
is well placed at the intersection of the M25, M1 and A41 which provides good 
access to the major London airports of Heathrow, Gatwick, Stansted and Luton; 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 54 Page 136



  

   

   
   

    
     

  
 

  
  

   
         

     
 

  
  

 
    

   
 

   
  

  
   

  
  

  
 

  
   

 
  

    

 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Hertsmere also has good transport links to all the major London airports via the 
Thameslink rail service to Gatwick and the M1, A41 and the M25 and Three 
Rivers also has good access to Heathrow, Luton, City, Stansted and Gatwick 
Airports, with all being within 60 km of Three Rivers. 

3.34 In general, access to bus services is good across SW Hertfordshire, 
particularly within the main built-up areas but there are localised challenges, 
particularly where provision and regularity of services is poorer in the more rural 
area and areas with lower housing density [See reference 76]. Bus networks 
and service frequency is shrinking in some areas across SW Hertfordshire - the 
impact that COVID-19 has had on this trend is currently unknown. 

3.35 There are a number of cycle networks throughout the area including the 
Nickey Line that follows the route of former Harpenden to Hemel Hempstead 
Railway, the Ebury Way connecting Watford and Rickmansworth and other 
routes along the Grand Union Canal. However, there are only a few dedicated 
cycle routes between urban areas. The walking and cycling networks are 
considered to meet current demands in Dacorum and Three Rivers; however 
there are localised issues, such as congestion on some routes putting people 
off using those routes [See reference 77], and often the facilities for 
pedestrians are provided alongside roads, where high traffic levels adjacent 
may make walking a less attractive option [See reference 78]. However, 
Hertsmere Borough Council has recently approved plans for a cycle hire 
scheme to be introduced in Borehamwood and its adjoining areas to encourage 
active and sustainable travel in Borehamwood [See reference 79]. 
Furthermore, Watford Borough Council has recently produced a new travel 
strategy for the borough which is underpinned by six key themes including: 
increasing active travel opportunities, improving public transport for longer 
journeys, providing alternatives to petrol car, making the town centre more 
pedestrian and cycle friendly, supporting change and making moving goods 
more sustainable. Various actions to achieve the six themes include, but are not 
limited to, improved cycle and pedestrian routes with increased cycle parking 
throughout Watford [See reference 80]. Specific information about the 
adequacy of the walking and cycle networks in St. Albans is not available. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 55 Page 137



P
age 138



  

   

 

     
  

 
       

   
   

 
     

  

     
 

  
    
    

 
   

  
    

      
 

 

 
 

   
  

  

    
  
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Air Quality 

3.36 Air pollution in Hertfordshire comes mainly from two sources; road 
transport and gas boilers (particularly in town centre locations). In total, there 
are 17 Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) across SW Hertfordshire, as 
listed in Table 3.9 and mapped in Figure 3.5 below. Air quality has improved 
over the past ten years, such as within the Chorleywood NO2 AQMA in Three 
Rivers [See reference 81], however the county still exceeds legal limits in some 
areas, particularly near busy roads, such as within the St Alban’s AQMAs which 
have annual average nitrogen dioxide levels above the legal minimum [See 
reference 82]. 

3.37 Many of the districts/boroughs have adopted measures to improve the air 
quality within the AQMAs as well as the borough/districts as a whole, principally 
targeting reducing pollution from road traffic. Watford Borough Council, for 
example, has adopted a number of measures to improve local air quality 
including the installation of rapid car charging points at nine major car parks, the 
extension of the e-car scheme, introduction of more cycle routes and facilities 
and providing better infrastructure to make roads safer for pedestrians. In 
addition, major road improvements have been made in a bid to alleviate 
congestion on key roads with AQMAs [See reference 83]. 

Table 3.9: Current AQMAs Declared by SW Hertfordshire 
Authorities 

Borough/ 
District 

AQMA 

Dacorum • AQMA No 1 Lawn Lane, Hemel Hempstead. 
• AQMA No 2 London Road, Apsley. 
• AQMA No 3 High Street, Northchurch, Berkhamsted. 

Hertsmere • AQMA 1 – An area comprised of the properties at 23-27 Dove 
Lane and the caravan site Brookes Place off the A1000 Barnet 
Road, near the M25. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 57 Page 139



  

   

 
 

   
  

    
 

   
 

 
  

    
  

 

   
  

 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

    
  

 
   

 
     

 
 

   
     

 
  

  
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Borough/ 
District 

AQMA 

• AQMA 2 – An area comprised of Charleston Paddocks, St 
Albans Road, South Mimms, Potters Bar, near the M25. 
• AQMA 3 – An area comprised of properties 31-29 Blanche 
Lane South Mimms near the M25. 
• AQMA 4 – An area comprised of the domestic properties 12 
Grove Place, Hartspring Lane and caravans numbered 1-4, 7-8, 
55-59 and 60 within Winfield Caravan site, Hartspring Lane, near 
the M1 at Bushey. 
• AQMA 5 – An area encompassing a number of houses on the 
eastern side of Watling Street, either side of the junction with 
Barnet Road. 
• AQMA 6 – An area comprised of a number of domestic 
properties on the High Street, opposite the bus station Potters 
Bar. 

Three 
Rivers 

• AQMA - Chorleywood NO2 AQMA, situated at Junction 18 of 
the M25. 

Watford • AQMA 1: St Albans Road 

• AQMA 2: Vicarage Road 

• AQMA 3: Alderham Road/Chalk Hill 
• AQMA 4: A405/Horseshoe Road 

St Albans • St Albans AQMA No. 7 - The area comprising of odd numbers 
1-7 London Road, 1-11c Holywell Hill and even numbers London 
Road, St Albans. 
• St Albans AQMA No. 2 - The area comprising of Beechtree 
Cottages, Hemel Hempstead Road, St Albans (adjacent to 
junction of M1 (J7) and M10). 
• St Albans AQMA No.7 - An area encompassing a number of 
domestic properties in Frogmore and Colney Street in the vicinity 
of the M25. 

3.38 It should also be noted that the Habitat Regulations Assessment for the 
emerging Dacorum Local Plan has noted a variety of pressures on the Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC, one of which is nitrogen deposition due to the highly 
travelled roads within Dacorum. Similar issues are likely to be identified through 
the HRA for the SW Herts JSP and will be explored through that process. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 58 Page 140



P
age 141



  

   

 

     
  

      
 

  

   
 

   
    

   
  

    

 

 

   
 

  
 

 

  
   

     
   

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Noise 

3.39 Complaints about noise in Hertfordshire have declined since 2009/10 with 
the rate of complaints about noise in 2014/15 being 5.2 per 1000 population 
[See reference 84] [See reference 85]. Complaints received mainly relate to 
domestic noise (68.4% in 2015/16) and construction and commercial operations 
(20.4% in 2015/16) [See reference 86]. 

3.40 Hertfordshire is susceptible to noise from aircraft, due to its close proximity 
to the major airports of Stansted and Luton. In 2016 Hertfordshire residents 
raised 93% of aircraft noise complaints related to Luton and 10% related to 
Stansted Airport [See reference 87]. However, noise pollution levels from 
aircraft are not an issue for all areas of SW Hertfordshire, as there are no 
scheduled flight paths over Three Rivers from the London airports of Heathrow, 
Luton, City, Stansted and Gatwick [See reference 88]. 

Land and water resources 

3.41 In Hertfordshire, as elsewhere, there are conflicting pressures on land use. 
This is particularly true for housing and associated infrastructure which has to 
be balanced with the protection of the natural environment as well as the 
preservation of the Green Belt. 

Geology and soils 

3.42 According to Natural England’s Agricultural Land Classification, SW 
Hertfordshire consists of a mix of Grades 2, 3 and 4 agricultural land and urban 
areas. Figure 3.6 shows the agricultural land classification within SW 
Hertfordshire. Data is not available to show the split between Grades 3a and 3b 
(Grade 3a is considered to be high quality soil, while Grade 3b is not). The 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 60 Page 142



  

   

 
  

  
   

 
   

   
    
  

   
 

  
  

  

 
 

   

  
  

   
     

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

majority of the soils within SW Hertfordshire are considered loamy. Specifically, 
loamy and clayey soils are found in the south and loamy and slightly clayey 
soils are found in the north. 

3.43 Hertfordshire’s geology is primarily chalk bedrock from the Cretaceous 
period, with a covering of London clay in the south of the County. Lying on top 
of the bedrock, there are superficial deposits of clay-with-flints covering a large 
proportion of western Hertfordshire, including the Chilterns dip slope. Sand and 
gravel is the most commonly worked mineral in Hertfordshire, with land-won 
sand and gravel providing the only source of soft sand and sharp sand. The 
sand and gravel resources are found in most parts of the County, although they 
are particularly concentrated in a belt sitting across the southern half of the 
County. This area entirely covers the local authority areas of Watford, Three 
Rivers, Hertsmere, Welwyn Hatfield and Broxbourne. Large parts of St Albans 
and East Hertfordshire are also covered along with a small part of Dacorum 
[See reference 89]. 

3.44 Geodiversity is the variety of rocks, fossils, minerals, natural processes, 
landforms and soils that underlie and determine the character of our landscape 
and environment. Within Hertfordshire there are 19 sites designated as 
Regionally Important Geological and Geomorphological Sites (RIGs) which are 
the most important places for geology outside of statutorily protected land such 
as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs). There are nine sites within SW 
Hertfordshire: four sites currently designated within Dacorum, three within 
Hertsmere and two within St. Albans. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 61 Page 143



P
age 144



  

   

 

  
   

   
  

  
 

   

       
   

      
 

      

      

   
  

    
      

  
  

    

 

    
  

  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Waste 

3.45 Hertfordshire County Council is the waste disposal authority and the 
minerals and waste planning authority for the County. However, the authorities 
within SW Hertfordshire are responsible for waste collection. Table 3.10 below 
sets out the total waste generated per household within each of the authorities 
within SW Hertfordshire for the years 2011/12 and 2018/19. This shows that 
there has been a decrease in the amount of residual waste across the area. 
However, the amount of development proposed through the various Local Plans 
within SW Hertfordshire could increase waste arisings. 

Table 3.10: Total household waste generated in SW 
Hertfordshire (kilograms per household) 

Year Dacorum Hertsmere St. Albans Watford Three 
Rivers 

2011/12 912 946 874 861 975 

2018/19 851 863 838 810 864 

3.46 The percentage of Local Authority Collected Waste that is recycled or 
composted in Hertfordshire was 51.7% in 2018/19, which is higher than the 
England average of 44.9%. Each planning authority within SW Hertfordshire 
increased its recycling rate except Dacorum which had a slight reduction for the 
year 2018/19 compared to 2017/18. Furthermore, St. Albans and Three Rivers 
achieved recycling rates above 62% for the same year. Hertfordshire County 
Council aims to reach 65% by 2035 [See reference 90]. 

Water 

3.47 Water consumption in Hertfordshire is above average compared to the rest 
of the UK. At the Hertfordshire Water Summit in 2013, it was suggested that 
water consumption in Hertfordshire was 166 per capita consumption (pcc), 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 63 Page 145



  

   

        
  

 
   

  
 

    
  

  
  

   
 

 

    

     

  

   

   
  

  
 
  

 
 

   
 

 

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

compared to the UK average of 150 pcc [See reference 91]. Furthermore, with 
lower than average annual rainfall, a growing population and water use 16% 
higher than the national average, Hertfordshire’s water resource are under 
pressure and will continue to worsen due to climate change. 

3.48 Hertfordshire County Council, in conjunction with nine Hertfordshire local 
authorities and Chiltern District Council, commissioned a Water Study in 2015 
which was completed in early 2017 [See reference 92]. This involved 
collaborative working between the County and district councils, the Environment 
Agency, Hertfordshire LEP and the water companies that serve the area 
(Thames Water, Affinity Water and Anglian Water). The study describes the 
current environmental and infrastructure capacity with regards to water 
infrastructure and resources in the Hertfordshire area and considers solutions to 
any capacity issues identified over the period 2021 to 2051. This includes a 
provisional five-point action plan, including the following headline actions: 

◼ Establish a water and sewerage infrastructure delivery partnership. 

◼ Establish an integrated planning portal and single point of contact. 

◼ Create a growth risk profile. 

◼ Explore long term funding opportunities. 

◼ Plan for AMP7 (2020-25) and the Price Review Mechanism (PR19) [See 
reference 93]. 

3.49 Thames Water covers most of Hertfordshire’s drainage catchment split into 

two main catchments, each with a sewage treatment works (STW). Maple 
Lodge STW is located in Rickmansworth and serves the western portion of 
Hertfordshire. The Maple Lodge site serves Hemel Hempstead along with St 
Albans and Watford and given the future growth planned for this area will need 
to have upgrades in order to provide sufficient treatment capacity. There is also 
a smaller STW, Blackbirds, within Hertsmere to the west of Radlett. At present, 
Blackbirds is estimated to treat 17% of the total flow in the main trunk sewer, 
which comprises foul flows from St Albans, London Colney, Hatfield, Potters 
Bar and Borehamwood [See reference 94]. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 64 Page 146



  

   

  
 

  
   

 
  

  
   

    

 

   
 
    

 

 
  

  

  
   

      
  

    
  

      
    

  
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.50 The River Colne is a river and tributary of the River Thames with over half 
its course within southern Hertfordshire. The river is under various pressures 
such as flow, physical modification, diffuse pollution and climate change. The 
River Colne has a Water Framework Directive (WFD) classification of moderate 
in the upstream section, but this falls to poor in the middle and downstream 
sections. All three sections are failing for flow and phosphates, the phosphate 
fluctuate slightly through the Colne starting as bad in the upstream section, 
which improves to moderate in the middle section but then drops to poor in the 
downstream section [See reference 95]. 

3.51 There are three chalk streams that run through SW Hertfordshire, the 
Rivers Bulbourne, Gade and Ver. These are globally rare habitats that are at 
risk of over abstraction. The Chilterns Chalk Streams Project [See reference 
96] has been created to improve river habitats, improve access and enjoyment 
and promote the sustainable use of water within the Chilterns. 

Minerals 

3.52 Where development takes place within areas of mineral resources, this 
may result in the sterilisation of minerals, meaning that potentially useful mineral 
resources will no longer be available for extraction and use in the future. 

3.53 Hertfordshire contains three main types of naturally occurring worked 
minerals: sand and gravel, chalk and brick clay, which can be seen in Figure 
3.7 below. Sand and gravel are the major aggregate minerals worked within the 
County. 

3.54 Sand and gravel deposits are found in most parts of Hertfordshire although 
they are concentrated in an area south of a line between Bishops Stortford in 
the east and Hemel Hempstead in the west (often referred to as the sand and 
gravel belt). This area includes the entirety of the District Council areas of Three 
Rivers, Watford and Hertsmere, large parts of St Albans and a small part of 
Dacorum. Currently there are seven operational sand and gravel quarries in 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 65 Page 147



  

   

  
    

  

   

  

  
    

      
     

 
  

    
 

   
   

  
    

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Hertfordshire, but of the seven sites, sand and gravel extraction is only taking 
place at three sites: 

◼ Thorley Hall Farm; 

◼ Tyttenhanger Quarry, Colney Heath; and 

◼ Hatfield Quarry with the linked Symondshyde extraction site. 

3.55 The remaining four sites are no longer extracting sand and gravel and are 
either in the process of infill/restoration or are not currently operating. An 
additional site (Coopers Green Land, Hatfield Quarry) has received planning 
approval subject to S106 agreements [See reference 97]. There are also some 
areas of small-scale clay extraction linked to the last remaining local brick 
makers in Bovingdon, Dacorum. 

3.56 Of the total land-won sand and gravel sales from quarries in Hertfordshire 
(1,170,985 tonnes) as reported in the Aggregate Minerals Survey 2014, 59% 
was used within Hertfordshire. Of this figure, 95% was transported by road and 
5% by rail. The remaining sand and gravel was exported to West London 
(12%), East of England (12%), Bedfordshire (8%), East London (5%) and 
Essex, Southend and Thurrock (3%) [See reference 98]. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 66 Page 148



P
age 149



  

   

 

   
 

 
       

  

   

    
  

   
  

    
 

  
 

 
   

  
 

     

    
  

  
 

   
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Biodiversity 

3.57 Across the UK, protected species have declined by 60% over the last 50 
years due to the adverse impacts of climate change. There has been a 13% 
decline in average species abundance and 5% decline in average species 
distribution. 15% of species were found to be currently threatened with 
extinction from the UK and 2% have already gone extinct since 1970 [See 
reference 99]. 

3.58 In the last 50 years, 76 species (1% of those assessed) became extinct in 
Hertfordshire; more than three species every two years. Of these, 35 were 
invertebrates, 26 were plants, 13 were vertebrates and two were lichens. 1,446 
species (19% of those assessed) are currently threatened with extinction in 
Hertfordshire. This includes over 1,000 invertebrates and 260 plants [See 
reference 100]. 

3.59 In response to these challenges, Hertfordshire County Council produced a 
Local Biodiversity Action Plan to identify priorities and actions for improving 
biodiversity within the county. The Action Plan seeks to ensure that national 
targets for species and habitats are implemented in a Hertfordshire context. 
Hertfordshire County Council has also implemented a Pollinator Strategy (2019-
2024) to optimise the use of county council owned land, allocating areas for 
beehives and installing and maintaining ‘bee hotels’ within suitable green 

spaces. 

3.60 At the European level, the Special Area of Conservation (SAC) designation 
applies to two areas of Chiltern Beechwoods in Dacorum. The largest area is at 
Ashridge, with a smaller area on the western boundary of the Borough, around 
Stubbings Wood which lies within Tring Park. This large site is protected for its 
beech forests, semi-natural dry grasslands and scrub, and its population of stag 
beetles. 

3.61 There are a total of 14 Special Sites of Scientific Interest (SSSI) in SW 
Hertfordshire which are designated for either their biological or geological 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 68 Page 150



  

   

 
       

  
  

      
  

 
    

   
   

 

       
    

      
    

  
  

  
 

  
   

    
   

 
      

 

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

interest. There are also 27 Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) across SW 
Hertfordshire. The County Council owns and manages two woodland areas 
which fall within National Nature Reserves in Hertfordshire. Figure 3.8 shows 
the locations of biodiversity designations within SW Hertfordshire. 

3.62 SW Hertfordshire contains seven priority habitats: Chalk Rivers, Lowland 
Meadow, Good Quality Semi-Improved Grassland, Coastal and Floodplain 
Grazing Marsh, Lowland Heath, Traditional Orchards and Deciduous Woodland. 
The area also contains numerous patches of Ancient Woodland scattered 
throughout the area. Notably, chalk streams are important habitats for wildlife 
and support a range of plants and animals and are a key characteristic of the 
Chilterns landscape. 

3.63 The Hertfordshire Biodiversity Action Plan [See reference 101] identified 
12 Key Biodiversity Areas in SW Hertfordshire ranging from wetlands and heath 
to woodlands and chalk grassland. These areas are to be prioritised for 
conservation action as they represent concentrations of important habitats. 

3.64 Many of the older towns within SW Hertfordshire are historic market towns 
with relatively high development density. Therefore, tree cover within the public 
realm is quite limited. It covers occasional areas of street tree planting except in 
lower density leafy suburbs, such as in parts of St. Albans, Harpenden and 
Rickmansworth, or where mature woodland have become absorbed within 
larger settlement growth [See reference 102]. 

3.65 Recently the HRA for the emerging Dacorum Local Plan concluded that 
likely significant effects on the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC were possible due to 
recreational impacts, so a full Appropriate Assessment was required. The 
mitigation strategy includes a ‘development exclusion zone’ of 500m around the 
European site. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 69 Page 151



P
age 152



  

   

 

   
    

     
      

  
    

  
    

      

 
   

 
 

  

 

 

      

      

      

      

      

      
   

  
    

    
   

    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Historic Environment 

3.66 There are many historic and heritage designations within SW 
Hertfordshire, including 103 Conservation Areas, 2,504 listed buildings, 12 
Registered Parks and Gardens and 58 Scheduled Monuments. Figure 3.9 
below shows the locations of the designated heritage assets within the area. At 
present, there are five heritage assets included on Historic England’s Heritage 

at Risk Register within SW Hertfordshire [See reference 103]. Table 3.11 
below summarises the number of heritage designations across the five 
authorities, including the number of heritage assets at risk. 

Table 3.11: Summary of cultural heritage designations 

District/Borough Listed 
Buildings 

Conservation 
Areas 

Scheduled 
Monuments 

Registered 
Parks and 
Gardens 

Heritage 
Assets at 
Risk 

Dacorum 911 25 32 4 2 

Three Rivers 349 22 3 2 1 

Hertsmere 317 23 4 4 0 

Watford 92 10 0 1 1 

St. Albans 857 19 19 2 1 

3.67 There are no registered battlefields or World Heritage Sites within 
Hertfordshire, but there are six National Trust properties within SW 
Hertfordshire. There are also a number of locally listed Historic Parks and 
Gardens within the area [See reference 104]. 

3.68 Development can affect both designated and undesignated heritage assets 
either directly or as a result of impacts on the setting of these assets. As well as 
listed buildings and scheduled monuments, consideration will also need to be 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 71 Page 153



  

   

 
 

  
  

  
 

   
  

  

  
     

  
  

  
 

    
 

  
     

  

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

given to areas of archaeological potential which could be affected by new 
development. 

3.69 The Hertfordshire Historic Environment Record (HER) contains information 
on historic buildings, archaeological remains, historic sites and military remains. 
It can be used to identify significant historic remains and contains information on 
surveys and archaeological excavations undertaken in Hertfordshire. 

3.70 Proximity to London and the rapid growth in development pressures in the 
20th century have resulted in the growth of suburban development in the 
southern part of Hertfordshire. This in turn led to the designation of a large 
proportion of the county as Green Belt. Hertfordshire’s built environment is 
generally low rise, including in SW Hertfordshire. Guidance from Hertfordshire 
County Council [See reference 105] states that historic buildings need to adapt 
and manage change to remain viable. It also encourages new development to 
respect historic buildings, but not to replicate them. Much of Hertfordshire is 
characterised by traditional (mainly pre 1850s) building materials related to its 
geology and landscape. However, Hemel Hempstead New Town differs from 
the rest of SW Hertfordshire as it was developed in the late 1940s. The town is 
compact and is divided into residential neighbourhoods each with their own 
service centre. Much of the town’s features are modernist, but it includes 
distinctive landscape features such as the Grand Union Canal and the Gade 
and Bulbourne Valleys. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 72 Page 154



P
age 155



  

   

 

    
     

   
   

  

       
  

    
   

   

  

    

  

  

   
  

  
 

      
 

     

       
   

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Landscape 

3.71 The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) falls within SW 
Hertfordshire, as shown in Figure 3.10 below. Figure 3.10 also shows the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and other SACs within a 10km buffer of SW 
Hertfordshire for context. 

3.72 The Chilterns contain an important diversity of habitats ranging from chalk 
grassland and to the country’s most extensive areas of beech woodland. Over 
11% of the AONB lies within a total of almost 500 Local Wildlife Sites [See 
reference 106]. Chalk streams are a characteristic and attractive feature of the 
Chilterns landscape. The Chilterns AONB Management Plan [See reference 
107] sets the framework for protecting and enhancing the Chilterns. It outlines 
that many of the wildlife and plant species present in the Chilterns are in long-
term decline due to: 

◼ changes in land management practices, 

◼ lack of wildlife habitat management, environmental and ecological change 

◼ impact of people and dogs; and 

◼ habitat fragmentation. 

3.73 England has been divided in to 159 separate National Character Areas 
(NCAs), each of which are regarded as distinct natural areas. A unique 
combination of landscape, biodiversity, geodiversity, history, and cultural and 
economic activity defines each area in question. The boundaries of each NCA 
relate to how these elements have combined to form the landscape and do not 
relate to administrative boundaries. 

3.74 SW Hertfordshire is split between four NCAs, as shown in Figure 3.11: 

◼ Chilterns is an extensively wooded and farmed landscape which is 
underlain by chalk bedrock that rises up from the London Basin to form a 
north-west facing escarpment offering long views over the adjacent vales. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 74 Page 156



  

   

    
   

  

   
     

    
 

 
  

 

 
  

    
  

  
  

 
 

   

   
  

 
   

   
   

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

◼ Bedfordshire and Cambridgeshire Claylands is a broad, gently undulating, 
lowland plateau dissected by shallow river valleys that gradually widen as 
they approach The Fens NCA in the east. 

◼ Northern Thames Basin contains a diverse range of semi-natural habitats 
including ancient woodland, lowland heath and floodplain grazing marsh. 

◼ Thames Valley is a mainly low-lying, wedge-shaped area, widening from 
Reading, which includes Slough, Windsor, the Colne Valley and the 
southwest London fringes. The River Thames provides a unifying feature 
through a very diverse landscape of urban and suburban settlements, 
infrastructure networks, fragmented agricultural land, historic parks, 
commons, woodland, reservoirs and extensive minerals workings. 

3.75 Hertfordshire is particularly wooded in some areas. Significant areas of 
wood pasture and pollarded veteran trees are also present. Mixed farming is 
characteristic of the Thames basin, with arable land predominating in the 
Hertfordshire plateaux. 

3.76 The southern portion of the county is mostly acidic and has a highly 
distinctive character, extending down into much of Middlesex. This is the most 
wooded part of Hertfordshire and also contains the majority of the county’s 
remaining heathland and acid grassland. The west of the county also holds a 
number of chalk rivers, chalk grassland and acidic areas [See reference 108]. 

3.77 The Green Belt, whilst a planning rather than a landscape designation, 
plays an important role in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, 
preserving the setting and special character of the area’s historic settlements 
and assisting in urban regeneration. In Hertfordshire, an area of 84,640 
hectares of land is designated as Green Belt, making up 51.5% of the county 
and around 70% of SW Hertfordshire, as shown in Figure 3.12. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 75 Page 157



P
age 158



P
age 159



P
age 160



  

   

 

 

  
  

 
   

   

 

  

  

    
   

   
    

  
    

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

Chapter 4 
Key Sustainability Issues and Likely 
Evolution without the Plan 

4.1 Analysis of the baseline information has enabled a number of key 
sustainability issues facing SW Hertfordshire to be identified. Identification of 
the key sustainability issues and consideration of how these issues might 
develop over time if the JSP is not implemented help to meet the requirements 
of Annex 1 of the SEA Directive to provide information on: 

“the relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the likely 

evolution thereof without implementation of the plan; and any existing 

environmental problems which are relevant to the plan.” 

4.2 Key sustainability issues for SW Hertfordshire, as identified through the 
baseline information, are presented below. 

4.3 It is also a requirement of the SEA Directive that consideration is given to 
the likely evolution of the environment in the plan area (in this case SW 
Hertfordshire) if the new JSP was not to be implemented. This analysis is 
presented below each of the key sustainability issues. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 79 Page 161



  

   

 

 
    

  

    

 
    

  

   
 

 
 

 
 

    
 

  
  

  
 

     
     

 

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

Key Sustainability Issues and their Likely 
Evolution without the JSP 

Sustainability Issue 1: Impacts of climate change 
including temperature rises and an increase in 
extreme weather events 
◼ Without the emerging JSP, it is likely that the impacts of climate change 

will still be mitigated against. National Policy will continue to seek to 
reduce carbon emissions through encouraging the switch to renewable 
energy, and more efficient use of energy and reduce the risk of flooding. 
The Sustainable Hertfordshire Strategy (2020) sets out the county 
council’s vision for tackling climate change, detailing policies and 
initiatives. Therefore, this is likely to continue without the JSP and will be 
encouraged through the District and Borough Local Plans. 

◼ However, the JSP provides the opportunity to strengthen the area’s policy 
framework and provide regional guidance to encourage energy efficient 
development within SW Hertfordshire, to reduce the need to use the car 
through planning and support active and public transport options and 
presents an opportunity for the five Councils to work together alongside 
the Environment Agency to locate development in sustainable locations 
that would be significantly impacted by flooding and to mitigate the effects 
of potential future flooding. The JSP will help to guide future plans and 
strategies by setting out high-level policies on climate change mitigation 
and energy use. 

Sustainability Issue 2: High house prices and 
affordability issues 
◼ Without the emerging JSP, it is likely that housing and services and 

facilities would still be delivered through each of the District and Borough 
Local Plans, but without a strategic approach it may be more difficult to 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 80 Page 162



  

   

  
  

 
   

   
     

 
 

 
   

   
   

  
 

 
 

  
  

  
    

  

  
      

 
 

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

keep pace with demand. Without the JSP it is likely that house prices will 
continue to rise within the area. As highlighted in the South West 
Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA), there are 
affordability pressures within the South West Hertfordshire Housing Market 
Area (HMA), and without a strategic approach it will be difficult for 
affordable housing delivery. The JSP offers the opportunity to facilitate and 
expedite the delivery of affording housing across the area. 

Sustainability Issue 3: Inadequate access to 
natural green space in various parts of SW 
Hertfordshire 
◼ The JSP presents an opportunity to help address any existing deficiencies 

in accessible greenspace and to consider the multi-functionality of the 
green infrastructure network at a more strategic level to ensure there is 
connectivity between the walking, cycling and bridleway network as well 
additional greenspace. 

Sustainability Issue 4: Health issues including 
excess weight in adults 
◼ The JSP could further contribute to tackling issues of health and wellbeing 

and general health disparities through policies that strongly support uptake 
of active modes of transport. access to green space, community facilities, 
improved public realm and other recreation opportunities, an in particular 
in more deprived areas. 

Sustainability Issue 5: Ageing population 
◼ Without the emerging JSP, it is possible that the diverse and distinct 

nature of socio-economic challenges occurring across SW Hertfordshire 
will remain. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 81 Page 163



  

   

   
  

   
  

 
     

   
 

 
  

 
  

   
  

   
   

 
  

   
     

 
 

 
 

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

◼ As the JSP encourages more collaborative working between the five SW 
Hertfordshire Councils, the JSP offers the opportunity to ensure that 
appropriate resources are being targeted to areas with the greatest 
specific needs. 

Sustainability Issue 6: Pockets of deprivation 
within an otherwise affluent area 
◼ As above, the JSP offers the opportunity to ensure that appropriate 

resources are being targeted to areas with the greatest specific needs. As 
the JSP encourages more collaborative working between the five SW 
Hertfordshire Councils, it could result in opportunities for economic growth 
and development, which can help to reduce inequality. 

Sustainability Issue 7: Critically low amount of 
available employment space 
◼ The JSP provides the opportunity to focus planning and investment on key 

economic sectors and strategic corridors and locations, supported by 
sufficient infrastructure to provide the conditions to attract investment and 
support the growth of SW Herts indigenous businesses to help promote a 
competitive economy across the area. 

Sustainability Issue 8: Impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic including drop in productivity 
◼ The JSP offers the opportunity to promote the Local Industrial Strategy 

and district level recovery plans, where published, throughout the area to 
promote employment and productivity focusing directly on strategic 
employment need, supporting the growth of established sectors to target 
productivity challenges, especially within communities in need of economic 
investment. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 82 Page 164



  

   

  
  

   
   

   
 

 
    

 
 

 

   
     

  
 

   
  

  

  
     

  
    
   

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

Sustainability Issue 9: Poor public transport 
linkages 
◼ The JSP provides additional opportunity to improve the public transport 

choices within SW Hertfordshire through the promotion of alternative travel 
modes to the motorised vehicle, in line with wider county and national 
policy aspirations. Additionally, through collaborative working between the 
five Councils, the JSP could help to deliver and better fund essential local 
transport links to discourage car dependency and encourage modal shift. 

Sustainability Issue 10: Congestion and stress on 
the road network across SW Hertfordshire 
◼ Recent national policies and the emergence of new technologies (such as 

improved electric vehicles, e-bikes and cleaner fuels/energy sources) are 
likely to help reduce the release of air pollutants. The JSP presents the 
opportunity to address issues associated with congestion through 
providing clarity for infrastructure providers at the same time as promoting 
a joined-up strategic approach to transport planning, integrated with the 
delivery of housing and economic development. Additionally, the JSP 
provides opportunities to support a modal shift and discourage car 
dependency. 

Sustainability Issue 11: Pressure on water 
resources 
◼ The JSP provides the opportunity to create a framework at a localised 

scale to ensure that strategic development is located to take into account 
the sensitivities of the water resources and provide an opportunity to 
encourage better and more sustainable use of water resources. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 83 Page 165



  

   

 
       

    
 

 
   

   
  

 
   

   
    
 

 

 

 

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

Sustainability Issue 12: Loss of biodiversity. 
◼ Ongoing development, in addition to pollution and intensive recreational 

use, produce ongoing pressures that the JSP can help to address at a 
strategic scale, seeking to safeguard and improve not only designated 
sites, but the ecological networks and supporting habitats that support 
them and their species. Additionally, the JSP provides the opportunity to 
coordinate the provision of alternative SANGs to alleviate recreational 
pressure at designated biodiversity sites. 

Sustainability Issue 13: Potential harm to the 
local landscape, specifically the Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
◼ The JSP provides a further opportunity to ensure that the character and 

quality of the landscape is taken into account in the siting of strategic 
development, whilst maximising any opportunity for the protection and 
enhancement of the landscape. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 84 Page 166



  

   

 
 

   

 

    
   

  
  

    
  

   
   

   
 

   
   

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

Chapter 5 
Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

5.1 The development of a set of SA objectives (known as the SA framework) is 
a recognised way in which the likely environmental and sustainability effects of 
a plan can be described, analysed and compared. 

5.2 The proposed SA framework for the new JSP is presented in Table 5.1. The 
framework has been developed from the analysis of international, national and 
local policy objectives, the baseline information, and the key sustainability 
issues identified for the Plan area. 

5.3 It comprises a series of SA objectives against which the sustainability of the 
JSP will be appraised. The appraisal of the JSP options and policies against 
these SA objectives will be guided in part by the appraisal questions 
accompanying each objective. The questions included in the framework are not 
exhaustive, and some may be more relevant to certain Plan elements than 
others. 

5.4 All of the topics specifically required by the SEA Regulations (set out in 
Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations) are addressed by the SA objectives. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 85 Page 167



  

   

 

  
  

 

  
  

     

    

  
 

 

   
   

     

   

    

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Framework for the SW Hertfordshire Joint 
Strategic Plan 

SA Objective 1: To minimise SW Hertfordshire’s 
contribution to climate change and build 
resilience for adaptation to the changing climate 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Promote climate change resilience through sustainable siting, design, 
landscaping and infrastructure? 

◼ Promote energy efficient approach and sustainable construction? 

◼ Encourage the provision of renewable energy infrastructure? 

SA Objective 2: To support meeting SW 
Hertfordshire’s housing needs 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Provide opportunities to deliver the range of housing types and tenures 
and the affordable homes needed over the Plan period? 

◼ Support addressing the housing needs of an ageing population? 

◼ Enable the delivery of housing where it is most needed? 

◼ Promote high quality housing? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 86 Page 168



  

   

 

 

   

     
 

   

    

  

 
 

 

    

   

    

    
 

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 3: To improve the health and 
wellbeing of SW Hertfordshire’s population 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Promote access to healthcare facilities? 

◼ Maintain, connect and create multifunctional open spaces and green 
infrastructure? 

◼ Provide access to recreation and sports facilities? 

◼ Encourage and facilitate walking and cycling? 

◼ Put healthy placemaking at the core of the plan? 

SA Objective 4: To reduce inequalities within SW 
Hertfordshire 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Reduce the disadvantage faced by those with protected characteristics? 

◼ Assist in the reduction of health inequalities? 

◼ Reduce poverty and social exclusion in the areas most affected? 

◼ Promote developments that benefit SW Hertfordshire’s most deprived 

areas? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 87 Page 169



  

   

 
 

 

  

  

    
 

 

 

     
  

  
 

    
 

     
 

    

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 5: To sustain and create vibrant and 
safe communities with good access to services 
and facilities 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Facilitate the integration of new communities with existing communities? 

◼ Ensure access to a range of services and facilities? 

◼ Help create places that address safety, crime and the fear of crime, and 
disorder? 

SA Objective 6: To support the development of 
SW Hertfordshire’s economy and achieve high 
and stable levels of employment 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Support the provision of a sufficient range, type and location of 
employment land to meet local needs? 

◼ Allow for sufficient flexibility to respond to uncertainties and changing 
economic circumstances? 

◼ Support opportunities for the expansion and diversification of business and 
inward investment? 

◼ Support opportunities for new and improved education and training 
facilities? 

◼ Support the diversification of employment types? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 88 Page 170



  

   

 

 

   
 

   
 

  

    

 

 

    
 

  

     

  

   

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 7: To reduce the need to travel by 
car 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Promote the delivery of integrated, compact communities (15 minute 
neighbourhoods) made-up of a complementary mix of land uses? 

◼ Support the maintenance and expansion of high-quality public transport 
networks? 

◼ Enhance connectivity of the sustainable transport network? 

◼ Support the provision of new cycling and walking infrastructure? 

SA Objective 8: To minimise air and noise 
pollution in SW Hertfordshire 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Minimise increases in polluting traffic, and its impact on Air Quality 
Management Areas? 

◼ Reduce congestion, particularly involving HGVs? 

◼ Support the take up of low / zero emission vehicles? 

◼ Help reduce air pollution from commercial and industrial sources? 

◼ Help minimise exposure to noise pollution? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 89 Page 171



  

   

 

 

  

  
 

  
  

    

  

 
 

 

  

    

    

 
 

 

     

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 9: To maintain and enhance water 
quality and quantity 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Minimise inappropriate development in Source Protection Zones? 

◼ Ensure there is sufficient waste water treatment capacity to serve SW 
Hertfordshire? 

◼ Ensure there are sufficient water resources to support existing and new 
development? 

◼ Support efficient use of water in new development? 

◼ Help safeguard the water quality and ecological integrity of waterbodies? 

SA Objective 10: To reduce the risk from all 
sources of flooding in SW Hertfordshire 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Minimise built development in areas prone to flooding? 

◼ Help promote the use of SuDS and flood resilient design? 

◼ Help promote the use of Natural Flood Management techniques? 

SA Objective 11: To protect SW Hertfordshire’s 

soils and ensure efficient use of land 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Prioritise the development of brownfield land over greenfield land? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 90 Page 172



  

   

    

   

   

 
 

 

  

    

  

 

  
  

 
 

   

   

      
 

  

  

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

◼ Avoid development on best and most versatile agricultural land? 

◼ Take an appropriate approach to remediating contaminated land? 

◼ Promote nutrient neutral development? 

SA Objective 12: To safeguard SW 
Hertfordshire’s mineral resources 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Avoid sterilising mineral resources? 

◼ Promote the appropriate restoration of sites that are no longer used? 

SA Objective 13: To conserve and enhance SW 
Hertfordshire’s biodiversity and geodiversity 

Appraisal Questions 

◼ Safeguard and enhance SW Hertfordshire’s internationally, nationally and 

locally designated biodiversity assets? 

◼ Safeguard and enhance SW Hertfordshire’s ancient woodlands, chalk 
grasslands and other characteristic habitats? 

◼ Help to conserve, connect and enhance ecological networks? 

◼ Achieve overall net gains in biodiversity? 

◼ Provide and manage opportunities for people to come into contact with 
resilient wildlife places whilst encouraging respect for and raising 
awareness of the sensitivity of such locations? 

◼ Protect SW Hertfordshire’s designated geodiversity sites? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 91 Page 173



  

   

  
 

 

 

    
 

   
 

 

    
  

   
 

 

  
 

  
 

   
 

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 14: To protect and enhance the 
significance of SW Hertfordshire’s historic 
environment 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Conserve and enhance SW Hertfordshire’s designated and undesignated 
heritage assets, including their setting? 

◼ Encourage the conservation, management and enhancement of the 
region’s heritage assets, particularly heritage at risk and historic 
landscapes? 

◼ Help raise awareness, understanding and appreciation of, and access to, 
the historic environment? 

SA Objective 15: To protect and enhance SW 
Hertfordshire’s landscape character and quality 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Protect and enhance the character of the Chilterns AONB including its 
setting? 

◼ Avoid development that would have adverse effects on sensitive 
landscapes? 

◼ Safeguard the character and distinctiveness of SW Hertfordshire’s 
settlements? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 92 Page 174



  

   

  

   
  

 

       
        

  
 

  
  

  

            
       

 
 

   
  

    
   

   
  

    
  

   
    

  
     

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

Use of the SA Framework 

5.5 The SA should be undertaken in close collaboration with the officers 
responsible for drafting the new JSP in order to fully integrate the SA process 
with the production of the plan. 

5.6 The findings of the SA will be presented using matrices, with a colour coded 
symbol showing for the likely effect of the option or policy on each of the SA 
objectives along with a concise justification for the effect identified, where 
appropriate. 

5.7 The use of colour coding in the matrices will allow for likely significant 
effects (both positive and negative) to be easily identified, as shown in Table 
5.1 below. 

Table 5.1: Key to symbols and colour coding to be used in the 
SA of the SW Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan 

Symbol and Colour 
Coding 

Description 

++ The option or policy is likely to have a significant 
positive effect on the SA objective(s). 

+ The option or policy is likely to have a positive 
effect of the SA objective(s). 

0 The option or policy is likely to have a negligible or 
no effect on the SA objective(s). 

- The option or policy is likely to have a negative 
effect on the SA objective(s). 

-- The option or policy is likely to have a significant 
negative effect on the SA objective(s). 

? It is uncertain what effect the option or policy will 
have on the SA objective(s), due to a lack of data. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 93 Page 175



  

   

 
 

 
   

     
 

  
  

   
       

  
  

    
     

 
   
 

 

   
    

  
  

  
  

  
     

 

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

Symbol and Colour 
Coding 

Description 

+/-
The option or policy is likely to have a mixture of 
positive and negative effects on the SA 
objective(s). 

5.8 The dividing line between sustainability effects is often quite small. Where 
significant effects are distinguished from more minor effects this is because, 
using the appraisal questions and criteria and applying professional judgement, 
the effect of the option or policy in question on an SA objective will be of such 
magnitude that it will have a noticeable and measurable effect compared with 
other factors that may influence the achievement of that objective. 

5.9 In determining the significance of the effects of the options for potential 
inclusion in the JSP it will be important to bear in mind its relationship with the 
other components of the planning system such as the NPPF, as these may 
provide additional safeguards or mitigation for potentially significant adverse 
effects. 

Health Impact Assessment 

5.10 Health Impact Assessment (HIA) aims to ensure that health-related issues 
are integrated into the plan-making process. As described in Chapter 1, the HIA 
will be incorporated into the SA. SA objective 3 directly addresses health 
issues, while achievement of SA objectives 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 13, 14 and 15 would 
also indirectly benefit people’s health. The high level growth types and policy 
options for the JSP will all be assessed against these objectives as part of the 
SA. The SA Report will make recommendations for how the health-related 
impacts of the JSP can be optimised as the options are developed into more 
detailed policies. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 94 Page 176



  

   

 

  
    

 

   
   

 
 

   
  

   
 

  
   

 
    

       

 

 

 

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

5.11 There are three main duties set out in the Equality Act 2010, which public 
authorities, including the five planning authorities within SW Hertfordshire, must 
meet in exercising their functions: 

◼ To eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct 
that is prohibited under the Act. 

◼ To advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant 
protected characteristics and persons who do not share it. 

◼ To foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

5.12 The Equality Act 2010 identifies nine ‘protected characteristics’ and seeks 
to protect people from discrimination on the basis of these characteristics. 
Socio-economic status (people on low incomes, young and adult carers, people 
living in deprived areas/rural areas, groups suffering multiple disadvantages 
etc.) is not a characteristic protected by the Equality Act 2010. However, the 
SW Herts Councils are committed to also considering the impact that the JSP 
will have on these groups. As described in Chapter 1, the EqIA will be 
incorporated into the SA - SA objective 4 directly addressed equality issues. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 95 Page 177



  

   

 
 

 

  
 

         

 
 

   

  

   

  

    

  

     
  

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Chapter 6 
SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives 
and Growth Types 

6.1 The initial JSP Vision for 2050 represents the overarching goal for the area. 
The vision is an aspirational, crosscutting statement and as such is not itself 
suitable for appraisal, but the following six draft pillars that support the vision 
are appraised below. It should be noted that the vision and set of 
pillars/objectives may change as a result of the feedback received from the 
consultation. 

1. Living green in a healthy natural environment 

2. Growing opportunities to work locally 

3. Living in healthy, thriving local communities 

4. Moving easily in well-connected places 

5. Building homes and places that people are proud of 

6. Delivering robust and sustainable infrastructure 

6.2 Table 6.1 summarises the SA findings for these six draft pillars, which are 
explained below the table. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 96 Page 178



  

   

       

        

   
       

         

         

  
       

  
       

  
       

         

         

         

  
       

         

  
       

  
 

 
      

  

 
      

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Table 6.1: SA Scores for the Six Draft Pillars 

SA objectives Pillar 1 Pillar 2 Pillar 3 Pillar 4 Pillar 5 Pillar 6 

SA1 – Climate 
change ++ 0 0 + 0 + 

SA2 - Housing 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 

SA3 - Health + + ++ + + 0 

SA4 -
Inequalities + + + 0 + 0 

SA5 -
Communities + + ++ 0 ++ 0 

SA6 -
Economy + ++ 0 0 0 + 

SA7 - Travel 0 0 0 ++ + 0 

SA8 - Pollution + 0 0 + 0 0 

SA9 - Water 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SA10 -
Flooding ++ 0 0 0 0 0 

SA11 - Soils 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SA12 -
Minerals + 0 0 0 0 + 

SA13 – 
Biodiversity & 
Geodiversity 

++ -? 0 0 -? -? 

SA14 – 
Historic 
Environment 

0 -? 0 0 -? -? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 97 Page 179



  

   

        

  
       

  

 

     
  

   
      

     
  

     
       

   

      
  

    
  

 

  

  
   

  
     

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

SA objectives Pillar 1 Pillar 2 Pillar 3 Pillar 4 Pillar 5 Pillar 6 

SA15 -
Landscape 0 -? 0 0 -? -? 

Pillars and associated Objectives 

Living green in a healthy natural environment 

6.3 Pillar 1 aims to ensure that all new development is net zero carbon, carbon 
negative and incorporates nature-based solutions to build climate resilience. As 
such, a significant positive effect is expected for SA objectives 1 (climate 
change) and 10 (flooding). Pillar 1 also seeks to protect, enhance and connect 
new and existing biodiversity and ecological networks; therefore a significant 
positive effect is expected in relation to SA objective 13 (biodiversity and 
geodiversity). A minor positive effect is also expected for SA objective 12 
(Minerals) as the reuse and recycling of construction materials could reduce the 
consumption of mineral resources. 

6.4 Adapting to and mitigating against the impacts of climate change will also 
have minor positive effects on SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities), 5 
(Communities), 6 (Economy) and 8 (Pollution) as this may help protect people 
from extreme weather events as well as the associated economic costs, 
increase job opportunities and minimise air pollution. 

Growing opportunities to work locally 

6.5 Pillar 2 promotes targeted investment into the local economy and workforce, 
supports the provision of education and training facilities and aims to diversify 
local job prospects thereby making the local economy more resilient. As such, a 
significant positive effect is expected in relation to SA objective 6 (Economy). 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 98 Page 180



  

   

   
  

    
  

  
  

  
 

 

 

       

     
 

 
  

 

  

      
     

    
 

  
       

    
 

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

6.6 Minor positive effects are expected in relation to SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 
(Inequalities) and 5 (Communities) as an increase in training opportunities and 
the provision of local facilities will help to support local communities and reduce 
deprivation in the areas most affected. 

6.7 It is possible that the delivery of new workspaces could have negative 
effects on the environmental SA objectives, e.g. SA objectives 13 (Biodiversity 
and Geodiversity), 14 (Historic Environment) and 15 (Landscape); however this 
is uncertain until the precise location and design of any such development is 
known. 

Living in healthy, thriving local communities 

6.8 Pillar 3 seeks to provide healthy places that are inclusive, safe and 
interactive. This could increase levels of pedestrian activity and outdoor 
interaction; therefore significant positive effects are expected in relation to SA 
objectives 3 (Health) and 5 (Communities). Additionally, this pillar aims to create 
homes that provide opportunities for healthy and supported living, therefore 
minor positive effects are expected in relation to SA objectives 2 (Housing) and 
4 (Inequalities). 

Moving easily in connected places 

6.9 Pillar 4 seeks to give people the opportunity for active and healthy living 
through the improved provision of public transport and active travel options. As 
such, significant positive effects are expected in relation to SA objective 7 
(Travel). Minor positive effects are also expected for SA objectives 1 (Climate 
change), 3 (Health) and 8 (Pollution) as an improvements to the cycling and 
walking network can benefit physical and mental health and minimise the 
greenhouse gas emissions and air and noise pollution associated with vehicle 
traffic. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 99 Page 181



  

   

 

  
     

  
  

   
 

   

  
  

    
 

 

    
  

   
 

 

  
  

  
 

 

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Building homes and places that people are proud of 

6.10 Significant positive effects are recorded for SA Objective 2 (Housing) 
because this pillar aims to create homes and places that will fit the current and 
future needs of the local residents. It also seeks to create high quality public 
spaces creating sustainable communities. Therefore, a significant positive effect 
is expected for SA objective 5 (Communities). Additionally, the homes will be 
flexible, adaptable and built in sustainable locations; therefore minor positive 
effects are expected for SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) and 7 (Travel). 

6.11 It is possible that the delivery of new residential development could have 
negative effects on the environmental SA objectives, e.g. SA objectives 13 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity), 14 (Historic Environment) and 15 (Landscape); 
however this is uncertain until the precise location and design of any such 
development is known. 

Delivering robust and sustainable infrastructure 

6.12 Pillar 6 aims to deliver key infrastructure to meet local needs and adapt to 
climate change. To do this, this pillar promotes local renewable energy 
generation, the reuse and recycling of materials and access to fast digital 
networks for all. As such, minor positive effects are expected in relation to SA 
objectives 1 (Climate change), 6 (Economy) and 12 (Minerals). 

6.13 It is possible that the delivery of new infrastructure could have negative 
effects on the environmental SA objectives, e.g. SA objectives 13 (Biodiversity 
and Geodiversity), 14 (Historic Environment) and 15 (Landscape); however this 
is uncertain until the precise location and nature of any such infrastructure is 
known. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 100 Page 182



  

   

 

       
     

   
   

    
  

  
   

   
 

    
   

  

    
 

   
  

    
   

  

    

 

     
 

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Growth Types 

6.14 Table 6.2 presents the SA findings for the seven potential growth types 
identified in the SW Hertfordshire JSP Regulation 18 Issues and Options 
document. These are broad and conceptual development types and not linked 
to an overall spatial scenario at this stage: 

a. Growth within existing large settlements – a continued focus on the 
existing city, towns and large villages, through a combination of more dense 
development than traditionally seen in SW Herts and maximising 
redevelopment opportunities. 

b. Outward growth of existing large settlements – the outward growth of 
existing city, towns and large villages through urban extensions. 

c. New settlements – the creation of completely new communities. These 
would need to be large enough to ensure they can provide key local 
facilities. 

d. Growth of groups of settlements – expanding the size of a number of 
existing communities which are located near to one another. These would 
need to be large enough in total to ensure they can provide key local 
facilities. 

e. Growth along sustainable transport corridors – locating growth where 
there is potential to create new connected and improved public transport 
corridors, particularly those running east-west through the area. 

f. Growing the best-connected places – a focus on areas that already have, 
or have the potential for, good access to railway stations, high frequency bus 
routes, high quality cycle routes and good pedestrian accessibility. 

g. Scattered growth – growth across the whole area, in all sizes of settlements, 
from large to small. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 101 Page 183



  

   

      

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  

  
 
  

       

  
        

          

  
        

  
        

  
        

          

  
         

          

  
        

          

  
        

  
        

  

 
       

  
         

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Table 6.2: SA findings for Growth Types 

SA 
Objective 

Growth 
Type a 

Growth 
Type b 

Growth 
Type c 

Growth 
Type d 

Growth 
Type e 

Growth 
Type f 

Growth 
Type g 

SA1 – 
Climate 
change 

++? ++? - - ++? ++? +/-? 

SA2 -
Housing ++? ++? ++? ++? ++? ++? ++? 

SA3 - Health +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/-

SA4 -
Inequalities +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/-

SA5 -
Communities +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/-

SA6 -
Economy ++ ++ +? +? ++ ++ +/-

SA7 - Travel ++? ++ - - ++ ++ +/-? 

SA8 -
Pollution -? -? - - -? -? +/-? 

SA9 - Water - - - - - - --? 

SA10 -
Flooding - - - - - - --? 

SA11 - Soils +/-? +/-? --? --? +/-? +/-? --? 

SA12 -
Minerals 0? 0? 0? 0? 0? 0? 0? 

SA13 -
Biodiversity - - --? --? - - --? 

SA14 -
Historic 
Environment 

- - - - - - --? 

SA15 -
Landscape - - - - - - --? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 102 Page 184



  

   

    
    

 
  

 
 

       
      

   
  

    
    

 
      

   
      

      
   

  
  

 
     

       
   

   
    

   
     

  
    

  
   

  

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

6.15 There is limited variation between the likely effects identified for Growth 
Types a, b, e and f as they all would result in some or all new development 
being either within or close to existing towns and cities, along sustainable 
transport corridors and/or around strategic transport hubs, which means all 
would offer more alternatives to private vehicle use including more active travel 
modes, and generally better access to jobs, services and facilities. Growth 
Types c, d and g are likely to have the most potential negative effects because 
they may result in more new growth across the more rural areas of the area, 
where environmental assets are more likely to be adversely affected and where 
accessibility may be less good and levels of car use higher. 

6.16 For the purposes of this initial appraisal it is assumed that the same scale 
of growth would occur under each growth type. However, as the Issues and 
Options document explains, it is likely that a number of growth types would 
ultimately make up the spatial strategy for the plan. Given that the overall scale 
of growth to be planned for has yet to be determined and will be established 
later in the plan making process, all growth types have been identified as having 
potential but uncertain significant positive effects on SA objective 2 (Housing) at 
this stage. Although all growth types have the potential to deliver a significant 
number of new homes, their affordability is unknown. The same general 
assumption has been made with regards to the provision of employment land; 
however the spatial pattern of existing employment opportunities has offered 
greater scope to draw out variations in likely effects of the growth types to SA 
objective 6 (Economy), which are described in more detail below. 

6.17 Growth Types a, b, e and f are considered likely to have similar effects 
across all the SA objectives, because concentrating development in and around 
existing settlements and areas of good public transport connectivity is assumed 
to mean that development would be located mostly within SW Hertfordshire’s 

existing towns and cities. These growth types would all have significant positive 
effects in relation to SA objective 6 (Economy) because development would 
take place in areas where there are already employment and educational 
facilities, allowing economic clusters to form and providing access to local 
employment opportunities. Employment opportunities could be more easily 
accessed by walking, cycling and public transport, potentially resulting in ‘20 
minute neighbourhoods’, in part because development would be intensified in 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 103 Page 185



  

   

     
     

    
  

  

 
   

       
   

   
   

     
    

      

  
   

 
    

    

        
    

    
     

   
     

 

  
 

    
    

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

existing urban areas, resulting in significant positive effects on SA objective 7 
(Travel). Minor positive effects are expected for SA objective 11 (Soils) because 
development within existing settlements could result in the use of brownfield 
land thereby minimising the loss of greenfield land, particularly land which is in 
agricultural use. However, this is uncertain at this stage. 

6.18 Denser development in urban areas and/or around sustainable transport 
nodes would make district heating easier and use less energy per dwelling than 
lower density communities. This, combined with the reduced need to travel, 
would likely result in significant positive effects from Growth Types a, b, e and f 
on SA objective 1 (climate change). It is uncertain whether a range of services, 
facilities and infrastructure would be developed alongside new housing under 
these Growth Types, therefore uncertainty is attached to the likely effects on SA 
objectives 1 (climate change), 7 (travel) and 8 (pollution) as the use of private 
vehicles may still be needed, particularly in the early stages of development. 
Minor negative effects are expected from these Growth Types in relation to SA 
objective 8 (pollution) as there are currently 17 Air Quality Management Areas 
within SW Hertfordshire, many of which lie within existing settlements; therefore 
focussing new development in these areas would place more people in close 
proximity to these air quality issues, and potentially exacerbate them as a result 
of new traffic generation, including from HGVs in the short to medium term 
during the construction phase. 

6.19 Growth Types a, b, e and f would have mixed minor positive and negative 
effects on SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) and 5 (Communities). 
Existing towns and cities tend to have the highest concentration of existing 
healthcare facilities which could be accessed by new residents; however 
concentrating new development in those areas could also place existing 
facilities under increased pressure and would miss opportunities to potentially 
stimulate improved services in more rural areas. Existing residents are likely to 
feel negative impacts from a large increase in population, although new 
residents are likely to benefit from the existing services (e.g., leisure and retail 
facilities). 

Although Growth Type e in particular may result in the development of 
greenfield land along existing transport corridors, Growth Types a, b, e and f are 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 104 Page 186



  

   

     
 

    
      

  
     

   
  

  
     

  
   

     

 

       
    

       

   
  

   

       
    

  
  

 
  

  
    

    
    

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

all based on a principle of maximising development in and around existing 
centres. This has the potential to help minimise negative effects on biodiversity 
assets and achieve the more efficient use of land. However, Growth Type b in 
particular is still likely to result in large urban extensions at existing settlements, 
resulting in the loss of greenfield land. Furthermore, the densification of existing 
centres could result in fewer green spaces in and around urban areas, with 
associated losses of biodiversity. Therefore, a minor negative effect is expected 
for SA objective 13 (Biodiversity). Minor negative effects are also expected on 
SA objectives 9 (water), 10 (Flooding), 11 (Soils),14 (Heritage) and 15 
(Landscape) because some key existing settlements such as Watford are 
mostly in/near the floodplain therefore additional development in those areas 
could increase the risk of flooding. Additionally, existing settlements tend to 
have a higher number of designated heritage assets and attractive and 
distinctive townscapes, which would be affected by significant quantities of new 
development. 

6.20 Growth Types d and g are considered likely to have broadly similar effects 
across the SA objectives as they would involve more dispersed growth across 
the area. The expansion of existing settlements could lead to the creation of 
new service centres able to support new healthy and vibrant communities, but it 
is likely that, at least in the short term, additional residents could put pressure 
on existing services and facilities. Therefore, mixed minor positive and minor 
negative effects are recorded against SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) 
and 5 (Communities). 

6.21 Growth Types d and g could result in growth within the rural areas of SW 
Hertfordshire away from the main service centres. As such, it is likely these 
Growth Types will utilise more greenfield land for development compared to the 
other Growth Types, resulting in less efficient use of land and greater potential 
for the loss of habitats. In addition, there are many Local Wildlife Sites, patches 
of Ancient Woodland, Local Nature Reserves and SSSIs that could be 
adversely impacted by development in the rural areas of the area, resulting in 
the potential for significant negative effects on SA objectives 11 (soils) and 13 
(biodiversity). However, uncertainty is attached to the effects of Growth Type g 
because development could be directed to larger existing settlements which 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 105 Page 187



  

   

    
 

     
    

 
  

    
   

      
    

     
  

 

   
   

   
    

 
 

    
 

      
     

  
    

  
   

    
    

 
 

    

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

could provide opportunities for the development of brownfield land over 
greenfield land. 

6.22 Although new service centres would be created in new settlements and 
growth of groups of settlements, they are unlikely to be of a scale to be able to 
support significant new and improved local service centres of a scale needed 
for the level of growth likely to be required in the area, resulting in the need for 
more commuting to larger centres in existing and larger settlements. Growth 
Types d and g would therefore likely increase greenhouse gas emissions, traffic 
congestion and use of the private car resulting in minor negative effects on SA 
objectives 1 (climate change), 7 (travel), and 8 (pollution). However, uncertainty 
is attached to the effects of Growth Type g as development could be directed to 
larger existing settlements which are likely to be in closer proximity to 
sustainable methods of transport. 

6.23 Additional development throughout the area including within the rural areas 
could result in more rural infrastructure which would open up new opportunities 
within the rural economy and encourage residents to stay within the rural areas 
for work, resulting in minor positive effects in relation to SA objective 6 
(economy). For example, there is potential for an innovative rural economy with 
regard to farming practices in response to climate change and policy changes, 
as well as more home working. However, the long-term viability and capacity of 
these practices is currently uncertain. 

6.24 With the potential greater loss of open countryside resulting from Growth 
Types d and g, development could result in the loss of permeable land thereby 
increasing the risk of flooding. Development could also result in the 
deterioration of the water supply. As such, minor negative effects are expected 
on SA objectives 9 (water) and 10 (flooding). Although the density of 
development outside of the main settlements would likely be lower, it would 
have to be more dispersed across SW Hertfordshire, which could potentially 
affect the setting and special character of the area’s historic and landscape 
character. Therefore, minor negative effects on SA objectives 14 (historic 
environment) and 15 (landscape) are expected. However, uncertainty is 
attached to Growth Type g as development could be directed to larger existing 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 106 Page 188



  

   

  
 

     
  

    
  

  
   

 
     
  

 
     

  
    

   
  

     
     

    
   

   
  

       
  

    
    

   
 

     
  

 
   

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

settlements and therefore could have less of a negative impact on the 
landscape. 

6.25 Growth Type c would involve creating new settlements within the area 
which would provide key local facilities alongside housing. As such, the new 
settlements could promote the cohesion of new communities through provision 
of social infrastructure and could provide communities in surrounding areas with 
additional services and facilities. Therefore, minor positive effects are expected 
in relation to SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) and 5 (communities). 
However, the additional social infrastructure that will be provided by new 
settlements may not provide easy access for existing residents and could be 
quite remote from existing service centres, introducing a risk that some new 
communities become commuter suburbs, acting as dormitories for local 
workers. In addition, new settlements can take a long time to deliver, which 
means that additional infrastructure may not be provided in the early years of 
the plan period but only once the settlement reaches a size large enough to 
support them. As such, minor negative effects are also expected in relation to 
SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) and 5 (communities). 

6.26 In addition to social infrastructure, new settlements are likely to provide 
additional local job opportunities, however it may take some time to attract 
businesses to invest in new settlements. Therefore, mixed minor positive and 
negative effects are expected in relation to SA objective 6 (economy). Mixed 
effects are also expected in relation to SA objectives 1 (climate change), 7 
(travel) and 8 (pollution) as new settlements would provide services and 
facilities on site; however this may not be the case in the short term, so 
increased use of the private car is likely, thereby increasing traffic congestion 
and greenhouse gas emissions. New settlements could be masterplanned and 
sensitively planned to reduce the need for travel through good site layout and 
the creation of ’20-minute neighbourhoods’; however the design and layout is 
unknown at this stage. 

6.27 Similar to Growth Types d and g, Growth Type c is likely to utilise more 
greenfield land for new settlements compared to the other Growth Types, 
resulting in less efficient use of land and greater potential for the loss of 
habitats. Additionally, the conversion of greenfield land to impermeable surfaces 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 107 Page 189



  

   

   
  
    

   

       
 

   

   
    
 

 

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

through development could increase the risk of flooding within the area. 
Therefore, under the precautionary principle, uncertain significant negative 
effects are identified in relation to SA objectives 10 (flooding), 11 (soils), 13 
(biodiversity), 14 (heritage) and 15 (landscape). 

6.28 All of the Growth Types are considered to have likely negligible effects on 
SA objective 12 (minerals) on the assumption that safeguarded minerals within 
allocated areas would be recovered before development occurred. 

6.29 These growth types will be reassessed within future SA reports when it is 
clear how they will be configured as part of the overall growth/spatial strategy 
for SW Hertfordshire. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 108 Page 190



  

   

 
 

    

    
  

 

    
 

 
 

  
   

  
  

  
  

 

     
    

    

Chapter 7 Next Steps 

Chapter 7 
Next Steps 

7.1 In order to meet the requirements of the SEA Regulations, the views of the 
three statutory consultees (Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural 
England) are being sought in relation to the scope and level of detail to be 
included in the SA Report. In particular, consultees are in particular requested 
to consider whether: 

◼ The scope of the SA is appropriate considering the role and priorities of 
the SW Herts JSP. 

◼ The plans, policies or programmes referenced comprehensively cover 
those relevant to the SA of the SW Herts JSP. 

◼ The baseline information provided is robust and comprehensive and 
provides a suitable baseline for the SA of the SW Herts JSP. 

◼ All known significant sustainability issues of relevance to SW Herts and 
the JSP have been accurately represented. 

◼ The defined SA framework is fit for purpose and includes a suitable set of 
SA objectives for assessing the effects of the SW Herts JSP and 
reasonable alternatives. 

7.2 Responses from all consultees (both statutory and non-statutory) will be 
reviewed and appropriate amendments made to the Scoping Report, including 
to the baseline, policy context and SA framework where necessary. This may 
be addressed during the preparation of the first iteration of the full SA report. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 109 Page 191



  
 

   

 
 

 

 

 

  
 

  
  

   
 

  
  

   
   

  
 

  

   
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

Appendix A 
Review of Relevant International and 
National Plans and Programmes 

Population, health and wellbeing 

International 

A.1 The United Nations Declaration on Sustainable Development 
(Johannesburg Declaration) (2002) sets the broad framework for international 
sustainable development, including building a humane, equitable and caring 
global society aware of the need for human dignity for all, renewable energy 
and energy efficiency, sustainable consumption and production and resource 
efficiency. 

A.2 United Nations Convention on Access to Information, Public 
Participation in Decision-Making and Access to Justice in Environmental 
Matters (the ‘Aarhus Convention’) (1998): Establishes a number of rights of 
the public (individuals and their associations) with regard to the environment. 
The Parties to the Convention are required to make the necessary provisions so 
that public authorities (at national, regional or local level) will contribute to these 
rights to become effective. 

A.3 Other topic based international policies relating to human health and 
wellbeing are described under the relevant topics below: 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 110 Page 192



  
 

   

 

  
  

     
  

  
  

 

   
 

  
 

 
  

   
  

  
 

  
  

  
  

   
   

  
  

     
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

National 

A.4 The NPPF includes as part of its social objective the promotion of “strong, 
vibrant and healthy communities” by: 

◼ “ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to 
meet the needs of present and future generations; and 

◼ by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible 
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and 
support communities’ health, social and cultural wellbeing.” 

A.5 Ultimately planning policies and planning decision making should “aim to 
achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places”. 

A.6 The document states that strategic policies should set out an overall 
strategy for the pattern, scale and design quality of places, and make sufficient 
provision for: housing (including affordable housing) … [as well as] community 
facilities (such as health, education and cultural infrastructure).” Policies should 
reflect “the size, type and tenure of housing needed”. This policy approach is to 
include but should not be limited to housing requirements relating to affordable 
homes, families with children, older people, students, people with disabilities, 
service families, travellers, those who rent their homes and people wishing to 
commission the construction of their own homes. Major developments that 
involve the provision of new housing planning policies and decisions should 
expect at least 10% of the total number of homes to be delivered for affordable 
home ownership subject to conditions and exemptions. 

A.7 To help to diversify opportunities for builders, promote the development of a 
good mix of sites, local planning authorities should identify, through the 
development plan and brownfield registers, land to accommodate at least 10% 
of their housing requirement on sites no larger than one hectare; unless it can 
be shown, through the preparation of relevant plan policies, that there are 
strong reasons why this 10% target cannot be achieved. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 111 Page 193



  
 

   

  
 

  
   

  

    
  

 

  
  

   
  

 
 

 

    
 

    
 

 

   
    

 
  

   
 

    
   

   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.8 Where there is an identified need, development of sites not already 
allocated for housing to provide entry-level homes suitable for first-time buyers 
is to be supported by local planning authorities unless such need is already to 
be met at other locations within the authority area. These sites should comprise 
of entry-level homes that offer one or more types of affordable housing. 

A.9 The document also promotes a theme of enhancing healthy and safe 
communities which is to be achieved by creating places which “promote social 
interaction (and) enable and support healthy lifestyles.” 

A.10 To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the 
community needs, planning policies and decisions should : 

◼ plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community 
facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, 
cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local 
services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential 
environments; 

◼ take into account and support the delivery of local strategies to improve 
health, social and cultural well-being for all sections of the community; 

◼ guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, 
particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its 
day-to-day needs; 

◼ ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop 
and modernise, and are retained for the benefit of the community; and 

◼ ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, 
economic uses and community facilities and services. 

A.11 Plan making through the guidance of the NPPF recognises the important 
role of access to open spaces and other facilities which provide opportunities for 
sport and physical activity has in terms of health and wellbeing of communities. 
The importance of delivering a sufficient choice of school places to meet the 
needs of existing and new communities is also recognised in the document and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 112 Page 194



  
 

   

   
  

   
 

  
    

  
 

      
  

    
   

  
 

      
 

 
 

 
 

    
   

   
 

  
 

  
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

local planning authorities should take a “proactive, positive and collaborative 
approach to meeting this requirement”. 

A.12 The NPPF also sets out that the standard method provided in national 
planning guidance should be used to undertake a local housing need 
assessment identifying the minimum number of homes needed. The Housing 
Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book [See reference 109] provides this 
standard method allowing for calculation of objectively assessed housing need 
using government household forecasts adjusted for local house prices and local 
earnings. Unmet need from neighbouring areas will also need to be taken into 
account as part of the calculation. 

A.13 National Design Guide [See reference 110] : sets out the Government’s 
priorities for well-designed places in the form of ten characteristics: context, 
identity, built form, movement, nature, public spaces, uses, homes and 
buildings, resources and lifespan. 

A.14 Fair Society, Healthy Lives [See reference 111] investigated health 
inequalities in England and the actions needed in order to tackle them. 
Subsequently, a supplementary report was prepared providing additional 
evidence relating to spatial planning and health on the basis that there is 
“overwhelming evidence that health and environmental inequalities are 
inexorably linked and that poor environments contribute significantly to poor 
health and health inequalities”. 

A.15 Select Committee on Public Service and Demographic Change report 
Ready for Ageing? [See reference 112]: warns that society is underprepared 
for the ageing population. The report states “longer lives can be a great benefit, 
but there has been a collective failure to address the implications and without 
urgent action this great boon could turn into a series of miserable crises”. The 

report highlights the under provision of specialist housing for older people and 
the need to plan for the housing needs of the older population as well as 
younger people. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 113 Page 195



  
 

   

   
    

 

    
    

     

      
 

 
  

 

    
 

   

  

    

  

  
  

  
    

    

  
      

  
 

  
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.16 Laying the foundations: a housing strategy for England [See 
reference 113] : Aims to provide support to deliver new homes and improve 
social mobility. 

A.17 Homes England Strategic Plan 2018 to 2023 [See reference 114] : Sets 
out a vision to ensure more homes are built in areas of greatest need, to 
improve affordability, and make a more resilient and diverse housing market. 

A.18 Planning Policy for Traveller Sites [See reference 115] sets out the 
Government’s planning policy for traveller sites. The Government’s overarching 

aim is to ensure fair and equal treatment for travellers, in a way that facilitates 
the traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while respecting the interests 
of the settled community. 

A.19 Planning for the Future White Paper [See reference 116]: Sets out a 
series of potential reforms to the English planning system, to deliver growth 
faster. The White Paper focuses on the following: 

◼ Simplifying the role of Local Plans and the process of producing them. 

◼ Digitising plan-making and development management processes. 

◼ Focus on design, sustainability and infrastructure delivery. 

◼ Nationally determined, binding housing requirements for local planning 
authorities to deliver through Local Plans. 

A.20 The Housing White Paper 2017 (Fixing our broken housing market) 
[See reference 117]]: sets out ways to address the shortfall in affordable 
homes and boost housing supply. The White Paper focuses on the following: 

◼ Planning for the right homes in the right places – Higher densities in 
appropriate areas, protecting the Green Belt while making more land 
available for housing by maximising the contribution from brownfield and 
surplus public land, regenerating estates, releasing more small and 
medium-sized sites, allowing rural communities to grow and making it 
easier to build new settlements. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 114 Page 196



  
 

   

    

 

     
 

 

     
  

    
 

 

   
 

 

     
  

 
 

 

   
  

  

  
 

  
   

   
   

      
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

◼ Building homes faster – Improved speed of planning cases, ensuring 
infrastructure is provided and supporting developers to build out more 
quickly. 

◼ Diversifying the Market – Backing small and medium-sized house builders, 
custom-build, institutional investors, new contractors, housing 
associations. 

◼ Helping people now – supporting home ownership and providing 
affordable housing for all types of people, including the most vulnerable. 

A.21 Public Health England, PHE Strategy 2020-25 [See reference 118] : 
identifies PHE’s priorities upon which to focus over this five-year period to 
protect people and help people to live longer in good health. 

A.22 Healthy Lives, Healthy People [See reference 119]: Our strategy for 
public health in England : Sets out how our approach to public health 
challenges will: 

◼ Protect the population from health threats – led by central government, 
with a strong system to the frontline. 

◼ Empower local leadership and encourage wide responsibility across 
society to improve everyone’s health and wellbeing, and tackle the wider 
factors that influence it. 

◼ Focus on key outcomes, doing what works to deliver them, with 
transparency of outcomes to enable accountability through a proposed 
new public health outcomes framework. 

◼ Reflect the Government’s core values of freedom, fairness and 

responsibility by strengthening self-esteem, confidence and personal 
responsibility; positively promoting healthy behaviours and lifestyles; and 
adapting the environment to make healthy choices easier. 

◼ Balance the freedoms of individuals and organisations with the need to 
avoid harm to others, use a ‘ladder’ of interventions to determine the least 
intrusive approach necessary to achieve the desired effect and aim to 
make voluntary approaches work before resorting to regulation. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 115 Page 197



  
 

   

     
 

   

    
   

   

 

 

  
    

  
 

 

    
 

 
  

    
  

  
  

    
 

 

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.23 The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out goals for improving the 
environment over the next 25 years. It details how the Government will work 
with communities and businesses to leave the environment in a better state 
than it is presently. The document identifies six key areas upon which action will 
be focused. Those of relevance to the topics of population growth, health and 
wellbeing are using and managing land sustainably; and connecting people with 
the environment to improve health and wellbeing. 

Economy 

International and National 

A.24 There are no specific international economic policy agreements relevant to 
the preparation of the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan, although 
there are a large number of trading agreements, regulations and standards that 
set down the basis of trade within the European Union (subject to changes post-
Brexit) and with other nations. 

A.25 The NPPF contains an economic objective to “help build a strong, 
responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the 
right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, 
innovation and improved productivity.” 

A.26 It also requires that planning seeks to “create the conditions in which 

businesses can invest, expand and adapt” with policies required to “set out a 
clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively encourages 
sustainable economic growth”. Policies addressing the economy should also 
seek “to address potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate 
infrastructure, services or housing, or a poor environment.” 

A.27 Of particular relevance to South West Hertfordshire is the requirement for 
planning policies to “recognise and address the specific locational requirements 
of different sectors. This includes making provision for clusters or networks of 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 116 Page 198



  
 

   

  

 

  
  

   
 

 

     
 

  
 

  
 

    

  
  

 

    
 
 

   
 

    
 

 
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

knowledge and data-driven, creative or high technology industries; and for 
storage and distribution operations at a variety of scales and in suitably 
accessible locations.” 

A.28 Planning policies are also required specifically to address support for the 
rural economy. Sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and 
enterprise in rural areas should be supported, both through conversion of 
existing buildings and well-designed new buildings, while the diversification of 
the rural economy and promotion of sustainable rural tourism and leisure 
developments is also supported. 

A.29 The NPPF also supports the role of town centres as functioning at the 
heart of local communities. This support is required to provide for a “positive 
approach to [town centres’] growth, management and adaptation.” Included 
within this support is a requirement to “allocate a range of suitable sites in town 
centres to meet the scale and type of development needed, looking at least ten 
years ahead.” 

A.30 The Local Growth White Paper (2010) [See reference 120] highlights 
the importance of economic policy that focusses on the delivery of strong, 
sustainable and balanced growth of income and employment over the long-
term, growth which is broad-based industrially and geographically to provide 
equality of access and opportunity and build businesses that are competitive 
internationally. 

A.31 Build Back Better: Our Plan for Growth [See reference 121]: Sets out a 
plan to ‘build back better’ tackling long-term problems to deliver growth that 
delivers high-quality jobs across the UK while supporting the transition to net 
zero. This will build on three core pillars of growth: infrastructure, skills and 
innovation. 

A.32 The Ten Point Plan for Green Industrial Revolution [See reference 
122] outlines the national strategy for accelerating the UK’s transition to a net 
zero carbon economy. A key theme running through the document is the 
opportunity to ‘build back better’ through investing in strategies to mitigate and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 117 Page 199



  
 

   

 
     

   

 

     
  

   

 

      
 

  
 

    
 

 

   
     

  
   

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

adapt to climate change. The Government has committed to investing a total of 
£12 billion in various programmes and estimates this will leverage up to £36 
billion of private investment and create up to 250,000 new ‘green’ jobs by 2030. 

A.33 The Agriculture Act 2020 [See reference 123] sets out a framework for 
the Government to establish new regulations for farming in the UK following 
Brexit. These include: financial assistance, multi-annual support and reporting 
programmes, food security, fair dealing in the supply chain and the reform of 
agricultural tenancies. 

A.34 Agricultural Transition Plan 2021 to 2024 [See reference 124] aims to 
achieve a renewed agricultural sector where farms are profitable and 
economically sustainable and where farming contributes to environmental goals 
such as addressing climate change. 

A.35 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2016-2021) [See reference 125] 
sets out the government’s plans for economic infrastructure over a five year 
period with those to support delivery of housing and social infrastructure. 

A.36 UK Industrial Strategy: building a Britain fit for the future (2018) [See 
reference 126] lays down a vision and foundations for a transformed economy. 
Areas including: artificial intelligence and big data; clean growth; the future of 
mobility; and meeting the needs of an ageing society are identified as the four 
‘Grand Challenges’ of the future. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 118 Page 200



  
 

   

 

 

     
  

 
 

  
 

 

    
  

  
  

    
  

    
   

     
  

 
 

   

    
   

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

Transport 

International 

A.35 The Trans-European Networks (TEN) was created by the European 
Union by Articles 154-156 of the Treaty of Rome (1957), with the stated goals of 
the creation of an internal market and the reinforcement of economic and social 
cohesion. These include the Trans-European Transport Networks (TEN-T), 
which includes High Speed 1, and the Trans-European Telecommunications 
Networks (eTEN). 

National 

A.36 The NPPF requires that “transport issues should be considered from the 
earliest stages of plan-making”. The scale, location and density of development 
should reflect “opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure”. 
To help reduce congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public 
health the planning system should focus significant development “on locations 
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and 
offering a genuine choice of transport modes.” 

A.37 The framework also requires that planning policies support an appropriate 
mix of uses across an area to further help reduce the need to travel as well as 
the provision of high quality walking and cycling network. While the framework 
promotes the use and development of sustainable transport networks it also 
requires that “where there is robust evidence, sites and routes which could be 
critical in developing infrastructure to widen transport choice and realise 
opportunities for large scale development” should be identified and protected. 

A.38 The Road to Zero [See reference 127] sets out new measures towards 
cleaner road transport, aiming to put the UK at the forefront of the design and 
manufacturing of zero emission vehicles. It explains how cleaner air, a better 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 119 Page 201



  
 

   

  
   

 

     
 

 
   

   
  

    
  

  

  
     

  
 

  
 

  

  
 

   

   
  

 
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

environment, zero emission vehicles and a strong, clean economy will be 
achieved. One of the main aims of the document is for all new cars and vans to 
be effectively zero emission by 2040. 

A.39 Transport Investment Strategy [See reference 128]: Sets out the four 
objectives that the strategy aims to achieve: 

◼ Create a more reliable, less congested, and better connected transport 
network that works for the users who rely on it. 

◼ Build a stronger, more balanced economy by enhancing productivity and 
responding to local growth priorities. 

◼ Enhance our global competitiveness by making Britain a more attractive 
place to trade and invest; and 

◼ Support the creation of new housing. 

A.40 Door to Door: A strategy for improving sustainable transport 
integration [See reference 129] : Focuses on four core areas which need to 
be addressed so that people can be confident in choosing greener modes of 
transport. There are as follows: 

◼ Accurate, accessible and reliable information about different transport 
options. 

◼ Convenient and affordable tickets. 

◼ Regular and straightforward connections at all stages of the journey and 
between different modes of transport. 

◼ Safe and comfortable transport facilities. 

A.41 The strategy also includes details on how the Government is using 
behavioural change methods to reduce or remove barriers to the use of 
sustainable transport and working closely with stakeholders to deliver a better-
connected transport system. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 120 Page 202



  
 

   

 
   

 
   

 
 

 
     

    
  

  

  
    

     

   

    

     

  
  

   
     

   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.42 Department for Transport, Decarbonising Transport: Setting the 
Challenge (2020) [See reference 130] sets out the strategic priorities for a new 
Transport Decarbonisation Plan (TDP), to be published later in 2020, will set out 
in detail what government, business and society will need to do to deliver the 
significant emissions reduction needed across all modes of transport, putting us 
on a pathway to achieving carbon budgets and net zero emissions across every 
single mode of transport by 2050. This document acknowledges that while there 
have been recently published strategies [See reference 131] to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions in individual transport modes, transport as a whole 
sector needs to go further and more quickly, therefore the TDP will take a 
coordinated, cross-modal approach to deliver the transport sector’s contribution 

to both carbon budgets and net zero. 

A.43 Department for Transport, Decarbonising: A Better, Greener Britain 
[See reference 132] sets out the government’s commitments and the actions 
needed to decarbonise the entire transport system in the UK. It includes: 

◼ the pathway to net zero transport in the UK. 

◼ the wider benefits net zero transport can deliver. 

◼ the principles that underpin our approach to delivering net zero transport. 

A.44 The plan follows on from Decarbonising transport: setting the challenge, 
published in March 2020, which laid out the scale of additional reductions 
needed to deliver transport’s contribution to legally binding carbon budgets and 

delivering net zero by 2050. This plan takes into account the changes in 
transport demand following the pandemic. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 121 Page 203



   
 

   

 

 

    
   

    
  

   
  

  
      

 

    
  

   
  

 
  

     
   

  

   
 

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

Air, land, and water quality 

National 

A.45 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing 
valued soil and the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land. Policies should also prevent new and existing development 
from “contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution.” 

A.46 The document also requires that strategic policies should seek to make 
the most effective use of land in meeting local requirements making as much 
use as possible of previously-developed or ‘brownfield’ land. Furthermore 
policies should “support appropriate opportunities to remediate despoiled, 
degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land”. 

A.47 Environmental Protection Act 1990 [See reference 133]: makes 
provision for the improved control of pollution to the air, water and land by 
regulating the management of waste and the control of emissions. Seeks to 
ensure that decisions pertaining to the environment are made in an integrated 
manner, in collaboration with appropriate authorities, non-governmental 
organisations and other persons. 

A.48 Building Regulations [See reference 134]: requires that reasonable 
precautions are taken to avoid risks to health and safety cause by contaminants 
in ground to be covered by building and associated ground. 

A.49 National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) [See reference 135]: Key 
planning objectives are identified within the NPPW, requiring planning 
authorities to: 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 122 Page 204



  
 

   

 
  

   
 

  
 

   
  

 
  

     
   

  
 

     
   

  

    

 
  

 

  
  

 

   
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

◼ Help deliver sustainable development through driving waste management 
up the waste hierarchy. 

◼ Ensure waste management is considered alongside other spatial planning 
concerns. 

◼ Provide a framework in which communities take more responsibility for 
their own waste. 

◼ Help secure the recovery or disposal of waste without endangering human 
health and without harming the environment. 

◼ Ensure the design and layout of new development supports sustainable 
waste management. 

A.50 The Nitrate Pollution Prevention Regulations [See reference 136] 
provides for the designation of land as nitrate vulnerable zones and imposes 
annual limits on the amount of nitrogen from organic manure that may be 
applied or spread in a holding in a nitrate vulnerable zone. The Regulations also 
specify the amount of nitrogen to be spread on a crop and how, where and 
when to spread nitrogen fertiliser, and how it should be stored. It also 
establishes closed periods during which the spreading of nitrogen fertiliser is 
prohibited. 

A.51 The Urban Waste Water Treatment Regulations [See reference 137] 
protect the environment from the adverse effects of urban waste water 
discharges and certain industrial sectors, notably domestic and industrial waste 
water. The regulations require the collection of waste water and specifies how 
different types of waste water should be treated, disposed and reused. 

A.52 The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) Regulations 
[See reference 138] protect inland surface waters, transitional waters, coastal 
waters and groundwater, and outlines the associated river basin management 
process 

A.53 The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations [See reference 139] 
focus on the quality of water for drinking, washing, cooking and food 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 123 Page 205



  
 

   

   
  

   

    
  

 
     

     
  

   

     
 

     
 

  

      
  

   
   

  

  
 

  
 

   
     

 
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

preparation, and for food production. Their purpose is to protect human health 
from the adverse effects of any contamination of water intended for human 
consumption by ensuring it is wholesome and clean. 

A.54 The Environmental Permitting Regulations [See reference 140] 
streamline the legislative system for industrial and waste installations into a 
single permitting structure for those activities which have the potential to cause 
harm to human health or the environment. They set out how to prevent or, 
where that is not practicable, to reduce emissions into air, water and land and to 
prevent the generation of waste, in order to achieve a high level of protection of 
the environment and human health. 

A.55 The Air Quality Standards Regulations [See reference 141] set out 
limits on concentrations of outdoor air pollutants that impact public health, most 
notably particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2). It also 
sets out the procedure and requirements for the designation of Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs). 

A.56 The Environmental Noise Regulations [See reference 142] apply to 
environmental noise, mainly from transport. The regulations require regular 
noise mapping and action planning for road, rail and aviation noise and noise in 
large urban areas. They also require Noise Action Plans based on the maps for 
road and rail noise and noise in large urban areas. The Action Plans identify 
Important Areas (areas exposed to the highest levels of noise) and suggest 
ways the relevant authorities can reduce these. Major airports and those which 
affect large urban areas are also required to produce and publish their own 
Noise Action Plans separately. The Regulations do not apply to noise from 
domestic activities such as noise created by neighbours; at work places; inside 
means of transport; or military activities in military areas. 

A.57 The Waste (Circular Economy) (Amendment) Regulations [See 
reference 143] amend a range of legislation to prevent waste generation and to 
monitor and assess the implementation of measures included in waste 
prevention programmes. They set out requirements to justify not separating 
waste streams close to source for re-use, recycling or other recovery 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 124 Page 206



  
 

   

 
  

   
   

    
  

      
 

  
  

 
  

 

     
  

 
  

   
 

    
 

 
 

  

   
   

  

 
  

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

operations, prohibit incineration and landfilling of waste unless such treatment 
process represent the best environmental outcome in accordance with the 
waste hierarchy. The Regulations set out when waste management plans and 
in waste prevention programmes are required. The Regulations focus on the 
circular economy as a means for businesses to maximise the value of waste 
and waste treatment. 

A.58 Safeguarding our Soils – A Strategy for England [See reference 144] 
sets out how England’s soils will be managed sustainably. It highlights those 

areas which Defra will prioritise and focus attention in tackling degradation 
threats, including: better protection for agricultural soils; protecting and 
enhancing stores of soil carbon; building the resilience of soils to a changing 
climate; preventing soil pollution; effective soil protection during construction 
and; dealing with contaminated land. 

A.59 The Water White Paper [See reference 145] provides out the 
Government’s vision for the water sector including proposals on protecting 
water resources and reforming the water supply industry. It outlines the 
measures that will be taken to tackle issues such as poorly performing 
ecosystems, and the combined impacts of climate change and population 
growth on stressed water resources. 

A.60 National Policy Statement for Waste Water [See reference 146]: sets 
out Government policy for the provision of major waste water infrastructure. The 
policy set out in this NPS is, for the most part, intended to make existing policy 
and practice in consenting nationally significant waste water infrastructure 
clearer and more transparent. 

A.61 Future Water: The Government’s Water Strategy for England [See 
reference 147] : Sets out how the Government wants the water sector to look 
by 2030, providing an outline of steps which need to be taken to get there. 
These steps include: improving the supply of water; agreeing on important new 
infrastructure such as reservoirs; proposals to time limit abstraction licences; 
and reducing leakage. The document also states that pollution to rivers will be 
tackled, whilst discharge from sewers will be reduced. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 125 Page 207



  
 

   

 
    

    
 

 
  

  

    

   

    
   

  
  

   
 

  
   

 
 

    
 

       
  

 

    
     

    
    

  

   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.62 The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern 
Ireland [See reference 148] sets out a way forward for work and planning on 
air quality issues by setting out the air quality standards and objectives to be 
achieved. It introduces a new policy framework for tackling fine particles, and 
identifies potential new national policy measures which modelling indicates 
could give further health benefits and move closer towards meeting the 
Strategy’s objectives. The objectives of the Strategy are to: 

◼ Further improve air quality in the UK from today and long term. 

◼ Provide benefits to health quality of life and the environment. 

A.63 The Road to Zero [See reference 149] sets out new measures towards 
cleaner road transport, aiming to put the UK at the forefront of the design and 
manufacturing of zero emission vehicles. It explains how cleaner air, a better 
environment, zero emission vehicles and a strong, clean economy will be 
achieved. One of the main aims of the document is for all new cars and vans to 
be effectively zero emission by 2040. 

A.64 The UK Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations 
[See reference 150] provides the Government’s ambition and actions for 
delivering a better environment and cleaner air, including £1 billion investment 
in ultra-low emission vehicles (ULESvs), a £290 million National Productivity 
Investment Fund, a £11 million Air Quality Grant Fund and £255 million 
Implementation Fund to help local authorities to prepare Air Quality Action 
Plans and improve air quality, an £89 million Green Bus Fund, £1.2 billion 
Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy and £100 million to help improve air 
quality on the National road network. 

A.65 Of the key areas in the 25 Year Environment Plan around which action 
will be focused, those of relevance to the South West Hertfordshire in terms of 
the protection of air, land and water quality are: using and managing land 
sustainably; recovering nature and enhancing the beauty of landscapes; and 
increasing resource efficiency, and reducing pollution and waste: 

◼ Using and managing land sustainably: 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 126 Page 208



  
 

   

   
 

  

  

   

  

    

    
  

   
  

 
   

   
 

     
  
   

 
 

    
  

  
 

  
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

◼ Embed a ‘net environmental gain’ principle for development, including 

natural capital benefits to improved and water quality. 

◼ Protect best agricultural land. 

◼ Improve soil health, and restore and protect peatlands. 

◼ Recovering nature and enhancing the beauty of landscapes: 

◼ Respect nature by using our water more sustainably. 

◼ Increasing resource efficiency and reducing pollution and waste. 

◼ Reduce pollution by tackling air pollution in our Clean Air Strategy and 
reduce the impact of chemicals. 

A.66 Our Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for England (2018) [See 
reference 151] aims to increase resource productivity and eliminate avoidable 
waste by 2050. The Strategy sets out key targets which include: a 50% 
recycling rate for household waste by 2020, a 75% recycling rate for packaging 
by 2030, 65% recycling rate for municipal solid waste by 2035 and municipal 
waste to landfill 10% or less by 2035. 

A.67 Clean Air Strategy 2019 [See reference 152]: This strategy sets out the 
comprehensive action that is required from across all parts of government and 
society to meet these goals. New legislation will create a stronger and more 
coherent framework for action to tackle air pollution. This will be underpinned by 
new England-wide powers to control major sources of air pollution, in line with 
the risk they pose to public health and the environment, plus new local powers 
to take action in areas with an air pollution problem. These will support the 
creation of Clean Air Zones to lower emissions from all sources of air pollution, 
backed up with clear enforcement mechanisms. The UK has set stringent 
targets to cut emissions 2030. The goal is to reduce the harm to human health 
from air pollution by half. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 127 Page 209



  
 

   

 

 

   
 

 

 

      
  

  
     

   

    
 

   
  

    
  

 
   

 
  

  
   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

Climate change mitigation and 
adaptation 

International 

A.68 United Nations Paris Climate Change Agreement (2015) is an 
international agreement to keep global temperature rise this century well below 
2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. 

National 

A.69 The Climate Change Act 2008 (amended 2019) [See reference 153] 
sets targets for UK greenhouse gas emission reductions of at least 80% by 
2050 and CO2 emission reductions of at least 26% by 2015, against a 1990 
baseline. An update to the act was made in 2019 which sets a new target for 
UK greenhouse gas emissions of 100% by 2050. 

A.70 Planning and Energy Act (2008) [See reference 154]: enables local 
planning authorities to set requirements for carbon reduction and renewable 
energy provision. It should be noted that while the Housing Standards Review 
proposed to repeal some of these provisions, at the time of writing there have 
been no amendments to the Planning and Energy Act. 

A.71 The NPPF contains as part of its environmental objective a requirement to 
mitigate and adapt to climate change, “including moving to a low carbon 
economy”. The document also states that the “planning system should support 
the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of 
flood risk and coastal change.” To achieve these aims new development should 

be planned to ensure appropriate adaptation measures are included (including 
green infrastructure) and should be designed, located and orientated as to help 
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 128 Page 210



   
 

   

  
  

  
 

    
  

  
  

 

    
    

 
   

 

    
  

   
 

      

  
 

 
    
 

    
    

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.72 The revised framework also requires that development is directed away 
from areas which are at highest existing or future risk of flooding. Where 
development is required in such areas, the “development should be made safe 
for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.” 

A.73 In relation to coastal change in England planning policies and decisions 
should take account of the UK Marine Policy Statement and marine plans. 
Furthermore, plans should “reduce risk from coastal change by avoiding 
inappropriate development in vulnerable areas and not exacerbating the 
impacts of physical changes to the coast”. 

A.74 The Energy Performance of Buildings Regulations [See reference 
155] seek to improve the energy efficiency of buildings, reducing their carbon 
emissions and lessening the impact of climate change. The Regulations require 
the adoption of a standard methodology for calculating energy performance and 
minimum requirements for energy performance, reported through Energy 
Performance Certificates and Display Energy Certificates. 

A.75 The UK Renewable Energy Strategy [See reference 156] describes out 
the ways in which we will tackle climate change by reducing our CO2 emissions 
through the generation of a renewable electricity, heat and transport 
technologies. 

A.76 The Energy Efficiency Strategy [See reference 157] aims to realise the 
wider energy efficiency potential that is available in the UK economy by 
maximising the potential of existing dwellings by implementing 21st century 
energy management initiatives on 19th century homes. 

A.77 The UK Low Carbon Transition Plan: National Strategy for Climate 
and Energy [See reference 158] : sets out a five point plan to tackle climate 
change. The points are as follows: protecting the public from immediate risk, 
preparing for the future, limiting the severity of future climate change through a 
new international climate agreement, building a low carbon UK and supporting 
individuals, communities and businesses to play their part. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 129 Page 211



  
 

   

   

 

  
 

    

   
  

 
   

    

  
   

   
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
    

 

     
   

 
  

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.78 UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 [See reference 159]: sets 
out six priority areas needing urgent further action over the next five years. 
These include: 

◼ flooding and coastal change risks to communities, businesses and 
infrastructure, 

◼ health, well-being and productivity from high temperatures, 

◼ shortages in public water supply, and for agriculture, energy generation 
and industry with impacts on freshwater ecology, 

◼ natural capital, including terrestrial, coastal, marine and freshwater 
ecosystems, soils and biodiversity, 

◼ domestic and international food production and trade and 

◼ new and emerging pests and diseases and invasive non-native species 
affecting people, plants and animals. 

A.79 Independent Assessment of UK Climate Risk [See reference 160]: 
published by the Committee on Climate Change as an independent assessment 
of the UK's climate risk. It will feed into the UK's third National Adaptation 
Programme when it is published later in 2022. As such it represents the latest 
thinking in terms of the level of risk that the UK faces in relation to climate 
change. One of the key findings of this report is that there is new evidence to 
suggest that the gap between the level of risk we face and the level of 
adaptation underway has widened since the publication of the previous National 
Adaptation Programme in 2018. 

A.80 The National Adaptation Programme and the Third Strategy for 
Climate Adaptation Reporting [See reference 161] sets out visions for the 
following sectors: 

◼ People and the Built Environment – “to promote the development of a 

healthy, equitable and resilient population, well placed to reduce the 
harmful health impacts of climate change...buildings and places (including 
built heritage) and the people who live and work in them are resilient and 
organisations in the built environment sector have an increased capacity to 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 130 Page 212



  
 

   

     
 

  
  

     
  
 

  
    

   
 

      

     
    

 
  

  
  

  
 

 
  

   
  

  
   

   

    
 

    
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

address the risks and make the most of the opportunities of a changing 
climate.” 

◼ Infrastructure – “an infrastructure network that is resilient to today’s natural 
hazards and prepared for the future changing climate”. 

◼ Natural Environment – “the natural environment, with diverse and healthy 
ecosystems, is resilient to climate change, able to accommodate change 
and valued for the adaptation services it provides.” 

◼ Business and Industry – “UK businesses are resilient to extreme weather 
and prepared for future risks and opportunities from climate change.” 

◼ Local Government – “Local government plays a central in leading and 

supporting local places to become more resilient to a range of future risks 
and to be prepared for the opportunities from a changing climate.” 

A.81 The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 [See reference 162] and 
The Flood and Water Regulations [See reference 163] sets out measures to 
ensure that risk from all sources of flooding is managed more effectively. This 
includes: incorporating greater resilience measures into the design of new 
buildings; utilising the environment in order to reduce flooding; identifying areas 
suitable for inundation and water storage to reduce the risk of flooding 
elsewhere; rolling back development in coastal areas to avoid damage from 
flooding or coastal erosion; and creating sustainable drainage systems (SuDS). 

A.82 Understanding the risks, empowering communities, building 
resilience: The national flood and coastal erosion risk management 
strategy for England [See reference 164] This Strategy sets out the national 
framework for managing the risk of flooding and coastal erosion. It sets out the 
roles for risk management authorities and communities to help them understand 
their responsibilities. The strategic aims and objectives of the Strategy are to: 

◼ Manage the risk to people and their property. 

◼ Facilitate decision-making and action at the appropriate level – individual, 
community or local authority, river catchment, coastal cell or national. 

◼ Achieve environmental, social and economic benefits, consistent with the 
principles of sustainable development. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 131 Page 213



  
 

   

    
    

  
 

   

   
   

  

  
   

    
 

 
 

     
   

 

 

  
    

 

 
   

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.83 The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out policy priorities with respect to: 
responding to climate change are using and managing land sustainably; and 
protecting and improving our global environment. Actions that will be taken as 
part of these two key areas are as follows: 

◼ Using and managing land sustainably: 

◼ Take action to reduce the risk of harm from flooding and coastal erosion 
including greater use of natural flood management solutions. 

◼ Protecting and improving our global environment: 

◼ Provide international leadership and lead by example in tackling climate 
change and protecting and improving international biodiversity. 

A.84 The Ten Point Plan for Green Industiral Revolution [See reference 
165] outlines the national strategy for accelerating the UK’s transition to a net 
zero carbon economy. A key theme running through the document is the 
opportunity to ‘build back better’ through investing in strategies to mitigate and 

adapt to climate change. The Government has committed to investing a total of 
£12 billion in various programmes and estimates this will leverage up to £36 
billion of private investment and create up to 250,000 new ‘green’ jobs by 2030. 

Biodiversity 

International 

A.83 International Convention on Wetlands (Ramsar Convention) (1976) is 
an international agreement with the aim of conserving and managing the use of 
wetlands and their resources. 

A.84 European Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and 
Natural Habitats (Bern Convention) (1979) aims to ensure conservation and 
protection of wild plant and animal species and their natural habitats, to 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 132 Page 214



  
 

   

 
   

   
  

  

  
   

 

 

    

   
 

  
  

 
 

   
   

 
 

        
  

 
  

  
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

increase cooperation between contracting parties, and to regulate the 
exploitation of those species (including migratory species). 

A.85 International Convention on Biological Diversity (1992) is an 
international commitment to biodiversity conservation through national 
strategies and action plans. 

A.86 United Nations Declaration on Forests (New York Declaration) (2014) 
sets out international commitment to cut natural forest loss by 2020 and end 
loss by 2030. 

National 

A.87 A requirement of the NPPF’s environmental objective is that the planning 
system should contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural environment 
including helping to improve biodiversity, and using natural resources prudently. 
In support of this aim the framework states that Local Plans should “identify, 
map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats and wider 
ecological networks” and should also “promote the conservation, restoration 
and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection 
and recovery of priority species; and identify and pursue opportunities for 
securing measurable net gains for biodiversity.” 

A.88 The framework requires that plans should take a strategic approach in 
terms of “maintaining and enhancing networks of habitats and green 
infrastructure; and plan for the enhancement of natural capital at a catchment or 
landscape scale across local authority boundaries”. 

A.89 The Environment Act 2021 [See reference 166] introduces a 
requirement that all applications for the development of land will have to deliver 
a 10% biodiversity net gain above the ecological baseline for the application 
site. The Act also introduces Local Nature Recovery Strategies which will guide 
the delivery of biodiversity net gain projects. The requirements of the 
Environment Act will come into force in 2023 following a two-year transition 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 133 Page 215



  
 

   

    

   
    

    
  

 
  

   
    

   
    

 
  

 
 

  
    

 
  

 
 

    
 

  

    
   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

period to enable local planning authorities, developers and others to prepare for 
the proposed requirement. 

A.90 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations [See 
reference 167] protect biodiversity through the conservation of natural habitats 
and species of wild fauna and flora, including birds. The Regulations lay down 
rules for the protection, management and exploitation of such habitats and 
species, including how adverse effects on such habitats and species should be 
avoided, minimised and reported. 

A.91 The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 [See 
reference 168] places a duty on public bodies to conserve biodiversity. 

A.92 England Biodiversity Strategy Climate Change Adaptation Principles 
[See reference 169] : sets out principles to guide adaptation to climate change. 
The principles are: take practical action now, maintain and increase ecological 
resilience, accommodate change, integrate action across all sectors and 
develop knowledge and plan strategically. The precautionary principle underpin 
all of these. 

A.93 Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem 
services [See reference 170] guides conservation efforts in England up to 
2020 by requiring a national halt to biodiversity loss, supporting healthy 
ecosystems and establishing ecological networks. The Strategy includes 22 
priorities which include actions for the following sectors: Agriculture, Forestry, 
Planning & Development, Water Management, Marine Management, Fisheries, 
Air Pollution and Invasive Non-Native Species. 

A.94 Biodiversity Offsetting in England Green Paper [See reference 171] 
sets out a framework for offsetting. Biodiversity offsets are conservation 
activities designed to compensate for residual losses. 

A.95 The key areas of the 25 Year Environment Plan of relevance in terms of 
the protection and promotion of biodiversity are recovering nature and 
enhancing the beauty of landscapes; securing clean, productive and biologically 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 134 Page 216



 
 

   

     
 

   
  

 

     
 

  

  
   

    

 

 

    
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

 
 

  
  

   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

diverse seas and oceans; and protecting and improving our global environment. 
Actions that will be taken as part of these three key areas are as follows: 

◼ Develop a Nature Recovery Network to protect and restore wildlife, and 
provide opportunities to re-introduce species that have been lost from the 
countryside. 

◼ Achieve a good environmental status of the UK’s seas while allowing 

marine industries to thrive, and complete our economically coherent 
network of well-managed marine protected areas. 

◼ Provide international leadership and lead by example in tackling climate 
change and protecting and improving international biodiversity. 

◼ Support and protect international forests and sustainable agriculture. 

Heritage 

International 

A.95 United Nations (UNESCO) World Heritage Convention (1972) : 
promotes co-operation among nations to protect heritage around the world that 
is of such outstanding universal value that its conservation is important for 
current and future generations. 

A.96 European Convention for the Protection of the Architectural Heritage 
of Europe (1985): defines ‘architectural heritage’ and requires that the 

signatories maintain an inventory of it and take statutory measures to ensure its 
protection. Conservation policies are also required to be integrated into planning 
systems and other spheres of government influence as per the text of the 
convention. 

A.97 Valletta Treaty, formerly the European Convention on the Protection 
of Archaeological Heritage (1992): agreed that the conservation and 
enhancement of an archaeological heritage is one of the goals of urban and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 135 Page 217



  
 

   

  
   

  

 

        
    

    
 

     
   

   
   

  
  

  
 

 
  

    
   

   
  

  
  

   
  

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

regional planning policy. It is concerned in particular with the need for co-
operation between archaeologists and planners to ensure optimum 
conservation of archaeological heritage. 

National 

A.98 Of relevance to the approach of the planning system to the historic 
environment the NPPF contains an environmental objective to contribute to the 
protection and enhancement of the built and historic environment. The 
document also sets out a strategy to seek “the conservation and enjoyment of 
the historic environment, including heritage assets most at risk through neglect, 
decay and other threats.” Such a strategy is required to take into consideration 

the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and bringing them into viable use. 

A.99 It should also be considerate of the wider benefits of conserving the 
historic environment, the contribution new development can make in terms of 
character and distinctiveness and the opportunity for the historic environment to 
contribute to this character and distinctiveness. Local authorities should also 
maintain or have access to a historic environment record which is to be 
supported by up to date evidence. 

A.100 Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act 1979 [See 
reference 172] : a law passed by the UK government to protect the 
archaeological heritage of England & Wales and Scotland. Under this Act, the 
Secretary of State has a duty to compile and maintain a schedule of ancient 
monuments of national importance, in order to help preserve them. It also 
creates criminal offences for unauthorised works to, or damage of, these 
monuments. 

A.101 Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 [See 
reference 173] : An Act of Parliament that changed the laws for granting of 
planning permission for building works, with a particular focus on listed buildings 
and conservation areas. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 136 Page 218



  
 

   

   
   

 

  
    

  
   
  

 
 

 

      
  

    
  

 

 
    

   

 

 

 

    
   
  

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.102 Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 [See reference 
174] : An Act of Parliament that makes provision for the compilation of a register 
of gardens and other land (parks and gardens, and battlefields). 

A.103 The Government’s Statement on the Historic Environment for 
England [See reference 175] sets out the Government’s vision for the historic 
environment. It calls for those who have the power to shape the historic 
environment to recognise its value and to manage it in an intelligent manner in 
light of the contribution that it can make to social, economic and cultural life. It 
includes reference to promoting the role of the historic environment within the 
Government’s response to climate change and the wider sustainable 

development agenda. 

A.104 The Heritage Statement [See reference 176] describes out how the 
Government will support the heritage sector and help it to protect and care for 
our heritage and historic environment, in order to maximise the economic and 
social impact of heritage and to ensure that everyone can enjoy and benefit 
from it. 

A.105 Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment, 
Historic England Advice Note 8 [See reference 177] : Sets out Historic 
England’s guidance and expectations for the consideration and appraisal of 
effects on the historic environment as part of the Sustainability 
Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment process. 

Landscape 

International 

A.106 The European Landscape Convention (2002) : promotes landscape 
protection, management and planning. The Convention is aimed at the 
protection, management and planning of all landscapes and raising awareness 
of the value of a living landscape. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 137 Page 219



  
 

   

 

   
  

    
  

  

  

    
  

 
 

    
    

   
  

 
 

 

     
   

  
    

   
  

 

    
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

National 

A.107 The South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan will be required to 
have consideration for the conservation and enhancement of landscape 
character in the District. The NPPF includes as part of its approach to protecting 
the natural environment, recognition for the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside, and the wider benefits to be secured from natural capital. 
Importantly, great weight is to be given to conserving landscape and scenic 
beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

A.108 As part of the approach to achieving well-designed places the NPPF 
states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments 
“are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting.” 

A.109 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 [See 
reference 178] : An Act of Parliament to make provision for National Parks and 
the establishment of a National Parks Commission; to confer on the Nature 
Conservancy and local authorities powers for the establishment and 
maintenance of nature reserves; to make further provision for the recording, 
creation, maintenance and improvement of public paths and for securing access 
to open country. 

A.110 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2010 [See reference 179] : An Act 
of Parliament to make new provision for public access to the countryside. 

A.111 England National Parks and the Broads: UK Government Vision and 
Circular 2010 [See reference 180]: provides updated policy guidance on the 
English National Parks and Broads. It also sets out a vision for 2030 and the 
key outcomes the Government is seeking over the next five years to ensure 
early progress towards the vision. 

A.112 The key area in the 25 Year Environment Plan of relevance in terms of 
the conservation and enhancement of landscape character is recovering nature 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 138 Page 220



   
 

   

   
   

  

  
 

  

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

and enhancing the beauty of landscapes. Actions that will be taken as part of 
this key area are as follows: 

◼ Working with AONB authorities to deliver environmental enhancements. 

◼ Identifying opportunities for environmental enhancement of all England’s 
Natural Character Areas, and monitoring indicators of landscape character 
and quality. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 139 Page 221



 

   

  

   

 

  
   

 
 

     
 

 

   

  

  
  

 

 

    
  

 

   
 

  
  

 

  

References 

References 
1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 was amended under 

the Environmental Assessments and Miscellaneous Planning (EU Exit) 
Regulations 2018. 

2 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004 (SI 2004/1633), as amended by The Environmental Assessments 
and Miscellaneous Planning (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2018 (SI 
2018/1232). 

3 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 31 
December 2020) Planning Practice Guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-
sustainability-appraisal. 

4 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (SI 
2017/1012), as amended by The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/579). 

5 Footprint Ecology (2022) Visitor Survey, Recreation Impact Assessment 
and Mitigation Requirements for the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and the 
Dacorum Local Plan https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-
source/strategic-planning/dacorum-recreation-evidence-base-
200322.pdf?sfvrsn=fbe079e_0 

6 Explanatory Memorandum to the Environmental Assessments and 
Miscellaneous Planning (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2018 No. 
1232. 

7 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

8 Hertfordshire County Council (May 2018) Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan 2018 – 2031. Available at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-
library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-
plan-4-complete.pdf 

9 Hertfordshire County Council (2020) Hertfordshire’s Rail Strategy 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 140 Page 222

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and


 

   

 

 

    
 

 

   
 

 

    

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

    
  

 

  

 

References 

library/documents/highways/transport-planning/local-transport-plan-
live/rail-strategy.pdf 

10 Hertfordshire County Council and AECOM (2019) South West 
Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/sw-
herts-gtp-prospectus.pdf 

11 Hertfordshire County Council and AECOM (2020) South Central 
Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan 
https://www.knebworthparishcouncil.gov.uk/uploads/scgtp-interventions-
101219.pdf 

12 Hertfordshire County Council (2017-2021) Hertfordshire Public Health 
Service Strategy:  https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-
library/documents/public-health/health/hertfordshire-ph-strategy-2017-
21.pdf 

13 Hertfordshire County Council (2016-2021) Hertfordshire Adult Mental 
Health Strategy: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-
library/documents/about-the-council/data-and-information/adult-mental-
health-strategy.pdf 

14 Hertfordshire County Council (2013) Active Travel Strategy: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-
council/data-and-information/active-travel-strategy.pdf 

15 Hertfordshire County Council (2020) Unlocking Hertfordshire, 
Hertfordshire’s Recovery Plan, 2020: 
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ix4hbcdw/hertfordshire-recovery-
plan-august-2020.pdf 

16 Hertfordshire County Council (2017) Perfectly Placed for Business: the 
refreshed Strategic Plan 2017 – 2030: 
https://www.lepnetwork.net/media/2108/hertfordshire-lep-sep.pdf 

17 Hertfordshire County Council (2015) Air Quality Strategy: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-
council/data-and-information/air-quality-strategy.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 141 Page 223

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the
https://www.lepnetwork.net/media/2108/hertfordshire-lep-sep.pdf
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ix4hbcdw/hertfordshire-recovery
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.knebworthparishcouncil.gov.uk/uploads/scgtp-interventions
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/sw


 

   

 

   

 

    
  

  

   

 

  
  

 

    
 

  

   
 

 

   

  

 

  

  

References 

18 Hertfordshire County Council (2020) Sustainable Hertfordshire Strategy: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/Media-library/Documents/About-the-
council/data-and-information/Sustainable-Hertfordshire-Strategy-2020.pdf 

19 Dacorum Borough Council (November 2020) Dacorum Local Plan (2020 – 

2038) Emerging Strategy for Growth Interim SA Report. Available at: 
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-
planning/dacorum-local-plan-interim-sustainability-appraisal-report-
november-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=53bf0c9e_6 

20 LUC (October 2021) SA of the Hertsmere Draft Local Plan. Available at: 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/10017-Draft-Local-Plan-SA-Report-
PDF-4.23-Mb.pdf 

21 St Albans City and District Council (January 2021) SA Scoping Report for 
the St Albans City and District Local Plan. Available at: 
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/St%20Albans% 
20City%20and%20District%20Council%20-
%20Sustainablity%20Appraisal%20-%20Scoping%20Jan%202021.pdf 

22 TRL Limited (June 2021) Interim SA Report for the Preferred Policy 
Options and Sites for Potential Allocation. Available at: 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/new-local-plan 

23 ClearLead Consulting Limited (January 2021) SA Report for the Watford 
Final Draft Local Plan. Available at: 
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/198/2-sustainability-appraisal-
report 

24 United Nations Treaty Collection (2016) Paris Agreement 

25 UK Climate Projections (July 2021) 
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/pub/data/weather/uk/ukcp18/science-
reports/UKCP18-Key-results.xlsx 

26 Met Office (2012) Urban Heat Islands 
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/binaries/content/assets/mohippo/pdf/8/m/mo 
_pup_insert_health.web.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 142 Page 224

https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/binaries/content/assets/mohippo/pdf/8/m/mo
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/pub/data/weather/uk/ukcp18/science
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/198/2-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/new-local-plan
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/St%20Albans
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/Media-library/Documents/About-the


 

   

 

   

 

   

  

  
  

   
 

    
 

   

    

     

 

  
 

  

    
 

  
  

References 

27 Environment Agency (2018) Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/758983/Climate_change_impacts_and_adaptation 
.pdf 

28 Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (August 2021) UK 
local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 
2005-2019 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-
and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019 

29 The Green Alliance, Renewable Energy Locator 
https://renewablelocator.green-alliance.org.uk/area/374 

30 Three Rivers District Council (2021) Annual Monitoring Report 2020-2021 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/annual-monitoring-report 

31 UK Electricity Production (2022) Potters Bar Solar Farm 
https://electricityproduction.uk/plant/GBR0005660/ 

32 Environment Agency (2018) Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/758983/Climate_change_impacts_and_adaptation 
.pdf 

33 Hertfordshire County Council (2019 - 2029) A Strategy for the 
Management of Local Sources of Flood Risk 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/water/flood-risk-management/lfrms-for-hertfordshire-full-
report.pdf 

34 Office for National Statistics (2020) Population projections for local 
authorities: Table 2 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig 
ration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2 

35 Public Health England (2019) Each District within SW Hertfordshire: 
Health Profile 2019 

36 UK Chief Medical Officers (2019) UK Chief Medical Officers' Physical 
Activity Guidelines 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 143 Page 225

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://electricityproduction.uk/plant/GBR0005660
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/annual-monitoring-report
https://renewablelocator.green-alliance.org.uk/area/374
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

   
 

    
  

 

  

 

     

 

     
 

 

    
  

 

 

     
  

 

References 

37 Public Health England (2019) Each District within SW Hertfordshire: 
Health Profile 2019 

38 Hertfordshire Strategic Green Infrastructure Plan (Incorporating the 
GreenArc area) 2011 [online] Available at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/landscape/hertfordshire-strategic-gi-plan-2011.pdf 

39 South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment (2020) 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/LHNA-Sept-2020-PDF-8.52Mb.pdf 

40 ONS (2020) Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig 
ration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandand 
walesscotlandandnorthernireland 

41 ONS (2020) Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig 
ration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandand 
walesscotlandandnorthernireland 

42 ONS (2020) Population of State Pension age and working age, and old 
age dependency ratios, for local authorities and regions in England 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig 
ration/populationprojections/datasets/populationofstatepensionageandwor 
kingageandoldagedependencyratiosforlocalauthoritiesandregionsinenglan 
d 

43 ONS (2015) Nearly one in five people had some form of disability in 
England and Wales [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialca 
re/disability/articles/nearlyoneinfivepeoplehadsomeformofdisabilityinenglan 
dandwales/2015-07-
13#:~:text=In%202011%2C%20nearly%201%20in,exists%20across%20E 
ngland%20and%20Wales. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 144 Page 226

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialca
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment


 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

  

 

    

     
 

 

    
  

 

   
 

   
 

 

    

 

References 

44 ONS (2011) 2011 Census: Household Composition [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populatio 
nandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsforlo 
calauthoritiesinenglandandwales/r21ewrttableks105ewladv1_tcm77-
290578.xls 

45 ONS (2020) Parents Country of Birth [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandm 
arriages/livebirths/datasets/parentscountryofbirth 

46 ONS (2020) Births in England and Wales: 2020 [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandm 
arriages/livebirths/bulletins/birthsummarytablesenglandandwales/2020 

47 Herts Insight: Diversity Profile for Hertfordshire [online] Available at: 
https://reports.instantatlas.com/view-
report/f589797e29b14c50a0f7cffdaa2c4420/E10000015?clear=true# 

48 ONS (2021) Local area migration indicators, UK [online] Available at: 

49 ONS (2019) Religion by Local Authority, Great Britain, 2011 to 2018 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/reli 
gion/adhocs/009830religionbylocalauthoritygreatbritain2011to2018 

50 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2019) IoD2019 
Interactive Dashboard – Local Authority Focus [online] Available at: 
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTdjYzIyNTMtMTcxNi00YmQ2LW 
I1YzgtMTUyYzMxOWQ3NzQ2IiwidCI6ImJmMzQ2ODEwLTljN2QtNDNkZS 
1hODcyLTI0YTJlZjM5OTVhOCJ9 

51 Indices of Deprivation: 2019 and 2015 [online] Available at: 
http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/iod_index.html# 

52 Public Health England: Three Rivers Local Authority health Profile [online] 
Available at: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-
profiles/2019/E07000102.html?area-name=Three%20Rivers 

53 ONS (2021) Sub-regional fuel poverty data 2021 [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/sub-regional-fuel-poverty-data-
2021 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 145 Page 227

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/sub-regional-fuel-poverty-data
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health
http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/iod_index.html
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTdjYzIyNTMtMTcxNi00YmQ2LW
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/reli
https://reports.instantatlas.com/view
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandm
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandm
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populatio


 

   

 

     
  

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

  

 

    
  

 

    

 

  

 

References 

54 ONS (2017) Education statistics by LA district and pupil disadvantage 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-
district-and-pupil-disadvantage 

55 Hertfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (2019) 
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/f4yfed3x/hertfordshire-lis-
consultation-draft-2019.pdf 

56 Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (2017) Strategic Economic Plan 
(2017-2030) https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/o4pj0kru/strategic-
economic-plan-executive-summary-2017.pdf 

57 Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (undated) Clean Growth 
Strategy https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/kytp2les/a-strategy-for-
clean-growth-in-hertfordshire.pdf 

58 Hatch Regeneris (2019) South West Herts Economic Study Update 
(September 2019) https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning-
-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/South-West-Herts-Economic-
Study-Final-Report-Final.pdf 

59 Department of Education (2017) Hertfordshire Area Review Final Report 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/635241/Hertfordshire_Area_Review_Report_FINA 
L.pdf 

60 Hertfordshire County Council (2017) Perfectly Placed for Business: the 
refreshed Strategic Plan 2017 – 2030: 
https://www.lepnetwork.net/media/2108/hertfordshire-lep-sep.pdf 

61 ONS (2021) Earnings and Hours Worked: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earnin 
gsandworkinghours/datasets/placeofresidencebylocalauthorityashetable8 

62 South West Herts Economic Study Update (September 2019) 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/South-West-Herts-Economic-Study-
Final-Report-Final.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 146 Page 228

https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earnin
https://www.lepnetwork.net/media/2108/hertfordshire-lep-sep.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/kytp2les/a-strategy-for
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/o4pj0kru/strategic
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/f4yfed3x/hertfordshire-lis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la


 

   

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

    

 

    

 

  

 

   
 

References 

63 Hertfordshire’s Recovery Plan – Unlocking Hertfordshire (2020) 
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ix4hbcdw/hertfordshire-recovery-
plan-august-2020.pdf 

64 Watford Borough Council (2021) Watford Economic Growth Strategy 
2021-25 https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/695/watford-economic-
growth-strategy 

65 Dacorum Borough Council (2021) Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan 
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/documents/s30990/FINAL%20-
%20DACORUM%20RECOVERY%20PLAN%20final.pdf 

66 Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (2018-2031) 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-
council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf 

67 Sustainability Appraisal of the Hertsmere Draft Local Plan, Appendices 
(October 2021) https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--
Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/10017-Draft-Local-Plan-SA-
Report-Appendices-PDF-6.39-Mb.pdf 

68 Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (2018-2031) 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-
council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf 

69 Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (2017) Strategic Economic Plan 
(2017-2030) https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/o4pj0kru/strategic-
economic-plan-executive-summary-2017.pdf 

70 Hatch Regeneris (2019) South West Herts Economic Study Update 
(September 2019) https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning-
-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/South-West-Herts-Economic-
Study-Final-Report-Final.pdf 

71 Local Development Plan: Infrastructure Assessment (2013) 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--
BuildingControl/Planning-Policy/Planning-Publications/CD12-
HertsmereInfrastructure-Assessment.pdf 

72 Three Rivers District, Local Plan Regulation 18, Interim Sustainability 
Appraisal Report Appendices (June 2021) 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 147 Page 229

https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/o4pj0kru/strategic
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/documents/s30990/FINAL%20
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/695/watford-economic
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ix4hbcdw/hertfordshire-recovery


 

   

 

 

  

  

  

 

   

   
 

 

    

  

   
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

   

References 

file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation-
18-interim-sa-report-appendices-june-2021%20(2).pdf 

73 Watford Final Draft Local Plan, Sustainability Appraisal Report, Appendix 
B: Baseline Data (January 2021) 
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/200/4-sustainability-appraisal-
report-appendix-b-baseline-data 

74 Sustainability Appraisal of the Hertsmere Draft Local Plan, Appendices 
(October 2021) https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--
Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/10017-Draft-Local-Plan-SA-
Report-Appendices-PDF-6.39-Mb.pdf 

75 Ibid 

76 Three Rivers District, Local Plan Regulation 18, Interim Sustainability 
Appraisal Report Appendices (June 2021) 
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation-
18-interim-sa-report-appendices-june-2021%20(2).pdf 

77 Dacorum Local Plan (2020-2038) Emerging Strategy for Growth Interim 
Sustainability Appraisal Report Appendices (November 2020) 
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-
planning/dacorum-local-plan-interim-sustainability-appraisal-report-
appendices---november-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=6abe0c9e_4 

78 Three Rivers District, Local Plan Regulation 18, Interim Sustainability 
Appraisal Report Appendices (June 2021) 
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation-
18-interim-sa-report-appendices-june-2021%20(2).pdf 

79 Hertsmere Borough Council (2022) Cycle Hire Scheme coming to 
Borehamwood https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/News/Articles/February-
2022/Cycle-hire-scheme-coming-to-Borehamwood.aspx 

80 Watford Borough Council (2021) Transforming Travel in Watford@ the 
strategy for 2021-2041 
https://www.futuretravelwatford.com/_files/ugd/b57e7b_3c4db73a8c8f466 
88555235c7dbfd28a.pdf 

81 Ibid 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 148 Page 230

https://www.futuretravelwatford.com/_files/ugd/b57e7b_3c4db73a8c8f466
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/News/Articles/February
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/200/4-sustainability-appraisal
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation


 

   

 

   

 

  

  

    

  

  
 

   

   

   
 

 

    

 

    

 

    

   

References 

82 St Albans City and District Local Plan 2020 to 2038 Sustainability 
Appraisal Scoping Report, Consultation Draft (January 2021) 
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/St%20Albans% 
20City%20and%20District%20Council%20-
%20Sustainablity%20Appraisal%20-%20Scoping%20Jan%202021.pdf 

83 Watford Final Draft Local Plan, Sustainability Appraisal Report, Appendix 
B: Baseline Data (January 2021) 
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/200/4-sustainability-appraisal-
report-appendix-b-baseline-data 

84 Dacorum Local Plan (2020-2038) Emerging Strategy for Growth Interim 
Sustainability Appraisal Report Appendices (November 2020) 
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-
planning/dacorum-local-plan-interim-sustainability-appraisal-report-
appendices---november-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=6abe0c9e_4 

85 Noise Facts https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building-futures/a-
sustainable-design-toolkit/technical-modules/noise/noise-facts.aspx 

86 Ibid 

87 Ibid 

88 Three Rivers District, Local Plan Regulation 18, Interim Sustainability 
Appraisal Report Appendices (June 2021) 
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation-
18-interim-sa-report-appendices-june-2021%20(2).pdf 

89 Hertfordshire County Council (2021) Local Aggregates Assessment 2021 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/planning/planning-in-hertfordshire/final-laa-2021-002.pdf 

90 Hertfordshire Waste Partnership (2019) Annual Report 2018/19 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/waste-and-recycling/hwp-annual-report-2018-19.pdf 

91 Hertfordshire Water Summit, 14 March 2013. 

92 Hertfordshire Water Study 2017, Infrastructure & Resources, Sub-
catchment Solutions (2021-2051) (March 2017) 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 149 Page 231

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building-futures/a
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/200/4-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/St%20Albans


 

   

 

 

  
 

   

  

    
 

   
 

   

 

   
 

 

  
 

  

   

  
 

    

 

References 

https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/Hertfordshire-Water-Study-2017-.pdf 

93 Ofwat, 2019 Price Review (2019) https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/regulated-
companies/price-review/2019-price-review/ 

94 Arcadis (2017) Hertfordshire Water Study 2017 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/Hertfordshire-Water-Study-2017-.pdf 

95 Essex Rivers Hub (undated) River Colne 
http://essexrivershub.org.uk/index.php/pressures/river-colne-pressures 

96 Chilterns AONB (undated) Chalk Streams Project 
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/projects/chalk-streams-project.html 

97 Hertfordshire County Council (2021) Local Aggregates Assessment 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/planning/planning-in-hertfordshire/final-laa-2021-002.pdf 

98 Hertfordshire County Council (2020) Proposed Submission Hertfordshire 
Minerals Local Plan Available at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-
library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/environment/a-minerals-
local-plan-proposed-submission-document.pdf 

99 The Wildlife Trusts Herts and Middlesex (2020) Hertfordshire’s State of 
Nature [online] Available at: 
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
03/Hertfordshire%27s%20State%20of%20Nature%20Report%202020_0.p 
df 

100 Ibid 

101 A Local Biodiversity Action Plan (reviewed March 2006) 
http://www.hef.org.uk/nature/biodiversity_vision/ 

102 Hertfordshire Strategic Green Infrastructure Plan (Incorporating the 
GreenArc area) 2011 [online] Available at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/landscape/hertfordshire-strategic-gi-plan-2011.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 150 Page 232

https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/Hertfordshire-Water-Study-2017-.pdf
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/Hertfordshire-Water-Study-2017-.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
http://www.hef.org.uk/nature/biodiversity_vision
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/projects/chalk-streams-project.html
http://essexrivershub.org.uk/index.php/pressures/river-colne-pressures
https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/regulated
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building


 

   

 

   

 

   
 

    
 

 

    
 

 

   

  
 

  

   
 

  

   

  

  
 

   
  

 

References 

103 Historic England (2021) Heritage at Risk, East of England 
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/har-2021-
registers/ee-har-register2021/ 

104 Hertfordshire Gardens Trust (2021) Hertfordshire Gardens Trust 
https://hertsgardenstrust.org.uk/ 

105 Hertfordshire County Council (date unavailable) Building Futures website 
[online] available at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building-
futures/a-sustainable-design-toolkit/technical-
modules/design/understanding-hertfordshires-character.aspx 

106 Chilterns Conservation Board (2019) Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty Management Plan (2019-2024) [online] Available at: 
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/uploads/files/ConservationBoard/Managem 
entPlan/Chilterns_Management_Plan_2019-2024_Full.pdf 

107 Ibid 

108 The Wildlife Trusts Herts and Middlesex (2020) Hertfordshire’s State of 
Nature [online] Available at: 
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
03/Hertfordshire%27s%20State%20of%20Nature%20Report%202020_0.p 
df 

109 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018): 
Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-
measurement-rule-book  

110 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (January 2021) 
National Design Guide: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide 

111 The Marmot Review (2011) Fair Society, Healthy Lives: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/marmot-review-report-fair-society-healthy-lives w 

112 Select Committee on Public Service and Demographic Change (2013) 
Ready for Ageing? [online] Available at: 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201213/ldselect/ldpublic/140/140.pd 
f 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 151 Page 233

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201213/ldselect/ldpublic/140/140.pd
https://www.local.gov.uk/marmot-review-report-fair-society-healthy-lives
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/uploads/files/ConservationBoard/Managem
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building
https://hertsgardenstrust.org.uk
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/har-2021


 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

  

  

   
  

 

   

 

  

 

     

 

  

 

References 

113 HM Government (2011) Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy for 
England: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/7532/2033676.pdf 

114 Homes England (2018) Strategic Plan 2018 to 2023: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/7532/2033676.pdf 

115 Department for Communities and Local Government (2015) Planning 
policy for traveller sites: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/457420/Final_planning_and_travellers_policy.pdf 

116 Department for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020): 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf 

117 Department for Communities and Local Government (2017) Fixing our 
broken housing market: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-
market 

118 Public Health England (2019) PHE Strategy 2020-25: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/831562/PHE_Strategy_2020-25.pdf 

119 HM Government (2010) Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for 
public health in England: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/216096/dh_127424.pdf 

120 Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (2010) Local Growth: 
Realising Every Place’s Potential: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-growth-realising-every-
places-potential-hc-7961 

121 HM Treasury (2021) Build Back Better: Our Plan for Growth: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-our-plan-
for-growth/build-back-better-our-plan-for-growth-html 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 152 Page 234

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-our-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-growth-realising-every
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data


 

   

 

  
 

 

  
 

   
 

 

   

 

  

 

   

  

  

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

References 

122 HM Government (2020) The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial 
Revolution 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf 

123 HM Government (2020) Agriculture Act 2020: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/21/contents/enacted/data.htm 

124 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2020) An 
Agricultural Transition Plan 2021-2024: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/954283/agricultural-transition-plan.pdf 

125 HM Treasury (2016) National Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2016-2021): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-infrastructure-
delivery-plan-2016-to-2021 

126 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (2017): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a-
britain-fit-for-the-future 

127 HM Government (2018) The Road to Zero: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-
road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy 

128 Department for Transport (2017) Transport Investment Strategy: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/918490/Transport_investment_strategy.pdf 

129 Department for Transport (2013) Door to Door: A strategy for improving 
sustainable transport integration: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/142539/door-to-door-strategy.pdf 

130 Department for Transport (2020) Decarbonising Transport Setting the 
Challenge [online] Available at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/932122/decarbonising-transport-setting-the-
challenge.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 153 Page 235

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-infrastructure
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/21/contents/enacted/data.htm
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

      
  

    
 

 
 

 
  

   
 

 

   
 

   

 

    

 

      
 

   
 

  

  

  
 

References 

131 These have not been summarised, since the upcoming TDP will 
supersede them to some extent: the Road to Zero strategy, Maritime 2050 
and the Clean Maritime Plan, the Aviation 2050 Green Paper and 
forthcoming net zero aviation consultation and Aviation Strategy, the 
Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy, Future of Mobility: Urban 
Strategy, the 2018 amendments to the Renewable Transport Fuel 
Obligation, Freight Carbon Review, the Rail Industry Decarbonisation 
Taskforce and the Carbon Offsetting for Transport Call for Evidence. 

132 Department for Transport (2021) Decarbonising Transport, A Better, 
Greener Britain: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/1009448/decarbonising-transport-a-better-
greener-britain.pdf 

133 HM Government (1990) Environmental Protection Act 1990: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents 

134 HM Government (2010) Building Regulations: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/431943/BR_PDF_AD_C_2013.pdf 

135 Department for Communities and Local Government (2014) National 
Planning Policy for Waste: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/364759/141015_National_Planning_Policy_for_Waste.pdf 

136 HM Government (2016) The Nitrate Pollution Prevention Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/en/uksi/2016/1190/made 

137 HM Government (2003) The Urban Waste Water Treatment Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/1788 

138 HM Government (2017) The Water Environment (Water Framework 
Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made 

139 HM Government (2016) The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/647/contents/made 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 154 Page 236

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/647/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/1788
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/en/uksi/2016/1190/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

  
  

   

   
  

  
 

   

  

    
 

 

    

 

  
 

 

   
 

 

   

   

  
  

References 

140 HM Government (2016) The Environmental Permitting Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/1154/contents/made 

141 HM Government (2016) The Air Quality Standards Regulations: ? 

142 HM Government (2018) The Environmental Noise (England) Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/1089/made 

143 HM Government (2020) The Waste (Circular Economy) Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/904/made 

144 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2009) Safeguarding 
our Soils: A Strategy for England: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-our-soils-a-
strategy-for-england 

145 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2012) The Water 
White Paper:  
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmenvfru/374/37 
4.pdf 

146 HM Government (2012) National Policy Statement for Waste Water: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/69505/pb13709-waste-water-nps.pdf 

147 HM Government (2008) Future Water: The Government’s water strategy 
for England [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/69346/pb13562-future-water-080204.pdf 

148 Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (2007) The Air Quality 
Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/69336/pb12654-air-quality-strategy-vol1-
070712.pdf 

149 HM Government (2018) The Road to Zero: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-
road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy 

150 Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs and Department for 
Transport (2017) UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 155 Page 237

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmenvfru/374/37
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-our-soils-a
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/904/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/1089/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/1154/contents/made


 

   

 

 

   

 

   

  

  
 

     
 

   
  

 

  

 

  

 

   

   

    
 

 

References 

concentrations: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/633270/air-quality-plan-detail.pdf 

151 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs and Environment 
Agency (2018) Resources and waste strategy for England: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf 

152 DEFRA, Clean Air Strategy 2019: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/770715/clean-air-strategy-2019.pdf 

153 HM Government (2008) Climate Change Act 2008: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents 

154 HM Government (2008) Planning and Energy Act 2008: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/21/contents 

155 HM Government (2021) The Energy Performance of Buildings 
Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/3118/contents/made 

156 HM Government (2009) The UK Renewable Energy Strategy: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/228866/7686.pdf 

157 Department of Energy & Climate Change (2012) The Energy Efficiency 
Strategy: The Energy Efficiency Opportunity in the UK: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/65602/6927-energy-efficiency-strategy--the-
energy-efficiency.pdf 

158 HM Government (2009) The UK Low Carbon Transition Plan [online]: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/228752/9780108508394.pdf 

159 HM Government (2017) UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 
[online]: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/584281/uk-climate-change-risk-assess-2017.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 156 Page 238

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/3118/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

   
 

 

   
 

   

 

    
 

    

  

   
   

  

  
 

 

   
 

    
  

   
 

References 

160 Climate Change Committee (2021) Independent Assessment of UK 
Climate Risk https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2021/07/Independent-Assessment-of-UK-Climate-Risk-
Advice-to-Govt-for-CCRA3-CCC.pdf 

161 HM Government (2018) The National Adaptation Programme and the 
Third Strategy for Climate Adaptation Reporting: Making the country 
resilient to a changing climate: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/727252/national-adaptation-programme-2018.pdf 

162 HM Government (2010) Flood and Water Management Act: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents 

163 HM Government (2019) The Flood and Water Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/460/contents/made#:~:text=The% 
20Flood%20and%20Water%20%28Amendments%29%20%28England%2 
0and%20Wales%29,Coastal%20Erosion%20%28Wales%29%20Order%2 
02011%20More%20items...%20 

164 HM Government (2011) Understanding the risks, empowering 
communities, building resilience: The national flood and coastal erosion 
risk management strategy for England: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/228898/9780108510366.pdf 

165 HM Government (2020) The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial 
Revolution 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf 

166 HM Government (2021) The Environment Act 2021: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents/enacted 

167 HM Government (2019) The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111176573 

168 HM Government (2006) Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 157 Page 239

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111176573
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents/enacted
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/460/contents/made#:~:text=The
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp


 

   

 

   
  

 

   
  

  

  
 

 

    

 

   

 

  
 

 

  

 

    

 

References 

169 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2008) The England 
Biodiversity Strategy Climate Change Adaptation Principles: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/69270/pb13168-ebs-ccap-081203.pdf 

170 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2011) Biodiversity 
2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/69446/pb13583-biodiversity-strategy-2020-
111111.pdf 

171 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2013) Biodiversity 
offsetting in England Green Paper: 
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/biodiversity/biodiversity_offsetting/supporting_ 
documents/20130903Biodiversity%20offsetting%20green%20paper.pdf 

172 HM Government (1979) Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act: 
https://consult.environment-
agency.gov.uk/engagement/bostonbarriertwao/results/b.21---ancient-
monuments-and-archaeological-areas-act-1979.pdf. 

173 HM Government (2002) Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) 
Act (1990): 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/pdfs/ukpga_19900009_en.pdf. 

174 HM Government (1953) Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 
1953 [online] Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Eliz2/1-
2/49/contents 

175 HM Government (2010) The Government’s Statement on the Historic 
Environment for England 2010: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/229834/Acc_HeritageVision_Part1.pdf 

176 Department for Digital, Culture Media and Sport (2017) Heritage 
Statement 2017: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/664657/Heritage_Statement_2017__final_-
_web_version_.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 158 Page 240

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Eliz2/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/pdfs/ukpga_19900009_en.pdf
https://consult.environment
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/biodiversity/biodiversity_offsetting/supporting
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

  
 

 

    
 

    
 

   

 

References 

177 Historic England (2016) Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment: Historic England Advice Note 8: 
https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-
assessment-advice-note-8/heag036-sustainability-appraisal-strategic-
environmental-assessment.pdf/ 

178 HM Government (1949) National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/97 

179 HM Government (2010) Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2010: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/85 

180 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2010) English 
National Parks and the Broads UK Government Vision and Circular 2010: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/221086/pb13387-vision-circular2010.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 159 Page 241

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/85
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/97
https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images


  

 

 

   
  

 

  
 

 

 
 

 

    
  

 

 
 

 

 

  
  

  
 

Report produced by LUC 

Report produced by LUC 
Bristol  
12th Floor, Beacon Tower, Colston Street, Bristol BS1 4XE 
0117 929 1997 
bristol@landuse.co.uk 

Edinburgh  
Atholl Exchange, 6 Canning Street, Edinburgh EH3 8EG 
0131 202 1616 
edinburgh@landuse.co.uk 

Glasgow  
37 Otago Street, Glasgow G12 8JJ 
0141 334 9595 
glasgow@landuse.co.uk 

London  
250 Waterloo Road, London SE1 8RD 
020 7383 5784 
london@landuse.co.uk 

Manchester  
6th Floor, 55 King Street, Manchester M2 4LQ 
0161 537 5960 
manchester@landuse.co.uk 

landuse.co.uk 

Landscape Design / Strategic Planning & Assessment 
Development Planning / Urban Design & Masterplanning 
Environmental Impact Assessment / Landscape Planning & Assessment 
Landscape Management / Ecology / Historic Environment / GIS & Visualisation 

Page 242

https://landuse.co.uk
mailto:manchester@landuse.co.uk
mailto:london@landuse.co.uk
mailto:glasgow@landuse.co.uk
mailto:edinburgh@landuse.co.uk
mailto:bristol@landuse.co.uk


September 2019 V2 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 

Policy / service / decision  

Description of what is being impact assessed 

What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 

need to reference/consider any related projects? 

Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City & District Council, Hertsmere Borough Council, Watford Borough Council, Three 

Rivers District Council and Hertfordshire County Council are preparing the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP). 

The JSP will provide a strategic planning framework for growth and infrastructure up to 2050 across the South West Hertfordshire 

area.  

There is a legal requirement to prepare a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) during the plan-making process which is 

set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Therefore, the JSP must be accompanied by a SCI. This SCI 

demonstrates that these legal requirements are being met in developing the JSP. The document also seeks to positively address 

the needs of all members of the community where they are influenced by the built environment or provision of infrastructure 

signalled by this plan. 

The SCI has been prepared in conjunction with this Council. It mirrors the framework used by our own planning consultation 

document and which has been tested on a number of occasions in practice. 

The SCI sets out these Councils’ shared approach to community involvement in the preparation of the JSP. It details their 

strategy for actively engaging the community (in a meaningful and appropriate fashion). The document is designed to give a clear 

indication of the extent of the opportunities for getting involved in planning matters, the techniques which will be used, as well as 

the means to do so.  

P
age 243



September 2019 V2 2 

The SCI ensures that these authorities take account of various planning regulations (which we have to accord with), and the 

emergence of new consultation techniques/processes. It also allows us to move towards more efficient, effective and modern 

ways of working and communicating with the local community.  

The SCI establishes an inclusive approach to engagement with the community, including those with protected characteristics, 

alongside a range of other stakeholders. It is important that the authorities consult with as wide an audience as possible in an aim 

to reduce inequality and accessibility. Thus it should have a positive impact on all groups in the local community. All planning 

officers are expected to accord with the SCI in the development of the Joint Strategic Plan. This affects anyone who lives, 

studies, works, visits, or has an interest in Dacorum and the South West Hertfordshire area, such as:  

 The community (residents, businesses, voluntary and specialist groups (i.e. residents associations))  

 Those who engage in planning matters in Dacorum  

 Parish, Town and County Councils (including those within and surrounding the South West Hertfordshire area)  

 Interested developers, landowners and agents  

 Statutory consultees and various partners  

 Council staff and elected members  

The SCI affects the way the authorities will involve the community and how people can engage with the planning process in the 

South West Hertfordshire area. Improving access will provide greater opportunities to better understand, engage with and 

influence the preparation of the JSP. Through its objectives, the SCI aims to promote equality for all and a more inclusive and 

sustainable communities. 

P
age 244



September 2019 V2 3 

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 

(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 

or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

South West Hertfordshire Initial Engagement Results (July 2020). 

The SCI to the JSP has been compared against our own SCI (and associated CIAs) for the Regulation 18 Local Plan, and also 

the groups we actually engaged with as part of recent consultations on this Plan. 

The Regulation 18 consultation summary report provides a basic comparison profile of respondents and methods of 

communication (and their relative success). 

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 

explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

As the SCI to the JSP mirrors the Council’s own SCI to the Local Plan (and which has previously been subject to the CIA process 

and consultation), no further individuals or groups have been consulted. Furthermore, the SCI to the JSP has also itself been 

subject to consultation involving a number of community groups. 

P
age 245



September 2019 V2 4 

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 

good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 

detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 

understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 

mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 

 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 

users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 

and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 

impact / 

outcome 

Neutral 

impact / 

outcome 

Positive 

impact / 

outcome 

Age The SCI sets out engagement activities across all age ranges, and is 
designed to reach as many sectors in the local community as 
possible, including ‘hard to reach’ groups.  
It includes consultation methods aimed at every age group that can 
be used when appropriate e.g. the use of the internet and emails 
and online consultation may make it more accessible to younger 
people, the working population and those who find it physically 
difficult to access Council offices or other deposit points. Other forms 
of communication (e.g. hard copy documents and use of local press 
notices) should also ensure that those who do not have access to 
the internet can be catered for, including the elderly. 
The SCI encourages a wide range of people to get involved in 
planning, including those who cannot go to events and/or come to 
the office (due to their age / disability / other factors).  
The SCI ensures improved general accessibility to information and 
better engagement with the plan-making process for the benefit of all 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 246



September 2019 V2 5 

protected groups in the community. The greater availability of 
information online may help reduce barriers to involvement for those 
with physical and mental disabilities, age related or otherwise, who 
may find it difficult to access Council information and events in 
traditional ways. 
The SCI should enable all to have an equal opportunity to both be 
involved (if they so wish) in planning and to better influence 
outcomes. Furthermore, reasonable adjustments to meet needs can 
be made where required. 

Disability (physical, 

intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 

and Mental Illness & 

Learning Disability Guide 

(see above) 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

Gender reassignment No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Race and ethnicity No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Religion or belief No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

P
age 247



September 2019 V2 6 

Sex No material impact on this protected group. 
☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sexual orientation No material impact on this protected group. 
☐ ☒ ☐ 

Not protected 

characteristics but 

consider other 

factors, e.g. carers, 

veterans, homeless, 

low income, 

loneliness, rurality 

etc. 

The SCI encourages the use of a wide range of engagement 
methods and tools. Information will be more accessible to a variety 
of disadvantaged groups in the community, and thus more people 
can better participate / have their say in the plan-making process 
and how it affects them.  
This ensures both individuals with and without protected 
characteristics have improved opportunities to become involved in 
the process and to better influence outcomes.  

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 

these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 

responsible 
Action complete 

n/a Select date  ☐ 

P
age 248



September 2019 V2 7 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

n/a 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Francis Whittaker 

Date 14/06/2022 

P
age 249



September 2019 V2 8 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 

if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

Alex Robinson – Assistant Director (Planning) 

Date 14/06/2022 

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

 

P
age 250



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Provisional Financial Outturn 2021-22 

Date: 6th July 2022 

Report on behalf of:  Cllr Graeme Elliot, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A – General Fund Revenue Provisional Outturn 2021-22 

Appendix B  –  Strategic Planning and Environment Capital Programme  Provisional 

Outturn 2021-22 

Background papers: 

 

None. 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

GF – General Fund 

HRA – Housing Revenue Account 

 

 

Report Author  

Fiona Jump, Head of Financial Services 

 

Fiona.Jump@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228162 (ext. 2162) 

Responsible Officer  

Nigel Howcutt,  Chief Finance Officer 

 

Nigel.Howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 22862 (ext. 2662) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

 
   

Strategic Planning and Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 251

Agenda Item 7

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for 

those most in need 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected All 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1.  To provide details of the provisional financial 

outturn  2021-22 for the: 

 General Fund Revenue 

 Strategic Planning and Environment 

Capital Programme 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. That Committee note the provisional financial 

outturn position for 2021-22 and proposed 

General Fund reserve movements. 

Period for post policy/project review: The Council’s financial position is reported to committee 

on an ongoing, quarterly basis. 

 

1 Introduction:  

1.1 This report presents the provisional financial outturn position for the Council as at 31 March 2022.  The 

final position for the year is subject to: 

 the finalisation of reserve movements 

 The completion of the audit of the Council’s accounts by the Council’s external auditors Grant Thornton 

UK LLP. 

1.2 The General Fund revenue account records the income and expenditure associated with all Council 

functions, except the management of the Council’s own housing stock, which is accounted for within the 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 

1.3 General Fund revenue outturn – across all scrutiny committee areas, General Fund revenue budgets are 

reporting a surplus of £0.565m. A recommendation will be taken to Cabinet in July to recommend to 

Council that this surplus be transferred to  a newly created Inflationary Pressures earmarked reserve, to 

help the Council meet unexpected in- year inflationary pressures that may arise as a result of the current 

economic climate. 

1.4 The General Fund position includes a draw- down of funding from the Economic Recovery Reserve (ERR) 

to cover Covid- related pressures, an approach with prior approval by Council. The ERR was specifically set 

up to fund pressures associated with Covid.   

1.5 Strategic Planning and Environment budgets are reporting an underspend of £0.066m.  Included within 

this position is a pressure relating to Waste services funded via previously approved reserve draw- downs 

and a favourable variance to budget arising from gates fees on co- mingled recycling.  

 

Page 252



1.6 Strategic Planning and Environment General Fund Capital budgets are reporting further slippage of 

£0.335m and a pressure of £0.163m.  The slippage driven by delays in delivery of new fleet from 

manufacturers.  The pressure is driven by expenditure on wheeled bins.  

2 General Fund Revenue Position – all Scrutiny Committee Areas 

2.1 Appendix A provides an overview of the General Fund forecast outturn position.  

2.2 The table below provides an overview by Scrutiny area of the provisional outturn for controllable budgets 

within the General Fund. 

 Table 1- General Fund Revenue 

Provisional Outturn 2021-22 

Current 

Budget 

£m 

Forecast 

Outturn 

£m 

Variance 

£m % 

Finance & Resources 7.300 7.300 0 0.0% 

Strategic Planning and Environment 10.950 10.884 (0.066) (0.6%) 

Housing and Community 1.857 2.046 0.189 10.2% 

Total Operating Cost 20.107 20.230 0.123 0.6% 

Core Funding (20.107) (20.795) (0.688) 3.4% 

(Surplus)/ Deficit 0 (0.565) (0.565)  

 

2.3 This report focuses on the revenue and capital provisional outturn position for services within the 

Strategic Planning and Environment scrutiny committee remit.  

3  General Fund Revenue Position- Strategic Planning and Environment 

Table 2 – Strategic Planning and 

Environment Provisional Outturn 2021-22 

Current Forecast     

Budget Outturn Variance 

£m £m £m % 

Resident Services 10.106  10.055  (0.051) (0.5%) 

Place 0.844  0.829  (0.015) (1.8%) 

Total Operating Cost 10,950  10,884  (0.066) (0.6%) 

 

3.1 Strategic Planning and Environment budgets are reporting a relatively small favourable variance to budget 

overall.  Included within this are some significant variances.  This includes a pressure against Waste Services 

£0.700m, funded via previously approved reserve draw- downs and a favourable variance to budget arising from 

gates fees on co- mingled recycling, £0.360m.  

4 Capital Programme 

4.1  Appendix B shows the projected capital provisional outturn in detail by scheme. 

The table below summarises the overall capital outturn position for Strategic Planning and Environment 

scrutiny committee area.  

Page 253



The current budget is the original budget approved by Cabinet in February 2021, plus approved 

amendments.  

The ‘rephasing’ column refers to projects where expenditure is still expected to be incurred but will now 

be in 2022/23 rather than 2021/22 (‘slippage’), or conversely, where expenditure planned initially for 

2022/23 has been incurred in 2021/22 (‘accelerated spend’).   

The ‘Variance’ column refers to projects which are expected to come in under or over budget and 

projects which are no longer required. 

 Table 3- Capital 

Provisional 

Outturn 2021-22 

Current 

Budget 

Re-phasing 

(To)/from future years 

Revised 

Budget 

Forecast 

Outturn 
Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % 

Strategic Planning 

and Environment 
2.610 (0.335) 2.275 2.437 0.163  6.2% 

 

4.2     Strategic Planning and Environment General Fund Capital Programme Major Variances 

Strategic Planning and Environment General Fund capital budgets are reporting further slippage of 

£0.335m. The slippage includes the £0.330m relating to the Fleet Replacement programme due to delays 

in delivery of new fleet from manufacturers (line 86). 

There is a pressure of £0.163m against General Fund capital budgets driven largely by pressure of 

£0.128m on wheeled bin purchases (line 82).   

5 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights 

5.1 Community Impact Assessments on Council activities are carried out by relevant services with 

responsibility for those activities. A separate Community Impact Assessment has not been carried out in 

respect of this report. 

5.2 There are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report. 

6 Sustainability implications  

6.1 There are no specific sustainability implications arising from this report. 

7 Council infrastructure  

7.1 The content of this report sets out the implications of the Council’s activities for its financial resources for 

2021-22. 

8 Conclusions   

8.1 At provisional outturn 2021-22, there is a surplus of £0.565m against Council General Fund budgets. 

Within this, Strategic Planning and Environment budgets are reporting an underspend of £0.066m. 

8.2 It is proposed that the General Fund surplus be transferred to a newly created Inflationary pressures 

reserves to support unexpected inflationary costs that may arise in 2022-23 and beyond. 

8.3 At provisional outturn 2021-22, Strategic Planning and Environment capital budgets are reporting 

additional slippage of £0.335m with a pressure of £0.163m. 

8.4 The provisional outturn position for the Council for 2021-22 will be reported to Cabinet in July 2022. 

Page 254



Dacorum Borough Council Appendix A

Provisional Outturn 2021-22

Full Year

Forecast

Budget Outturn Variance

£000 £000 £000

Cost of Services

Finance and Resources 7,300 7,300 0

Housing and Community 1,857 2,046 189

Strategic Planning and Environment 10,950 10,884 (66) 

Net Cost of Services 20,107 20,230 123

Other Items

Investment Income (425) (115) 310

Interest Payments and MRP 1,037 905 (132) 

Parish Precept Payments 1,000 1,000 0

Government Grants (1,968) (2,543) (575) 

Revenue Contribution to Capital 350 350 0

Taxation (Council Tax and Business Rates) (15,494) (15,494) 0

Surplus / Deficit on Provision of Services (15,500) (15,897) (397) 

Transfers between Reserves / Funds

Net Recharge to the HRA (4,607) (4,898) (291) 

0 (565) (565) 

abcdefgh

(Surplus)/ Deficit

P
age 255



 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 PROVISIONAL OUTTURN Appendix B

Scheme Original Budget
Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments
Current Budget YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

General Fund

Strategic Planning and Environment

Environmental Services

82 Wheeled Bins & Boxes for New Properties 100,000 0 0 0 0 100,000 228,040 228,040 0 128,040

83 Waste & Recycling Service Improvements 25,000 0 0 0 0 25,000 24,961 24,961 0 (39) 

84 Resurfacing Works and Building Improvement to Depot 0 60,000 0 (60,000) (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0

85 Chipperfield Common Car Park Resurfacing 200,000 0 0 (200,000) (200,000) 0 0 0 0 0

86 Fleet Replacement Programme 3,111,905 901,345 0 (1,613,250) (1,613,250) 2,400,000 2,069,610 2,069,610 (330,390) 0

3,436,905 961,345 0 (1,873,250) (1,873,250) 2,525,000 2,322,610 2,322,610 (330,390) 128,000

Development Management and Planning

142 Planning Software Replacement 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,020 8,020 0 8,020

143 3D Modelling Software for Planning 0 60,000 0 0 0 60,000 50,600 50,600 0 (9,400) 

144 Tablets for Planning 0 20,000 0 0 0 20,000 12,020 12,020 0 (7,980) 

0 80,000 0 0 0 80,000 70,640 70,640 0 (9,360) 

Strategic Planning and Regeneration

164 Urban Park/Education Centre (Durrants Lakes) 0 134,015 0 (129,015) (129,015) 5,000 0 0 (5,000) 0

165 Maylands Business Centre 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,072 44,072 0 44,072

166 The Bury - Conversion into Museum and Gallery 0 53,150 0 (53,150) (53,150) 0 0 0 0 0

0 187,165 0 (182,165) (182,165) 5,000 44,072 44,072 (5,000) 44,072

0 0 0 0 0 0 672,990 672,990 0 672,990

Totals: Strategic Planning and Environment 3,436,905 1,228,510 0 (4,110,830) (2,055,415) 2,610,000 2,437,322 2,437,322 (335,390) 162,712

Page 1    

P
age 256



 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 PROVISIONAL OUTTURN Appendix B

Scheme Original Budget
Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments
Current Budget YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Page 2    

P
age 257



 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 PROVISIONAL OUTTURN Appendix B

Scheme Original Budget
Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments
Current Budget YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Page 3    

P
age 258



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Planning Enforcement Annual Report (July 2022) 

Date: 27.06.22 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix 1: Planning Enforcement Audit March 2022 Management Action Plan 

Background papers: 

 

Local Enforcement Plan (2019) 

Planning Enforcement Quarterly Report – April 2022. 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report / 

commonly used in 

Planning 

Enforcement: 

BCN Breach of Condition Notice 

EN Enforcement Notice 

GPDO General Permitted Development Order 

LBEN Listed Building Enforcement Notice 

LEP    Local Enforcement Plan 

LPA Local Planning Authority (e.g. Dacorum Borough Council) 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

PCN Planning Contravention Notice 

PEO Planning Enforcement Order 

PINS The Planning Inspectorate (the body that deals with planning appeals) 

PPG Planning Practice Guidance (sometimes referred to as the NPPG) 

TCPA Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

TPO    Tree Preservation Order 

TSN Temporary Stop Notice 

 

Report Author:  

Philip Stanley, Head of Development Management 

 

philip.stanley@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228579 (ext. 2579) 

Responsible Officer:  Alex Robinson, Assistant Director (Planning) 

 

  

 

   

Strategic Planning and Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 259

Agenda Item 8

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected ALL 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To provide an update on the planning 

enforcement service, summarising its trends, 

performance over the past 12 months, and its 

approach moving forward. 

2. To provide an update on the Development 

Management service response to the March 

2022 planning enforcement audit. 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. Report to be noted by the Committee. 

 

Period for post policy/project review: The actions and achievements of the planning 

enforcement service for 2022 will be reviewed as part of 

Corporate performance figures and in next year’s 

Scrutiny Report. 

 

1 Introduction/Background:  

An effective planning enforcement service is vitally important in maintaining public confidence in the planning 

system by assisting in the delivery of the development that has been granted and in taking action against harmful 

development, which has not been approved. 

This report is intended to provide information about DBC’s Planning Enforcement Service. It will discuss the recent 

trends affecting the service, the performance of the team in the past 12 months, the issues it currently faces, and 

how the team are seeking to address these through ‘The 400 Plan’. This report also provides the conclusions of the 

external audit of the Planning Enforcement service that took place at the beginning of 2022 and the actions that 

have already taken place to deal with the ‘control’ issues raised. 

 

2 Key Issues/proposals/main body of the report:   

This report is split into five parts, as follows: 

 

Part 1: Recent trends in Planning Enforcement 

Part 2: Planning Enforcement at DBC – how it currently stands 

Part 3: Planning Enforcement at DBC – Performance over the past 12 months 

Part 4: Planning Enforcement Audit – March 2022 

Part 5: The ‘400 Plan’ Update Page 260



 

Part 1: Recent trends in Planning Enforcement 

1. The number of planning enforcement cases increased markedly from 2017-2019, when cases received each 

year went well above the 507 ten-year average. This is contrast to 2012-2103 and 2020-2021 when the 

number of cases received were markedly below 500. As such, there was a three-year period within the last 

10 years where workload was consistently 10% higher than that previously experienced. It is unclear 

whether the recent fall in enforcement cases is a consequence of the Covid pandemic, the reputation of 

the Enforcement team, or some other factor. This will need to be monitored in the next few years. The 

following table provides a list of enforcement cases received per year in the last 10 years: 

YEAR No. CASES 

RECEIVED 

2012 485 

2013 473 

2014 514 

2015 508 

2016 510 

2017 538 

2018 581 

2019 531 

2020 481 

2021 451 

AVERAGE 507.2 

 

2. The number of planning enforcement cases being closed each year is inconsistent, ranging from a high of 

675 in 2010 to a low of 380 in 2015. This will be a consequence of the complexity of cases being received, 

the amount of resources dedicated to dealing with complex cases requiring formal action versus focusing 

on closing simpler cases, and the overall resources available to the Planning Enforcement service at that 

particular time. The following table provides a list of enforcement cases closed per year in the last 10 years: 

YEAR No. CASES CLOSED 

2012 578 

2013 468 

2014 481 

2015 380 

2016 519 

2017 499 

2018 541 

2019 483 

2020 460 

2021 553 

 AVERAGE 496.2 

 

3. When seen as an overall picture in the last 10 years the number of live cases has increased by 110 cases. 

This figure is certainly healthier than this time last year due to the efforts of the Enforcement team over 

the past 12 months (details of which are shown later in this report). Overall, however, this disguises the 

more recent trend of a significant increase in the amount of live enforcement cases, i.e. the cases currently 

on Enforcement Officers’ books. Between 2013 and 2020 there was only one year when the Planning 

Enforcement Service were able to close more enforcement cases than were received. In particular, at the 

end of 2020 there were 299 more enforcement cases on the team’s books than at the beginning of 2014. 

Page 261



In other words, the amount of live cases more than doubled since 2014. The following table provides a 

yearly analysis of the number of cases received versus the number of cases closed for the last 10 years: 

YEAR No. CASES 

RECEIVED 

No. CASES 

CLOSED 

DIFFERENCE 

2012 485 578 -93 

2013 473 468 5 

2014 514 481 33 

2015 508 380 128 

2016 510 519 -9 

2017 538 499 39 

2018 581 541 40 

2019 531 483 48 

2020 481 460 21 

2021 451 553 -102 

 TOTAL 507 496 11 

 

4. In the period 2014-2020, the number of live enforcement cases increased by an average of approximately 

40 cases per year since 2014. This is broadly the same as the average increase in the number of enforcement 

cases received in the same period. In other words, the Planning Enforcement service has not been able to 

deal with the increase in the number of cases being received in recent years.  

5. It should also be mentioned that prior to 2011 the Planning Enforcement service had four full-time 

members of staff. Given the need for Council-wide savings at this time, this was subsequently reduced to 

three full-time members of staff. Therefore, the Planning Enforcement service has, through changes to its 

processes, managed to deal with approximately the same number of cases coming through with one less 

member of staff. However, the service has not been able to cope fully with an increased level of demand 

together with a reduced resource available to it. 

6. In terms of the type of planning enforcement cases received in the last 10 years, there a couple of trends 

that can be picked out. Firstly, the amount of cases the service has received regarding adverts and 

witnessed a noticeable increase in 2018-2019, but this has dropped significantly since. Secondly, there has 

also been an increase over the decade in the number of cases received regarding development not being 

carried out in accordance with the approved plans or with no planning permission at all. All of the other 

significant case types show no apparent trend, either up or down (especially when viewed as a proportion 

of overall caseload). The following table provides the yearly figures between 2012 and 2021 of the number 

of cases received by the most significant case types (with the top three case types for each year highlighted 

in red): 

 

Page 262



7. It should be noted that the above table does not include all case types, just those that occur the most 

frequently, which represent approximately 90% of all cases received. Furthermore, there is a case type 

‘Multiple Breach’, which are not recorded in the above table, but which may include additional examples 

of the case types recorded in the table.  

8. Planning Enforcement cases are given three levels of Priority, with level 1 being the highest and level 3 the 

lowest. Listed Building and TPO cases would typically (though not always) be given a Priority 1 status. From 

the table above it can be seen that these cases amount to around 35 cases per year (though this dropped 

to 26 last year). It is worth noting that priority 1 cases can be resource intensive due to the requirement to 

visit the site within 24 hours and the potential for a crime to have been committed. 

9. In terms of formal action, i.e. the service of a Notice, it is worth noting that the first Enforcement Quarterly 

Report (July 2017) listed 38 cases where formal action was currently being taken. This compares to the 42 

in the April 2022 edition, demonstrating that there is currently some additional work required of the team 

dealing with formal action, whether this be defending an appeal against a Notice, trying to secure voluntary 

compliance, or prosecuting / considering prosecution for non-compliance. 

10. The Planning Enforcement service has consistently taken robust action where it is proportionate to the 

level of harm being caused by the breach of planning control and where it is expedient to do so. In respect 

of the particular Notice type, it is worth noting the fluctuation in Enforcement Notices, as well as the recent 

trend for an increased use of Temporary Stop Notices. The following table details the formal Notices that 

have been served from 2013 to 2021. 

 

11. It is not possible for the recipient of a Stop Notice, a Temporary Stop Notice, a Breach of Condition Notice 

or a s.215 (untidy land) Notice to appeal – these, however, can be challenged in the Courts. Conversely, 

Enforcement Notices and Listed Building Notices can be, and are very often, appealed. This creates an issue 

for the Planning Enforcement Service in that it is necessary to take formal action against serious breaches 

of planning control, yet this has significant implications on the workload within the service, in terms of 

firstly defending any appeal, and then secondly trying to secure compliance once a Notice has taken effect. 

The following table provides details of the number of such appeals in the last 10 years. 

 

 

 

 

Page 263



YEAR No. EN / LBEN 

APPEALS 

2012 3 

2013 6 

2014 4 

2015 6 

2016 8 

2017 10 

2018 5 

2019 10 

2020 13 

2021 5 

 AVERAGE 7 

 

12. It is worth noting that the Development Management team as a whole received 72 appeals in 2020 and 

therefore nearly one in five appeal cases in that year were dealt with by Planning Enforcement. Last year 

(2021) the Development Management team as a whole received 67 appeals, meaning that approximately 

one in 13 appeals were dealt with by Planning Enforcement. 

 

Part 2: Planning Enforcement at DBC – how it currently stands 

13. Planning Enforcement is a service within the Development Management, led by Philip Stanley (interim Head 

of Service until August 2023), and within the Specialist Services Team, led by Neil Robertson. Development 

Management itself sits within the Place Directorship with James Doe as Strategic Director and Alex 

Robinson as Assistant Director. The service, in essence, deals with breaches of planning controls through a 

variety of mechanisms ranging from ‘take no action’ to ‘invite retrospective planning application’ to ‘serve 

formal notice’. The route chosen depends on the severity of the harm caused by the breach and the 

expediency of the Council taking action in that matter. 

 

14. The last 12 months have been a challenging period for Planning Enforcement, personnel wise. The Assistant 

Team Leader Planning Enforcement leads the day-to-day running of the Planning Enforcement service, in 

terms of allocating and signing off enforcement cases, the preparation of formal Notices, and dealing with 

all appeals. Unfortunately, Olivia Stapleford, who was in this role, left the Council at the end of August 2021. 

Since then, despite three rounds of recruitment, the service has been unable to fill this post on a permanent 

basis. The post has been filled in part with Agency staff. Firstly, Julian Thomas was in this role from the end 

of September 2021 until 17 February 2022. Currently Frank Whitley is in this role, having joined the team 

on 09 May 2022. This means that the team were without a ‘head of Enforcement’ for one month in 2021 

and nearly 3 months in 2022. 

15. The service also has two permanent Planning Enforcement Officers, who undertake the investigative work 

required in enforcement cases and who make recommendations within their reports. One of these Officers, 

Steve Hall, also left the Council in August 2021. His post was taken on a permanent basis by Caroline 

Durrant, who was previously employed on a one-year contract basis. The second permanent Planning 

Enforcement Officer is Cora Watson. Despite efforts to recruit a further one-year Planning Enforcement 

Officer, this post has remained unfilled since September 2021. An Agency Enforcement Officer was 

employed for two months at the end of 2021, who unfortunately had to be let go due to poor performance. 

16. Neil Robertson, Team Leader Specialist Services, whilst not having day-to-day involvement in enforcement 

casework, leads the strategic direction of the service. 

Page 264



17. The Planning Enforcement Service up to the end of 2019 had a dedicated Technical Assistant, who dealt 

with the setting up of enforcement cases, the upkeep of the Planning Enforcement Register, Land Registry 

queries, and general Enforcement Officer support. This role was merged with the overall technical planning 

support in the Business Support team, and the same level of technical enforcement support is being 

provided in this new arrangement. 

18. The service currently (as of 24 June 2022) has 466 live enforcement cases (i.e. cases received but not yet 

closed). Unsurprisingly, the number of live enforcement cases increases substantially the more recent the 

year the case was received. For example, there are 19 live enforcement cases in the years up to and 

including 2014, but 130 live enforcement cases received. 68% of current enforcement caseload relate to 

cases received since 01 January 2020. The full break down by year is as follows: 

YEAR RECEIVED 

 

 

LIVE CASES (as of 24.06.22) 

Pre-2010 6 

2011 2 

2012 3 

2013 3 

2014 5 

2015 11 

2016 13 

2017 21 

2018 23 

2019 62 

2020 91 

2021 130 

2022 98 

TOTAL 468 

 

19. The above table also demonstrates that enforcement cases vary hugely in their complexity. Whilst some 

cases can be received and closed very quickly (in a matter of days or a couple of weeks), other cases can 

remain ‘on our books’ for a considerable number of years. The older cases will almost represent 

enforcement matters where formal action was undertaken (such as the service of an Enforcement Notice), 

but where securing compliance (such as meeting the requirements of a Notice) has proved difficult and / 

or complicated. It can take years, for example, to go through the Courts, if an offender is absolute resolute 

in their efforts not to comply with an Enforcement Notice. Such cases are very resource intensive and 

therefore the team (bearing in mind that new cases are coming in each month) have difficulties in finding 

the resources to deal with all older cases. 

20. The service currently has 42 live enforcement cases where formal action has been taken and where full 

compliance has not yet been secured (as shown in the April 2022 Planning Enforcement Quarterly Report). 

These can be broken down by formal action taken as follows: 

FORMAL ACTION TAKEN LIVE CASES 

Enforcement Notice 31 

Listed Building Enforcement Notice 6 

Stop Notice 1 

Temporary Stop Notices 0 

s.215 Notices 2 

Breach of Condition Notices 2 

TOTAL 42 

 

Page 265



21. It is worth noting that the total number of live cases where formal action has been taken represents 

approximately 10% of our live caseload. The other 90% will be at various stages of investigation, such as: 

 A brand new case – site visit not yet undertaken. 

 Site visit undertaken – no breach or not expedient to take action – need to write up report / 

manager needs to sign-off report and close case. 

 Further information required – serve Planning Contravention Notice, discussions with other 

departments/external bodies, internet/Google Maps research, etc. 

 Retrospective planning application invited – waiting for submission / waiting for determination of 

application (and potentially subsequent appeal). 

 Breach has been resolved - need to write up report / manager needs to sign-off report and close 

case. 

 Formal Notice is being prepared, potentially in conjunction with Legal. 

22. The Planning Enforcement service works primarily within the legislation of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 and the Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990, national policy within the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and local planning policy in the Core Strategy (2013) and the Local Plan 

(1991-2011). 

23. The actions of the Planning Enforcement service are further guided by its Local Enforcement Plan (LEP), 

which has recently been completely re-written and was adopted by the Council in November 2019. The LEP 

provides an up to date analysis of the planning enforcement tools at the team’s disposal, and details its 

core principles when deciding to use them, and how the respective parties are engaged in the enforcement 

process. It also outlines the planning enforcement’s priorities and its approach to proactive enforcement 

action. The LEP can be accessed following this link: http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-

source/planning-development/local-enforcement-plan.pdf?sfvrsn=7f37eb9f_8 

24. A majority of planning enforcement cases are dealt with on a reactive basis, i.e. an investigation will 

commence after we have received a report of an alleged breach of planning control. However, this LEP 

acknowledges that there are some ‘hot topics’ or ‘problem areas’ where the team’s resources can be 

focused to make the maximum impact. 

25. As such, Section 9 of the LEP introduced ‘Priorities and Projects’. This section will be reviewed on an annual 

basis to take into account changing priorities, as well as the overall resources of the Planning Enforcement 

team at that time. For the current year of this document (i.e. 2022), the LEP is prioritising Enforcement 

cases received in the years 2012, 2013. 2018 and 2019. 

 

Part 3: Planning Enforcement at DBC – Performance over the past 12 months 

26. For the purpose of this section of the report the last 12 months is taken to be the period 01 June 2021 to 

31 May 2022, unless otherwise stated. 

27. In the past 12 months, exactly 415 cases have been received by Planning Enforcement. During this period 

578 cases were closed. As such the team have 129 less cases on their books overall at the end of this period 

than at the start. It must be reiterated that this great result has been achieved in spite of the retention and 

recruitment of staff described earlier in the report. The following table provides a monthly breakdown of 

cases received and cases closed: 

Page 266

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/planning-development/local-enforcement-plan.pdf?sfvrsn=7f37eb9f_8
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/planning-development/local-enforcement-plan.pdf?sfvrsn=7f37eb9f_8


 

28. As can be seen from the above table the number of planning enforcement cases received by the team 

fluctuates each month, ranging from 26 to 62. New cases will require site visits and actions following those 

site visits, thereby taking up time to deal with and close older cases.  

29. The number of cases being closed also fluctuates considerably. This is principally a reflection of the staff 

capacity at that time. For example, it is unsurprising that the number of enforcement cases closed in March 

and April 2022 dropped as this coincided with the period when the team were without an Assistant Team 

Leader. Overall, there were only two months when the team received more new cases than they closed. 

This result has been achieved due to the focus and change of approach arising from The 400 Plan, which is 

detailed later in this report. 

30. In terms of the cases decided, the reason for closing a case can be broadly split into four main categories.  

31. Firstly, there are cases where no further action was required at all because it was established there was no 

breach. This could be because, for example, the development being complained about had not occurred or 

was not ‘development’ in planning terms, or because the development was being carried out in accordance 

with the approved plans. In the past year this represents just over 30% of all case closures. 

32. Secondly, there are cases which whilst being a breach of planning control, Planning Enforcement can take 

no action because the development has become lawful over the passage of time (benefiting from the 4 and 

10 year timescales in which formal enforcement action must be commenced). In the past year this 

represents 4% of all case closures. 

33. Thirdly, there are cases where it was concluded that a breach of planning controls had occurred, but it was 

concluded that the breach was of a minor nature so as not to cause any harm. In such cases it was not 

expedient to use further resources dealing with such matters. Also within this category can be placed 

examples where the team has taken action and there has been a resolution to some or all of the breaches, 

not to a level to completely resolve the breach, but down to a point would any harmed caused would be 

minimal and therefore not expedient to take further action. In the past year this represents just over a 

quarter of all case closures. 

34. Fourthly, there are cases where it was concluded that a breach of planning controls had occurred, and 

through the action of the Planning Enforcement team the breach had been resolved. This can take several 

forms. For example, the home or landowner may have resolved the breach voluntarily at the request of the 

Planning Enforcement Officer. Or, a planning application may have granted retrospective permission for 

Page 267



the development. Or, a formal notice may have been served that led to the development being removed 

or ceasing. In the past year this represents 26% of all case closures. 

35. The full break down of case closures is as follows: 

REASON FOR CASE CLOSURE No. CASES % CASES 

No breach 167 31 

Lawful over time 22 4 

Not expedient to take action / further action 135 25 

Breach resolved 143 26 

Other 77 14 

TOTAL 544 100 

 

36. Corporately, the performance of the Planning Enforcement service is measured quarterly in how quickly a 

Planning Enforcement Officer first visits a site upon the receipt of a complaint / allegation. For Priority 1 

cases the target is within 1 working day, for Priority 2 cases it is within 10 working days, and for Priority 3 

cases it is within 15 working days. In all cases, the target is that 100% of site visits are completed within 

their respective timescales. 

37.  The table below provides the performance figures for the previous four quarters (representing the 2020/21 

financial year). From these figures, it can be seen that the Planning Enforcement service failed to meet the 

100% first site visit target across all quarters, except on one solitary measure. 

 

38. There are three main reasons for the Planning Enforcement team failing to hit these performance targets 

over the past year. 

39. Firstly, the Covid-19 pandemic led to a couple of national lockdowns and other restrictions that made site 

visits much more difficult. In the initial weeks of the lockdown site visits were virtually all curtailed. 

Subsequently, it became possible to undertake site visits where we could guarantee no social contact. 

These restrictions curtailed unannounced site visits (which is a key part of investigating change of use 

breaches of planning control) and preventing site visits completely when an owner claims health issues. As 

the restrictions were lifted the team began to undertake site visits that could take externally. Finally the 

team were able undertake all types of site visits again. The overall result of this was a large backlog of site 

visits required (first site visits and compliance site visits), which the team have been endeavouring to go 

through over the past 12 months. 

40. Secondly, as discussed above there has been considerable staff movement over the past 12 months for 

such a small team. Two departing Officers in particular, Steve Hall and the non-performing Agency staff 

member, left the Authority with large outstanding caseloads. This included several cases not even started. 

Therefore, when these cases were picked up by a new Enforcement Officer and the site visited, they were 

already ‘late’. 

41. Thirdly, as the team began to pick up site visits for the two reasons stated above, this has begun to be 

reflected in the first site visit statistics. In other words, as the team visit sites they previously could not 

access or which had not been visited, this triggers a first site visit date, which is beyond the 1, 10 and 15 

Page 268



day targets described above. The figures do not distinguish between how quickly new cases are visited and 

how quickly cases from last year are visited – they are merged into the figures seen in the table above.  

42. The Annual Enforcement Performance Report that was written last year stated, “Therefore, as the team 

continues to work its way through the outstanding site visits, the first site visit performance figures look, 

and are anticipated to look for this financial year, poor”. This has indeed been the case. However, it is worth 

noting that the first site visit performances are improving with a considerably better performance in Q4 of 

the financial year 2021/22. 

43. In addition, it must be recognised that the speed in undertaking a first site visit is only one way the 

performance of the Planning Enforcement team can be assessed. It is considered that, from a ‘customer’ 

perspective, whilst how quickly an Enforcement Officer goes out on site is important, they are likely to be 

more concerned on how quickly a case reaches a resolution. As such, there are times when the drafting of 

a formal notice, for example, takes priority over visiting a site. 

44. It is certainly true that the Planning Enforcement service have been very busy in the past 12 months in 

terms of taking formal action, and dealing with the large appeal caseload than inevitably results. 

45. In the past 12 months Planning Enforcement have served 15 formal notices, consisting of 10 Enforcement 

Notices, 3 Stop (or Temporary Stop) Notices and 1 Listed Building Enforcement Notice and 1 s.215 Notice. 

(I would add that a further Enforcement Notice has been served so far in June this year). 

46. Central government provide annual Enforcement activity statistics and, as can be seen from the table 

below, the amount of formal enforcement work completed at Dacorum in the financial year 2021/22 was 

the highest in Hertfordshire. Indeed Dacorum is considerably above all other Hertfordshire local authorities 

in this measure. 

47. Even when considering Unitary Authorities, which typically have larger geographic areas and /or higher 

population numbers, the formal Enforcement action undertaken by Dacorum exceeds that completed in 

Central Beds and in Milton Keynes. Only Bucks has served more Notices than Dacorum. 

 
Page 269



48. Enforcement Notices are often challenged and therefore a busy Planning Enforcement team in terms of 

serving formal notices will have the knock-on consequences of having to deal with a significant appeal 

caseload. 

49. In the last 12 months, Planning Enforcement have had to defend 5 appeals against Enforcement Notices / 

Listed Building Enforcement Notices, which is very resource intensive work. In particular, Planning 

Enforcement have been involved in a number of tricky sites such as land east of Watling Girth, Markyate, 

land at Church Road, Little Gaddesden and land at Cupid End Lane (near Gaddesden Row). 

50. In terms of appeal performance in the past 12 months this has shown a dip in performance in that 50% of 

all enforcement appeal decisions were allowed: 

 2 appeals were dismissed 

 4 were allowed 

 2 were withdrawn. 

51. In addition to the above, the Planning Enforcement team have secured a High Court Injunction (and then 

subsequently two extensions to this Injunction) to prevent development at the site of concern at Land at 

Church Road, Little Gaddesden. 

52. Unsurprisingly, given the vacancies within the team during the past 12 months, the team have not been 

able to undertake any prosecution proceedings. However, as an alternative to prosecution the team did 

take Direct Action in the past 12 months to secure compliance with a s.215 ‘untidy land’ Notice in Hemel 

Hempstead. 

 

Part 4: Planning Enforcement Audit – March 2022 

53. At the beginning of 2022, the Planning Enforcement service was externally audited with the final report 

published in March 2022. 

54. The overall assessment was “Limited Assurance”, which is described in the report as, “The system of internal 

controls is generally inadequate or not operating effectively and significant improvements are required to 

ensure that risks are managed and process objectives received”. 

55. The ‘Key Strategic Findings’ were as follows: 

The Council has a comprehensive Local Enforcement Plan in place, this could be enhanced by including 

reference to the monitoring and review processes that are already in place. Furthermore, the Plan has 

not been subject to [the 2022] annual review and updates, as set out in the Plan, and formal Portfolio 

Holder approval for the [original 2019] Plan could not be located at the time of the audit. 

The Council has made progress in reducing case numbers (both current and old), however, the service is 

consistently failing to meet the key performance indicators, as set out in the Plan and sample testing 

identified cases (old and new) with no apparent ongoing action. 

The service has experienced significant staffing issues (staff turnover and reliance on Agency staff). The 

risks associated with this have not been identified and recoded in the Council’s risk registers. The use of 

Agency staff has also resulted in increased expenditure over and above the budget. 

Page 270



Whilst new cases reported are allocated to existing team members, there are a significant number of 

previous cases that are allocated to individuals who no longer work for the Council or hold different 

positions. 

56. The following elements of ‘Good Practice’ were recognised: 

The number of open cases has reduced from 621 in March 2021 to 482 at the time of this review, within 

this there had been significant improvement in the number of ‘old’ cases remaining outstanding. This 

reduction has been achieved despite significant staffing changes/challenges within the department. 

The Council has developed a ‘harm level’ assessment to support case prioritisation and action, this helps 

to ensure those cases that would cause the most harm if not addressed are actioned. 

57. There were no fundamental control issues on which immediate action was needed. However, there were 
8 ‘important’ control issues, requiring action at the earliest opportunity and 5 ‘routine’ control issues that 
require action. Appendix A, attached to this report, provides a list of all 13 control actions and what actions 
have already been taken in response. 
 

58. Overall, therefore, the Planning Enforcement Audit recognised the good work that had already taken place 

to deal with rising case numbers. 

59. It has simply not been possible for the Enforcement team to deal with the following simultaneously: 

 Visiting and investigating all new cases coming in. 

 Wrapping up cases that have been recently received. 

 Unblocking / moving forward complex older cases. 

 Taking formal action, e.g. serving an Enforcement Notice, where required. 

 Ensuring compliance where Notices have been served. 

 Commencing prosecution proceedings in the most harmful cases, where it would be in the public 

interest to do so. 

 

60. As such, the desire of the Planning Enforcement Audit to work continuously on an entire live caseload of 

(currently) 468 enforcement cases at the same time is not realistic. This is why the ‘400 Plan’ in 2021 

provided a Case Type focus, so that over the course of 12 months all cases would be re-visited. 

61. In addition, the Local Enforcement Plan has been updated to show that the priority for 2022 is the review, 

and ultimately closure, of cases received in 2011, 2012, 2018 and 2019. These cases may be subject to 

immunity deadlines. In other words, if the Council does not take action within 4 years (in respect of a 

building operation) and 10 years (in respect of a material change of use), then the breaches would then 

become unenforceable due to the passage of time. 

 
Part 5: The ‘400 Plan’ Update 

 
62. The Planning Enforcement Service is a very busy team that is finding its workload, both in terms of 

enforcement cases and dealing with formal Notices, on the increase.  

63. The Planning Enforcement Service has to balance the competing demands of undertaking the first site visit 

of a new case within the corporate performance timescales, ensuring that current cases reach a conclusion 

(and formal action is taken where required), and attempting to close historic cases. This balance has 

become increasingly difficult to perform for a number of reasons that were reported to SPEOSC in July 

2020, summarised as follows: 

 Resource shortfalls during periods of staff leaving / recruitment. 

Page 271



 The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on site visits, appeals, serving of and timescales within 

Notices, and securing compliance. 

64. As stated earlier in the report, live caseload had been increasing since 2014 to the point that it was at an 

unsustainable level. The large and increasing live caseload has had a number of other important 

implications, also reported to SPEOSC in July 2020, summarised as follows: 

 Increasing the ‘expediency bar’, i.e. closing cases where the breach of planning controls is not 

considered sufficiently harmful to warrant further action. 

 Difficulties with dealing with criminal offences / prosecutions, which are very resource intensive. 

 Difficulties with dealing with a rise in case resulting from the new trends of land / woodland 

subdivision and the creation of HMOs (houses in multiple occupation). 

65. It was accepted that the increasing number of live enforcement cases would only continue if we continue 

with business as usual. A high caseload has the following negative implications: 

 Cases take longer to be initially looked and to reach a conclusion. 

 Elements of a case can be missed when there is so much on our plates. 

 No slack to allow for prosecutions. 

 Low staff wellbeing. 

 Lower job satisfaction - feeling like one is not able to do as good a job as one would like. 

 Increasing amount of ‘failure demand’ type e-mails, i.e. where a customer chases for an update, or 

complains about the service being provided. 

66. To deal with these issues and pressures on the Planning Enforcement service, the department undertook a 

review of the service. This analysed in detail the following (but not limited to) measures: work in progress; 

the length of time taken to deal with particular tasks; the way we correspond and update neighbours and 

offenders; and increased use of templates and automated e-mails. 

67. Fundamentally, in order to overcome these issues, it was deemed critical that live caseload be reduced 

back to pre-2014 levels. Ultimately, this work led to the formation of the ‘400 Plan – a targeted approach 

to reduce live caseload in Planning Enforcement’. 

68. The 400 Plan represented a complete overhaul of the way in which Planning Enforcement team dealt with 

enforcement cases, with the core objective of reducing live caseload from more than 600 to 400 by the end 

of 2021/22 financial year. The strategy underpinning The 400 Plan includes: 

 An emphasis on getting cases through the system quicker, especially for cases where there is no 

breach of planning rules or no harm caused by the breach. 

 Splitting ‘old’ cases, i.e. those received before 01 April 2021, into more manageable chunks by 

having dedicated periods to focus on dedicated case types, as opposed to trying to manage the 

entirety of a large caseload all at the same time. 

 Bolstering the capacity of the Enforcement team, through the recruitment of an additional Planning 

Enforcement Officer, on a one-year contract. 

 The introduction of a ‘Structured Week’, whereby the Enforcement Officers have specific allocated 

times in their calendars in which to complete key tasks, such as site visits, writing up reports, 

corresponding with alleged offenders and complainants. 

 Streamlining communication channels, such as providing additional guidance to the Customer 

Service Unit, introducing automated update templates, and directing new complaints to be lodged 

via the webform on the planning enforcement pages on the Council’s website. 

Page 272



69. The 400 Plan has had the desired effect in that it has significantly reduced live caseload within the team. 

On 23 June 2021 the Enforcement team had 613 enforcement cases on their books. Over the course of the 

past 12 months this has reduced by 145 to 468 cases. This is a great achievement by the team, but must be 

tempered by the following factors: 

 In 2021, the team received 60 fewer Enforcement cases than the 10-year average. Therefore, a 

proportion of the overall reduction will be a result of receiving fewer new cases than normal. 

 The team did not hit the 400 live caseload figure. However, this is not unexpected taking into 

account the vacant Assistant Team Leader post for extended periods and not gaining the additional 

Enforcement officer resource since September 2021. 

 

YEAR 

 

 

LIVE CASES (as of 24.06.22) LIVE CASES (as of 23.06.21) 

 

 
Pre-2010 6 8 

2011 2 3 

2012 3 6 

2013 3 3 

2014 5 6 

2015 11 15 

2016 13 26 

2017 21 27 

2018 23 51 

2019 62 103 

2020 91 197 

2021 130 168 

2022 98 - 

TOTAL 468 613 

 

70. Overall, the 400 Plan is a very important first phase of a detailed analysis and review of the Planning 

Enforcement service. This work is ongoing with the ultimate aim of reducing live caseload to 300 cases, 

freeing up Officer time to focus their energies on responding promptly and robustly to the matters causing 

the most harm. 

 

3 Options and alternatives considered 

This report is primarily an update on the performance, activities, and achievements of the Planning 

Enforcement service. In that sense, ‘options and alternatives’ are not applicable. 

The report also comments on the focus of the service for the remainder of 2022. The focus on enforcement 

cases received in 2011, 2012, 2018 and 2019 was agreed by Development Management Committee and is 

now incorporated into the 2022 Local Enforcement Plan. 

4 Consultation 

N/A 

5 Financial and value for money implications 

The Planning Enforcement service has had to recruit more expensive Agency staff to fill the vacant Assistant 

Team Leader position. However, any financial implications are currently off-set by not filling the 1-year 

Planning Enforcement Officer position. 

 

Page 273



6 Legal Implications 

There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

7 Risk implications 

Please refer to Appendix 1 of this report for a detailed analysis of the ‘control’ measures highlighted by the 

March 2022 Planning Enforcement Audit and the Planning Enforcement service’s response and actions 

taken. 

The principal risk implication, to delivering an effective and timely planning enforcement service, is the 

retention and recruitment of staff, particularly experienced staff, which is discussed elsewhere within this 

report. 

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights 

Equalities / Community Impact Assessments have not been reviewed/carried out, as this report is an update 

on the performance, activities, and achievements of the Planning Enforcement service in the past 12 

months. 

There are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report.  

Any decision whether or not to take formal action in respect of a breach of planning control will need to 

consider carefully the provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 

 There are no Sustainability Implications arising from this report.  

10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

There are no other above-standard implications on Council infrastructure arising from this report. 

 

11 Conclusions 

The Planning Enforcement service has made great strides in reducing live caseload in the past 12 months. 

The actions and changes to working practices arising from The 400 Plan, together with a notable drop in 

new cases received in this period, has enabled the team to close 129 more enforcement cases than they 

received. 

The Planning Enforcement service have also continued to take formal action were required and lead, by 

some margin, a comparison of Notices served with other Hertfordshire local planning authorities. 

These excellent results were achieved despite the significant staffing challenges that the team has faced 

over the past 12 months and the vacancies that still exist. Moving forward, it is very important that the 

service fills its vacant positions (Assistant Team Leader and 1 year Planning Enforcement Officer) so that 

the team can continue to reduce live caseload. 

It is recognised that the March 2022 external audit of Planning Enforcement highlighted some ‘control’ 

deficiencies. These have already been, or are in the process of being, addressed.  

It is not realistic to expect the Planning Enforcement service to deal with its entire live caseload 

continuously and simultaneously. The team will therefore, throughout the rest of 2022, continue to 

prioritise new cases by virtue of its harm level and older cases for those were the period of immunity is 

approaching. 

The Planning Enforcement service strives to improve its efficiency and efficacy in order to continue to play 

a key role in the attractive and sustainable place making of this Borough. 

Page 274



PLANNING ENFORCEMENT AUDIT MARCH 2022 MANAGEMENT ACTION PLAN 

KEY 

1 URGENT Fundamental control issue on which action should be taken immediately 

2 IMPORTANT Control issue on which action should be taken at the earliest opportunity 

3 ROUTINE Control issue on which action should be taken 

 

 

No. ACTION DEADLINE RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

HOW AND WHEN COMPLETED 

1 The ‘400 Plan Phase 2’ will provide the focus for 
the next 12 months, in particular focusing on 
closing cases that can be closed. 

30.04.22 GM (Head of) Focus for 2022 agreed in May 2022 Planning Enforcement 
Team meeting. This is to continue to close non-harmful new 
cases as quickly as possible, to focus on 2012/13/18/19 
historic cases, and to focus on the multitude of Enforcement 
matters occurring at land at the top of Cupid Green Lane. 

2 The 400 Plan Phase 2 will provide particular focus 
on cases received in 2012/13 and 2018/19, to 
assess whether formal action is required before 
these cases ‘time out’. 

30.04.22 GM (Head of) This is now a key focus area for 2022 as agreed in May 2022 
Planning Enforcement team meeting. 

3 The Planning Enforcement team are reminded in 
writing of the importance of visiting Priority 1 
cases within 1 working day. 

31.03.22 GM (Head of) E-mail sent 10.04.22 stating, “The auditors picked up that we are not 

100% in terms of visiting P1 cases within one working day. Whilst I 
understand that due to resources / capacity we are not going to be able to 
visit all cases within the targeted time, I have always insisted that P1 cases 
are given the urgency their priority status warrants. P1 cases relate to 
matters that are potentially irreversible or are of national significance 
(Listed Buildings, TPOs, excavation works in the AONB). It is therefore 
vitally important that we drop other casework in order to go to these sites 
as soon as we receive a P1 case. Therefore, I am expecting a 100% P1 site 
visit performance from this date onwards. It is very important that the 
Enforcement Officers keep the ATL Enforcement (when in post) and the TL 
Specialist Services (until the ATL Enforcement is in post) of any days when 
capacity for P1 site visits is severely reduced, so we can put in place a 

mechanism to ensure that such cases are visited in time” 

P
age 275



PLANNING ENFORCEMENT AUDIT MARCH 2022 MANAGEMENT ACTION PLAN 

 

No. ACTION DEADLINE RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

HOW AND WHEN COMPLETED 

4 Priority 1 cases are flagged immediately to the 
ATL Planning Enforcement for action and 
monitoring. 

31.03.22 BS ATL E-mail sent 10.04.22, stating, “It is very important that the Planning 

Enforcement team are aware of a P1 case as quickly as possible. Therefore, 
please can we take the following steps: 

 Lisa - please send a message to the Business Support team 
tomorrow (Monday) to let them know that whoever is on 
mailbox duty must contact immediately ATL Planning 
Enforcement (when in post) or Neil (as TL Specialist Services until 
ATL Planning Enforcement is in post or when ATL Planning 
Enforcement is on leave), if there is a report of works to a Listed 
Building or TPO trees. 

 ATL Planning Enforcement (or Neil) – confirm that this is a P1 
case (e.g. check that building is listed or that tree is a TPO tree) 
and arrange for an Enforcement Officer (or themselves if no one 

available) to visit the site as a matter of urgency”. 
 

5 Complete review of reasons why recruitment for 
the ATL Enforcement post has been unsuccessful. 

31.03.22 GM (Head of) Initial review undertaken in April 2022. This indicates that 
there are three main reasons why the post has not been 
filled despite three rounds of recruitment: 

1) The salary is below market expectations. 
2) There is a national shortage of experienced Planning 

Enforcement Officers. 
3) Planning Enforcement has a reputation (albeit 

unjustified) of being a negative service, just dealing 
with breaches and complaints, thereby discouraging 
those already working in Planning from moving 
across into Planning Enforcement. 
 

P
age 276



6 Complete regarding exercise of ATL Enforcement 
post with HR to allow the post to be re-advertised 
at higher salary band. Also, finalise details of any 
‘golden handshake’ that could be offered. 

14.04.22 TL SS Initial re-grading exercise undertaken with HR on 14.04.22. 

7 Advertise for 1-year Enforcement Officer post 
that has been approved in 2022/23 budget. 

31.03.22 TL SS This was advertised, though unsuccessful in recruitment of 
Enforcement Officer. Re-advertisement will take place 
shortly. 

8 The Council’s Risk Register to be updated to 
include the risks to delivering an effective and 
timely planning enforcement service, and 
mitigation actions. 

31.05.22 AD Place This work is ongoing as part of Service Planning work. 

9 The Local Enforcement Plan to be updated to 
reference how performance monitoring 
information could be obtained if sought and also 
the results of ‘Priorities and Projects’ section. 

31.05.22 TL SS Updated LEP produced on 03.05.22 with new ‘Performance 
Monitoring’ section and updated 2022 Priority Project. 

10 Formal approval for the Local Enforcement Plan 
to be obtained from the Portfolio Holder. 

14.04.22 GM (Head of) E-mail written (13.04.22) to PH (Cllr Anderson) seeking PH 
approval for LEP. This was received in a reply from Cllr 
Anderson on 13.04.22. 

11 The ‘Priorities and Projects’ section of the Local 
Enforcement Plan for 2022 to state the measures 
to be employed to reduce open cases for 2012/13 
and 2018/19. This is to be presented to DMC for 
approval and then to the Portfolio Holder for 
approval. 

30.04.22 TL SS Recommendation agreed at DMC 28.04.22. Approved by PH 
in May 2022. 

12 A holding allocation system to be created so that 
it is clear which cases are currently being looked 
at by which Enforcement Officers. 

30.06.22 TL SS This work is still ongoing. 

13 Create a ‘non-Enforcement matter’ folder in the 
Planning Enforcement mailbox into which such 
reports can be stored for a period of 2 years.     

30.04.22 BS ATL ‘Non-planning queries’ folder created on 03.05.22 in Planning 
Enforcement mailbox. ATL BS and TL SS informed on 03.05.22 
that this folder must be used from that date onwards. 

 

P
age 277



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Date: 6th July 2022 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A: Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning Document  

Appendix B: Code Compliance Checklist 

Background papers: 

 

The Core Strategy (2006-2031) 
Site Allocations Development Plan Document (2006-2031) 
Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision 
Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD 
 
Digital Engagement Hub:  
https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/  
 
Briefing to SPAEOSC on 24/11/2021.  
The committee noted the report introducing the design code. 
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=2823    
 

Glossary of acronyms 

and any other 

abbreviations used in 

this report: 

 DBC: Dacorum Borough Council 

 DSDG: Dacorum Strategic Design Guide 

 DLUHC: Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 

 HCC: Hertfordshire County Council 

 HGC: Hemel Garden Communities 

 NMDC: National Model Design Code 

 SCI: Statement of Community Involvement 

 SPD: Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Report Authors: Jane Hakes – Principal Urban Designer / Keeley Mitchell – Trainee SPAR Officer 

Responsible Officer: Alex Robinson – Assistant Director, Planning 

 

alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228002 (ext: 2002) 

 

 

 
  

Strategic Planning & Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 278

Agenda Item 9

https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=2823
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


  

Corporate Priorities  

 

The Draft Paradise Design Code SPD promotes the achievement of all the 
corporate priorities as set out below: 

- A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
- Building strong and vibrant communities 
- Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 
- Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those 

most in need  
- Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 
- Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected Hemel Hempstead Town Centre 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To consult the Committee on the Paradise Design Code – Draft 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 

Recommendation (s) to 

the decision maker (s): 

1. That Committee informs Cabinet of its views on the Paradise Design 
Code – Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).  

Period for post 

policy/project review: 

Once the Paradise Design Code is adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD), a review of its impact and continuing relevance should 
be undertaken within 5 years. 

 

 

1. Introduction/Background:  
 

1.1 The Government are moving towards greater use of design codes as part of wider planning reform 

proposals. This has been demonstrated by amendments to the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) in 2021. 

 

1.2 In April 2021, Dacorum was one of 14 local authorities nationally to be awarded DLUHC pilot 

funding, to develop locally led design codes to steer design quality in emerging developments. 

This programme was supported by DLUHC’s newly established Office for Place as part of the Phase 

1 of the National Model Design Code Testing Programme.  

 

1.3 The draft SPD sets out a framework of design requirements for new development in the Paradise 

and Wood Lane area, which is currently allocated in the Site Allocations DPD (Reference MU/3). 

These requirements are site-specific, clear and detailed. Once adopted the Paradise Design Code 

will provide clarity about design expectations to applicants, and is expected to enhance the 

character of the local area and ensure future design quality. It has been prepared with the needs 

of design teams and officers in mind, and will be used by applicants, planning officers, statutory 

consultees and the wider community. 

 

1.4 This document supports the emerging Town Centre Strategy as part of the Hemel Place Plan 

steering design quality of emerging development in the town centre. 

 
 
 
 

Page 279



2. Summary of the Draft SPD:   
 

2.1 The project team has consisted of officers from Development Management and Strategic Planning. 

Tibbalds are the lead consultant who have provided external support on the design and 

masterplan. The project is using the National Model Design Code to consider the design principles 

for the Paradise industrial area of Hemel town centre. 

 

2.2 DBC appointed the following external consultants to support the projects development: 

• Tibbalds Urban Design and Planning – Masterplan Lead  

• Commonplace – Digital Engagement Lead  

• PRD Solutions – Viability Reporting  

 

2.3 The vision, principles and codes for the area, as set out in the draft SPD, have been influenced by 

a contextual analysis of the wider town, and are informed by the pillars set out in the Hemel 

Garden Communities Spatial Vision, to ensure the site is considered as a part of the wider town. 

The preparation of the draft SPD has been steered with 1:1 sessions and collaborative roundtables 

with DLUHC and the Office for Place, which have occurred twice a month during the 6-month 

programme. The draft SPD has embedded feedback from wider engagement with officers, 

stakeholders and the local community.   

 

Structure of the Draft SPD 

 

2.4 The introductory section of the draft SPD set out how the document is structured, the status of 

the content and how it should be used, alongside a brief summary of the analysis and engagement 

undertaken to inform the content. The introduction also establishes the vision for the area, and 

explains the key priorities and objectives that have been identified to address opportunities and 

constraints. 

 

2.5 The Regulatory Plan (Figure 1.6 p. 14) provides the framework for development and establishes 

the key urban design principles for the site. An illustrative masterplan (Figure 1.7 p. 16) for the 

site has also been prepared, however it is not the intention of the SPD that designers replicate 

this, the purpose is to demonstrate how the principles established within the code could be 

applied spatially. 

 

2.6 The main body of the draft SPD comprises four key sections, which reflect the structure and 

guidance established in the NMDC: 

 Movement: This section provides coding for the movement network within the site, including 
the street hierarchy, parking access and servicing. It provides the framework for the site to 
create a safe and usable movement network within its boundaries, and into the wider area. 
 

 Built Form: This section provides coding for the massing of the built form, block structures, 
density and heights. It also provide a strategy for the design of ground-floor uses within the 
site. 
 

 Identity: This section sets out the key character drivers for the site, materials, building 
features and public realm. This section also provides a strategy for the open spaces within the 
site. 
 

Page 280



 Use: This section establishes the use strategy across the site, including the configuration of 
residential and non-residential uses.  

 

2.7 The codes within the draft SPD specify both mandatory and discretionary elements. Where the 

requirement is mandatory applicants will be expected to demonstrate compliance with this, in the 

case of discretionary elements applicants will be required to demonstrate that they have tested 

the feasibility of compliance. This approach reflects current best practice to ensure that a high 

standard of design will be secured, whilst offering applicants flexibility. 

 

2.8 Due to the site being in multiple ownership, Appendix A establishes an ‘interdependency plan’, 

which details how sites in separate ownership can come forward as part of a wider development 

to deliver a more comprehensive outcome. Appendix B sets out the contextual analysis of the 

Paradise area in the context of the wider town, which informed the codes. 

 

Policy Provision for the Draft SPD 

2.9 The NPPF (pp.129) states that in order to carry weight in decision-making, design codes should be 

produced as either part of the development plan, or as SPDs.  

 

2.10 The SPD sits under Policy CS11 of the Dacorum Core Strategy (adopted 2013), which states ‘The 

quality of neighbourhood design in towns and large villages will be reinforced through a 

Supplementary Planning Document on Urban Design’. It also sits under the DSDG (Adopted 

February 2021), which states that ‘DBC is in the process of preparing detailed guidance for other 

types of applications, to complement the DSDG’. This SPD sets out site-specific requirements for 

design, which go beyond the Borough-wide guidance established in the DSDG. 

 

Next Steps 

2.11 The next step in the preparation of the SPD will be a formal public consultation in accordance 

with the Council’s SCI. Following the consultation, the Council will consider the views raised and 

make any changes it feels are necessary to the document before returning this to SPAEOSC, 

Cabinet and Full Council for adoption. Once adopted the SPD will become a material planning 

consideration. 

 

3. Options and alternatives considered 

 
3.1 Whilst applying for the DLUHC funding other sites in the town centre were considered for the 

production of a design code to steer development and improve development quality. From this, 

the Paradise area was selected due to the emerging Local Plan, and the fact that the ownership of 

the site is heavily fragmented and would benefit from a comprehensive development framework.  

 

3.2 Design Codes were chosen as the policy direction for this site due to the flexibility in approach, 

which allows for individual character of development whilst safeguarding quality.  

 

3.3 Not preparing the SPD was not an option due to the risk of schemes of a lower design quality 

coming forward within the area. 

 

Page 281



4. Consultation and Engagement 
 

4.1 The following have been consulted on the work undertaken to date: 

 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

 Development Management  

 Conservation and Design 

 Strategic Planning 

 Hemel Garden Communities  

 Housing Development and Needs 

 Clean, Safe and Green  

 Community Partnerships 

 Hertfordshire County Council 

 

4.2 All 15 landowners on the site were contacted during the summer of 2021 with invitation to meet 

via letter. 1:1 meetings occurred with 9 of the landowners in July and October to feed into the 

developing masterplan and codes.  

 

4.3 Two virtual stakeholder workshops hosted by DBC and Tibbalds took place in August and October 

2021. The invites went out to landowners, local businesses, stakeholders, residents and 

subscribers to the project Commonplace platform. Flyers were distributed in the local area to 

promote the workshops. These were attended by Paradise landowners and business owners.  

 

4.4 Targeted community involvement on the Paradise Design Code has taken place with a youth group 

ran by YC Hertfordshire (August 2021).   

 

4.5 Engagement with members has involved a members walking group to the Paradise Area (August 

2021), project briefings with the Portfolio Holder and a briefing at SPAEOSC to provide a project 

update (November 2021). 

 

4.6 Wider public engagement has taken place using the Commonplace consultation on the Town 

Centre and Paradise site, https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/. This consultation took 

place between June 2021 and November 2021. Flyers and paper surveys were distributed in 

person to local businesses, residents and West Herts College. The commonplace consultation 

generated a substantial response, with 187 respondents producing 479 contributions. 

 

4.7 When exploring the comments from this consultation relating to the wider Hemel town centre, 

the key themes of positive comments were the place being close to nature, having attractive 

design and having a strong sense of community. In contrast, key themes of negative comments 

were the place feeling unsafe, having no sense of community and being bad for pedestrians.  

 

4.8 When specifically focusing on the existing Paradise site the overall sentiment from respondents 

was mostly negative. Key themes from the responses included that, the area feels unsafe 

especially at night, the area is poorly connected, the area should facilitate safe movement for 

pedestrians and cyclists, and that with more homes being built these should be attractive and high 

quality, and should be provided with more outdoor green spaces.  

 

Page 282



4.9 Following the statutory consultation on the draft SPD, a full engagement report will be prepared 

to inform the final version of the document.  

 

5. Financial and value for money implications: 

 
5.1 The Council received £50,000 grant funding from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities (DLUHC), as part of a national pilot scheme to test and apply the National Model 

Design Code (NMDC). In addition to this £8,500 from the Place Budget was used to appoint 

consultants to review the draft SPD to ensure what was being proposed is financially viable. 

 

5.2 The consultants were appointed through a formal procurement process where quality, cost and 

value for money considerations were reflected in the scoring criteria. 

 

5.3 There are no financial implications in adopting the Paradise Design Code as an SPD, it would be 

expected that it would optimise the development management process in the Paradise and Wood 

Lane area, therefore saving internal resource and cost. 

 

6. Legal Implications 

 
6.1 There are no legal implications directly associated with this report.  

 

6.2 Following the completion of the committee process, the draft SPD will be consulted on and made 

publically available, in accordance with the Council’s adopted SCI (2019). This will ensure full 

compliance with the relevant statutory requirements for SPDs, as set out in the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 

6.3 A screening assessment to carry out Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats 

Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be required prior to the adoption of the SPD, and will be 

undertaken following the consultation. 

 

7. Risk implications: 

 
7.1 The site was proposed for mixed-use development in the Emerging Strategy for Growth 

consultation document in 2020. Since this time, a number of landowners have expressed an 

interest in developing their site and have come forward for pre-application discussions with the 

Council.  

 

7.2 Alongside this, there are emerging masterplans for both the adjacent Hemel Hospital site and the 

Paradise Fields Housing site. Because of this active planning context, there is a clear need for a 

development framework to steer quality and bring forward comprehensive redevelopment.  

 

7.3 Adopting this SPD would help steer the development and delivery quality of schemes on sites in 

the area through guidance on density, uses, character, green spaces and quality, amongst others. 

If this SPD is not adopted there would be a risk of schemes of a lower design quality coming 

forward and the strategic placemaking objectives set in the design code not being delivered.  

 

Page 283



7.4 Having an adopted SPD will ease the development management process, by establishing metrics 

for key parameters such as heights, build form and materials for applicants to comply with. 

 

7.5 One area of risk on implementing the SPD is the interface with the Council’s car parking standards, 

set out in the separate Car Parking SPD. The Paradise Design Code does not change these 

standards; it merely provides guidance on design. In certain development scenarios, particularly 

if build costs continue to increase and sales values stagnate, it may prove challenging to deliver 

fully policy compliant car parking across the site, which is a risk to implementation. 

 

8. Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 
 

8.1 A Community Impact Assessment (CIA) will be prepared to support the preparation of the Draft 

Paradise SPD and will be regularly reviewed. 

 

8.2 There are no implications for Human Rights relating directly to this report. The consultation and 

engagement will be optional and there will be free text boxes to capture all feedback. This would 

not contravene respect for private and family life, home and correspondence, freedom of thought, 

belief and religion, freedom of expression and protection from discrimination in respect of these 

rights and freedoms. 

 

9. Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community 

safety): 

 
9.1 The Draft Paradise Design Code, once adopted, will deliver multiple benefits relating to climate 

change, health and wellbeing and community safety. The vision, objectives and priorities for the 

site as established by the draft SPD are framed around creating sustainable development and as 

a result, the proposals within the document set out the mechanisms for achieving this, including 

but not limited to: 

 

 Implementing an open space strategy, which encourages the provision of open spaces, tree 

planting, urban wilding, and utilising roof space to provide enhancements to biodiversity 

and/or wider sustainability (such as communal growing spaces or sustainable energy 

generation). 

 

 Delivering improvements to pedestrian and cycle safety, and improving and creating 

connections, to encourage active travel and contribute to a modal shift away from the use of 

private cars – a measure that will assist in mitigating wider impacts of climate change. 

 

 Protecting both residential privacy and environmental features by establishing no build zones 

and clear setback distances from main roads, and by defining areas with sensitive building 

frontages. 

 

 Ensuring that all residential units are provided with their own outdoor space.  

 

9.2 The potential implications for the nature reserve located towards the east of the site have been 

considered as part of the preparation process for this document. The requirements of the SPD will 

Page 284



ensure that the design of proposals on the site are sensitive to the character and biodiversity of 

the nature reserve, and that existing connections to the area from the site are retained and 

enhanced. This will improve community safety when moving between the site and the nature 

reserve, and will also promote biodiversity and landscape enhancements, and provide health and 

wellbeing benefits by encouraging access to open space.  

 

9.3 Once adopted, the Paradise Design Code will improve the overall sustainability and biodiversity of 

the area. 

 

 

10. Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources): 

 
10.1 There are no implications directly associated with health & safety and HR/OD arising from this 

report.  

 

10.2 There is a pending scheme for consideration relating to a Dacorum owned site (Paradise Depot) 

which falls within the boundary of the area covered by the draft SPD. The Housing Development 

team has been consulted throughout the process of developing the document. The scheme is 

compliant with the mandatory requirements set out within the SPD. 

 

11. Conclusions: 

 
11.1 The draft Paradise Design Code SPD has been produced as part of a collaborative process, and 

the content informed by extensive engagement with council officers, members and the wider 

community.  

 

11.2 The next stage in preparing the Design Code is to undertake formal public consultation. This will 

allow the views of the community to be taken into account as the document develops. The Council 

will carefully consider the views received and revise the document as necessary. 

 

11.3 Once adopted this SPD will be a material consideration in determining planning applications, and 

will steer the quality of schemes proposed. The existing development context relating to this site 

is currently active, with multiple sites coming forward for pre-application during the preparation 

of this document. By establishing parameters and instructions for applicants to comply with, this 

SPD will ensure the creation of a distinctive, attractive and sustainable place; therefore, it is key 

the draft SPD progresses to consultation to ensure it is adopted in a timely manner. 

 

Page 285



Paradise Design Code
Draft Supplementary Planning Document 
July 2022

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre 

P
age 286



JULY 2022

 ❚ Contents

This document has been produced by Tibbalds Planning 
and Urban Design on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council 

01 INTRODUCTION 4

Introduction and Vision  4

Purpose and status of this document 6

How to use this design code  7

Design topics  7

The Site and Context  10

Contextual Influences  10

Engagement 12

Key Priorities and Objectives 12

Regulatory Plan  14

02 MOVEMENT 20

2.0 Movement  20

2.1 Site wide codes  22

2.2 Street Hierarchy  23

2.3 Parking 25

2.4 Access: Pedestrians and Cyclists 28

2.5 Vehicular Access and Servicing  28

03 BUILT FORM 32

3.0 Built Form  32

3.1 Site wide codes  34

3.2 Density & Heights Strategy   35

3.3 Block Structure & Urban Grain   36

3.4 Ground Floor Frontages 42

04 IDENTITY 46

4.0 Identity  46

4.1 Site wide codes  48

4.2 Open space strategy 49

4.3 Typology A: Street Spaces 52

4.4 Typology B: Courtyard spaces 58

4.5 Typology C: Podium Gardens 58

4.6 Typology D: Roof Gardens   59

4.7 Typology E: Balconies  60

4.8 Elevational Treatment  61

05 USE 68

5.0 Use 68

5.1 Site wide codes  70

5.2 Land Use Strategy  71

5.3 Opportunities   72

5.4 Frontages  73

Appendices 

Appendix A 78

Appendix B 86

P
age 287



P
age 288



P
age 289



Introduction01

P
age 290



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
4

JULY 2022

01

Introduction and Vision 

The Paradise Design Code aims 
to transform this part of Hemel 
Hempstead into a gateway 
neighbourhood for people to live, work, 
play and be active. It will build on the 
existing positive characteristics of the 
town, such as the high quality public 
open space, the established business 
community and its original New Town 
ambitions, to deliver a distinctive sense 
of place. It will create an inspiring, 
attractive and sustainable place which 
generates professional and social 
opportunities for the benefit of the 
new and wider community, whilst also 
protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment.

The production of this design code has 
been a collaborative process involving 
Dacorum Borough Council, Hertfordshire 
County Council, the local community, and 
the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities as part of the National 
Model Design Code Pilot. 

The National Model Design Code defines a 
design code as: 

	■ a set of simple, concise, illustrated 
design requirements that are visual and 
numerical wherever possible to provide 
specific, detailed parameters for the 
physical development of a site or area.

Photograph © Jim Stephenson

Paradise will be a neighbourhood for people to live, work, play and be active. 

Workspaces will be carefully integrated  

Above: Images of best practice urban design schemes

New Town detailing will be interpreted in a 
contemporary way 

High quality and multi-functional public realm

P
age 291



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

5

01

Paradise Vision (Illustrative, compliant scheme shown). 

P
age 292



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
6

JULY 2022

01

Purpose and status of this 
document

Paradise will set a benchmark for high-
quality development in the centre of Hemel 
Hempstead. The Paradise Design Code 
is envisaged to be used by a number of 
different groups: 

	■ Developers, as instructions to inform 
their design;

	■ The community, as information about 
the development and what they can 
expect; and 

	■ Council officers and members, as 
a tool to assess individual planning 
applications. 

This Design Code is a draft SPD, and 
when adopted it will become a material 
consideration in determining planning 
applications. 

Any individual planning applications must 
be designed in accordance with current 
policy, any other material considerations 
and a further understanding of technical 
constraints such as utilities and 
infrastructure. 

All future planning applications will need 
to be accompanied by a statement which 
demonstrates that the code compliance 
checklist, which can be obtained from 
Dacorum Borough Council, has been 
satisfied. Figure 1.1: Structure and status of the Design Code content. 

* Note: all sections contain precedent images of good practice examples and schemes. 

Supporting 
information 

Introduction 
Key Priorities and Objectives 

Regulatory Plan 

Movement
Overarching Principles 

Key Plan and supporting codes

Illustrative Sections 

3D massing of code compliant 
illustrative masterplan 

Building Typologies

Stacked Open Space Strategy 

Land Use Opportunities 

Overarching Principles 

Built Form Key Plan, Heights Plan, Frontages 
and supporting codes

Overarching Principles 

Identity Key Plan, Key Spaces, On-street 
treatment and supporting codes

Overarching Principles 

Use Key Plans and supporting codes

Built Form 

Identity 

Use

Code compliance checklist 

Engagement 
Report

Site and Context Analysis 
(Appendix B) 

Illustrative Masterplan and Capacity 
Testing (Appendix A) 

D
es

ig
n 

C
od

in
g 

Ke
y 

G
ui

da
nc

e/
Ill

us
tr

at
iv

e 
 M

at
er

ia
l 

P
age 293



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

7

01

How to use this design code 

This Design Code has been prepared with the needs of 
designers and officers in mind, so that it is practical and 
sets out clear justifications and requirements. It includes 
mandatory and discretionary elements. The words ‘must’ 
and ‘will’ indicate mandatory coding elements. ‘Should’ 
indicates advisory /discretionary guidance elements - 
where these are used then applicants will be required 
to demonstrate that they have tested the feasibility of 
compliance with the requirement. ‘Could’ and ‘may’ 
indicate elements of the code that are encouraged, but not 
compulsory. Illustrative material shows examples of how the 
coding could be applied as a design solution on Site. 

For avoidance of doubt all coding images should be 
construed as mandatory unless specifically marked as 
guidance/illustrative. 

An illustrative masterplan, shown in Figure 1.7 has been 
prepared to demonstrate how the principles within this 
design code could be applied to the code spatially. The 
intention is not that the illustrative scheme is copied by 
designers. 

The appendices within this document set out the contextual 
analysis, from which the site specific coding has been 
derived.

Design topics 

All design guidance chapters are laid out on the page in a 
similar format with a reference bar along the right hand side 
of the spread. This provides the key information that the 
chapter relates to e.g. design priority, engagement topic and 
other areas of the design code that are cross-referenced. 

This design code covers four key sections: Movement, Built 
Form, Identity and Use, as set out on the next page.

04

Key
Central open space

Gateway space

Linear space

Strategic open space 

Indicative residential courtyards

Indicative commercial courtyards

Shared pedestrian /cycleway

Opportunity for tall building

Formal frontage character 

Paradise 

Park Lane

Wood Lane

Linear space

Informal frontage character 

Park edge

Priority: 

Also related to: 

COMMONPLACEThe feeling of being 
close to nature is what 
I like best about the 
open spaces in Hemel 
Hempstead

Site priority addressed Section number 

Other areas of the 
design code that are 
interrelated 

Quote from engagement 
event: Commonplace, 
Youth Workshop or Officer/
Member Engagement

Each section has a key plan, which builds on 
the regulatory plan and provides additional 
information according on the topic being 
coded

IDENTITY04

Figure 1.2: Sample design code page

P
age 294



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
8

JULY 2022

01

03 Built Form 

02 Movement 

05 Use

04 Identity 

Section 3 sets out the 
codes for the articulation of 
the built form and massing. 

This section provides 
coding for the movement 
network within the site, 
including street hierarchy, 
parking and servicing.

This section establishes the 
use strategy across the site, 
including the configuration 
of residential and non-
residential uses. 

This section sets out the 
key character drivers for 
the site, including specific 
codes on the approach to 
the open spaces within the 
site. 

P
age 295



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

9

01

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 296



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
10

JULY 2022

01

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

J U N C T I O N  8  M 1
( 7  m i n  d r i v e )

T H E  S I T E 

T H E  P L O U G H 
R O U N D A B O U T 

H O S P I TA L 
A L L O C AT I O N 

L E I G H T O N  B U Z Z A R D
( 2 7  m i n  d r i v e )

B E R K H A M S T E A D
( 1 0  m i n  d r i v e )

WAT F O R D
( 2 0  m i n  d r i v e )

Figure 1.3: Site Location Plan

The Site and Context 

The site of Paradise is located to the east 
of the central core of Hemel Hempstead, 
and is within the town centre boundary. It 
sits to the north of St Albans Road, a major 
arterial route into the town, however, it lacks 
presence within the town and isn’t a place 
that residents or visitors would happen 
across without a specific reason.  The site is 
currently occupied by a mix of commercial 
and industrial businesses, as well as a 
community food bank, all of which benefit 
from the transport links and proximity to the 
inner core of the town centre The site area 
is 2.92ha. The site is currently allocated for 
B1 led business and housing (75 homes) in 
the Site Allocations Document Adopted in 
2017. In 2020 we consulted on a draft Local 
Plan which included the site as an emerging 
allocation, for Employment generating uses, 
residential (350 homes), replacement DENS 
foodbank and public open space.

The site is in fragmented land ownership 
and in order to address this complexity an 
interdependency plan has been developed 
which sets out the assumptions made to 
progress the framework and code. This 
is set out in Appendix A, and explains 
how and where sites within separate land 
ownerships could come forward as part 
of a wider plot to produce a more positive 
outcome.  

Contextual Influences 

The codes set out in this document have 
been influenced by contextual analysis 
of the wider town centre, encompassing 
both the new and old town. 

A number of residential developments are 
coming forward in close proximity to the 
site, including the recently constructed 
Poppy and Primrose Court development 
and the consented Paradise Fields 
scheme to the east. To the north of 
the site is Hemel Hempstead General 
Hospital, which is currently allocated for 
a replacement hospital, a new two form 
entry primary school and housing (400 
homes). The site must be considered 
in view of this, as part of a wider 
neighbourhood. 

Further detail on the analysis that has been 
undertaken and how this has influenced 
the design code is included in Appendix B.

 

N

P
age 297



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

11

01

The site is used by a variety of businesses within the commercial and industrial sectors. 

Riverside, Hemel Hempstead town centre, is within a 10 minute walk of the site. 

A number of residential developments are coming forward within close proximity of the site. 

Hemel Hempstead’s identity as a New Town is strongly linked back to Geoffrey Jellicoe’s original 
vision for the town as a ‘city in a park’. 

P
age 298



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
12

JULY 2022

01

Engagement

A series of engagement events have been 
undertaken to inform the design process 
and code work as it has developed. This 
programme of events has included the 
following: 

	■ Landowner and Stakeholder 
Workshops; 

	■ Officer and Member Workshops & 
walkovers; 

	■ Youth Engagement Workshop; and 

	■ The wider general public via 
Commonplace. 

Through reviewing the feedback received 
from these events, some of the common 
opinions expressed were: 

	■ The importance of open space to the 
character of Hemel Hempstead. The 
existing open spaces within the town 
are generally considered some of the 
most positive spaces within the town. 

	■ Desire for additional planting and 
greenery as well as improved access to 
the existing green spaces. 

	■ Many buildings in the town centre are 
considered ‘dull or boring’  - there is 
a strong desire for an attractive new 
environment where development is 
coming forward. 

	■ Access and safety issues both with 
regard to pedestrian and cyclist 
movement and generally within open 
spaces were raised on a number of 
occasions. Lack of safety for cyclists 
on the main roads and particular 
concern about moving through areas 
that weren’t well overlooked were 
prominent in the feedback.  

The feedback received has been used to 
shape the aims and objectives of the code, 
with the key priorities aiming to specifically 
target community ambitions and concerns 
for the new development. 

Key Priorities and Objectives

The major opportunity for the site is to 
create a compact development that 
signalises the approach to the town 
centre from the east. This site has the 
opportunity to create a benchmark 
for new, sustainable and mixed use 
development that has strong links to 
Hemel Hempstead’s New Town heritage 
and serves its local community. The site’s 
topography and proximity to Paradise 
Fields lend itself to a development that 
draws on Jellicoe’s original, radical visions 
for the town, embracing and celebrating 
its location between the town centre and 
the nature beyond.  The masterplan will 
draw on the site’s central location with 
improved access between the town centre 
and Paradise Fields via a green link. 

Figure 1.4 sets out the key priorities and 
objectives for Paradise, which have been 
defined through the engagement process 
and through a detailed urban design 
and townscape analysis of the site in the 
context of the town centre. These priorities 
have been shaped to ensure that when 
brought together, they directly address the 
vision for the site. 

The priorities and objectives sit within the 
four pillars set out in the Hemel Garden 
Communities Spatial Vision, which are for: 

	■ A green network; 

	■ Integrated neighbourhoods; 

	■ A self-sustaining economy; and 

	■ Engaged communities. 

The three key priorities and objectives 
identified to achieve them address the site 
specific opportunities and constraints. 
The symbols shown adjacent (Figure 1.5) 
are used for each of the priorities, and 
are referred to throughout the document 
when a coding topic addresses a specific 
priority. 

Engagement events have taken a highly 
participatory approach to inform the coding. 
This image shows a photo taken by a member 
of the youth group during their walkover. 

P
age 299



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

13

01

F o u r  p i l l a r s 
s p a t i a l  v i s i o n 

s e t  o u t  i n 
H e m e l  G a r d e n 
C o m m u n i t i e s 

P a r a d i s e 
K e y 

p r i o r i t i e s 

Integrated: Connectivity, 
movement & sustainable 

transport 

Sustainable & Green  Urban Community 

P a r a d i s e 
K e y 

o b j e c t i v e s 

A green network 
Integrated 

neighbourhoods 

Use emerging uses & development 
to create a positive transition 

between neighbourhoods to the 
east, Paradise Fields, & the town 

centre 

Create a strong 
identity connected to 
Hemel Hempstead’s 
New Town heritage 

Provide a responsive 
and futureproof 
development 

Draw on the 
opportunity to 

provide a compact 
neighbourhood 

Positively integrate 
residential and 

employment uses 

Provide the right mix 
of uses: Support the 
community that live & 

work in Paradise 

Enhance the character 
of the area 

Improved connectivity, 
accessibility and 
feeling of safety 

Provide flexible 
amenity space to 

serve the on site and 
wider community 

A self-sustaining 
economy 

Engaged 
communities 

Activate streets and 
spaces & provide a 
high quality public 

realm

Improve connections 
to the town centre 
and provide new 

connections to the 
north 

P R I O R I T Y  1 P R I O R I T Y  2 P R I O R I T Y  3

Figure 1.4: Key principles and objectives for Paradise Figure 1.5: Symbolised key principles for 
Paradise, used throughout code

P
age 300



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
14

JULY 2022

01

Regulatory Plan 

The Regulatory Plan shown on Figure 1.6 
sets the framework for the development 
at Paradise. This establishes the essential 
urban design principles for the site: 

	■ Streets and blocks: The existing 
street network and alignment has 
been retained and enhanced with 
additional pedestrian and cycle links, 
to create a connected, legible street 
network. Proposals must adhere to 
the principles of the blocks set out on 
the plan. Variation in depth and width 
of blocks is acceptable and will be 
determined through detailed design, 
provided the key codes and objectives 
for the frontages set out in this 
document are adhered to. 

	■ Key nodes: These are junctions or 
gateways that serve an important 
townscape purpose either within the 
site or to increase prominence of the 
site in the wider context. 

	■ Improved connections:  The existing 
connections to the nature reserve to the 
east, and the Paradise Fields housing 
development which are currently 
overgrown and underused must be 
retained and enhanced, so that they 
are usable, legible and safe. New 
connections to the future development 
on the hospital site to the south must 
also be provided. 

	■ Continuous active frontages: 
Frontages that define the primary route 
through the site, between the town 
centre and nature reserve to the east. 
These frontages must contribute to the 
urban neighbourhood character and 
residential vehicular access must be 
provided between or around the side of 
the blocks along this frontage. 

	■ Secondary and sensitive 
frontages: All streets and spaces 
will be overlooked by frontages. The 
regulatory plan requires particular 
alignments of frontages where this is 
considered important to the character. 

	■ Marker buildings: The buildings 
identified on the plan, which include 
landmark buildings (see Section 3) 
are individual buildings that terminate 
strategic views or mark important 
corners within the neighbourhood. 
Their importance as a marker building 
doesn’t necessarily relate to the 
height of the building, but they can 
be exceptional through other design 
approaches, for example stepping 
forward of the building line or through 
distinctive, high quality elevational 
treatment.

P
age 301



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

15

01

Figure 1.6: Regulatory Plan

ST ALBANS ROAD 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

N

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 
Town centre boundary Sensitive edge

Site boundary Existing building

Formal open space Primary street

Informal open space
Existing strategic route

Pedestrian priority
Existing pedestrian /  
cycle route

Mixed-uses
Shared pedestrian /  
cycle route

Indicative residential 
development Existing pedestrian route 

Opportunity for future 
strategic pedestrian 
and/or cycle route 

Marker building

TPOsContinuous active frontage

Key node

Secondary frontage

Sensitive frontage (ensure 
over-looking and element of 
activity / residential access)

Hospital site

P
age 302



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
16

JULY 2022

01

Figure 1.7: Left: Paradise Vision (Illustrative, compliant scheme shown)

St
 A

lb
an

s 
R

oa
d 

P
age 303



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

17

01

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 304



P
age 305



02 Movement

P
age 306



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
20

02

JULY 2022

MOVEMENT

2.0 Movement 

This section provides coding for the 
movement network within the site, 
including the street hierarchy, parking and 
servicing.

The site’s location is within the town centre 
boundary of Hemel Hempstead, and as 
such is well located in terms of proximity 
to public transport, shops and services 
within the heart of the town. At present, 
however, the site is very isolated despite its 
central location due to poor public realm 
connections, with the movement routes 
towards the centre being indirect and 
fragmented. In addition, the existing route 
into the nature reserve to the east from 
the site is overgrown and illegible, with no 
sense of where the route leads to. 

The existing street network within the site 
is heavily dominated by road infrastructure 
and parked cars, making it an undesirable 
environment for pedestrians and 
cyclists. At present, partially due to the 
industrial nature of the site, there are few 
pedestrians or cyclists moving through, 
unless they are visiting the site for a 
specific reason. 

The coding within the section provides 
the framework to create a safe and usable 
movement network with improved access 
for pedestrians and cyclists, both within its 
boundaries and into its wider context. 

The movement network must support 
safe and direct passage through the site 
in all directions, to the nature reserve, the 
town centre, the proposed neighbourhood 
to the north and to St Albans Road. The 
existing route into the nature reserve to the 
east must be opened up and improved, 
with design proposals that are sensitive 
to the character and biodiversity of this 
existing open space. 

Vehicular movement and parking must 
not dominate the streetscape /open 
spaces and must be integrated sensitively 
into the public realm. 

Parking provision must be designed to 
have flexibility in use in the future, if car 
dependency reduces. (Image above 
shows how a hard surfaced area can be 
repurposed to serve the community). 

1. 2. 3. 

P
age 307



Paradise Design Code   Movement
21

JULY 2022

02

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 308



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
22

02

JULY 2022

2.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the 
movement across the site: 

	■ The footpath between the eastern end of Paradise 
and the nature reserve to the east must be retained 
and enhanced to form a legible, accessible and safe 
link for pedestrians.  

	■ If the Marlowes is redeveloped in the future, a 
connection through to Paradise is desirable, as 
illustrated on Figure 2.1. 

	■ A north-south link for pedestrians and cyclists 
must be provided between Paradise and the future 
neighbourhood to the north (Hospital Allocated Site). 
This north-south shared pedestrian/cycle route 
identified on Figure 2.1 has a preferred east-west 
deviation limit of 37m maximum – this preferred zone 
is highlighted on the plan. 

	■ The streets must accommodate shared vehicular 
and cycle movement corridors, with pavements 
provided for pedestrians. Where routes are provided 
off-street (refer to Figure 2.1), the space must be 
designed to incorporate shared pedestrian and cycle 
facilities. Future improvements to the public realm, 
including the potential for segregated cycleways 
within the existing street corridors should be 
explored in line  with emerging land use requirements 
throughout the site. 

	■ Vehicular accesses must be provided at appropriate 
intervals so as not to be detrimental to the public 
realm and pedestrian/cycle movement e.g. through 
excessive carving up of the pavement. This will be 
considered on a case by case basis. Consolidated 
access points between sites should be provided if 

Figure 2.1: Movement Key Plan 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

Potential future connection 
to town centre 

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

N

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Existing road network and 
access to be considered 
for future public realm 
improvements

Existing section of road to 
become access only

Existing strategic route

Primary vehicle access

Existing pedestrian / cycle 
route

Bus stop

Primary shared pedestrian / 
cycle route

Walking distances

Off-street shared 
pedestrian  / cycle route

Potential strategic links to 
wider area to be determined 
as part of town centre 
strategy

Strategic pedestrian / cycle 
route

Key pedestrian 
intervention

Indicative surface car-
parking

Illustrative location of 
vehicle access to plots

Primary pedestrian and 
cycle access to plots

P
age 309



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
23

02

COMMONPLACE

JULY 2022

The negative perception 
of the existing area was 
partially down to being 
‘bad for cyclists.’

The code retains and enhances the existing street 
network within the site. 

adjacent sites come forward at the same 
time, unless it is unviable or unworkable 
with land use requirements. Each 
individual site should have a maximum 
of one access point, taking into account 
the preference for consolidated access 
above.  

	■ If, in the future, sites are changing in use 
from industrial to residential or other, 
resulting in the removal of industrial 
traffic from the street network then traffic 
calming schemes should be designed 
and implemented with the owners and 
occupiers at the time. 

	■ Wood Lane and Paradise are streets 
that must be targeted for public realm 
improvements in the future as part of 
a comprehensive street improvement 
scheme, accommodating any change of 
use on site within a pedestrian and cycle 
safe and environment.

	■ Parking must be provided to the rear 
of the street frontages where possible, 
with the exception of those stated in the 
parking codes. Please refer to section 2.5 
for coding relating to servicing and 2.3 for 
parking codes. 

	■ All pavements/pedestrian links provided 
within the site must comply with DDA 
requirements.

2.2 Street Hierarchy 

The principal movement corridors and their 
alignment are set out on the Movement Key 
Plan (Figure 2.1). There is an existing street 
network within the site, with access currently 
provided from Park Lane to the west and 
St Albans Road to the south. Paradise and 
Wood Lane are the two existing streets 
within the site, which are approximately 
7.5m wide, with footpaths either side. 
These streets are currently dominated by 
on street parking, with cars banking onto 
the pavements, and wide, frequent access 
points (dropped kerbs) into the businesses 
on site. This results in a poor and unsafe 
environment for pedestrian and cycle 
movement. 

The code retains the alignment of the 
existing streets so as not to compromise 
the traffic requirements of the existing 
businesses on site, and enhances the wider 
network of pedestrian and cycle routes 
into which it connects. The design of the 
pedestrian and cycle routes focusses on 
high levels of connectivity within the site, to 
and from Hemel Hempstead town centre 
and into the surrounding neighbourhoods, 
including the future neighbourhood to the 
north. 

The movement coding within this section, 
together with the on-street frontage 
conditions coded in Section 4.33 improves 
the existing environment for pedestrians and 
cyclists, and provides an interconnected, 
legible movement network. 

It is of utmost importance that all street 
elements within the network are designed 
to be inclusive and, in particular, consider 
needs relating to disability, age, gender 
and maternity. This must be addressed in 
conversations with highways officers at the 
detailed design stage. 

There are two categories of street within the 
site;

	■ the existing streets which accommodate 
all modes of transport (pedestrian, cycle 
and vehicle); and

	■ key areas of public space that 
accommodate only pedestrian and cycle 
movement. 

In addition, the spaces to the rear/within 
the centre of the blocks must be designed 
to accommodate all modes of transport, 
but will not be delineated with carriageway/
pavements as with the existing streets. 
Instead, paving treatment and planted 
boundaries, for example, will subtly delineate 
the vehicle movement zones from the public 
spaces/gardens. Please refer to Section 4.4 
for the coding relating to the design of these 
spaces. 

P
age 310



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
24

02

JULY 2022

Pedestrian and Cycle Movement

Cycling is seen as an essential mode of 
transport for the residents and employees 
within Paradise, as well as anyone moving 
through the site between the town centre 
and nature reserve. The site will provide 
shared pedestrian and cycle leisure 
routes. Local variations in alignment 
may be agreed as part of an application, 
however the links must be provided 
to connect the destinations as shown 
on Figure 2.1. Further information on 
pedestrian and cycle access is set out in 
Section 2.4. 

Vehicular Movement Network 

All streets must be designed in 
accordance with Manual for Streets and 
the Hertfordshire Highways Design Guide 
and any future versions of these guidance 
documents. An indicative section of the 
retained street along Paradise, and how 
this sits within the wider framework of plots 
is shown on Figure  2.3. As can be seen, 
the existing carriageway and pavements 
have been retained, which will be subject 
to future improvements depending on the 
known users /businesses along the street. 
Further information on vehicular access 
and servicing is set out in Section 2.5. 

Figure 2.3: Illustrative section.

Figure 2.2: Section location

Non-residential use 

Landowner boundary 

Existing ProposedProposed

Landowner boundary 

Non-residential use 

P
age 311



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
25

02

“

“

JULY 2022

YOUTH ENGAGEM
EN

T

2.3 Parking

This section sets out the codes for 
parking areas to ensure that they are well 
integrated, convenient and provide a 
positive environment. A range of parking 
solutions are acceptable to the different 
block typologies within Paradise: 

	■ Restricted on-street parking 

	■ Undercroft parking

	■ Podium parking 

	■ Courtyard parking 

	■ Basement/semi-basement parking

On Street 

	■ Must only be provided for essential 
access needs, e.g. blue badge visitor 
parking or to be used as servicing 
bays; 

	■ Any spaces should  be surfaced with 
block pavers. Black or grey tarmac 
is undesirable and spaces must not 
be delineated with white highway 
markings. If black/grey tarmac is to 
be used it must be demonstrated 
that block pavers are unviable or 
undeliverable. If this is proven to be the 
case, any tarmac must be edged with 
block pavers. Parking bay delineation 
must be carried out with paving units; 

	■ Parallel parking should be a minimum 
of 2.0m wide x 6.0m long. There must 
not be more than 3 spaces in a line 
without landscape or tree planting to 
break them up; and

	■ On-street parking spaces must be 
clearly demarcated and integrated into 
the wider public realm strategy (please 
refer to Section 4.33).

Thumbs down for car dominance

Undercroft Parking 

	■ Entrances to undercroft parking must 
be legible for users, but minimise 
impact on public realm. If access 
to undercroft parking is to be from 
primary frontages, this must only 
be for private residential vehicles (i.e. 
not double height servicing/industrial 
accesses) and attractively screened; 

	■ Residential units above undercroft 
parking must provide surveillance to 
the street and must have balconies 
and/or large windows to provide a 
sense of overlooking.

Figure 2.4: Illustration of suitable undercroft parking provision. 

P
age 312



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
26

02

JULY 2022

Podium Parking 

	■ Can be incorporated in a podium 
which is either in use solely as parking 
space, or mixed with uses that require 
a deeper floorplate, for example light 
industrial uses. 

	■ The podium must be carefully 
designed so that no blank walls are 
created. This can be achieved through 
the wrapping of the podium in active 
uses and/or stepping of the landscape 
down to street level to address any level 
change created by the podium. 

Please refer to Section 4.5 for further 
coding on the open space strategy for 
courtyard parking areas. 

Non-residential use 

Residential unit Residential unit

Non-residential use 

Figure  2.5: Unit Typology 1a with podium parking - guidance plan. 

Figure 2.6: Unit Typology 1b with podium parking - guidance plan. 

P
age 313



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
27

02

COMMONPLACE“

JULY 2022

..any opportunities 
for additional amenity 
space should be 
considered before 
cars.. “

Courtyard Parking 

	■ Rear courtyards must be clearly defined as 
either public or private.  

	■ The courtyard should be surfaced with block 
pavers or other high quality surfacing. If 
black or grey tarmac is to be used it must be 
demonstrated that block pavers are unviable or 
undeliverable. If this is proven to be the case, 
any tarmac must be edged with block pavers.; 

	■ The layout of any parking must allocate 
space for electric charging points and should 
accommodate vehicles that may be arising 
as part of modal shift such as e-bikes or car 
sharing schemes. 

	■ The space must be designed with the ability 
to be repurposed when dependence on the 
private car diminishes, for example as an area 
of green open space/recreation. This principle 
is illustrated on figures 2.7 and 2.8). 

Please refer to Section 4.4 for further coding on 
the open space strategy for courtyard parking 
areas. 

Semi-Basement/Basement Parking 

This typology of parking should be provided where 
the quality of the public/private space around the 
block is likely to be compromised by a dominance 
of car parking. This solution relieves the open 
space of vehicles, allowing it to operate as a 
functional area of open space for the residents/
employees of Paradise. The deliverability of this 
approach is to be determined through plot-by-plot 
viability testing.

 

Figure 2.7: Courtyard parking integrated into landscaping- guidance plan. 

Figure 2.8: Future use of courtyard garden if car dependence reduces - guidance plan. 

P
age 314



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
28

02

JULY 2022

2.4 Access: Pedestrians and 
Cyclists

All residents and visitors will access their 
homes directly from either Paradise, Wood 
Lane or the key areas of public realm. The 
residential buildings will be via a mix of 
communal residential entrance lobbies 
and private front doors to either individual 
street facing apartments or maisonettes. 
The key codes for pedestrian and cycle 
access are as follows: 

	■ All pedestrian accesses must be 
provided on the street/public realm 
frontage. 

	■ Pedestrian access points into 
community/commercial/industrial 
floorspace should be separate from 
the servicing access. 

	■ Cyclists storage for occupants should 
be provided within the curtilage of the 
building, where there will be secure 
storage and direct access into the main 
entrance lobbies. 

	■ Additional cycle storage must be 
provided on-street or within shared 
commercial courtyards for non-
residential uses and visitors. 

2.5 Vehicular Access and Servicing 

Access and servicing arrangements will 
fall under two key categories: 

	■ mixed-use units fronting onto Wood 
Lane/Paradise; and 

	■ units fronting onto the key pedestrian/
cycle priority spaces. 

The strategy for the two different locations 
has been designed to ensure the key 
public realm objectives of the site aren’t 
compromised while still enabling the 
‘mixed-use’ spaces to function efficiently. 

General codes: 

	■ Access to parking should be 
provided through, or around the block 
frontage so that parked vehicles are 
removed from the street frontage. The 
acceptable parking typologies set out 
in Section 2.3 must be followed. 

	■ Servicing should be provided directly 
from the street network. 

	■ Servicing must be designed to ensure 
access to the units is not restricted. 

Typology 1: Mixed-use units fronting 
onto Wood Lane /Paradise 

	■ Access and servicing must be 
designed to be efficient and so that it 
doesn’t compromise the public realm 
or neighbouring residential uses. 

	■ Servicing bays should be integrated 
into any on-street parking provided. 
Please refer to Section 4.33 for further 
codes associated with on-street 
treatment. 

Typology 2: Units fronting onto 
pedestrian /cycle priority spaces

	■ Loading must be designed to be time 
limited, to ensure that the requirements 
for different types of units are met 
within a time frame, outside of which 
the public realm can operate as usual. 

	■ Residential vehicular access must 
be provided away from the key public 
realm spaces, to the rear of the 
frontage within shared courtyards, 
podium or undercroft parking. This 
ensures these spaces are kept free 
from continuous through traffic.

P
age 315



Paradise Design Code   Movement
29

02

JULY 2022

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 316



P
age 317



03 Built Form 

P
age 318



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
32

03

JULY 2022

3.0 Built Form 

This section sets out the codes for the 
articulation of the built form and massing. 

The urban neighbourhood aspirations set 
out for the site are afforded by its proximity 
to the core of the town, and location 
within the town centre boundary. The 
built form on site is low rise in nature and 
does not positively contribute to the urban 
townscape of the centre, with poorly 
defined frontages and little enclosure 
provided to the street. The low rise nature 
of the site means it isn’t prominent despite 
its position on a major arterial route into 
the town (St Albans Road). 

The built form coding set out in this 
section sets out the parameters for any 
development coming forward on the site, 
which addresses the key opportunities 
afforded by the site’s location and 
responds to the distinctive qualities of 
the new town. This section provides the 
coding for the articulation and massing of 
the built form as well as the ground floor 
strategy for the site. 

There are three key code objectives that 
this section addresses, as set out on this 
page.

The block structure and typologies used 
must embrace variety and interest, 
whilst maintaining a legible and coherent 
townscape.

Buildings must be articulated to provide 
strong definition and enclosure to the 
streets and spaces within the site with 
positive and active building frontages of 
high quality design.

The heights strategy must respond to 
the surrounding context; with landmark 
buildings marking the primary entrances 
from St Albans Road and Park Lane and 
decreased height respecting the privacy 
and amenity of the existing dwellings on 
Orchid Drive and Poppy and Primrose 
Court.

1. 2. 3. 

BUILT FORM

Kings Crescent by Karakusevic Carson ©Peter Landers 

P
age 319



Paradise Design Code   Built Form
33

03

JULY 2022

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 320



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
34

03

JULY 2022

3.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the built 
form across the site: 

	■ A consistent building line must be provided 
along Paradise and Wood Lane, providing 
enclosure and definition to the streets. 

	■ All buildings on Paradise are to be set back 
from the highways boundary behind a 3m 
space, and a minimum of 2m for buildings on 
Wood Lane. The codes for this space are set 
out in Section 03. With justification, marker 
and landmark buildings may be exempted 
from this code for a particular reason e.g. a 
stepped building line to frame an urban open 
space. It must be demonstrated that this won’t 
compromise any street-wide public realm 
improvements. 

	■ Broken /less continuous frontages are to be 
provided along the northern and eastern tree 
belts. This could be through the use of open 
courtyard blocks (see section 2.32) or stepped 
building lines. 

	■ To reflect the New Town character of the town 
centre, interest and variety in the townscape 
must be created through variation in massing 
(height) and/or elevational treatment rather than 
through variation in roof typology. All roof forms 
should be flat.

	■ Marker buildings have been identified on Plan 
3.1. These can be buildings of additional height, 
or exceptional in other ways e.g. stepped 
building line or particular façade treatment. 

N

Figure 3.1: Built Form Key Plan 

Continuous active/formal frontages must maintain a consistent and 
continuous building line. 

Left: ‘Sensitive/informal 
frontages’ may be broken, with 
shorter lengths of frontage and/
or a varied building line defining 
the spaces they front onto. This 
example shows a courtyard 
garden breaking the block 
frontage. 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

HIGHTOWN 

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 

Marker building

Secondary frontage

No build zone

Opportunity for tall building

Indicative courtyard block

Indicative linear block

Strategic pedestrian /  
cycle route

Setback from highways 
boundary  
min of 3m on Paradise 
min of 2m on Wood Lane

Continuous active frontage 
(no vehicle access)

Sensitive frontage (ensure 
over-looking and element of 
activity / residential access)

P
age 321



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
35

03

JULY 2022

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

	■ No-build zones backing onto the existing 
dwellings in Orchid Drive and Poppy and 
Primrose Court must be adhered to, in 
order to protect the privacy and amenity 
of existing residents. This ensures an 18m 
separation distance between the new and 
existing dwellings. 

	■ All blocks must provide usable communal 
amenity space either within ground level 
courtyard spaces or in podium gardens. 
Please refer to sections 3.4 and 3.5 for 
coding relating to these open space 
typologies. 

	■ A mixture of flats and maisonettes are 
encouraged across the site. 

3.2 Density & Heights Strategy  

The density and heights strategy is defined 
by the ambitions to create an urban 
neighbourhood that remains sensitive to the 
existing context. 

The following key code principles apply:

	■ The landmark (6-8 storey) elements must 
retain a vertical element that complies 
with the façade balance set out in  4.13. 
This must be achieved by applying a 
similar ratio of upper floor height on the 
frontage as shown on the  heights plan in 
solid colour. 

	■ Building heights must step down in 
response to the existing dwellings on 
Orchid Drive which are 2-3 storeys in 
height. 

Note: Heights taken from ground level. Minimum and maximum height ranges for any built development 
within these zones, excluding podium parking. 

Thumbs up for marker buildings helping me f nd my way!

Figure 3.2: Heights Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Opportunity for landmark 
element  6-8 storeys

5-6 storeys

Marker building No-build zone
4-5 storeys

4 storeys

2-3 storeys

Flexible height range of 
up to 6-8 storeys

Flexible height range of 
up to 7 storeys

Single storey podium or 
Ground floor courtyard

P
age 322



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
36

03

JULY 2022

	■ Building heights must step up in the 
landmark building locations identified 
on Figure 3.1. 

	■ Pop-up elements at roof level such 
as lift overruns, stairs to access roof 
spaces and/or balustrades to roof 
spaces are permitted exceptions to the 
identified storey heights provided: 

	- they do not provide any habitable or 
other accommodation at roof level;

	- they are set back from the building 
lines so as to maintain the simplicity 
of the roofscape in street views; and 

	- they are designed to be positive 
elements of the roofscape.

	■ Parapets are also permitted to extend 
above the storey heights identified 
provided they do so by no more than 
1m.

	■ Please refer to Section 3.6 for further 
information on the productive use of 
the roofscape.  

	■ Steps in height must be meaningful. 
Where a building is intended as a 
landmark, it should be at least 3 
storeys higher than the block which it 
is a counterpart of. The upper height 
limits identified on Figure 3.2 apply in 

3.3 Block Structure & Urban Grain  

Two principle block typologies are set out 
for the site: 

	■ Linear block; and

	■ Courtyard block. 

The recommended locations for these 
blocks have been identified in this section 
to address the townscape vision, and the 
site specific constraints, such as narrow 
plots and steep topography. The treatment 
and articulation of these blocks will be 
such that variation and interest is created, 
but that the townscape is coherent and 
legible. 

Within the two principle block typologies 
identified, there are two sub-categories: 

	■ Landmark elements; and 

	■ Stacked maisonettes. 

These typologies may either be 
incorporated into a wider block structure 
that adheres to the codes set out for the 
principle typologies or as standalone 
elements with a design justification. If 
individual planning applications do not 
comply with the recommended block 
typologies for their location then it must be 
demonstrated that all of the principles of 
the plot set out within the code are being 
satisfied with the proposed block type. 

This section sets out the design codes for 
the block typologies on site. 

All roof forms should be flat as a reflection of this 
distinctive architectural characteristic of Hemel 
Hempstead New Town. Above image shows 
contemporary building comprising a flat roof in 
London. 

The landmark elements must retain a vertical 
element, as seen here in Kings Crescent by 
Karakusevic Carson ©Peter Landers 

all cases, i.e. if part of a building is 3 
storeys taller than its counterparts, the 
tallest element must not exceed the 
upper height limit identified on the plan. 

	■ Please refer to Section 3.4 for codes 
relating to floor to ceiling heights.

	■ Pavilions may be acceptable where 
they are located within an open space 
or site and serve to activate it. They 
could include community uses, or 
anchor a view point for example within 
the gateway space through to the 
nature reserves to the east. 

	■ Any building heights proposed must 
respond sensitively to the adjacent 
nature reserve and any ecological 
constraints. 

P
age 323



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
37

03

JULY 2022

COMMONPLACE

Figure 3.4: Linear block typology 

Views through 

Urban, consistent  

frontage to Paradise 

Urban, consistent  

frontage to Paradise 

Access 

Figure 3.3: Appropriate linear block locations 

What is important to 
have in a home?

#5 Attractive building ““

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

3.31 Linear Block 

The following key code principles apply:

	■ Vehicle access must be provided 
between, or around the side of linear 
blocks. 

	■ Blocks must be no longer than 50m 
in length without a break or step in 
massing no less than 2 storeys in 
height. 

	■ Residential entrances must be 
provided directly from the street on the 
primary frontage. 

	■ All residential units must have their 
own private outdoor space.  

	■ The blocks must be designed to 
incorporate podium or courtyard space 
to the rear. See section 4 for more 
information on these typologies of 
open space. 

	■ Where the courtyard spaces to the rear 
are narrow, the massing must step 
down on the rear façade to ensure the 
built form isn’t oppressive at ground 
level. 

P
age 324



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
38

03

JULY 2022

Glim
psed 

views Access removed 

from frontage 

Figure 3.5: Illustration of appropriate courtyard block 
locations

Figure 3.6: Courtyard block typology guidance 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

3.32 Courtyard block 

The following key code principles apply:

	■ Courtyard blocks must be assembled 
from a series of block components. The 
blocks north of Paradise must have an 
urban continuous frontage overlooking 
Paradise with limited breaks of no 
more than 10m each for access. A step 
down in massing reflects the stacked 
maisonette typologies extending 
towards the trees along the northern 
boundary. 

	■ All residential units must have their 
own outdoor space. 

	■ Views towards the tree belt to the north 
should be framed. 

	■ Any sub-components within a 
courtyard block, for example stacked 
maisonettes, must be selected in 
response to the character of the streets 
they overlook. 

	■ Blocks should offer glimpsed views 
through the frontage to the gardens 
beyond, giving a sense of the character 
of the space and providing some 
greening to the streetscape views. This 
could be through the provision of link 
blocks between two frontage blocks, or 
through a courtyard entrance from the 
street through to the rear gardens. 

P
age 325



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
39

03

COMMONPLACE

JULY 2022

What sort of houses 
should be in the town 
centre? 

#1 Courtyard block with 
garden square ““

	■ Blocks must be articulated so that a 
courtyard or podium space is created 
in the centre of the block (see Sections 
4.4 and 4.5). 

	■ Any frontage must not be any longer 
than 50m without a step change and/or 
set back in massing (refer to previous 
point on link blocks).  

	■ Parking must be provided away from 
the  frontage onto Paradise. Drop-off 
and servicing requirements for flexible 
Class E and/or F2 units (see section 3.4 
for definition)  are an exception to this 
code.  

	■ The blocks should accommodate 
steps in massing. Any height change 
should also be reflected in an 
appropriate elevational treatment for 
the typology being used. Relevant 
change in elevation must be distinctive 
and accompanied by change in height.

The courtyard blocks in Myatts Field use a coherent palette of scales and typologies to form one 
courtyard block. 

(Left): Glimpsed views are offered 
through this block in Burridge Gardens. 

P
age 326



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
40

03

JULY 2022

3.33 Sub Category: Landmark Elements

There are two key locations identified for 
landmark elements within the site; framing the 
gateways onto St Albans Road and Wood Lane. 
The following key code principles apply to these 
elements:

	■ The landmark elements should be integrated 
into a wider courtyard block or linear block 
(see sections 3.31-3.32) 

	■ All residential units must have their own 
outdoor space. 

	■ Landmark blocks must be at least 
three storeys higher than their adjoining 
counterparts within the courtyard block to 
maintain the emphasis of a landmark building.

	■ Appropriate forms of parking for landmark 
elements are: 

	- semi-basement; or 

	- basement. 

	- Alternatively, off-site locations could 
be explored and discussed with HCC 
Highways Authority. 

	- Podium parking may be provided as long 
as it complies with the principles set out in 
Section 4.5. 

	■ Parking must not dominate rear courtyard 
spaces. Please refer to Section 4.4 for further 
information on how these spaces must be 
designed.  

	■ See Section 4.8 for further information on 
elevational treatment.

Figure 3.7: Illustration of appropriate locations for landmark 
elements 

Figure 3.8: Landmark element typology guidance 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

Courtyard 
amenity space 

Landmarks must be at 
least 3 storeys higher 
than their surrounding 

counterparts 

Access 

P
age 327



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
41

03

COMMONPLACE

JULY 2022

What is important to 
have in a home? 

#1 Own front door ““
Figure 3.10: Stacked maisonette typology guidance 

3.34 Sub category - Stacked maisonette 

The stacked maisonettes on site provide 
the opportunity for larger, family orientated 
units or units that offer more private open 
space. This typology has been located 
in areas that have been designated as 
suitable for family housing, including 
backing onto the existing houses at 
Orchid Drive, and within the secondary 
streets and links/open spaces on site, 
where the direct front door access can 
aid in nurturing a community focussed 
environment. 

The following key code principles apply

	■ Stacked maisonettes should be part 
of either a linear, or courtyard block 
typology (see sections 3.31-3.32). 

	■ All maisonettes must have their own 
outdoor space, within balconies and/
or upper floor terraces. Terraces can 
either be accommodated with a set 
back upper level (see figure 3.10). or 
through the stepping of the roofscape 
to create terraces in between units. 
In the case of a stacked maisonette 
backing onto podium parking, the 
ground floor unit must have an open 
space provided on top of the podium, 
accessible from the rooms at first floor 
level. 

	■ Please refer to Section 3.8 for further 
information on elevational treatment.

Figure 3.9: Illustration of appropriate maisonette 
locations 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

Direct access 
onto the street 

Set back 
allowing space 

for a private 
terrace

P
age 328



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
42

03

JULY 2022

3.4 Ground Floor Frontages

The ground floor strategy for the site 
comprises two key unit typologies:  

	■ Typology 1: Flexible Units, defined as: 

	- 1a: Uses within Class E  
Commercial, Business and Service 
and/or F2 that have the flexibility 
to be converted to residential in 
the future if the market demand is 
apparent. 

	- 1b: Residential units that have the 
flexibility to be converted to Class E 
uses in the future 

	■ Typology 2: Permanent residential 
units. 

This strategy has been designed to 
ensure the scheme has inherent flexibility 
and thus the ability to respond to current 
market demands. Due to the site’s 
location within the wider town centre, a 
large proportion of the units have been 
designated as flexible commercial/
residential units, to allow for employment 
provision within the core of Hemel 
Hempstead. For the purpose of this 
code, it should be assumed that only 
the locations highlighted on Figure 3.9 
should be considered as permanent 
residential units.

 

	■ Large openings must be provided at 
ground floor level. Internal offices or 
workspaces are encouraged to have 
an active and visible presence on the 
street. 

	■ Signage may be provided on street to 
provide the businesses with a sense 
of identity and prominence in the area. 
The signage must be clear and legible, 
and complement the colours of the 
façade treatment. Personal expression 
through signage is encouraged.

	■ Units fronting onto Paradise must have 
a minimum floor to ceiling height of 
4.2m. Elsewhere, a minimum floor to 
ceiling height of 3.2m is acceptable. If 
internal vehicle access is required then 
ceiling heights should be increased 
appropriately.

	■ The larger frontages must be used 
creatively with architectural interest 
and expression. Please refer to the 
materials palette set out in Section 
3.8 for more information on façade 
treatment. 

	■ Front doors must be provided directly 
onto the street. 

	■ Habitable rooms must be located at 
the front of the dwelling to encourage 
passive surveillance and visible activity 
from the street. 

	■ Flexible residential units at ground 
floor must have a minimum floor to 
ceiling height of 4.2m. The increased 
height of the ceiling in comparison to a 
standard residential unit must be used 
creatively, for example through the use 
of a mezzanine level.

	■ Front doors to ground floor flats 
and stacked maisonettes must be 
provided onto the street. For stacked 
maisonettes each unit should have its 
own door: one to access a private core 
(upper level) and one directly into the 
unit (lower level). 

	■ Habitable rooms must be positioned at 
the front of the lower floor unit to ensure 
activity at street level. 

	■ Permanent residential units at ground 
floor and upper floor level must have a 
minimum floor to ceiling height of 2.4m.

1a: Flexible Class E /F2 Units 1b: Flexible Residential Units 2: Permanent Residential 

P
age 329



Paradise Design Code   Built Form
43

03

JULY 2022

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 330



P
age 331



Identity04

P
age 332



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
46

JULY 2022

04

4.0 Identity 

This section sets out the key character drivers 
for the site, including specific codes on the 
approach to the open spaces within the 
site. The identity of the site is made up of a 
combination of open space and built form 
characteristics, therefore codes relating to 
both of these are set out within this section. 
Paradise is located within close proximity 
of the town centre and the site includes 
buildings of a range of townscape qualities 
that typically do not contribute positively in 
architectural character to the identity of the 
neighbourhood. However, they serve an 
important role in providing employment to the 
inner regions of the town.  
The location of Paradise creates a key 
opportunity to significantly enhance the 
character and sense of place, within the 
context of Hemel Hempstead as a New Town. 
A defining characteristic of the New Town is 
the prominence of open space, both in natural 
and urban settings. This includes generous 
landscaped parks, the Water Gardens  with 
wild banks in the heart of the town and long 
distance views to the rising, heavily treed 
land to the south. Another characteristic 
of the New Town is the prominence of flat 
roofs combined with horizontal architectural 
rhythms. This design code brings together 
these two overarching themes to create a 
unique and distinctive identity for Paradise. 
For specific codes on built form please refer to 
Section 03.

Positively interpret the original vision  
for the town 

Proposals must respond to the area’s 
heritage and character as a New Town and 
in terms of the prominence of landscape 
in Jellicoe’s concept of a ‘city in a park’. 
This must be through the vertical stacking 
of open spaces from street level to the 
roofscape and through the provision of a 
green route to Paradise Fields, creating a 
network of green spaces that lead to the 
town centre. 

Improve legibility and connectivity 

The site is poorly connected at the 
moment and proposals must seek to 
improve the legibility and connectivity 
between the town centre, Paradise, the 
nature reserve to the east and the future 
neighbourhood to the north. This must be 
achieved through new and improved areas 
of public realm and encouraging walking 
and cycling as active modes of transport. 

Positively reflect the distinctive 
qualities of Hemel Hempstead 

The New Town comprises a wide range 
of architectural and building styles. This 
section identifies the elements that must 
be used to reflect the character of the town 
to ensure the site is rooted in its context.

1. 3. 2. 

IDENTITY

P
age 333



Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

47

04

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 334



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
48

JULY 2022

04

4.1 Site wide codes 

The key identity parameters for the site are 
illustrated on Figure 4.1. This key plan defines 
the following: 

	■ The key movement routes through the site 
for pedestrians and cyclists. These run 
along key desire lines (in addition to the 
existing street network) to connect the site, 
nature reserve to the east and the future 
neighbourhood on the hospital site to the 
north. Paradise is indicated as a strategic 
green link, and street tree planting must 
be provided to respond to the status of 
this route and highlight it as the primary 
thoroughfare. 

	■ The connected network of open spaces 
within the site have been defined using the 
aforementioned desire lines, and to ensure 
that a variety of different types of spaces are 
provided, each offering unique opportunities.  

	■ Frontage hierarchy, with the more urban, 
continuous and formal frontages along 
Paradise and Wood Lane as well as the 
defined open spaces provided off street. The 
informal frontages along the nature reserve 
to the east and adjoining the existing tree 
belt to the north are also identified. These 
frontages respond to their context, creating 
an urban core to the neighbourhood which 
breaks down to the reflect the natural, 
wilder boundaries of the site. The difference 
between these two frontages predominantly Figure 4.1: Identity Key Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Central open space

Opportunity for tall building

Park Lane

Strategic open space Strategic pedestrian /  
cycle route

Park Edge

Gateway space

Strategic green link

Wood Lane

Indicative residential 
courtyard

Formal frontage character

Informal frontage character

Linear space

Existing street network

Linear space

Indicative commercial 
courtyard

Paradise

P
age 335



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

49

04

COMMONPLACE

lies in the consistency and continuity of 
the building line, with the formal edges 
being continuous and linear creating 
a strong urban edge, and the informal 
edges having the flexibility to be broken 
down into shorter plot widths. All 
frontage typologies identified on this 
plan must provide an active edge. 

	■ The opportunity for landmark buildings 
on the key gateways into the site; St 
Albans Road and Park Lane.  

Why do people feel 
positive about a 
place? 

#1 Close to nature  “ “

4.2 Open space strategy

The feeling of ‘being close to nature’ 
was one of the most prominent positive 
responses on the Commonplace 
engagement for the town. Therefore, the 
identity of the site must respond to the 
importance of open space and greening  
as character drivers for the town.  This will 
root the site in Hemel Hempstead’s New 
Town heritage, and create an appropriate 
transition between the town centre and 
Paradise Fields. To reflect this, any new 
buildings must contribute to the hierarchy 
of spaces set out on the following pages. 
The spaces will  be structured to be 
visible at all levels within the site; from 
street level interventions to wildflower 
green roofs. In addition these spaces will 
fulfil sustainable and energy production 
roles as well as creating spaces for the 
community to come together. This will 
create the distinctive identity of an urban 
neighbourhood intertwined in landscape. 

The strategy for the site is for the spaces 
to transition from formal landscaping in 
proximity to St Albans Road and Park 
Lane, to wilder and more natural on 
approach to the tree belts to the north, 
and particularly the east of the site where 
a legible link through to Paradise Fields will 
be created. 

P
age 336



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
50

JULY 2022

04

D

A

A

A

C

B

B

B

D

A

B

C

D

Street spaces 

Podium gardens

Courtyard spaces

Roof gardens

Figure 4.2: Stacked open space 
strategy. Note: illustrative, code 
compliant scheme shown. 

P
age 337



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

51

04

The spaces across the site must be designed 
to be visible at all levels and will include: 

	■ a clear sequence of spaces (A) with a 
coherent character at street level. This 
will aid in creating a sense of place for this 
new neighbourhood and improve legibility 
between the town centre, Paradise Fields 
and the potential future neighbourhood to 
the north; 

	■ a range of productive roof gardens (D)
(both accessible and inaccessible, private 
and semi-public) that follow the concept of 
wilding to the edges and create an aerial 
transition between urban centre (west) and 
open space (east); 

	■ a wilder and more natural accessible edge 
adjacent to the retained tree belts; 

	■ courtyard spaces, either above podium/
semi-basement parking (C) or at ground 
level (B). Blocks will offer glimpsed views 
into these gardens from the street. 

Further detail on the design codes for the 
spaces are set on the following pages.

D
 R

oo
f G

ar
de

ns
 

D
 R

oo
f G

ar
de

ns
 

B
/C

 C
ou

rt
ya

rd
/P

od
iu

m
 

G
ar

de
ns

A
 S

tr
ee

t l
ev

el
 s

pa
ce

D

D

A

CB

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

Thumbs up for green in the town centre!

Figure 4.3: Illustration of spaces provided at different levels 

P
age 338



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
52

JULY 2022

04

4.3 Typology A: Street Spaces

This section sets out the design codes for 
the key spaces at street level. 

4.31 Enclosure Ratios 

The different types of space set in this 
section have enclosure ratio codes 
attached to them. The enclosure ratio 
of a space is defined by the height of 
the buildings fronting onto it and the 
width of the space. Enclosure ratios of 
1:1-1:1.5 result in more urban, enclosed 
and overlooked spaces, whereas ratios 
over 1:2 result in wider spaces at street 
level that are looser and have increased 
flexibility if there is to be larger areas of 
landscaping, parking or access required 
within the space.  

4.32 Paradise Fields Gateway Space 

The Paradise Fields Gateway Space is the 
transition point between the site and the 
open space beyond (east). It must be a 
legible, safe and accessible route between 
the two spaces. It should also be a 
place for people to dwell, not just pass 
through, with soft landscaping and seating 
opportunities. FORMAL

WILD

FRAMED VIEW TO PARADISE FIELDS 

ENCLOSURE RATIO: 1:1 - 1:1.5
(width of space on illustration: 14m) 

STEPPED BUILDING LINE TO FRAME SPACE 

PARKING

Figure 4.5: Principles plan for the Paradise Fields Gateway Space 

Figure 4.4: Locator Plan 

Illustrative section showing impact of building 
height on width of space to achieve an enclosure 
ratio of 1:1 - 1:1.5

Open Space 14-21m 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
he

ig
ht

 1
4m

 

P
age 339



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

53

04

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

Public Realm 

	■ The space must be designed 
for shared pedestrian and cycle 
movement, vehicle access should be 
restricted to emergency vehicles only. 

	■ The space must be lit to create a 
distinct area and include signage to the 
adjacent nature reserve. Dull orange 
street lighting is not permitted. 

	■ Parking and servicing entrances to 
buildings must be located away from 
the frontages of the space to support 
its public use. 

	■ The space must include soft 
landscaping which responds to the 
gradual transition to wilder landscapes 
on the eastern boundary. 

	■ The space must be designed using 
high quality hard landscape materials 
to accommodate cycle parking 
for visitors to the nature reserve, 
informal doorstep play, seating and 
potential outdoor tables and chairs 
in association with an active ground 
floor use in the building to the north. 
The placement of the above features 
must be designed with the intention of 
encouraging social interaction.

Irregular tree planting and natural seating soften 
the streetscape of this urban courtyard. 

Wilder areas of planting in an urban 
environment, Kings Crescent Estate, London. 

Seating opportunities for groups and individuals 
are provided in this square in Manchester. 

Thumbs up for places to sit and hang out!

Built Form & Use 

The following design codes apply to the 
buildings to the north and south of the 
gateway space only. All site wide built form 
codes (Section 02) must apply. 

	■ The building to the north of the route 
must have large ground floor openings 
to overlook and supervise the gateway 
space. Active uses are encouraged at 
ground floor level, particularly those 
that can spill out into the public realm. 
At this key location, there is a particular 
opportunity for a ground floor use 
that promotes social interaction and 
a sense of community, for instance 
a local cafe. If residential uses are to 
be provided at ground floor level in 
this northern building due to viability, 
then it must retain the principle of 
large openings onto the street through 
the provision of an entrance lobby or 
similar. 

	■ The building line should step into the 
space to create a distinct entrance 
point to the nature reserve. 

	■ The enclosure ratio of the space must 
range between 1:1 and 1:1.5. Refer 
to Section 03 Built Form for more 
information on enclosure ratios. 

Photograph © Jim Stephenson

P
age 340



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
54

JULY 2022

04

4.32 Linear Space 

The north-south linear space will be a key 
movement corridor within the Paradise 
site. The following key principles apply to 
this space: 

	■ provide a vital pedestrian and cycle 
connection between the east-west 
link connecting Paradise Fields to 
the town centre, and between the 
new neighbourhood and the future 
development on the hospital site. 

	■ serve an important function as a 
community space and neighbourhood 
focal point. It will be an off-street space 
where people will be able to sit and 
socialise, and for children to play. As 
the neighbourhood to the north will 
comprise a primary school, this link 
should also incorporate play-on-the-
way facilities that can be continued 
north when the development comes 
forward. 

	■ be terminated at the southern end 
by a building on the opposite side of 
Paradise, which draws people into the 
site from the north by creating a sense 
of intrigue. 

The space will be an urban space with a 
high level of enclosure and overlooking. 
The built form overlooking the space will 
be stacked maisonette typologies with 
front doors onto the street. The frontages 

PLAY ON THE WAY, SEATING, SOFT 
LANDSCAPING

EYES ON THE STREET EYES ON THE STREET 

Indicative land ownership boundary 

Front doors to open 
directly onto space 

Front doors to open 
directly onto space 

Figure 4.6: Locator Plan 

Figure 4.7: Principles plan for the north-south linear space 

Illustrative section showing impact of building 
height on width of space to achieve an enclosure 
ratio of 1:1 - 1:1.5

Open Space 10-15m 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
he

ig
ht

 1
0m

 

onto the space must be continuous to 
provide an appropriate level of enclosure 
and definition. As the space links Paradise 
with the tree belt to the north, urban 
wilding must be explored within the 
space.  

The optimum location for this space is 
shown on Figure 4.6. If the space cannot 
be provided in this location, another 
solution that addresses these objectives, 
within 25m east-west range of the route 
indicated must be put forward. 

HEIGHTS STEP DOWN 
TO FRAME INTIMATE 
COMMUNITY SPACE 

ENCLOSURE RATIO: 1:1 - 1:1.5
(width of space on illustration: 13m) 

P
age 341



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

55

04

COMMONPLACEWhy do people feel positive 
or mostly positive about a 
place? 

#3 Sense of community “ “

Built Form & Use 

The following design codes apply to the 
buildings to the east and west of the linear 
route only. All site wide built form codes 
(Section 02) must apply: 

	■ The units to the east and west of the 
route should have front doors that 
open directly onto the street. 

	■ Defensible space for the buildings 
must be demarcated using the options 
set out in Section 4.33. 

	■ The enclosure ratio of the space must 
range between 1:1 and 1:2. Refer 
to Section 03 Built Form for more 
information on enclosure ratios. 

Public Realm 

	■ The space must be designed 
for shared pedestrian and cycle 
movement, vehicle access must be 
restricted to emergency vehicles only. 

	■ Parking for the residential units fronting 
onto the space must be located to the 
rear of the buildings, to support the 
public use of the space. 

	■ The space must be designed to 
accommodate play on the way, public 
seating and soft landscaping that 
visibly reflects the strategy of ‘wilding 
to the edges’. 

	■ Hard landscaping: continuous paving 
materials must be used, with variation 
allowed only where there is residential 
defensible/privacy space. 

	■ The residential units must have a 
defensible /privacy strip of minimum 
1m between the building line and open 
space.

This linear space incorporates both hard and soft 
landscaping with seating opportunities. 

Incidental opportunities for play integrated into 
the public realm in Myatts Field, London. 

P
age 342



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
56

JULY 2022

04

4.33 On-street treatment  

The Regulatory Plan safeguards a 3m 
setback between the building frontage and 
the highway boundary for Paradise and 
2m for Wood Lane. This setback allows 
for the space to be coded to positively 
impact on the streetscene, and provide 
the appropriate response to the ground 
floor uses. The following pages set out the 
codes for how the street frontage must be 
treated for each of the ground floor unit 
typologies. Please refer to Section 3.4 for 
information on the ground floor strategy 
that determines the unit typologies. 

In addition to the setback space, the 
opportunity must be taken to improve the 
movement corridors within the highways 
boundaries in the future. Paradise is a key 
east-west link through the site and public 
realm improvements must prioritise and 
safeguard pedestrian and cycle movement 
along this axis. 

	■ Servicing bays should be 
provided within the set back 
with movable planters or other 
temporary planting interventions at 
either end. 

	■ Floor to ceiling heights must 
comply with the codes set out in 
Section 02. 

	■ The paving materials should 
clearly demarcate the servicing 
bay from the frontage spill out 
space. This space could also 
include movable planters.

	■ Planters, street furniture and other 
landscape interventions can be used 
to demarcate the defensible /privacy 
space in front of and in between 
residential units. 

	■ Car parking spaces may be provided 
on street. There should be no more 
than three parking spaces in a row 
without landscape interventions 
breaking them up. 

	■ Floor to ceiling heights must comply 
with the codes set out in Section 03.

	■ Bin and cycle stores should be 
designed as integral to the buildings, 
or on-street in front of the buildings. 
If they are to be designed as part of 
the frontage, a high-quality masonry 
enclosure should be provided to 
relate to the primary façade materials 
and to create an attractive on-street 
feature. 

1a: Flexible Class E /F2 Units 1b: Flexible Residential Units 

Figure 4.9Figure 4.8

These movable planters are used as a feature 
of the space amongst seating blocks in 
Manchester. 

Typology 1: Flexible Units (refer to 
Section 3.4 for definition) 

Common Principles

	■ All new lighting must be provided on 
the front wall of the ground floor unit, 
not within the streetscape. 

	■ Trees with a 2m clear stem must be 
provided at appropriate distances 
so as not to compromise servicing 
requirements for any particular 
commercial or light industrial use. 

	■ All ground floor uses must provide an 
active edge to the street (see Built Form 
Section 03). 

	■ Each forecourt space must include an 
area of soft landscape.

P
age 343



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

57

04

COMMONPLACE

Why do people feel positive 
about a place? 

#5 Pedestrian friendly 

	■ Defensible space must be demarcated through 
the use of planters, low vegetation, wild pockets of 
landscaping or railings with inter-visibility between 
the street and ground level unit. For each unit it must 
incorporate an element of soft landscape. 

	■ On more intimate streets, where trees may not be 
appropriate, climbing plant species should be used 
to introduce greening to the façades. The exposure 
and direction facing of the unit must be considered in 
species choice. 

	■ Bin and cycle stores should be designed as integral 
to the buildings, or on-street in front of the buildings. 
If they are to be designed as part of the frontage, a 
high-quality masonry enclosure should be provided 
to relate to the primary façade materials and to create 
an attractive on-street feature. 

	■ Front doors must be provided directly onto the 
street. For more information on the built form please 
refer to Section 3.4. 

	■ Boundary treatment must be consistent along the 
length of the street. 

2: Permanent Residential 

Planters at the front of the house provide a 
privacy strip in St Andrews, Bromley-by-Bow. 

Wild front gardens are used to demarcate 
private/public land in some of the more historic 
areas of Hemel Hempstead. 

Climbing plants and shrub planting are used to soften the edge of the housing and green the street in 
William Street Quarter, London. 

Figure 4.10

“ “

P
age 344



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
58

JULY 2022

04

4.4 Typology B: Courtyard spaces

Courtyard spaces can be provided 
within either the linear or courtyard block 
typologies. For the purposes of illustration, 
this page identifies the coding for the space 
to the rear of a linear block, however these 
same codes apply if the space is provided 
within a courtyard block. 

	■ Parking must be sensitively integrated 
into the public realm. This must be 
achieved through discreet demarcation 
of the parking bays using low walls, 
boundary planting or paving variations. 
White painted lines are not permitted. 
Inter-visibility between the soft and hard 
landscaped areas must be provided. 

	■ High quality and permeable paving 
materials must be used for parking areas.  

	■ Parking spaces must be designed so 
as not to compromise the ability for the 
space to change /be reclaimed for an 
alternative use in the future. 

	■ Soft landscaping must be incorporated 
into the public realm. This must be 
designed to be usable, each area of open 
space must not be smaller than 10% of 
the overall space and must be designed 
with a justifiable use, e.g. informal play. 

	■ Direct access must be provided from 
ground floor units where undercroft 
parking is not provided. This should be 

4.5 Typology C: Podium Gardens

Podium gardens may be provided as 
an open space typology over either car 
parking or other uses that require a deep 
floorplate, for other non-residential uses 
that require a deeper floorplate than 
residential uses. The following design 
codes apply to these raised gardens: 

	■ The open space must relate to 
surrounding landscape. As these 
gardens are raised, they must provide 
access to the surrounding street /
landscape through the use of stepped 
landscape /public realm.  Parking must 
be wrapped in uses that provide an 
active street frontage, where frontages 
are defined on the key plan (Figure 4.1). 

	■ The units surrounding the space 
must provide a high level of passive 
surveillance, through window 
positioning and the use of balconies. 

	■ Where Class E uses are adopted over 
two storeys on the street frontage, 
the opportunity for these to step out 
directly onto the podium as a semi-
public space must be explored. 

	■ The podium spaces must include: 
space for informal play, soft 
landscaping, the opportunity for 
informal play and seating opportunities. 

Well overlooked courtyard space that sensitively 
incorporates, but is not dominated by, parking. 

Parking incorporated into the public realm in a 
way that means the spaces could be reclaimed 
for a different use in future. 

Podium gardens offering a range of natural play 
opportunities within a soft landscaped  garden. 

a rear door to semi-private patios, with 
the primary residential access provided 
from the street frontage. 

	■ Please refer to Appendix A for sections 
illustrating how the courtyard gardens 
could be provided within the block to 
accommodate parking that could be 
repurposed in future.

	■ Please refer to Appendix A for section 
illustrating how the podium gardens 
can be provided within the block, with 
direct access from either residential or 
Use Class E /F2 units.

P
age 345



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

59

04

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

4.6 Typology D: Roof Gardens  

The following codes apply to all flat roofs 
within the site: 

	■ All roofs must contribute to the site’s 
sustainability and/or biodiversity 
functions. The following are acceptable 
approaches (more than one function 
can be applied to a single roof): 

 - Accessible communal roof gardens 
with prevalence of soft landscaping. 
This could include spaces for 
exercise, community spaces for 
exercise and/or other community 
spaces including a café, gym or 
workspaces subject to viability.  

 - Communal growing spaces.

 - Green/blue roofs contributing to 
the drainage functionality and/or 
ecological biodiversity of the site. 

 - Energy generation including solar 
PVs and air source heat pumps. 

	■ The site must provide variety in 
roofscape approaches. Each site 
must be assessed for its individual 
merits, but must demonstrate a varied 
approach to other applications to 
ensure variety.

Co

mmunal growing 

Gr
ee

n/blue roof

Ac
ce

ssible gardens 

Figure 4.11: Principles plan for roof gardens 

I like that people grow things here! 

P
age 346



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
60

JULY 2022

04

4.7 Typology E: Balconies 

All units must provide outdoor amenity 
space. In addition to the roof spaces set 
out in Section 3.6, this can be provided 
through the use of balconies. The suitable 
use of balconies on frontages is set out 
below: 

	■ Inset or partially inset/recessed 
balconies must be provided on south 
facing units that front onto Paradise or 
Wood Lane. These must be designed 
to create a privacy buffer between 
internal living spaces and the street. 

	■ Protruding balconies are only 
permitted on rear façades, overlooking 
communal or private gardens or 
frontages identified as informal on 
Figure 4.1. 

	■ The design and depth of balconies 
must be designed to maximise 
sunlight /daylight whilst maintaining an 
appropriate level of privacy. Balconies 
must achieve a minimum width and 
depth of 1500mm. 

For more information on balcony 
treatment and materials please refer to 
Section 3.8.

External balconies are permitted on rear façades. Partially inset balconies are considered a more 
sustainable option to inset balconies whilst 

maintaining a clean and simple façade. 

Inset balconies are an option on south facing units, or units 
overlooking Paradise or Wood Lane 

P
age 347



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

61

04

COMMONPLACE

Why do people feel 
mostly positive about a 
place? 

#1 Important to the 
character of Hemel 

Textured brickwork is used to add interest to the façade in Horsted Park. 

Glazed brickwork is used as a secondary element.

4.8 Elevational Treatment 

The material palette has been developed 
through an analysis of the local context. 
It is influenced by the heritage of Hemel 
Hempstead as a new town, and makes 
nods to the old town in a contemporary 
fashion. The palette has been developed 
with a view of creating a development 
rooted in the identity of the town, while 
also allowing a degree of variety and 
interest. The codes set out in this section 
apply to both formal and informal 
frontages as identified on Figure 4.1. 

Primary façade materials 

Brick must be used as the primary facing 
material. Other materials will require a 
strong justification as to their use as a 
primary material within an application. 
Rendering, as either a primary or 
secondary material will not be deemed 
acceptable. All brick façades must 
employ a simple and restrained palette of 
primary materials.

To ensure variety and avoid the 
predominance of a single brick tone, 
which engagement responses found 
unattractive, adjoining buildings should 
use a different brick tone. 

For each development, the selected 
brick must complement the colours of 
adjoining developments and buildings. 

“ “

P
age 348



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
62

JULY 2022

04

All brick façades must incorporate elements 
of decorative detail, through the introduction 
of one of:

	■ Textured brickwork;

	■ Change in brick bond e.g. soldier or stack 
bond; or

	■ Secondary elements as identified below. 

Secondary Elements 

Selected elements should be selected from 
the palette used in the early New Town centre 
buildings. These include: 

	■ Textured brick; 

	■ Patterned brick panels; 

	■ Flint panels (knapped or whole); 

	■ Metal cladding panels; 

	■ Glass; 

	■ Ceramic tiles; 

	■ Mosaics; 

	■ Precast decorative panels. 

Other high-quality materials may be used as 
secondary elements where they will create 
a similar visual effect, with justification, 
for instance glazed brickwork in place of 
ceramic tiles. 

All buildings must incorporate decorative 
details as part of their façade design. These 
must be selected from the materials listed 
above. 

Gainsford Road applies a regular horizontal rhythm on brick façades

Strong framing of windows and 
entrances in Hemel Hempstead 
New Town 

Saxon Court uses secondary elements to 
reinforce entrances and windows

This entrance court in Gainsford 
Road uses glazed tiles to create 
interest 

Tiled mural, Hemel Hempstead 
New Town 

Regular horizontal rhythms are a distinctive 
feature of Hemel Hempstead New Town

P
age 349



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

63

04

Expressive balconies, Hemel Hempstead New 
Town 

This block in Burridge Gardens demarcates windows using a different tone 
of brickwork and uses different balcony extrusions to add interest

Lattice screens, Hemel Hempstead New Town The entrances to the homes within the Colville 
Estate use lattice detailing on the doors which 
compliments the brick façade

P
age 350



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
64

JULY 2022

04

Decorative materials should provide 
visual interest and detail in positions 
where people are likely to see the façade 
from close up, such as around entrances, 
window openings, or around balconies. 

Decorative details may also introduce 
horizontal or vertical emphasis on the 
façade or at roof level. Decorative details 
must be selected to support the design 
concept for the building.

Proportions and rhythms

For stacked maisonettes, vertical or 
balanced façade rhythms are appropriate 
and the massing of the building may 
emphasise this. 

For linear blocks of apartments, balanced 
or horizontal façade rhythms are 
appropriate. 

For taller/tall buildings, vertical or balanced 
façade rhythms are appropriate.

Balustrades & Screens 

Balustrades should allow sunlight into a 
balcony space while giving a degree of 
privacy to the user. Metal railings, when 
used, should add distinctive detail to a 
building façade. 

Metal screens may also provide filtered 
views and privacy, for example to 
communal stairs or to ground floor 
accommodation, or screen views of car 

parking or refuse stores from outside while 
allowing daylight and cross ventilation to 
the parking area. 

Openings

Openings must be emphasised either 
by creating a reveal, setting window 
and doors back at least half a brick as 
a minimum and by framing them with a 
window surround. 

Framing of ground floor flexible units 
(see Section 3.4 for definition) 

Façades should create a strong frame for 
the ground floor unit, which may contrast 
with the primary façade material.

Entrances 

Entrances and communal lobbies should 
be generous and well lit, with canopies, 
projections  or setback porches to provide 
shelter above the entrance door.

Residential entrances may be set back by 
at least one brick.  

Canopies should be lightweight and 
elegant in appearance.

Stacked maisonettes with vertical façade 
elements and rooftop amenity spaces  create 

a stepped roofscape in Ouseburn (Ash Sakula 
Architects) 

Figure 4.12: For stacked maisonettes, vertical 
or balanced façade rhythms are appropriate 
(Illustration of rhythm shown ).

P
age 351



Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

65

04

Figure 4.13: For landmark elements, vertical or balanced façade 
rhythms are appropriate (Illustration of rhythm shown).

Figure 4.14: For linear blocks of apartments, balanced or horizontal façade rhythms are appropriate (Illustration of 
rhythms shown) .  

P
age 352



P
age 353



05 Use

P
age 354



 ❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
68

05

JULY 2022

USE

5.0 Use

This section establishes the use strategy 
across the site, including the configuration 
of residential and non-residential uses. 

The site will provide a mix of residential 
and non-residential uses, with areas of the 
ground floor and first floor space coded to 
ensure flexibility for interchange between 
the two in response to market demand. 
The two overarching principles for the 
uses within Paradise are set out on this 
page.

	■ The site must incorporate ground 
floor units that have inherent flexibility 
to accommodate a range of uses /
occupiers. 

	■ The different uses within the site must 
be designed to co-exist in harmony 
to create a positive environment for 
residents, employees and visitors. 

The site must incorporate ground floor units that have 
inherent flexibility to accommodate a range of uses /
occupiers. 

The different uses within the site must be designed to 
co-exist in harmony to create a positive environment 
for residents, employees and visitors. 

1. 2. 

P
age 355



Paradise Design Code   Use
69

05

JULY 2022

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 356



 ❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
70

05

JULY 2022

5.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the 
uses across the site: 

	■ Where ‘mixed-use’ floorspace is identified, 
orthogonal layouts should be provided 
to enable flexibility in use, layout and 
occupation. If the layout is not orthogonal (at 
right angles), it must demonstrate how the 
space can be used with a suitable level of 
flexibility for future change in use.  

	■ Commercial workspace must be designed 
to allow future sub-division of the space. This 
includes the design of circulation and spaces 
to allow for flex in use and occupation. 

	■ Where the workspace occupier is known, 
a specific set of design requirements must 
be established for that occupier, within the 
framework set out within this code. 

	■ Where ground floor courtyards are provided 
in the centre of a block, or to the rear of a 
block, these courtyards must be designed 
as part of the sequence of spaces used for 
access/egress by the residents, with easy 
access from the main residential circulation 
core. This will ensure a strong and coherent 
relationship between the users and the 
space, and encourage activity. 

	■

Figure 5.1: Ground Floor Land Use Opportunities Guidance Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Subject to Article 4 

Additional land use 
opportunity 

Potential area for Mixed Use 
and residential class C3, 
E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), 
F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Mixed use & opportunity for 
larger scape Industrial uses 
Use class  E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), 
F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Potential area for residential 
use only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Mixed Uses: Use class  E (all) + 
F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Indicative location for DENs 
food bank

Primary active frontage

Opportunity for cafe /  
Community use

Opportunity for  
Local convenience

P
age 357



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Use
71

05

JULY 2022

YOUTH ENGAGEM
EN

T

	■ Primary access routes into courtyard 
spaces for all users must be a minimum 
of 6m in width to create a generous, 
welcoming and safe access point. 

	■ Floor to ceiling heights must comply with 
the codes set out in Section 3.4.

	■ Where mixed-use space is identified 
at ground floor level, the space 
should be partially fitted out to enable 
the opportunity for small-medium 
enterprises (SMEs)  to move in.   

5.2 Land Use Strategy 

Figures 5.1-5.3 illustrate the guidance for the 
land use strategy at the ground floor, first 
floor and upper floor levels. 

The ground floor strategy for the site has 
been designed to be inherently flexible, so 
that it can respond to market demand in the 
future. In some locations the opportunity for 
two storeys of mixed use has been identified 
on important frontages, such as fronting 
onto Paradise, on the western site gateway 
with Park Lane and to the south of Wood 
Lane, overlooking St Albans Road. 

Where mixed-uses are provided, either at 
the ground floor or upper floor levels, these 
should explore the opportunity to step out 
into the courtyard spaces to the rear (or 
podium level gardens) where beneficial.

‘A cafe would be nice next to the nature reserve’

Figure 5.2: First Floor Use Guidance Plan 

Figure 5.3: Upper Floors Guidance Plan 

N

N
Subject to Article 4 

Subject to Article 4 

Potential area for Use class 
C3, E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 
(a), F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for Use class 
C3, E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 
(a), F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Potential area for residential 
use only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for residential 
use only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Mixed Uses - class C3, E (all) + 
F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Indicative location for DENs 
food bank

P
age 358



 ❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
72

05

JULY 2022

5.3 Opportunities 

Whilst the site land use strategy has 
retained inherent flexibility, the location of 
some of the parcels lend themselves to 
specific use opportunities, as identified on 
Figure 5.1 and described below: 

	■ There are two broad locations that 
are identified as key opportunities for 
a cafe. These locations have been 
selected as they would create a 
dynamic relationship between the two 
key areas of public realm within the site 
and the ground floor that overlooks 
them:  

	η the public space linking to the 
nature reserve to the east. This 
location is clearly visible within the 
public realm, sits along a key desire 
line and would act to draw people 
through the site on entrance from 
the west. 

	η To the south of the north-south link 
that connects into the east-west 
route towards the town centre and 
to the future neighbourhood on the 
hospital site. A cafe or community 
use in this location would provide a 
bookend to this space and would 
have the ability to spill out into it, 
thus activating the communal space 
here. 

	■ Plot K (shaded orange on Figure 
5.1) has been identified as a suitable 
location for a more substantial 
provision of industrial space. This is 
afforded by the proximity of the site 
to St Albans Road, meaning that 
traffic wouldn’t need to come into 
the heart of the site. In addition, the 
topographical conditions and scale of 
the floorspace available means that a 
deeper floorplate could be provided 
without compromise to the street 
frontage. In addition, there is adequate 
space for turning on site, provided the 
suitable access arrangements were 
to be designed in according to the 
specific requirements of the occupier. 
Recognising the landmark nature of 
this plot, any industrial spaces must be 
visually attractive and integrated into 
the façade design of the building. 

	■ An opportunity for a commercial 
courtyard /working yard spill out 
space as been identified on the corner 
plot where Paradise meets Wood 
Lane. This space could be more of 
an intimate courtyard space, adding 
variety to the hierarchy of open spaces 
and sitting on a potential link between 
the site, the future neighbourhood 
to the north and the east-west link 
connecting the town centre to the 
nature reserve.  

Temporary Initiatives

Temporary uses could be brought forward 
on the site to support its transition from 
an employment led area to a mixed-use 
neighbourhood. Small scale initiatives 
such as a pop-up coffee shop, or hoarding 
that hosts public art could be used to 
attract interest in the site. The most 
suitable locations for these initiatives are 
along key future desire lines, as identified 
in Section 2, and where a site is coming 
forward in phases, this having additional 
space available. 

If a parcel is to come forward in phases, 
for example if a business relocates off-
site then the existing building should be 
considered as a venue for a temporary 
initiative, for example a recreational sports 
space. Temporary initiatives could be used to support 

the transition to a mixed-use neighbourhood. 

P
age 359



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Use
73

05

COMMONPLACE

JULY 2022

Design of spaces needs to 
include ways to foster a friendly 
and social neighbourhood. 
This may include culture and 
entertainment facilities. 

5.4 Frontages 

The frontages of the site are of critical 
importance to the character of the streets 
and spaces within the site. The variety 
of uses and occupiers at ground floor 
level will contribute to the vibrancy of the 
streetscape, and the frontages must be 
carefully designed to ensure that they are 
benefiting the public realm as well as being 
fully functional for the users. The following 
codes apply to the ground floor frontages 
across the site:  

	■ Any spaces within Use Classes E or F2 
must balance privacy requirements 
with the need to provide an active 
frontage and functional internal spatial 
arrangements. Where these spaces 
exist they must provide a window /
intervisibility between the internal 
space and the street, and where 
possible between the working space /
community space and the street. 

	■ Any privacy measures can be taken 
internally (for example through the use 
of partitions). Where uses may evolve to 
become more public facing, the design 
of frontages should allow for future 
adaptation to accommodate this need.

	■ Spaces that are to be used within Use 
Class E /F2 can be double fronted to 
overlook both the street and the rear 
space. This affords the opportunity for 

rear spill-out space for the employees/
visitors. It must be ensured that there 
is no conflict with the access provision 
and other uses to the rear, particularly 
where the space is shared with 
residential uses. 

	■ Residential entrances must be visible 
from the street, and demarcated using 
the codes set out in Section 4.8.

Secondary elements are encouraged to emphasise 
residential entrances, which should be clearly visible from 
the street. 

“

“

P
age 360



P
age 361



 A Appendix

P
age 362



76
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Masterplan evidence base 

Interdependencies 

The Figure adjacent sets out the plot interdependencies 
assumed as part of the coding process. The complexities 
of the land ownership pattern on site result in a 
fragmented and piecemeal series of plots. This plan 
identifies how these plots could come together, as 
demonstrated in the framework, to produce a more 
positive outcome in any of the following ways: 

	■ Parking. 

	■ Open space & landscaping. 

	■ Capacity. 

	■ Access.

Joint vehicular access is encouraged between land plots 
where deliverable. 

Further Opportunities 

As set out in the ‘Use’ section of this design code, Plot 
K has a potential further option on its land uses. If other 
industrial uses are to be retained on site, that do not fall 
in within Use Class E, it would be the most suitable site 
to accommodate this type of industry. This is due to its 
proximity to St Albans Road, and the minimised impact 
it would have on transit through to the heart of the site in 
comparison to the other plots. 

A
B

C
D

E

F

H

K

J

G

Appendix A

Sites considered 
interdependent within code

Sites that would benefit from 
coming forward together as part 
of wider parcel

Interdependent

Figure A1: Plot Interdependencies 

P
age 363



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
77

A

Floor Area Ratios 

The illustrative masterplan for Paradise 
demonstrates how the site could come 
forward in a code compliant way. The 
plot ratios and floor area ratios that are 
achieved with the blocks on the Illustrative 
Masterplan are set out on the adjacent 
table. 

Site (See Figure A1) Plot coverage Floor Area Ratio

A 0.4 2.3

B 0.4 1.1

C 0.4 1.5

D 0.5 1.9

E 0.4 1.2

F 0.5 2.1

G 0.4 1.5

H 0.8 1.6

J 0.4 1.6

K 0.8 2.4

Table A1: Floor Area /Plot Ratios 

P
age 364



78
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Car Parking 

The illustrative masterplan shown on 
Figure A2 accommodates parking in a 
variety of ways, the locations of which are 
shown indicatively on Figure A2: 

	■ Undercroft/podium car parking 

	■ Semi-basement parking; and

	■ Courtyard parking. 

Any parking requirements are to be 
extracted from DBC’s Parking Standards 
SPD 2020 and any future iterations of this 
guidance. 

Existing Car Parking on Paradise Lane 

P
age 365



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
79

A

Ground floor parking

Surface car parking 

30 existing car parking 
spaces

Plot A has been 
identified as a suitable 
location for a semi-
basement car park

Circulation space

Undercroft parking

Indicative minimum 
open space requirement 
(10%)

Plot K has been 
identified as a suitable 
location for Podium 
parking

Figure A2: Illustrative Car Parking Locations 

P
age 366



80
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Indicative time frames

The Figure adjacent sets indicative time 
frames for the different plots within the 
site to come forward within.  Short, 
medium and long term sites are identified 
(time frames to be confirmed with DBC). 
These indicative time frames have been 
determined based on the land ownership 
information made available. 

Proposed buildings 

Existing buildings 

Stage 1 

Stage 3  

Stage 2

Short-term

Medium / Long-term

Long-term

P
age 367



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
81

A

3D Massing 

The images on this page illustrate the 3D 
massing for the illustrative masterplan. 
This scheme is code compliant, and the 
heights fall within the specified parameters 
set out on Figure 3.2, with heights varying 
from 3 storeys in sensitive locations, 
to 8 storeys where there is a landmark 
opportunity. 

Viewpoint location 

Viewpoint location 

St Albans R
oad 

St Albans Road 

St Albans Road 

Paradise 

St Albans R
oad 

Flexible ground floor units 

Flexible ground floor units 

P
age 368



82
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

P
age 369



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
83

A B Appendix

P
age 370



Analysis 

This appendix sets out the baseline analysis for Paradise 
in the context of the wider town centre, focussing on the 
following aspects: 

	■ Movement: Pedestrians, cyclists, public transport and 
vehicular; 

	■ Green and  blue infrastructure;

	■ Land Use;

	■ Heights; 

	■ Heritage; and 

	■ Built Form & Character. 

Above: NMDC Extract illustrating Design Code Process 

This section covers the 
Baseline stage of the 
Design Code process 

84
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix BAppendix B

P
age 371



K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Movement: Pedestrians and Cyclists 

Wider Town Centre 

Hemel Hempstead comprises two main centres: the Old Town to the north, and the New 
Town to the south. Figure 1 illustrates the key destinations within the town, which are visibly 
concentrated in two key clusters within the heart of each centre. Paradise is well located in 
relation to the two centres; with the Old Town just over 15 minutes walk north and the New 
Town (centred on the Marlowes) within a 10 minute walk. 

Pedestrian connectivity through the town comprises a mix of pedestrianised routes, 
pavements along roads and routes within landscape corridors and open space. Within the 
retail core of each of the two centres, a positive pedestrian environment has been created; 
from the pedestrianised Marlowes within the New Town, to the raised tables and level 
surfacing on the Old Town High Street. The Water Gardens  provide an attractive, alternative 
off-road route that extends the majority of the distance between the two centres within the 
town. 

Pedestrian movement along St Albans Road and across the Plough Roundabout towards 
the station is undesirable, with a number of underpasses that are occasionally flooded. 
There is a very limited number of pedestrian crossings along St Albans Road, making it a 
large barrier for movement north-south. 

There is a lack of cycle infrastructure, with no dedicated cycle lanes within the town centre. 

Paradise 

Marlowes, the main pedestrianised high street within the New Town is within a 10 minute 
walk of the site, however the pedestrian movement routes between the two are indirect and 
need improvement. The large scale block of the Marlowes Shopping Centre & Car Park 
creates a major barrier between the New Town centre and the site.  In addition, there is a 
level change between Marlowes and Wolsey Road, with the accesses ramped or stepped 
up around the northern and southern edges of the Marlowes Centre. 

Within the site boundaries, there are pavements provided for pedestrians, however due to 
the industrial nature of the site it isn’t heavily trafficked by people moving through on foot. 
However, the context of the site is changing with the emerging development in Paradise 
Fields and the Poppy and Primrose Court residential units, which will increase pedestrian 
presence on site. 

There are two pedestrian access points between the site and Paradise Fields, however 
these are overgrown and underused at present. Figure B1: Pedestrian and Cycle Movement 

Destinations   
(incl. schools, library, High 
Street and the Old Town)

Walking distances

 5 minutes

 10 minutes

 15 minutes

Primary footpath 

Secondary footpath 

Tertiary footpath

Town Centre connectivity 
from Paradise 

Key pedestrian crossing

Key 

10 minute cycle, 26 
minute walk to Hemel 
Hempstead Station 

JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
85

B
N

P
age 372



Movement: What does this tell us? 

	■ Any new development should maximise pedestrian and cycle permeability and 
safety through the site. 

	■ Car parking should be rationalised to maximise the usability of the internal spaces 
and create a high quality and healthy place. 

	■ The movement routes must be connected into a wider movement strategy to 
improve connections between the site and the town centre. 

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

J U N C T I O N  8  M 1
( 7  m i n  d r i v e )

L E I G H T O N  B U Z Z A R D
( 2 7  m i n  d r i v e )

B E R K H A M S T E A D
( 1 0  m i n  d r i v e )

WAT F O R D
( 2 0  m i n  d r i v e )

Primary street

Secondary street

Tertiary street

Arterial street

Pedestrianised High Street

Public car parking 

Access road 

Key 

Movement: Vehicular 

Wider Town Centre 

The main access to the town centre from the south is via the Plough roundabout, where 
6 routes converge. St Albans Road provides a major transport route between the town 
centre and the M1 to the west, whilst traffic moving north travels via Leighton Buzzard Road 
or Marlowes to reach the Old Town.  

Paradise  

The site is bounded by St Albans Road to the south and to the west adjoins the junction 
connecting Paradise with Park Lane. 

The existing site has 2 access points for vehicles, provided from St Albans Road (A414)  
and Park Lane. Paradise and Wood Lane are adopted roads, with Paradise terminating in 
a dead end with an 18m wide turning head at its eastern end.  The existing industrial uses 
on site benefit from easy access to the M1 via St Albans Road, without having to navigate 
through the town centre. 

Car parking is distributed throughout the site both on-street and within plots and tends to 
dominate the streetscape. 

Figure B2:Vehicular Movement 

86
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B
N

P
age 373



Public transport: What does this tell us? 

	■ Paradise is a sustainable location for both living and 
working. It has easy access to the town centre and 
to local bus routes. The train station, which offers 
direct services to London, is within a 25 minute walk 
however the connection requires improvement in  
order to be a safe and efficient route for pedestrians 
and cyclists. HERT, when delivered, will improve its 
public transport accessibility further. 

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

LE
IG

H
T

O
N

 B
U

Z
Z

A
R

D
 R

O
A

D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

20
 m

i n
u t

e  
w

a l
k

15
 m

in
ut

e 
w

al
k

Potential HERT route 

Indicative walking 
distances 

Bus stop 

Key Public transport 

Existing 

Hemel Hempstead railway station is situated to the south 
west of the town centre, approximately 25 minute walk or 10 
minute cycle from Paradise. 

Existing bus routes serving the town centre are concentrated 
on a north south route along Marlowes, Bridge Street and 
Waterhouse Street with bus stops within a 5 minute walk 
of Paradise. More limited services run east west at the 
southern end of the town centre along St Albans Road and 
Station Road. Buses also serve Midland Road to the north of 
Paradise. 

Emerging: Hertfordshire - Essex Rapid Transit

The proposed Hertfordshire - Essex Rapid Transit (HERT) 
is an accessible, reliable and affordable Mass Rapid 
Transit (MRT) system that will run east to west from Hemel 
Hempstead and West Watford, joining just south of St 
Albans in Hertfordshire, to Harlow in Essex and onwards 
to Stansted Airport. It will provide a new, sustainable 
passenger transport network, carrying people in greater 
numbers than a typical private car, while providing greater 
convenience and reliability than a traditional bus service.

Project status: public engagement in Autumn 2021

Figure B3. Public transport
JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

87

B
N

P
age 374



What does this tell us? 

	■ Landscape is a defining feature of the town. 

	■ East-west connectivity between open spaces must be considered in the wider/
strategic town centre strategy. 

	■ The Paradise development must be linked into the green infrastructure network and, 
where possible, green infrastructure should be brought into the site. 

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Green and Blue Infrastructure 

Wider Town Centre 

The green and blue infrastructure is a defining feature of Hemel Hempstead and the wider 
town benefits from several large parks. It comprises a variety of elements, from large 
parks offering a variety of play opportunities, to formal landscaping within streetscapes 
and distant views towards the rising land to the south of the railway. Jellicoe’s original 
vision for Hemel Hempstead was based on the ideal of development set within swathes of 
landscape, and his linear Water Gardens  remain a distinctive and important feature within 
the town. They introduce water and soft landscape into the heart of the New Town centre, 
otherwise hard environment. 

As can be seen on Figure 3 there are extensive green fingers running north south through 
and around the town, however, there is a noticeable lack of east-west links connecting 
these swathes of landscape together. The site’s location provides a key opportunity to 
connect the network of green spaces that link the Nickey Line to Paradise Fields, through 
to the town centre. 

Paradise 

With the exception of the street trees and intermittent grass verges, the site doesn’t 
currently offer any open or amenity space for public use.  To the east of the site there 
is an extensive network of open space extending north from Paradise Fields towards 
Keens Field and the Nickey Line, a strategic footpath/cycleway. However, the connections 
between the site and this open space are underused and understated and the Nickey 
Line does not extend into the town centre at present. Therefore, the site provides a key 
opportunity for a new green link to connect the town centre into the existing network. 

Figure B4: Green and Blue Infrastructure

Green space 

Formal play space

Water 

Green belt 

TPO (Tree Preservation Order)

Hertfordshire County Council 
Wildlife Site

Allotments 

Pedestrianised High Street

Nickey Line

Key 

N

88
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 375



What does this tell us? 

	■ The land use context of the site is changing, and the proposed and emerging co-
location of light industrial, business, community services and residential uses needs 
carefully consideration and management.  

	■ The site is removed from the core of the town centre and should not aim to compete. 
The mix of uses on site must address the needs of the neighbourhood whilst making 
the most of the opportunities of its central location for providing local business. 

Land Use 

The two distinct centres within Hemel Hempstead offer a differing range of facilities and 
services. 

The Old Town 

The Old Town is located at the northern end of the wider town centre area and comprises a 
linear high street with a mix of shops and services, including a regular market. The Old Town 
has a higher concentration of independent shops as well as public houses whose hours 
provide for a large proportion of the night-time economy within the town.

The New Town  

The New Town centre is largely linear in form, and comprises the pedestrianised Marlowes, 
and two shopping centres: Riverside and the Marlowes. The retail and service provision is 
concentrated south of the Market Square, and includes restaurants, cafés and a range of 
shops. 

Paradise 

The existing site comprises a mix of heavy and light industrial, community facilities, services 
and retail. In recent years residential development has been planned within the immediate 
vicinity of the site including the (currently under construction) Poppy and Primrose Court 
residential development and Paradise Fields to the south east, that comprises 58 dwellings. 
Directly to the north of the site is the hospital site, which has been allocated for mixed-use 
development comprising 450 dwellings, a primary school and associated open space.

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Figure B5:Land Use

Retail 

Commercial 

Industrial 

Community

Leisure 

Education 

Religious

Residential

Emerging residential

Car parking 

Key 
N

JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
89

B

P
age 376



Heights 

Wider town centre area 

The tallest building within Hemel Hempstead is the KD Tower, which is 22 storeys and sits 
significantly above the skyline of the rest of the town. The core of the New Town centre has 
little variation in height, with the majority of buildings between 3-4 storeys in height. There 
are existing taller and midrise buildings of 6+ storeys in the town centre including within 
new and emerging development, which are beginning to set a precedent for intensifying 
development closest to the core of the new town. The height decreases towards the 
Old Town to the north and the residential estates to the east and west, which generally 
comprise 2-3 storey housing. 

Paradise 

The generally low rise nature of the site is reflective of the site’s industrial history. South 
of the site boundary, fronting onto St Albans Road are a row of residential units that are 4 
storeys in height. Orchid Drive, directly adjoining part of the site’s western boundary is a 
residential development 2-3 storeys in height. However, the identity of the site is changing, 
and Poppy and Primrose Court, a residential development that is currently being built out, 
will rise to 5 storeys. 

The set back of the majority of the buildings on site, in combination with their low rise 
nature results in a streetscape that is undefined by building form and could be improved 
in terms of overlooking. Any new development should provide frontages that have a close 
relationship with the street. 

What does this tell us?  

	■ Paradise is an appropriate area to increase building heights and extend the existing 
cluster of taller buildings at the south end of the town centre. 

	■ The KD Tower is widely used as a local point of orientation to identify the town 
centre. The Paradise area is not part of the core town centre, so buildings should 
avoid competing for prominence with the KD Tower. 

	■ Height will need to carefully respond to the topography and the existing dwellings

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K Storey height

 Single 

 2-3

 4-5

 6-8

 9-14

 15+

Key 

Figure B6: Building Heights

N

90
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 377



Topography 

The town centre of Hemel Hempstead lies in the valley 
bottom of the River Gade with the land rising up to the 
east. The valley side incorporates a number of dry valleys, 
including one along the alignment of St Alban’s Road. 
The topography of the Paradise area slopes down along 
Paradise to the town centre and also down along Wood 
Lane which then flattens out to join St Alban’s Road. 

What does this tell us?  

	■ The topography will influence the visual prominence 
of new buildings, so siting of any tall or taller buildings 
needs to be considered carefully to maintain the visual 
prominence and concentration of height and density 
of the town centre. 

	■ There may be opportunities for undercroft parking to 
be tucked into slopes. 

2

3

4

5

8

9

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

2

4

7

9 8 3

Figure B7:  Section Locator Plan Figure B8: Existing Site Sections 
JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

91

B

P
age 378



Heritage and Townscape

Designated heritage assets within the town are concentrated within the Old Town 
Conservation Area. However, as a new town, Hemel Hempstead has elements of distinctive 
landscape and townscape character that should be considered alongside its designated 
heritage assets. 

The townscape character is made up of the spatial form of the town centre together with 
its landscape and architectural character. An initial built form & character assessment 
has been undertaken for the wider town centre area, as well as a more detailed block 
assessment of the existing buildings within the site. 

Landscape character

The New Town was originally defined by Jellicoe’s vision for its landscape, as touched on 
in the ‘Green and Blue Infrastructure’ section and this New Town landscape character 
continues to be one of the defining features of the town that is highly valued today. 

Spatial form/urban grain

The spatial form of the town centre is strongly linear with two separate areas of distinctively 
different urban grain and character that run north to south along the bottom of the valley as 
shown on the figure ground study in Figure 8. These are:

	■ the Old Town, based around the High Street; and 

	■ the New Town centre, based around the pedestrianised Marlowes. 

They are linked together by the original Marlowes area, originally a suburb to the Old 
Town that became the civic and educational hub of the new town. The latter is now in the 
process of redevelopment with replacement college buildings and the Gade residential 
development. At present this area still has a more suburban character than either the Old 
Town or the New Town centre. 

The Old Town is characterised by  a fine and compact grain of development, with blocks 
made up of a number of relatively small plots. These are narrow and deep in configuration, 
with built development forming a continuous street frontage, and with many narrow alleys, 
lanes and entrances under buildings to courtyards serving the land behind the frontage, 
particularly on the east side of the street.

Conservation area

Listed buildings

Buildings of Architectural 
merit

Key 

Figure B9: Building Heritage

The Jellicoe 
Water Gardens : 
Registered Park 
& Gardens

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
D

 

N

92
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 379



The New Town centre has a large-scale grain of development. Its character is based on 
blocks with large and wide plots, in some cases with a single plot making up an entire 
block. Buildings create continuous street frontages. On its west side, there are regular east-
west links to Waterhouse Street and to the Water Gardens . These are mainly in the form of 
streets, although Bank Court is a notable example of a link created via a series of interlinked 
courtyards. However, on its east side is the Marlowes internal shopping centre and multi-
storey car park, with a large office buildings beyond on  Park Lane, and there are very few 
east-west links through to the New Town industrial area of Paradise or to the hospital. 

Paradise is characterised by a fragmented urban grain, with medium to large plots of 
varied widths, some being relatively deep while others are shallow.  Due to the nature of the 
industrial uses on site, buildings are sited within the plots with no consistent relationship to 
the street. The recent development onto St Albans Road at the south of the site creates a 
partial street frontage of continuous development on to this major route.  

Figure B10: Urban Grain 

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
D

 

What does this tell us? 

	■ Designated heritage buildings are concentrated within Old Town. 

	■ Hemel Hempstead has a strong landscape heritage, as already identified in the 
‘Green and blue infrastructure’ section and this must influence the design process 
for any new development. 

	■ Both the Old Town and New Town have an urban character based on blocks with 
continuous built street frontages and this must influence the Paradise area. 

	■ The New Town centre’s spatial form is strongly linear with barriers to eastward 
movement so the wider town centre strategy should consider how to address this.

	■ Both the Old Town and New Town centre include positive examples of public or 
semi-public courtyards set behind the built development of the street frontage, 
and there is an opportunity for these to influence the future form of development for 
Paradise. 

JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
93

B

P
age 380



Architectural Character 

The Old Town and New Town centre have contrasting 
architectural character. 

The architectural character of the Old Town is varied. The 
rhythm of buildings along the street is generally vertical or 
balanced, with shop fronts creating a secondary horizontal 
rhythm. The roofscape is also varied, with buildings of 
different heights and different roof and eaves conditions. 
Gables, turrets, bays, dormers and projecting features such 
as signs or clocks and oblique views of gable ends of taller 
buildings visible above the eaves of lower buildings all add to 
its complexity in views along the street. 

Materials are also varied, with a variety of bricks - red, purple 
and brown, painted stucco and render, flint and timber 
framing. 

A high proportion of the buildings in the Old Town are of 
architectural merit. The quality of their materials, details and 
decoration and condition is generally high.

The New Town centre does not have a strongly coherent 
architectural character overall. However, a number of the 
early New Town buildings constructed in late 1950s and 
early 1960s have been identified as having architectural 
merit. They incorporate a variety of distinctive features or 
details of quality that are characteristic of their time and of 
the initial development of the new town. However, many of 
them are much altered or in poor repair rather than being 
celebrated. Later development, in particular from the 1990’s 
and 2000’s, does not pick up on the character of the original 
New Town buildings or match their quality of materials, 
details, or crafted decorative elements. 

The Old Town is generally 
characterised by vertical or balanced 
building rhythms

Building rhythm 

Roofscape 

Varied roofscape: Old Town Flat roofs: New Town 

Red & buff brick 
characteristic of 
many of the recent 
developments 

A wide range of materials 
are used within the Old 
Town

Red brick and glass is 
used widely on the larger 
buildings along Park Lane 
to the west of the site

New buildings have large plot widths and 
introduce a vertical building rhythm

Flat roofs: New Town 

Materials 

The New Town centre is generally 
characterised by strong horizontal 
building rhythms

A wide range of materials 
are also used within the 
New Town centre (see also 
opposite

Use of coloured cladding 
introduces a deep red to new 
development. 

94
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 381



Common characteristics include a strongly horizontal 
architectural rhythm across a large plot, which unifies a 
number of smaller units. 

The majority of the larger buildings within the New Town 
have flat roofs.  Together these create a strong contrast with 
the character of the Old Town and, in combination with the 
difference in plot widths between the two areas, this creates a 
distinct change in identity between the two centres. 

The palette of materials is very varied and includes cladding, 
render, glass, red brick, buff brick and weatherboarding. 

The early New Town centre buildings incorporate:

	■ horizontal or balanced rhythms, with some points of 
emphasis highlighted using vertical rhythms;

	■ flat roofs;

	■ a materials palette, mainly of buff brick as the primary 
material, incorporating a variety of different brick textures;

	■ a variety of secondary materials, including flint panels 
(knapped or whole), stone, glass, ceramic tiles, mosaics, 
and precast decorative panels;

	■ framing of openings such as windows or shopfronts with 
contrasting surrounds; 

	■ carefully designed and expressive balustrades and 
screens to filter views;

	■ decorative or crafted details, including tiled murals or 
panels, mosaic or fluted columns, sculptural relief panels; 
and 

	■ elegant canopies to highlight entrances. 

Buildings of architectural merit: Key elements

Buff brick with textured 
brickwork

Flint panels and stonework

Lattice screensMural in ceramic tiles

Horizontal rhythm of façade emphasised by 
projecting eaves of oversailing flat roof

Balanced rhythm of façade 

Strong framing of shopfronts 
and windows

Vertical emphasis 
to marker element 
that projects 
forward of building 
line

Precast sculptural 
relief panels

Expressive balconies

Mosaic columns 

What does this tell us? 

	■ The architectural character of the early New Town 
centre buildings provides a series of cues for design 
that must influence the Paradise area.

JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
95

B

P
age 382



Paradise: Block Analysis

This section sets out the block analysis for the existing 
buildings and plots within the site. This exercise has been 
undertaken to gain a thorough understanding of the 
existing situation on site, where the industrial land uses 
and piecemeal land ownership heightens the need for an 
individual assessment of each block, as opposed to a site 
wide assessment. This analysis identifies the current size 
and use of the building as well as any relevant planning 
information. In addition, the existing built form and the colour 
and material palettes adopted by each block are identified. 

96
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Block details

EXPO BUILDING

Block details

MAPLE HOUSE

Address: Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

Area (m2): 1261

Storeys: 2 commercial storeys

Planning: N/A

Description: Brick and corrugated metal cladding. 
Typically characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: Maple House /Heritage Reclamation
Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Use: Light industrial

Area (m2): 1222

Storeys: 2 commercial storeys

Planning: N/A

Description: The mixed materiality includes: 
brickwork, corrugated metal sheeting, 
render and concrete.

Car parking provided on site. 

P
age 383



B

  Appendix B
97

Block details

909 PARADISE LANE

Block details

VITALIA HOUSE

Block details

AMBER HOUSE

Address: Hanafan Auto Care
909 Paradise, 
Paradise Ind Est, 
Hemel Hempstead, 
HP2 4TF

Use: Industrial with MOT usage (B2)

Area (m2): 1459

Storeys: Part single storey, part industrial store /
garage

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2014:

4/02763/14/FUL 

Change of use from storage/distribution 
(b8) to general industrial (b2) with mot 
usage 

Description: A predominantly brick and clad building 
with large window and garage access. 

Considered to have active frontages onto 
Wood Lane and Paradise.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: Vitalia House
Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1)

Area (m2): 980

Storeys: 2 commercial storeys

Planning: N/A

Description: Red brick with simple window and 
façade detailing. Typically characteristic 
of light industrial /commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: Amberside House 
9 Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

Area (m2): 3441

Storeys: 3 commercial storeys

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 
2007:

4/00471/07/FUL 

Refurbishment & recladding of building, 
use of building for b1(a,b or c) business 
purposes 

Description: Predominantly glass clad building, 
minimal detailing. Typically 
characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Whilst the primary entrance fronts onto 
Wood Lane, there is an extensive set 
back from the access, which reduces 
the activity onto the street.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

P
age 384



98

B  ❚ Appendix B

Block details

CO-OP FUNERAL BUILDING

Block details

HERTFORDSHIRE HOUSE

Block details

DENS FOOD BANK 

Address: The Hub 
2 Paradise 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: 4105

Area (m2): XXX

Storeys: Single storey

Planning: N/A

Description: A mix of glass, brick and clad materiality 
across the building, the general 
appearance of the building is typical of 
light industrial uses. 

Whilst there are windows and access 
points from Paradise there is not 
considered to be an active frontage onto 
the street.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: Co-op Funeralcare, 
Wood Lane,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Funerals & storage

Area (m2): 732

Storeys: Single storey

Planning: N/A

Description: The modest building comprises a brick 
and glass, single storey structure that 
benefits from car parking provided on 
site. 

Address: Hertfordshire House  
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

Area (m2): 1873

Storeys: 3 commercial storeys

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2000 
/2001:

4/01950/00/FUL

Three storey office building with car parking

and

4/01535/01/FUL

Enclosure of 1st floor balcony and change of 
use of part ground floor from b1 (office) to d1 
(clinic). Replace solid panel with Window.

Description: The building comprises a mix of concrete, 
glass and clad materials with a consistent 
blue and white façade material. Typically 
characteristic of light industrial /commercial 
uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

P
age 385



99

B

Block details

PARK HOUSE

Block details

PARADISE FURNITURE PROJECT

Block details

EXPO HOUSE

Address: Park House 
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1a)

Area (m2): 1713

Storeys: 3 commercial storeys

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2019:

4/01618/19/OPA

Change of use from office building (b1a) to 
12 residential flats (c3.) 

Description: Predominantly glass and brick building, 
minimal detailing. Typically characteristic 
of light industrial /commercial uses. The 
building sits in a cutting.

Extensive car parking provided on site 
and at ground level. 

Address: Expo House 
2 Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1a)

Area (m2): 1259

Storeys: 2 commercial storeys

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2008:

4/01169/08/FUL

Conversion of existing warehouse and 
storage area to offices and training facility 
and refurbishment of buildings and car park

Description: Brick and clad building, minimal detailing. 
Typically characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: The KTM Centre 
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Retail and Garage

Area (m2): 1253

Storeys: Single storey

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2016:

4/03592/15/FUL

Change of use to motorcycle retail and 
repairs

Description: Red brickwork building, minimal 
detailing. Whilst there is an entrance 
and windows facing Wood Lane, the 
significant set back means there is 
minimal activity fronting the street. 

Car parking provided on site. 

P
age 386



100
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Cumulative schemes 

As part of the Baseline analysis, we have mapped the 
cumulative schemes on and adjacent to the site. The 
following applications have been included:

1. 20/02483/FUL
 - rooftop extension of 2 floors to provide mixed use 

office and 9 apartments.

2. 4/01121/18/MFA
 - construction of 44 one and two bed dwellings.

3. 20/02519/MFA
 - construction of 58 apartments.

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

1

2

3

1

2

3

Figure B11: Cumulative Schemes

P
age 387



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
101

B

Site Opportunities 

The following key site opportunities have been identified for 
Paradise: 

	■ Improve the connectivity between the town centre and 
the site.

	■ Emphasise the link to Paradise Fields and associated 
network of open space.

	■ Opportunity to integrate with the residential development 
to the north.

	■ Introduce a gateway/arrival location for pedestrians and 
cyclists to move between the town centre and Paradise 
Fields via the site. 

	■ Opportunity to improve the public realm.

	■ Opportunity to create an urban neighbourhood with a mix 
of uses that complement but does not compete with (or 
copy) existing parts of the town centre.  

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

Potential pedestrian and cycle 
gateway 

Pedestrian and cycle green link 

Green links to wider network 

Pedestrian and cycle 
connections to adjacent 
residential areas

Wildlife area 

Future mixed-use development 

Improvements to public realm 

Paradise Fields proposed 
development area

Paradise Fields proposed open 
space 

Town centre proximity 

Retained buildings 

Key 

Figure B12: Site Opportunities

P
age 388



102
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Site Challenges

The following key challenges have been identified for 
Paradise: 

	■ Sensitive edges along the rear boundaries of the existing 
properties on Orchid Drive.

	■ St Albans Road creates a major barrier between the site 
and the neighbourhoods to the south. 

	■ The building set back creates a poor sense of enclosure/
frontage to the public realm.

	■ Dominance of road infrastructure & parking within the 
site.

	■ Indirect routes between the site and the town centre. 

	■ Rising topography with a high point in the north east of 
the site.

	■ Underused open land at nodal point between site, 
hospital site and potential east-west link into town centre 
(marked ‘1’ on plan).

1. 

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

Existing road layout 

Dominance of surface car 
parking 

Barrier to pedestrian movement 

Elevation change across site 

Sensitive edge 

Views from current 
development and proximity 
to current development with 
overlooking from new homes

Retained buildings

Key 

Figure B13: Site Challenges

P
age 389



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
103

B

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 390



P
age 391



Paradise Design Code: Compliance Checklist 

Applicant 

Site 

Proposal 

Completed by

Date 

Chapter Reference Page no. (Code) 

1 15

2.0 20

2.1 22-23

2.1 22

2.2 24

2.3 25-27

2.4 28

2.5 28

3.0 32

3.1 34-35

3.1 34

3.2 35-36

How to use this document: This checklist is for use by officers assessing applications, or applicants. Please fill in 

your details in the information box below before compelting the checklist. The explanatory comments box 

should be used to provide an explanation of partial- or non-compliance of codes.  

Note: this compliance list should not be used exclusively, as a number of important codes are explained and set out within the main body of the 

Design Code that aren't duplicated here. This checklist covers coding i.e. mandatory elements only, whereas the Design Code also includes 

guidance which is discretionary. Please refer to Figure 1.1 within the Design Code for an explanation of which elements are classified as coding 

or guidance. The intention of this checklist is to give an initial  overview of the level of compliance. 

 Chapter 1: Introduction 

Chapter 2: Movement 

Chapter 3: Built Form 

Page 392



3.2 35

3.3 36-39

3.31-3.34 40

3.4 42-43

4.0 46

4.1 48-49

4.1 48

4.2 49-51

4.32 52-55

4.33 56-57

4.4, 4.5 58

4.6 59

4.7 60

4.7 60

4.8 65

5.0 68

5.1 70

5.1 70-71

5.2 71

5.3 72

Produced by Tibbalds Planning & Urban Design on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council 

Chapter 4: Identity 

Chapter 5: Use 

Page 393



Paradise Design Code: Compliance Checklist 

Design Code Criteria Compliant?

Are all of the spatial codes set out on the Regulatory Plan 

satisfied? 

Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 

Movement within the site?

Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles as 

identified on the Movement Key Plan? 

Are the street hierarchy (including pedestrian, cycle and 

vehicular movement) codes satisfied? 

Are all of the parking codes satisfied?

Do the access proposals comply with the pedestrian and cycle 

access codes? 

Do the access proposals comply with the vehicular access and 

servicing codes? 

Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 

Built Form within the site?

Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles as 

identified on the Built Form Key Plan? 

Are the heights and density codes satisfied? 

How to use this document: This checklist is for use by officers assessing applications, or applicants. Please fill in 

your details in the information box below before compelting the checklist. The explanatory comments box 

should be used to provide an explanation of partial- or non-compliance of codes.  

Note: this compliance list should not be used exclusively, as a number of important codes are explained and set out within the main body of the 

Design Code that aren't duplicated here. This checklist covers coding i.e. mandatory elements only, whereas the Design Code also includes 

guidance which is discretionary. Please refer to Figure 1.1 within the Design Code for an explanation of which elements are classified as coding 

or guidance. The intention of this checklist is to give an initial  overview of the level of compliance. 

 Chapter 1: Introduction 

Chapter 2: Movement 

Chapter 3: Built Form 

Page 394



Are the heights proposed within the ranges coded on the 

Heights Plan? 

Do the block typologies satisfy the block structure and urban 

grain codes set out, even if they are not courtyard/linear block 

typologies? 

If landmark, linear or courtyard blocks or stacked maisonettes 

are proposed do they comply with their typology specific 

codes? 

Do all ground frontages proposed comply with the codes set 

out?

Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 

Identity within the site?

Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles identified 

on the Identity Key Plan? 

Are the open space strategy codes satisfied? 

If the proposal fronts onto the Paradise Fields Gateway Space 

or North-South linear space does it satisfy the Paradise Fields 

Gateway Space/Linear Space specific codes? 

Do the proposals comply with the on-street treatment codes 

for its typology? 

Does the proposal provide either communal courtyard space 

or podium gardens that satisfy the typology specific codes? 

If the proposal has a flat roof, is it compliant with the roof 

garden codes? 

Do all units provide outdoor amenity space? 

If the proposal provides balconies, does it comply with the 

balcony coding? 

Does the proposal comply with the elevational treatment 

codes? 

Does the proposal support the two overarching principles for 

Use within the site?

Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

Are the uses proposed compliant with the spatial principles  

set out on the Use Key Plans 

Are the land use strategy codes satsifed? 

Are the frontage codes satisfied? 

Produced by Tibbalds Planning & Urban Design on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council 

Chapter 4: Identity 

Chapter 5: Use 

Page 395



Explanatory Comments 

Page 396



Page 397



1 
 

SPAE OSC: Work Programme 2021/22 

 

Meeting Date Report 

Deadline 

Items Contact Details Background 

information 

     

    

6 July 2022 27 June 

2022 

   

  SWH Joint Strategic 

Plan – Reg 18 

 

Chris Outtersides – South 

West Hertfordshire Joint 

Strategic Plan Director  

Chris.Outtersides@dacorum.

gov.uk 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning 

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go

v.uk 

 

 Provisional Financial 

Outturn Report 
Fiona Jump  

Fiona.Jump@Dacorum.gov.u

k  

 

 Annual Planning 

Enforcement Update 
Philip Stanley – Interim Head 

of Development 

Management  

philip.stanley@dacorum.gov.

uk  

 

 Paradise 

Employment Area 

Design Code 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning  

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go

v.uk 

 

 Annual Waste 

Review 
Group Manager for 

Environmental Services 

craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.u

k  

 

    

    

August 

2022 

August 

2022 

   

    

    

Page 398

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Fiona.Jump@Dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Fiona.Jump@Dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:philip.stanley@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:philip.stanley@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.uk


2 
 

21 

September 

2022 

9 

September 

2022 

   

 PSPO Pilot Review 

(District 

Enforcement) 

Group Manager for 
Environmental and 
Community Protection 
Emma.walker@dacorum.gov

.uk 

 

 

 Waste Review 

Update (dependant 

on Government 

Release)  

Group Manager for 

Environmental Services 

craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.u

k  

 

 

 Environmental 

Services 

Performance Q1 

Environmental and 

Community 

Protection 

Performance Report 

Q1 

 

Group Manager for 

Environmental Services 

craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.u

k 

 
Group Manager for 
Environmental and 
Community Protection 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov

.uk 

 

 

 Quarter 1 2022/2023 

Planning, 

Development and 

Regeneration 

performance Q1 

 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning 

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go

v.uk 

 

Quarterly 

performance 

report 

 

    

    

    

    

12 October 

2022 

30 

September 

2022 

   

 Biodiversity Net Gain 

SPD   

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning 

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go

 

Page 399

mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk


3 
 

v.uk   

 Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan Update 

Report 

 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning 

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go

v.uk 

 

 

    

 Infrastructure 

Funding Statement – 

Developer 

Contributions Update 

 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning 

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go

v.uk 

 

Statutory 

annual report  

on funds 

received and 

spent through 

new 

developments 

via s106 

agreements 

and 

Community 

Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL 

 

    

8 

November 

2022 

28 October 

2022 

   

 Food Service Plan 

and Recovery Plan 
Environmental and 
Community Protection 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov

.uk 

 

 

 Affordable Housing 

SPD  

Alex Robinson – Assistant 
Director for Planning 
Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go
v.uk 

 

 Quarter 2 2022/2023  

Planning, 

Development and 

Regeneration 

performance Q2   

Alex Robinson – Assistant 
Director for Planning 
Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go
v.uk 

Quarterly 

performance 

report 

 Environmental 

Services 

Performance Q2 

Group Manager for 

Environmental Services 

craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.u

 

Page 400

mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.uk


4 
 

Environmental and 

Community 

Protection 

Performance Report 

Q2 

 

k 

 

Group Manager for 
Environmental and 
Community Protection 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov

.uk 

 

 AQMA and AQAP 

update 

Environmental and 
Community Protection 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov

.uk 

 

 

    

6 

December 

2022 

25 

November 

2022 

Joint Budget   

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

Others to be programmed 

    

    

   TBC with 

Chair 

 Stewardship 

Supplementary 

Planning Document  

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning  

 

 Chilterns 

Beechwoods 

Mitigation Strategy 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning 

 

 

Page 401

mailto:craig.thorpe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk


5 
 

 

 

 

Page 402


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan
	Appendix A_SCI for the SW Herts JSP_version for adoption
	Appendix B_ Groups consulted on draft SCI
	Appendix C_Summary of responses
	Appendix D - South West Herts strategic plan10
	Appendix E_SW Herts JSP Scoping Report_updated
	SW Herts JSP Scoping Report.pdf
	1.1.pdf
	3.1.pdf
	3.2.pdf
	3.3.pdf
	3.4.pdf
	3.5.pdf
	3.6.pdf
	3.7.pdf
	3.8.pdf
	3.9.pdf
	3.10.pdf
	3.11.pdf
	3.12.pdf

	Appendix F_Community Impact Assessment form JSP July 2022

	7 Provisional Outturn Report
	Appendix A General Fund Provisional Financial Outturn 2021-22
	Appendix B SPAE Capital Monitoring Provisional Outturn 2021-22

	8 Annual Planning Enforcement Report
	APPENDIX 1 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT AUDIT MARCH 2022 MANAGEMENT ACTION PLAN

	9 Paradise Employment Area Design Code
	Appendix A Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Copy of Appendix B Code Compliance Checklist

	11 Work Programme



